

Northwest center for education-company was sold and now no longer in business. 1980-1986

[s.l.]: [s.n.], 1980-1986

https://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/EZHHEDQGWTT4E84

http://rightsstatements.org/vocab/InC/1.0/

The libraries provide public access to a wide range of material, including online exhibits, digitized collections, archival finding aids, our catalog, online articles, and a growing range of materials in many media.

When possible, we provide rights information in catalog records, finding aids, and other metadata that accompanies collections or items. However, it is always the user's obligation to evaluate copyright and rights issues in light of their own use.

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL METHODS

Instructor: Professor James A. Graaskamp University of Wisconsin School of Business

1. Basic Concepts and Definitions

- A. Real estate is a tangible product defined as artificially delineated space with a fourth dimension of time referenced to a fixed point on the face of the earth.
 - 1. Real estate is a space-time unit, room per night, apartment per month, square foot per year, tennis court hours, or a condominium for two weeks in January at a ski slope.
 - To the space-time abstraction can be added special attributes to house some form of activity.
 - 3. Improvements from survey market to city layouts to structures define space.
 - 4. Legal contracts and precedents define time.
 - 5. Rights of use are defined by public values, court opinions.
 - 6. Private rights to use are those which remain after the public has exercised its rights to control, to tax, or to condemn.
- B. A real estate project is cash cycle business enterprise which combines a space-time product with certain types of management services to meet the needs of a specific user. It is the process of converting space-time needs to money-time dimensions in a cash economy.
 - A real estate business is any business which provides expertise necessary to relate space-time need to money-time requirements and includes architects, brokers, city planners, mortgage bankers, and all other special skills.
 - 2. The true profit centers in real estate are in the delivery of services and cash capital.
 - 3. Equity ownership is the degree to which one enterprise controls or diverts cash from another real estate enterprise.
 - 4. Public has direct ownership to the degree real estate taxes take a percentage of tenant income in excess of service cost.
 - 5. Consumer must view space as a total consumption system involving direct cost, surface cost, transportation cost and negative income of risk.
 - 6. The best real estate project is the one which has the lowest net present value of cost as the sum of cost to the consumer production sector and public sector.

- C. The real estate process is the dynamic interaction of three groups, space users (consumers), space producers, and the various public agencies (infrastructures) which provide services and capital to support the consumer needs. (See Exhibit 1)
 - Each of these three decision groups represent an enterprise, an organized undertaking. All are cash cycle enterprises constrained by a need for cash solvency, both short and long term.
 - 2. A desirable real estate solution occurs when the process permits maximum satisfaction to the consumer at a price that he can afford within the environmental limits of land while permitting the consumer, producer, and the government cash cycle to achieve solvency - cash break even at a minimum, after full payment for services rendered.
 - 3. Solvency of the total process, not value, is the critical issue.
 - 4. Land is an environmental constraint and not a profit center.
 - 5. Land provides access to a real estate business opportunity and is not the opportunity itself. Real estate business wants to control land to create a captive market for services.
- D. Land is the point where demand and supply forces find cash solvency. Location is a manufactured attribute. Site attributes are exploited to create location by analyzing:
 - 1. Static attributes.
 - 2. Legal-political attributes.
 - 3. Linkage attributes.
 - 4. Dynamic attributes.
- E. Recognition of the fact that profit maximization must be limited by concerns for physical environment and community priorities for land use has resulted in redefinition of the most basic concept in appraisal; i.e. highest and best use, in the authorized terminology handbook sponsored by the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and the Society of Real Estate Appraisers. Compare the 1971 definition with that for 1975:

Highest and best use concept-

"A valuation concept that can be applied to either the land or improvements. It normally is used to mean that use of a parcel of land (without regard to any improvements upon it) that will maximize the owner's wealth by being the most profitable use of the land. The concept of highest and best use can also be applied to a property which has some improvements upon it that have a remaining economic life. In this context, highest and best use can refer to that use of the existing improvements which is most profitable to the owner. It is possible to have two different highest and best uses for the same property: one for the land ignoring the improvements; and another that recognizes the presence of the improvements.:

p. 57, <u>Real Estate Appraisal Principles and Terminology</u>, Second Edition, Society of Real Estate Appraisers 1971.



THE REAL ESTATE PROCESS

.

"Highest and Best Use: That reasonable and probable use that will support the highest present value, as defined, as of the effective date of the appraisal. Alternatively, that use, from among reasonably probable and legal alternative uses, found to be physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and which results in highest land value. The definition immediately above applies specifically to the highest and best use of land. It is to be recognized that in cases where a site has existing improvements on it, the highest and best use may very well be determined to be different from the existing use. The existing use will continue, however, unless and until land value in its highest and best use exceeds the total value of the property in its existing use. Implied within these definitions is recognition of the contribution of that specific use to community environment or to community development goals in addition to wealth maximization of Individual property owners. Also implied is that the determination of highest and best use results from the appraisers judgement and analytical skill, i.e., that the determined from analysis represents an opinion, not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best use represents the premise upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price (market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In the context of investment value an alternative term would be most profitable use." Real Estate Appraisal Terminology, Edited by Byrl II. Boyce, Ph.D. SRPA, Ballinger Publishing Co., Cambridge, Mass. 1975

- F. The purchase of a piece of real estate today involves the acceptance of a great many assumptions about the future. Those who take care to validate these assumptions in a period of transition as to public land use control tend to have the most successful investment.
 - 1. Business decisions today make explicit recognition of their assumptions and the need to act under conditions of uncertainty.
 - 2. Business risk is the difference between assumptions about the future and realizations, the proforma budget and the end of the year income statement.
 - 3. Risk management is the control of variance between key assumptions and realizations.
 - 4. An appraisal is a set of assumptions about the future productivity of a property under conditions of uncertainty.
- G. The concept of highest and best use of land was a commodity concept which did not consider externalities adequately. It is being replaced be concepts of most fitting use and the concept of most probable use.
 - 1. The most fitting use is that use which is the optimal reconciliation of effective consumer demand, the cost of production, and the fiscal and environmental impact on third parties.
 - Reconciliation involves financial impact analysis on "who pays" and "who benefits" - thus the rash of debate on how to do impact studies.

- 3. The most probable use will be something less than the most fitting use depending on topical constraints imposed by current political factors, the state of real estate technology, and short term solvency pressures on consumer, producer, or public agency.
- 4. <u>Most probable use</u> means that an appraisal is first a feasibility study of alternative uses for a site in search of a user, an investor, and in need of public consent.
- H. In seeking the most fitting and most probable use, the inner city planner and private property appraiser must interact to determine how community objectives and consumer - production sector solvency can be achieved simultaneously.
 - A real estate decision has only two basic forms. Either a site is in search of a use and consumer with the ability to pay, or a consumer, need or use with a defined ability to pay is seeking some combination of space-time attributes he can afford.
 - 2. The individual consumer with needs and a budget is the drive wheel.
 - 3. The public sector represents the community owned consumer service delivery system, seeking to minimize marginal cost to the consumer and average cost to the community at large.
 - 4. The production sector responds to a derivative demand for engineering and management expertise.
- 1. Critiquing the form and adequacy of a real estate solution is analogous to the artistic concept of judging the success of an art object by relating form of the solution to the context to which it was created.
 - 1. Context includes those elements which are fixed, given, or objectives and to which any solution must adapt.
 - 2. Form giving elements are those variables within the artists control, i.e. options or alternatives at a particular time.
 - 3. A solution is judged for its correctness or success in terms of the degree of fit of the form proposed to the context.
 - 4. Feasibility analysis is concerned with the degree of fit or the extent of misfit between a proposed course of action and the context within which it must operate or fit.
 - 5. Success therefore depends on how appropriately the problem is defined; testing feasibility depends primarily upon accurate and comprehensive definition of the context.

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SEMINAR

Instructor: Professor James A. Graaskamp University of Wisconsin School of Business

11. A Real Estate Appraisal - A Business Forecast

A. Prof. Richard U. Ratcliff was the first of several urban land economists to critique traditional appraisal in light of current business forecasting methods and techniques. In effect Ratcliff describes an appraisal as a prediction about the price of a future transaction under conditions of uncertainty. Uncertainty is introduced because knowledge of the facts is less than perfect and future conditions unknown.

One approach to forecasting or reaching a decision is by modeling to structure facts and relationships in a manner appropriate to the decision process. Three types of models are common in real estate analysis:

- Physical models = sand tables to understand site, building mass, and shape.
- Communication models = flow charts of industrial process or traffic patterns.
- Abstract or symbolic models = items with mathematical or logic concepts, 1/C = V is a symbolic model of the relationship between income productivity.
- C. In constructing any decision model there are six basic elements to be considered:
 - 1. The decision to be made or the question to be answered.
 - 2. The data available with which a decision must be made.
 - 3. The theoretical relationships or logical structure which focuses the data on the problem.
 - 4. The interface between the analyst and the requirements of the model.
 - 5. The interface between the results of the model and the decision maker or client and their ability to comprehend and believe (credit ability is always more important than credit in real estate).
 - 6. The relationship between the economic significance of the answer and the cost to acquire the answer by using the model.
- D. In general, a decision requires that information be systematically organized to identify choices of action and the alternative outcomes from each choice. (See Diagram #1). At the same time facts help shape general values which in turn lead to explicit objectives, and then specific selection criteria.

Diagram #1



- E. The three approaches to value are models of how economic man might price a property to maximize his return and minimize his cost. It represents an historical compromise between three powerful groups in the early 1930's who really had different needs or questions about price.
 - Insurance company lenders wanted to lend less than cost to build - thus they emphasize the cost approach.
 - 2. Real estate brokers wanted to know what they could sell it for today, and therefore emphasize the market comparison approach.
 - 3. The FHA appraisal section was headed by a Michigan professor, Fred Babcock, who believed all property should be valued as a capital budgeting decision, i.e. as the present value of future net returns.
 - 4. To compromise they seized on Marshallian economics which said in the short run the market is out of balance and reveals market price. During the intermediate term, it reflects income value which cannot be forecast for the long run. In the long run, prices have tendency to equal cost of production.
- F. Since that time, writers have shown buyers are interested in many things besides maximum profit including minimum risk, compatibility with community, portfolio effects from taxes and diversification as well as subjective, qualitative satisfactions. Therefore, an appraisal model may seem to have the same question - What is the value of property - but in fact it represents multiple questions:
 - 1. What is the nature of the decision to be served by the appraisal benchmark?
 - 2. What is the specific asset for which value is sought?
 - 3. What is the date for which value is relevant?
 - 4. What is the definition of value theoretical structure which focuses the data on the problem?
- G. Ratcliff points out a variety of value estimates or viewpoints which have significance in the appraisal of any specific property:

- 1. Vs value to the owner or user.
- 2. Vc cost of constructing a substitute property.
- Vp a probabilistic prediction of what the property will sell for.
- 4. Vo price at which the property is offered for sale.
- 5. Vb bid price by a prospective purchaser.
- Vt the price at which the property is actually sold, as an historic fact.
- H. The Ratcliff viewpoint is just plain common sense. On page 14 of his text he states his premise:

"The fundamental concepts of value and price which are central to appraisal are at the heart of the social science of economics. Economic goods are valuable because of their utility (productivity) and scarcity. Thus in analyzing the value of a parcel of real estate, the starting point is with its inherent utility - the characteristics and qualities which can make it productive and desirable, and for which people are willing to pay.

"But price is set in the market place. To serve his client's needs, the appraiser seeks to predict the price at which the subject property will probably sell. Viewing the property as a package of potentially productive qualities, the appraiser must predict the outcome of the interaction of the market forces of demand and supply to which the property might be exposed and which could trigger a transaction from which market price will emerge.

"Economics is a behavioral science, descriptive of the economic behavior of people under various conditions. It is the appraiser's task to predict how people, both buyers and sellers, will behave with respect to the subject property when it is exposed for sale. People make values and determine prices."

- An appraisal as a benchmark for decision requires the appraisal report to reflect the client's purposes for which an appraisal is sought. It is common sense that the more questions that an appraisal can serve, the more business potential there is; fair market value serves only a limited number of issues.
 - 1. For the mortgage lender, the issue is the liquidating value or probability of future cash returns being adequate to repay the loan, interest, and cost, and the distribution of profit centers over time to maintain repayment incentive to the borrower.
 - 2. For the courts eminent domain or assessment appeal, the statement of function leads to the definition of value as the jurisdictional market value.
 - 3. A report for a would-be buyer or seller might lead to the definition of value as investment market value.
 - 4. For most cases the appraiser would seek to determine the most probable selling price.
- J. Investment market value is a term coined by Mack Hodges for the present value of future income receipts, considering a specific set of assumptions about the after tax cash flow of property and

-7-

requires some general description of the investment standards and tax status of buyers interested in a specific type of property, specifically income investment property. Investment value, which requires some detail about motivations of a probable or specific buyer, is a special case of the broader concept of "most probable sales price." (Vp)

- K. Most probable selling price is derivative of the theoretical work of Prof. Richard U. Ratcliff, William Kinnard, Paul Wendt, and others.
 - 1. The quotable definition: "The most probable price is that selling price which is most likely to emerge from a transaction involving the subject property if it were to be exposed for sale in the current market for a reasonable time at terms of sale which are currently predominant for properties of the subject type."
 - 2. This approach makes the point conclusion explicitly a statement of the central tendency (mode, mean, or median) around which a transaction price is likely to fall. Thus it generally supplies a valuation as a range of prices within which a transaction would most likely occur, similar to but not necessarily a concept of statistical standard error. This range will be called a transaction zone.
- L. General format of RATGRAM Appraisal follows common sense logic:
 - 1. Define the issue for which the appraisal is sought in order to select the appropriate definition of value.
 - 2. Analyze alternative uses of property to select most probable use as of date of appraisal.
 - 3. Infer from probable use the most probable buyer-type, financial motivations, and negotiation position.
 - 4. Define comparability and test applicability of three alternative approaches.
 - a. Preferred method is to infer buyer behavior from completed market transactions.
 - b. In the absence of sales, simulate buyer estimation methods and constraints.
 - c. Knowing nothing of buyers methods, fallback to normative approaches.
- M. In the contemporary approach, note:

- -

- 1. Any method is judged on the reliability with which it predicts transaction price-not on intellectual elegance-robustness.
- Buyer-type is generally a class, but it could be a single buyer. The statistical market place assumption does not control.

-8-

₫

- 3. There is no need that buyers be fully informed as the market may provide evidence that prices are being set by ignorance; there is no need that buyers have reasonable choices if the seller is enjoying a monopoly position.
- 4. Finally it should be noted that the logical development from productivity analysis to selection of the appraisal report structures the form of the report.
- III. Since appraisal starts from what is known about a specific piece of property (Productivity Analysis, Chapter 2 in Ratcliff), it is similar to a feasibility report until one has determined the probable use and the probable buyer.
 - A. Refer to Exhibit 2.

1

- B. The traditional appraisal report always moves from the general to the specific, subject to a series of limiting conditions. Many of these special conditions are professional courtesy to avoid competition with other professions at the same time that one avoids paying the other professions and continues as a lone wolf in appraisal, controlling the customer, a psychological hang-up of real estate brokerage. Thus the appraiser avoids:
 - 1. Engineering factors
 - 2. Finance and taxation matters
 - 3. Title issues, surveys, etc.
 - 4. Legal character of leases, permits, and other contracts
- C. At the same time the element of uncertainty, left implicit by a single number conclusion, is hedged by additional limiting conditions including the appraisal practice of ignoring politics, land use administration, and personalities.
 - 1. The practice of using limiting conditions has moved to the point where the appraiser supports consistency based on faulty premises rather than honesty as the reliability of a prediction
 - Nevertheless, all an investor buys is a set of assumptions about future.
 - Since risk is the variance between assumptions and realizations, how can the appraiser evaluate the probable productivity of the property without evaluating all the assumptions which can be made explicit.
 - 4. Thus the transaction zone or range of estimates together with other report writing techniques are intended to provide better methods of recognizing the need for tolerance in the decision process for the conditions of uncertainty which surround the appraisal estimate.
- IV. Ratcliff has been most comprehensive in statement of basic appraisal theory, many writers are contributing to the rethinking of the appraisal process and appraisal techniques. A number of selected readings by these other professional and academic critics have been included in the appendix of your workbook.

TRADITIONAL APPRAISAL AS A FICTIONAL SET OF FEASIBILITY ASSUMPTIONS

Feasibility Analysis

Will the project really work for a specific investor?

- 1. Objectives decision standards provided by client decision process
 - a. Maximize spendable cash of total enterprise
 - b. Subjective gratification of specific individual
 - c. Adaptation to enterprise management specialties and weaknesses
- 2. Aggregate market potential opportunity identification
- 3. Merchandising analysis (Defining competitive edge) and specific user profile
- Legal-political context

 All legal constraints on site,
 seller, buyer and user are
 considered
 - b. What is legal is qualified by what is political
- 5. Physical-technical constraints are examined in terms of what might be
- 6. Impact on environment and community specifically forecast
- 7. Financing from buyer viewpoint considering all profit centers
- Income tax advantages or disadvantages affecting spendable cash
- 9. Actual cash revenues and expenses forecasted for each period of time horizon
- 10. Limiting assumptions of solution
 - a. Identification of potential variance and sensitivity of objectives to alternative futures
 - b. Responsibility allocated among sources of expertise
 - c. Budget & purpose of study edits information scope
 - d. Format of analysis determined by structuring of data to lead to desired conslusion or recommendation

Appraisal Analysis

What would the project sell for if it did work for a typical investor?

- Objectives decision standards provided by theoretical framework
 - a. Maximize economic surplus of individual parcel
 - b. Frudent behavior of economic man
- c. Average management to isolate return to land & capital
- 2. Aggregate warket potential business climate
- 3. Merchandising comparison (Defining standard competitive substitute)
- 4. Legal-political context
 - a. Lagality assumed
 - b. Limited to site use rather than regulations on probable user as alternative buyers are assumed
- 5. Physical-technical constraints are studied as is or in terms of conventional uses
- Explore on environment and community assumed acceptable within existing permitted uses
- 7. Financing from lender viewpoint considering only net income line and below
- 8. Income tax not considered except implicitly recognized in market comparison
- 9. Revenues and expenses generally normalized and projected on linear trend for standard period
- 10. Limiting assumptions of solution a. Average outcome without
 - qualification as to alternative futures
 - b. Responsibility denied for other areas of expertise
 - c. Date of appraisal edits inform tion scope
 - d. Format of analysis defined by model of fair market value appraisel report

- A. Much commentary on appraisal can be divided between those who would just as soon scrap the historical textbooks and language of appraisal (a la Ratcliff and Graaskamp), and those who would simply like to refine present dogma and techniques of appraisal report content (Wendt and Smith).
- B. While the rebels attack theory head-on with the romantic notion of toppling the temple of principles built in Chicago, the more pragmatic politicians are realistically chipping away at the stone tablets from within traditional institutions.
- C. A few argue that the change in appraisal method represents a shift from deductive logic based on principles to inductive forecasting tools capitalizing on observed behavior. A parody of scientific method versus theory and reason.
- D. Some of the other issues in debate relate to the following topics:
 - 1. What is function of appraisal?
 - a. Benchmark of value
 - b. Predict transaction price under conditions of uncertainty
 - c. To answer a question of a client
 - 2. What is the standard of professionalism?
 - a. Format (profession vs. institution)
 - b. Tools and techniques
 - c. Standards of business conduct
 - d. Reliability of results
 - 3. What is the frame of reference of real estate productivity?
 - a. The parcel
 - b. The individual investment interest
 - c. The community
 - d. The collective interest of society

COFFEE BREAK

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL REPORT

Suggested Outline 1/1/78

Letter of Transmittal

- 1. Brief statement of appraisal issue
- 2. Definition of value applied
- 3. Value conclusion (qualified by financing, terms of sale, and range of probable transaction zone as appropriate)
- 4. Sensitivity of conclusion to critical assumptions
- 5. Property observations or recommendations
- 6. Incorporation by reference of limiting assumptions and conditions

Table of Contents

List of Exhibits

Digest of Facts, Assumptions, and Conclusions

- 1. Property type
- 2. Property location
- 3. Property ownership
- 4. Determinant physical attributes
- 5. Controlling legal-political attributes
- 6. Pivotal linkage attributes
- 7. Marketable dynamic attributes
- 8. Most probable use conclusion
- 9. Most probable buyer profile assumed
- 10. Initial probable price prediction and central tendency
- 11. Adjustment of preliminary value estimate for external factors or market position of parties
- 12. Testing of corrected probable price for consistency with most probable buyer objectives
- 13. Final value conclusion and range of error estimate as appropriate
- T. Appraisal Problem Assignment
 - A. Statement of issue or circumstances for which appraisal is intended to serve as a decision benchmark and date of valuation
 - B. Special problems implicit in property type or issue that affect appraisal methodology and definition of value
 - C. Special assumptions or instructions that are provided by others
 - D. Definition of value, which is the objective of appraisal analysis and disciplines appraisal process
 - 1. Selected definition and source
 - 2. Implicit conditions of the definition
 - 3. Assumptions required by relevant legal rulings
 - E. Definition of legal interests to be appraised
 - 1. Legal description and source
 - 2. Permits, political approvals, and other public use entitlements
 - 3. Fixtures or personalty to be included with sale
 - 4. Specific assets or liabilities excluded as inconsistent with issue or premise of appraisal

11. Property Analysis to Determine Alternative Uses

A. Site Analysis

- Physical (static) site attributes (size, shape, geology, slope, soil hydrology, etc.)
- Special site improvements (wells, bulkheads, irrigation systems, parking surfaces with unique salvage or re-use characteristics, etc.)
- 3. Legal-political attributes (applicable federal, state and local zoning, convenants, easements, special assessments, or other land use codes and ordinances, etc.)
- 4. Linkages of site (key relationships to networks, populations, or activity centers that might generate need for subject property)
- 5. Dynamic attributes of site (perceptual responses of people to site in terms of anxiety, visibility, prestige, aesthetics, etc.)
- Environmental attributes of site as related to off-site systems or impact areas.
- B. Improvement Analysis
 - 1. Physical (static) attributes of improvements, cataloged by type, construction, layout, condition, structural flaws, etc.
 - Mechanical attributes (brief statement of heating, ventilating, air conditioning, electrical, plumbing, and fire or safety systems in terms of limitations on use or efficiency)
 - 3. Special structural linkages to off-site elements (tunnels, bridges, adjoining structures, etc.)
 - Legal-political constraints on use of existing improvements (federal, state and local building codes, fire codes, conditional use procedures, neighborhood associations, and inspection liens of record for violations).
 - 5. Dynamic attributes of existing improvements (impressions created by type, bulk, texture, previous uses, past history, or functional efficiency)
 - 6. Current uses and tenancies of improvements, if any
 - 7. Environmental impact attributes of improvements on environs
- E. Identification of Alternative Use Scenarios for Subject Property
 - 1. Marketing existing uses of property as is
 - 2. Renovation of existing property and marketing improved space
 - 3. Redirection of existing property to alternative tenancies and uses
 - 4. Replacement of existing improvements or program with new uses
- III. Selection of Most Probable Use
 - A. Comparative Analysis of Alternative Uses
 - Testing and ranking alternative-use strategies for legalpolitical compatibility
 - 2. Testing alternative-use scenarios for fit to physical property attributes within reasonable cost to cure
 - 3. Selection of scenarios that justify market research

-12-

- B. Analysis of Effective Demand for Selected Uses
 - Search for rents and income potentials of scenario space-time products
 - 2. Screen and rank market targets
 - 3. Apply income-justified residual investment approach to rank economic power of alternative market scenarios
 - 4. Evaluate marginal revenue, marginal investment risk trade-offs
- C. Summary Matrix for Selection of Most Probable Use Scenario
 - 1. Physical fit
 - 2. Legal-political risk
 - 3. Strength of market demand
 - 4. Adequacy of available financing
 - 5. Revenue and cost assumptions risk
- IV. Prediction of Price for Subject Property
 - A. Specification of Most Probable Buyer Type Implied by Most Probable Use
 - 1. Criteria motivations of alternative buyer types
 - 2. Selection of most probable buyer type as basis for prediction of a sales transaction with logic for ranking of alternatives
 - 3. Specification of essential site, improvement, financial, or key decision criteria of principal alternative buyer types
 - B. Explanation of Appraisal Methodology for Prediction of Probable. Purchase Price
 - 1. Preferred method: to infer buyer behavior from actual market transaction and market data available from sales by comparable buyers of acceptable alternative properties
 - 2. In the absence of adequate market sales data, the alternative method selected for simulation of probable buyer decision process
 - 3. If market influence of simulation is impossible, select normative model such as investment value, or cost to replace
 - C. Search for Comparable Market Sales Transactions
 - 1. Unit of comparison
 - 2. Method of comparison
 - 3. Explanation of search parameters
 - 4. Investigation of sale transaction circumstances
 - 5. Evaluation for comparability
 - 6. Definition of predominant terms of sale
 - 7. Source of comparative adjustments
 - D. Determination of Suitability of Existing Market Data for Inference of Value for Subject Property
 - 1. Where data is adequate, selection of market comparison method to estimate value
 - 2. Where data is lacking or misleading, selection of alternative valuation method and reasoning
 - 3. Conclusion leads to E or F

- E. Simulation of Probable Buyer Decision Process If Market Comparison Approach Is Inconclusive or Impossible
 - 1. Source and explanation of simulation model
 - 2. Schedules of simulation assumptions
 - 3. Range of alternative simulation value predictions (sensitivity analysis)

(OR) F. Selection of Normative Model of Buyer Behavior

- 1. Investment model
- 2. Cost-to-replace model
- 3. Nonquantitative decision models
- G. Computation of Most Probable Price and Standard Error of Prediction
- H. Correction of Preliminary Value Estimate for External Factors
 - 1. Identification of conditions relative to date of appraisal not present in market comparison assumptions
 - 2. Specification of political contingencies that might upset normal appraisal assumptions of substitution
 - 3. Identification of any violation of conditions in the definition of value by the appraisal methodology
 - 4. Indication of adjustment necessary to preliminary probable price estimate or
 - 5. Explicit statement that no adjustment is necessary
- 1. Test of Most Probable Price or Value Conclusion by Means of:
 - Comparison to values derived from selected alternative appraisal methodology
 - 2. Demonstration of achievement of objectives of most probable buyer minimum selection criteria
 - 3. Measurement of fit of financial cash requirements to market rents, lender ratios, or other relevant constraints
 - 4. Comparison to decision criteria appropriate to issue (financial ratios required by mortgage lender, comparative assessments of similar property for the tax appeal board, rates of return in alternative investments, construction prices for similar property, or whatever demonstrates consistency with statement of the issue)
- V. Appraisal Conclusion and Limiting Conditions
 - A. Definition of Value and Value Conclusion of the Report
 - B. Certification of Independent Appraisal Judgment
 - C. Statement of Limiting Conditions That Establish:
 - 1. Contributions of other professionals on which report relies
 - 2. Facts and forecasting under conditions of uncertainty
 - 3. Critical assumptions provided by the appraiser
 - 4. Assumptions provided by the client
 - 5. Controls on use of appraisal imposed by the appraiser

Appendices

Maps, data sets, only if referred to in the text. These data collections would slow down the reader if included as an exhibit and are secondary to the argument in the body of the report.

-14-

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SEMINAR

Concept of Most Probable Buyer Type/Most Probable Price

- V. Ratcliff Theory would place as much emphasis on behavior of prospective buyers or investors as on the operating behavior and characteristics of a property. Appraisal is trying to predict how people, buyer and seller, will behave in the future, converting a decision to a mutually acceptable price.
 - A. Each party is operating under certain assumptions and constraints:
 - 1. Buyers assume they will have to pay no less than some specific price, that others are bidding for the property, that they cannot afford to pay more than a certain amount of income for shelter or business location, or that a desired use requires a specific set of attributes.
 - 2. Sellers assume buyers see the property in the same way they do, that the property has some inherent value and utility, and that its just a matter of time before some fish can be found to pay the asking price.
 - B. The definition of value selected by the appraiser also assumes certain motivations for buyer and seller which typically are a matter of convenience for the appraiser but often a significant source of error in the prediction of price. While the wording on fair market value differs slightly, the following conditions are always assumed to prevail:
 - 1. Competitive market conditions.
 - 2. An informed buyer and seller.
 - 3. No undue pressure on either party.
 - 4. "Rational" or prudent economic behavior by both buyer and seller.
 - 5. A reasonable turnover period.
 - Payment consistent with the standards of behavior of the market.
 - 7. Market Value looks at the transaction from the point of view of the buyer.
 - C. However, a buyer is integrating and comparing a property more to a personal set of needs than to a property alternative which is only roughly similar to another in function and potential.
 - For example, a commercial office building developer seeks a site with a minimum number of construction problems, an optimum shape, and maximum rental value. On the other hand, the committee buying a home office site for an insurance company or bank will emphasize visibility and location at the expense of almost any development cost and despite any reduction in rental value for re-use.
 - 2. A young couple may buy an old house because it is run down and in need of renovation in order that the initial cost is low and the opportunity for creating equity is greatest, while the seller is selling because of irritation with the fit of the structure to his lifestyle or because he has reached the end of his lifecycle in that location.

- 3. One man's floor is another man's ceiling.
- 4. Therefore, the eventual sales price at which two parties will agree is arranged within a zone of expectations and requirements reflecting the assumptions of each party. Indeed some transactions are designed so that the final price is determined later based on whose assumptions prove to be more correct in a speculative situation.
- D. Both buyer and seller enter negotiations with a subjective value expectation (Vs) which is a constraint in bargaining for the property.
 - 1. "The actual selling price will usually represent a compromise between what the buyer would have paid if necessary and what the seller would have taken as a last resort." p. 13, Ratcliff.
 - 2. Therefore, the appraisal must take more than just the buyer viewpoint of the transaction or the appraisal will not be of a value that reaches the minimum the seller can or would accept.
- E. This leads then to the concept of a transaction zone around a point which is the central tendency of bargaining, a point we call most probable price. Notice the assumptions of most probable price may be somewhat more acceptable in terms of pragmatic realism than those of fair market value.
 - 1. Subjective value (Vs) is a figure with which buyers and sellers enter the market as a constraint in the bargaining. The actual selling price will represent a compromise between what the buyer would have paid if necessary and what the seller would have taken as a last resort.
 - 2. In residential work, where there are many sales, the transaction zone may be defined statistically as the standard deviation of the estimate.
 - 3. The possible variance or error in the estimate of probable sales price may be intuitive by the appraiser.
 - 4. The zone may be defined by the logic of bargaining positions. The seller wants to cover his debt and broker fees; the buyer assumes a certain value in a new use less remodeling costs, less a cushion for unexpected costs and profit.
 - 5. In the cast of investment properties, sensitivity analysis may define the range of alternative outcomes.
 - 6. There may be certain conditions which cannot be known by the appraiser but which would change his estimate as to what the buyer or seller would accept; the appraiser may define the transaction zone as the range between optimistic and pessimistic impacts of external events.
- F. The important function of the transaction zone is to alert the reader of the report:
 - 1. To the fact that an appraisal value is not a certainty but a prediction of a future hypothetical business event.
 - 2. Present value is the purchase of a set of assumptions about the future and therefore value depends on which set of assumptions the buyer and seller "buy."
 - 3. The reliability of a prediction is important in using probable price as a benchmark for a decision; reliability is less important in assessment than in investment, conservatism more important. in lending than in equity investment, etc.

VI. The Ino Basic Methods of Appraisal

As you know, Ratcliff concludes that most appraisals are concerned with prediction of a future event, a transaction price. Since an appraisal method is a forecasting tool, forecasting is best done with some past experience. Failing that, the best method is simulation of the real estate market process.

- Given reliable information on past market behavior, the preferred Α. method of appraisal is to process the data, statistically if possible, to derive a prediction of future price behavior under given conditions and with means for estimating the reliability of the prediction.
 - 1. Statistical prediction if possible.
 - 2: Statistical rules for definition of a data set at the least.
- Should market data be unavailable or inconclusive, the appraiser Β. is forced to resort to the second method of appraisal, namely the construction of a real estate market model of factors which reflect his understanding of how buyers and sellers might behave.
 - 1. The income approach and the cost approach are submodels of how an investor is supposed to behave.
 - 2. After tax investment models are another submodel of market behavior, but while these may measure demand from the buyer's viewpoint, it may not measure the minimum price expected by the seller who also has a tax model to consider. In using the second approach, the appraiser must be very careful to indicate price on the supply side representing minimum expectations (Vs) of the seller.
- с. Should there be no sales and no way to verify how buyers would review the specific property (utility case-rate base or kilowatt production?), then the appraiser falls back to normative methods.
 - Normative means what the buyer would do if he were as smart 1. as the appraiser and motivated only by a desire to maximize wealth.
 - The traditional income approach on the cost approach are 2. normative models unless it can be proven buyers behave accordingly.
 - After tax cash flow models are normative models until it can 3. be shown how these models value property.

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SEMINAR

VII. Inferring Future Price From Sales Data

- A. For residential properties there are often many sales of similar properties so that powerful statistical tools can be brought into play, such as multiple regression, factor analysis, etc. However, the simple average can also lend itself to statistical inference.
- B. Dispersion is the variation or scatter of a set of values. Measures of dispersion are needed for the following basic purposes:
 - 1. To gauge the descriptive reliability of averages.
 - To serve as a basis for control of the variability itself (such as rejecting a comparable that lies outside a certain range).
 - 3. To summarize facts, both an average and a measure of dispersion should be presented.
- C. When dispersion is small, then the selected average is a typical value in that it closely represents the individual values in the set and it is reliable in that it is a good estimate describing the typical case in the population. It is a useful generalization. Conversely, an average with very great dispersion is not very descriptive of the data set and may be a misleading generalization.
- D. Measures of dispersion include:
 - 1. A range
 - 2. The quartile deviation
 - 3. The mean deviation
 - 4. The standard deviation
- E. Consider the data on some apartment site land sales in Madison provided in Exhibits 1, 2, and 3. The range is the difference between the largest and smallest values of the variable:
 - 1. \$5.60 \$6.50 per square foot of land or 90¢
 - 2. \$1970 \$2208 per dwelling unit built or \$238
 - 3. \$3.72 \$4.23 per square foot of gross building area or 51¢
 - 4. \$1226 \$1327 per total number of rooms built or \$101
- F. Exhibit #3 shows the mean and the standard deviation of the mean.

G. Quartile deviation must be applied to group data which are ranked from high to low. First the data is divided at the median and then each half of the data is split in half once again. Consider the net rentals of older supermarkets under existing leases provided in Exhibit #4.

Exhibit #4

CUMULATIVE FREQUENCY DISTRIBUTIONS Supermarket Net Rents for 214 Stores in Chain X

. (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
New Rent per	Number in Class	Number	Number Earning
Square Foot	with Lower	Earning Less	as Much or
	Limit Shown	_	More
\$2.25	2	0	214
2.35	23	2	212
2.45	49	25	189
2.55	63	74	140
2.65	45	137	77
2.75	25	182	32
2.85	3	207	7
2.95	4	210	4
3.05	0	214	
Total	214	1051	875

- H. In the full array of data, the value of Q_1 and Q_3 are found to be \$2.50 and \$2.70, meaning 1/4 of the properties generate less than \$2.50 a square foot and 1/4 exceed \$2.70 per square foot while the middle half fall between these values. The quartile deviation is then (2.70 - 2.50)/2 or 10¢, or stated another way the range of the second and third quartile is about 10¢ per square foot.
- VIII. When comparable sales have only one dimension, such as net leaseable area or number of rooms, a direct mean and some of the squares dispersion test is possible. However, usually it is necessary to consider a variety of factors and discover how price changes relative to the net differences of each property. Linear regression is one such method.
 - A. Ratcliff in Chapters 6 and 7 demonstrates a point system which ranks properties and is then weighted by buyers priorities. The weighted points are then compared to unit price. This system may be too elaborate for houses but can be demonstrated on a variety of commercial properties.
 - B. Consider the evaluation of vacant industrial land in Exhibits 5, 6, and 7.
 - 1. Point system should be kept simple. 1-3-5 indicates below average, average, and above average.
 - 2. If the appraiser is capable of making more careful distinctions between comparable properties, he can use a ten point scale such as 0, 4, 6, 8, 10 for each item, being careful not to change scales.
 - 3. Many small judgments are better than large rough adjustments because of the theory of off-setting errors. Too big a range in scoring implies drastic differences between the worst and the best.

- 4. Note that Exhibit 7 provides an objective scale for most factors so that the reader can understand the score. The weights in this case were corroborated in the narrative of the report from a 1968 study by Real Estate Research Corporation.
- C. All calculations for establishing the "a" and "b" factors for linear regression appear in Exhibit #8 and are charted in Exhibit #9.
- D. An example using restaurant sites in Madison is provided in Exhibits 10, 11, and 12.
- E. An example of a single family appraisal is provided in Exhibits 13, 14, 15, and 16.
- F. A fourth example comparing old store buildings in downtown Madison will be provided in a demonstration appraisal.

Basic Information of residential Multi-Family Land Sales Comparables

Factors	420 W. Wilson Nö. 1	219=N. Frances No. 2	102 N. Franklin No. 3	434 W. Mifflin No. 4	427 W. Main No. 5
0.1 D-1	¢ 84 050	\$48.000	\$86.900	\$160.000	\$53,000
Sales Price	4 04,330	Ŷ70,000 -	400,000	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
Sales Date	'73	'72	'72	'72	'72
Type of Deed	WD	WD	WD	WD	WD
Volume and Page	403/510	346/561	334/ 23	337/215	342/113
Grantoe	R.A. Paape Co.Inc.	Work of God, Inc.	Brown, Emily	Voss, Rob [*] t	Hiller + wife
Grantee	Hillmark,Dev. Hillmark Corp. Courtyar Corp. Asso		Courtyard Assoc.	American United Investment	Hillmark Corp.
Land Area	13,068	7,920	15,246	26,400	8,712
Zoning	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6	R-6

All have city services, sidewalk and street improvements No adjustment for time required as residential economics would not permit inflation of land prices.

Landmark Rusardy, Inc.

L

Vacant Land Market Comparison Residential Use Land Price: Mean

Comparable Sales

420 Factors	W. Wilson No. 1	219 N. Frances No. 2	102 N. Franklin N. 3	434 W. Hifflin N. 4	427-31 W.Main No. 5	Hean (X) 1-5
Sales Price Date of Sale	\$84950 73	\$48000 !72	\$86900 172	\$160000 '72	\$53000 '72	\$432850
Land Area (sq.ft:) No. of Dwelling	13068 43	7920 24	15246 43	26400 73	8712 · 24	71346 207
Total Gross Bldg. Total # Rms Blt.	20070 65.5	12670 38	24364 _65.5	43040 130.5	10900 40	111044 339.5
1ean Land Price - \$/p	er:				•	
l. Square Ft. of Land	\$6.50	\$6.06	\$5.60	\$6:06	\$6.08	\$6.06
2. Dwelling Unit Blt.	\$1976	\$2000	\$2020	\$2192	\$2208	\$2079
3. Total Gross Bldg. Floor Area	\$4.23	\$3.79	\$3.79	\$3.72	\$4.86	\$4.08
4. Total # Rms Blt.	1297	1263	1327	1226	1325	1288

Vacant Land Market Comparison Multi-Family Residential Use Land Price Mean & Standard Deviation

	Comparable	Land Price/ Comparable Unit	X-x	(x-x) ²	Mean Deviation MD= <u>£X-X</u> n-1	Standard Deviation S= $\sqrt{\frac{\xi(\bar{X}-x)}{n-1}}$
Land Price Per: Sq. Ft. of Land (Row #1, Ex. #6)	1 2 3 4	\$6.50 6.06 5.60 6.06	.44 0 .46 0	.19 0 .21 0	<u>.92</u> 4	$\sqrt{\frac{.44}{4}}$
Total Mean (sum <u>xi's</u>)	,	\$30.30 \$ 6.06	.92	.44	<i>4.2)</i>	4.))
No. of DU Built (Row #2, Ex. #6) Total Mean	1 2 3 4 5	1976 2000 2020 2192 <u>2208</u> \$10396 \$ 2079	53 29 163 <u>179</u> 433	2809 841 26569 <u>32041</u> 62341	4 <u>33</u> 4 \$108	$\sqrt{\frac{62341}{4}}$ \$249.68
Total Gross Bldg. Area Built Total Mean	1 2 3 4 5	4.23 3.79 3.79 3.72 <u>4.86</u> \$20.39 \$ 4.08	.15 .29 .29 .36 <u>.78</u> 1.87	.02 .08 .08 .13 <u>.61</u> .92	<u>1.87</u> 4 \$.465	√ <u>.92</u> 4 \$.48
Total No. Rooms Built (Row #3, Ex. #6) Total Mean	1 2 3 4 5	1297 1263 1327 1226 <u>1325</u> \$6438 \$1288	9 25 39 62 <u>37</u> 172	81 625 1521 3844 1 <u>369</u> 7440	<u>172</u> 4 \$43	$\sqrt{\frac{7440}{4}}$ \$43.13

Landmark Research, Inc.

Exhibit 3

Industrial Land Sales Selected as Comparables to MG & E Subject Parcel

		Date of Sale	Price	Public Record	Square Feet	(Acres)	\$/Sq. Ft.
1.	MATC	6/8/67	\$108,750	Confirmed by MATC Finance Director	152,460	(3.5)	.71
2.	MATC	1/23/67	75,000	Vol.828,p.280	81,828	(1.88)	.92
3.	Gorman	12/20/65	17,500	Vol.436,p.463	21,060	(.48)	.83
4.	Holfman	-6/5/64	15,000	Vol.779,p.558	17,050	(.39)	.88
5.	Garrett	5/31/63	12,000	Vol.758,p.226	13,932	(.32)	.86
6.	Madison Transit	1/4/68	55,000	Vol.4,p.358	211,701	(4.86)	.26
7.	Madison Trust	12/28/66	45,000	Vol.828,p.204	67,900	(1.56)	.66
8.	NW Mutua	1 9/9/66	117,500	Vol.824,p.144	138,521	(3.18)	.85

-

۰.,

.

Quality Scores & Weight Per Category

ŀ.	Size (Marketability Factor)	Weight
	0 - 1 acre = 5 over $1 - 3 = 4$ over $3.5 - 10 = 3$ over $10 - 20 \text{ acre} = 2$ over $20 \text{ acre} = 1$	20
2.	Accessibility to all areas (in terms of distance and time)	20
3.	Visibility from major artery	15
4.	Availability of sewer/water at site	15
5.	Availability of rail	10
6.	Soils and topography	<u>20</u> 100%

Exhibit 16

· · .

Table of Scores for Comparable Properties

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Subject
Size	3	4	5	5	5	3	4	4	1
Access	Ĩ4	4	Ĩ4	Ĩ.	Ĩ4	2	3	3	4
Visibility	5	5	5	5	4	1	Ī	2	5
Sewer/water	5	5	5	5	5	2 [.]	5	5	5
Rail	I	1	I	1	3	· 1	2	2	4
Soils	2	3	2	2	2	4	5	5	I

Feature	Weight		We	ighted	Rating					
<u></u>		1	2	3	4	5	6	7_	8	Subj
Size	20	60	80	100	100	100	60	80	80	20
Access	20	80	80	80	80	80	40	60	60	80
Visibility	15	75	75	75	75	60	15	15	30	75
Sewer/water	15	75	75	75	75	75	30	75	75	75
Rail	10	10	10	10	10	30	10	20	100	40
Soils	20	40	60	40	40	40	80	100	100	20
Total		340	380	380	380	385	235	350	365	310
Price/	Sq. Ft.	.71	.92	.83	.88	.86	.26	.66	.85	

Least Squares Regression

	Model where	Y = a - b X Y = estimated land value per square foot X = weighted quality ratings							
Comparables		Y	<u> </u>	y2	x ²	XY			
1 2 3 4		.71 .92 .83 .88	340 380 380 380	.504 .846 .689 .774	115600 114400 114400 114400 114400	241.400 349.600 315.400 334.400			

385

235

350

.740

.068

.436

148225

122500

 $\frac{365}{\epsilon-2815}$ $\frac{.723}{\epsilon-4.779}$ $\frac{133225}{\epsilon-1007975}$ $\frac{310.256}{\epsilon-2174.25}$

55225

331.100

231.000

310.250

61.100

Step 2: Compute mean of Y and mean of X

.86

.26

.66

85

545678

 $\frac{1}{Y} = \frac{1}{n} = \frac{5.97}{8} = .746$ $\frac{2815}{X} = \frac{2815}{8} = 351.875$ Step 3: Compute $\leq y^2$, $\leq x^2$ and $\leq xy$ $\mathbf{x}'^2 = \mathbf{x}'^2 - n (\overline{Y})^2 = 4.779 - 8(.746)^2 = 4.770 - 8(.557) = 4.779 - 4.452$ = .327 $z^{2} = z^{2} - n(\overline{x})^{2}$ = 1007975 - 8(351.875)² = 17446.873 $\mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{y} = \mathbf{x} \mathbf{x} \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{n} \ \mathbf{x} \mathbf{y}$ = 2174.25 - 8(.746) (351.875) = 2184.25 - 2099.99= 74.26 $b = \underbrace{xy}_{x^2} = \underbrace{74.26}_{17446.873} =$ Step 4: .04256

EXHIBIT #8 continued

. .

64

Step 5:
$$a = \overline{Y} - b\overline{X}$$

= .746 - .004256 (351.875)
= -.7517
Hence Y = -.7517 + .004256 (X)
Y_n = -.7517 + .004256 (310)
= .56765 say .57
Step 6: Compute standard error
Sy.x = $\sqrt{\frac{2}{y^2} - b\frac{2}{xy}}$
= $\sqrt{\frac{1327 - .004256}{8-2}}$
= $\sqrt{\frac{.10949}{6}}$

·~.

- V.001825

= .042719 say \$.04

Step 7: Compute
$$r^2$$

 $r^2 = \underbrace{\xi \times y}_{\xi \times 2 \notin y^2}$
 $= \underbrace{\frac{74.26}{(17446.873)(.327)}}_{= .9665}$

1

Basic Information on Restaurant-Commercial Land Sale Comparables

	Barnaby's East	Barnaby's West	Bud's West	Pigs Ear East	Marc's Big Boy South	Marc's Big Boy East
Sales Price	\$92,000*	\$89,000	\$75,700	\$91,000	\$87,500	\$85,000
Sales Date	10-6-70	6-30-70	6-29-71	5-20-72	9-3-69	3-15-68
Type of Deed	Lease with Option	WD .	WD	WD	WD	WD
Volume & Page	209-455	184-75	264-173	344-385	130-463	15-108
Grantee	Barnaby's Inc.	Barnaby's Ir	nc. Clyde Chamberlain	Poole, Inc.	B & G Real	ty B & G Realty
Area	38,211	32,900	45,236	141,570	38,327	30,237
Zoning	C-2	C-3-L '	C-3-L	H-1	C-2	C-2
Principal Business Frontage	E. Washington Ave.	Mineral Poir & Grand Cany Roads	nt Odana Rd. yon	Cottage Grove Road & Atlas Avenue	e S. Park Street	E. Washington Ave.
Position on Block	inside lot	Corner lot	Inside lot	Corner lot	Corner lot	Inside lot

All have city services, Pigs Ear did not have curb and gutter No adjustment of time required as restaurant economics would not permit inflation of land prices.

Attribute Point and Weight Comparison Of Restaurant-Commercial Land Sales and Subject Property

ر دون دون ار دون دارسه

	(See Exhibit #8)	Ba	rnaby's East	Barnab Vest	y's	Bud's West	Pigs Ear East	Marc's Big Boy South	Marc's Big Boy East	Subject	
30	*Site	Point	s Wat'd P	ts							
	Shape	5		1		5	3	5	3	5	
	% Usable	3		3		5	5	5	5	1	
	Site Preparation	3		1.		5	5	5	5	5	
	Visibility	3		5		5	3	5	. 3	3	
	Access	-	· .	-		-	•	-	-		
	Left & Right Turn	5		5		5	3	3	3	1	
	Frontage Road	3		5		5	1	5	5	5	
	Total	18		20		25	20	28	24	20	
	Welght		540		600	- 750	600	840	720	600)
50										·	
-	Linkages										
	Traffic Volume	5		5		3	3	5	5	3	
	Supportive Retail/Serv	. 5		5		3	1	1	3	1	
	Proximity to Multi-	1		5		5	1	3	3	3	
	Family Residential										
	Proximity to Employm.	3		3		3	1	1	5	3	
	<pre>**Interstate-Beltline</pre>	2		1		1	3	2	2	1	
	Total	15		18		15	9	12	18	11	
	Weight					•					
20	Image										
	Development Activity	5		5		3	1	1	3	1	
	Prestige of Street	5		_5		3	1	3	_5	1	
	Address								-		
00	Total	10		10		6	2	4	8	2	
			200		200	120	40	80	160	40)
	*Scale 1,3,5 Except **		1490		1700	1620	1090	1520	1780	1190)

:

Determination of Linear Regression Weighted Mean Value of Land/sf Commercial-Restaurant

Comparable	l Land \$/sf	2 Total Wgtd.	$(Land $/sf)^2$	4 (Wgtd.Pts) ²	5 (3 × 4)
	¥1	rts. Xi	¥12	X1 ²	XIYI
1	\$2.40	1490	5.76	2220100	3575
2	2.73	1700	7.45	2890000	4641
3	1.67	1620	2.79	2624000	2705
4	.64	1090	.41	1881000	698
5	2.28	1520	5.20	2310400	3466
6	2.81	1780	7.90	3168400	5002
TOTAL	\$12.53	9200	29.51	15093000	20087
Mean	(Y)=\$2.09	(X)=1533			
				•	

Calculations of Mean, Standard Deviation

 $Sum y^2 = Y^2 - n(Y)^2$ $=(29.51)^2 - 6(2.09)^2$ =845 $Sum x^2 = x^2 - n(x)^2$ $= 1509900 - 6(1533)^2$ = 993366 Sum xy = XY - n(x)(Y)= 20087 - 6(1533)(2.09)**=** 863 Y' = a + ^{bX}subject <u>863</u> 993366 - .00087 $= \frac{Sum xy}{Sum x^2}$ Ь = (Y) - b(X) = \$2.09 - .00087(1533)SALES PRICE/SUBJECT SITE $Y^{1} = a + bX_{subject}$ = -\$.76 = .00087(1190) = \$1.80

STANDARD DEVIATION

 $S_{xy} = \frac{Sum y^2 - b(Sum xy)}{n-2}$ = \$.<u>15</u>

Buyer Characteristics in Dudgeon School Area

- 1. 636 Crandall Street Married couple, 27 years old - one year old child - college degrees salary \$10,000 per year protected play area for child, convenient location on bus line, Valued remodeled kitchen, house with character within price range and possibility to build equity. They are having home rewired and doing minor maintenance required themselves. Financed with a conventional mortgage and second mortgage from state VA Relative importance of buyer factors reported by interviewer: 10 Physical condition 25 interior space 10 Mechanical equipment 25 Location & neighborhood 25 5 100 Financial operating burden lot 821 Minakwa 2. 26 year old couple, no children - project manager - college degree \$10,000 Primary motivations were: house had more character and value than a new salary. house for the same price, location for bringing up children, mechanicals in good condition and fireplace. Lot was considered a drawback. 3. 3120 Gregory Man and wife in mid -forties, no children - needed three bedrooms with full dining room and 2-stories high, wanted a two car garage but settled for one, Preferred west side for convenience and more value appreciation. Purchased house expecting to repaint entire building. Buyer reported purchase price of \$24,000 4. 2455 Mohawk Dr. Married couple, 27 years old, no children, both work with college educations. Husband gave major weight to structural soundness, neighborhood appeal, and location near bus line and beitline. Wife gave preference to wooded neighborhood and outdoor yard, and space utilization inside. Mechanical and storage were given only medium emphasis. 5. 645 Sheldon St. 28 year old married couple, no children, college educated. They preferred home with garage, fireplace, close to bus line, and on west side between campus, square and Hilldale. Wanted garden. Physical condition was rated highly, exterior appearance was not important. Lot size was more important with mechanical and interior condition less important. 1510 Whenona Drive 6.
 - O. ISTU WHENDRA DITVE Married couple (approximately 30) - 2 children, ages 3 and 5 - college degrees - father, \$10,000; wife works as a nurse. Couple emphasized structural soundness as they expected to remain in house more than 10 years and possibly add a room at the rear. They wanted good sized rooms and visual appeal or character of an older home in a stable neighborhood. Valued location for convenience and stability of value and knew other young couples were moving in with plans to fix up their homes, too. They did not expect mechanical equipment to be modern in an old home and expected to update the kitchen eventually. Off-site factors were taken for granted except for bus which wife used every day for work.

-	·	821 Minakwa St.	3120 Gregory	645 Sheldon St.	636 Crandell St	628 Crandell St	640 Knicherbock	657 Knicherbork	SUBJECT	
<i>.</i>		Rating / Weighted Ratings								
Features	Weight								•	
Location & Neighborhood	25	2/50	6/150	4/100	2/50	2/50	4/100	4/100	2/50	
Lot	5	2/10	4/20	4/20	6/30	4/2 0	4/20	4/20	4/20	
Financial Burden	15	4/60	2/30	4/60	6/90	4/60	4/60	4/60	6/90	
Exterior Architecture	15	4/60	4/60	4/60	6/90	6/90	6/90	6/90	4/60	
Mechanical	10	2/20	2/20	4/40	6/60	6/60	4/40	4/10	6/60	
Physical Condition	10	2/20	4/40	4/40	4/40	4/40	4/40	4/40	4/40	
Interior Attractiveness	20	2/40	2/40	4/80	4/8 0	6/120	6/120	6/120	4/80	
TOTAL	100	260	360	400	440	440	470	470	400	
PRICE	1	\$26,300	\$24,500	\$23,800	\$22,90 0	\$22,900	\$21,900	\$21,900	???	

•

•

EXHIBIT #14

.

Ratcliff Linear Regression

EXHIBIT #15

es.

....

$$Y = a + bx$$

$$b = \frac{n(fxy) - (fx)(fy)}{n(fx^2) - f(x)^2}$$

$$a = \frac{Y - b(fx)}{n}$$

$$a = \frac{Y - b(fx)}{n}$$

$$x = 164,200$$
The number of comparables.
(fy) = 164,200
(fx) = 2840
The sum of the seven actual prices paid for the comparables.
(fx) = 2840
The sum of the total weighs for the comparables.
(fx) = 65,916,000
(fx) = 465,328,000
The sum of the total weighs (fx) +

 $\mathbf{\xi}(\mathbf{x})^2 = 8,065,600$ (≰x²) = 1,186,200

- (2840)² $(260)^{2} + (360)^{2} + (400)^{2} + (440)^{2} +$
- 7(65,916,000) (465,328,000)b = $-16.467619 \simeq -16.5$ 7(1,186,200) - (8,065,600)

3 = ,	164,200 - (-16.5)(2840) = 30,151,428 = \$30,151.	
	7	
	Y = a + bx	
	Y = 30,151 + (-16.5)(x)	
	'x' for the subject property was 400	
	' Y = 30.151 + (-16.5)(400)	

Y = \$23,550


Date of Inspection_____

Name of Inspector_____

VILLAGE OF MAPLE BLUFF DANE COUNTY WISCONSIN

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL INFORMATION FORM

- 1. _____ Tax Parcel Number
- 2. _____ Property Owner
- 3. _____ Street Number
- 4. _____ Street Name

LAND DATA

Previous Lot Sale Price 5. Previous Lot Sale Date 6. X Geocode 7. Y Geocode 8. _____ Neighborhood Number 9. (01-18)10. Lot Square Feet (rounded to nearest 500 ft.) Lot Front Feet 11. (rounded to nearest foot) 12. Lot Depth (rounded to nearest foot)

13.	Lot Subdividable	
	(smaller of A, B, A & B apply only to unplatte	ed-uncertified lots)
	0 = No	CONDITIONS WHICH MUST BE MET:
	Lot area - A = Unplatted = <u>40.000 sq.ft.</u> Gross Lots 25,000 sq.ft. (round down to next integer value)	 All lots must have no less than 40' of street frontage or a single driveway (apron) easement.
	Lake B = Net = <u>frontage</u> -1 Additional 100 ft. Lots (round down to next integer value)	2. Platted vacant lots (within a parcel) will be treated as buildable if, separately or in combination, the total area is ≤ 14,000 SF, and conforms to condition #1.
14.	Lot Oversized (bu 0 = under 65,000 sq.ft.; 1 = oversize lot	t not subdividable)
15.	$\overline{0 = No; 1 = Yes}$ Lake Access Easem	ent
16.	Shore Quality 3 = inaccessible bluff/Dengel Bay 2 = shallow 1 = mud; 0 = no dominant problem	
17.	Water Quality 3 = odor; 2 = flotsam; 1 = weeds; 0 = no dominant problem	
18.	Lake Front Feet (rounded to nearest foot)	
19.	Lot on Corner $0 = No; 1 = Yes$	

्रा २ व्हल जूने हो है सर्वेल्डिय र दाव

Brances e Militari e cara est

•

20	O = No; 1 = Yes
21.	$\frac{1}{0 = No; 1 = Yes}$ Inside Lot
22.	Lot Wooded 0 = Below average (0 to 3 major trees) 1 = Average wooded lot (4 to 7 major trees) 2 = Above average lot (more than 7 major trees)
23.	Lot View 0 = Commercial lot or railroad lot 1 = Average view 2 = Golf course or park view 3 = Water average (non-State Capitol view) 4 = Water superior (State Capitol view)
24.	Lot Topography 0 = Severe, non-usable slope 1 = Wet pockets 2 = Downsloping lot 3 = Level contour 4 = Upward sloping lot
25.	Adverse Influence0 = None5 = Public property1 = Contiguous lake easementor exposure2 = Joint driveway6 = Railroad3 = Other (high lines, etc.)7 = High traffic4 = Commercial property9 = Combination
	If lot suffers from two adverse influences, enter the higher value.
	SITE IMPROVEMENT DATA
26.	Tennis Court
27.	Outdoor Pool
28.	Patio
29.	Storage Shed
30.	Boa thouse

5 24. 19.2

3	1			Se	aw	al	. 1
-		-	ويسود مشاوره والمساوي والمتراف بالفتر فقرته بورجه معتان متركب والمترج والمتراجع والمتراجع والمتراجع				

- 32. _____ Indoor Pool
- 33. _____ Elevator
- 34. _____ Other Structure Name
- 35. _____ Other Structure Value
- 36. _____ Other Structure Name
- 37. _____ Other Structure Value
- 38. _____ Special Structures Total (Sum of columns 26 - 37)
- 39. _____ Driveway (score = style, material)

STYLE

MATERIAL

- 1 = Linear into garageback into street 2 = Linear with turn-around space 3 = Circular4 = Large with parking space and turnaround space 5 = Circular with parking space 40. _ Neighborhood Foliage 1 = New and raw2 = Some mature trees 3 = Shady41. Landscaping 1 = Little or none 2 = Average3 = Above average42. Screening of Back
 - 0 = Little or none 1 = Yes

- 1 = Dirt 2 = Gravel 3 = Asphalt
- 4 = Concrete/Brick

43	_						Sc	reen	ing	of	Front
	С)	=	Little	or	no	ne		_		
	1		=	Yes							

- Curb and Gutter 0 = No; 1 = Yes44.
- 0 = No; 1 = Yes 45.

IMPROVEMENT DATA

.

46.	Previous Sale Price
47.	Previous Sale Date
48.	Year Built
49.	Era 0 = Pre-1910 3 = 1950-1969 1 = 1910-1929 4 = 1970 to present 2 = 1930-1949
50.	Square Feet Living Space
51.	Number of Stories $0 = Vacant Lot$ $1.6 = Miltilevel$ $1 = 1 Story$ $2 = 2 Stories$ $1.3 = 1-1/2 Stories$ $2.3 = 2-1/2 Stories$
52.	Roof (score = style, material)
	STYLE MATERIAL
	1 = Gable1 = Gravel2 = Hip2 = Asphalt shingles3 = Mansard3 = Wood shake/shingle4 = Gambrel4 = Slate shingles5 = Flat5 = Tile6 = Single pitch6 = Metal

•

Sector Malles

53. Exterior 0 = Concrete block6 = Part masonry/ 1 = Wood siding/frame stained boards 7 = Part masonry/aluminum 2 =Stucco 3 = Stained boards/shingles 8 = Predominantly brick 4 =Aluminum siding veneer ¬ = Aluminum sloing
5 = Part masonry/frame 9 = Predominantly stone 54. _ Garage Type 0 = None5 = 2-3 car detached 6 = 2-3 car basement 1 = Carport 2 = 1 car detached 7 = 2 car attached, small 3 = 1 car basement 8 = 2 car attached, large = 1 car attached 9 = 3 car attached 55. ____ Building Style 6 = Good builder's 1 = Cottage2 = Pre - 1940suburban/mansion 3 = Standard builder's 7 =Architectural suburban (Owner custom contemporary obsolescence) 8 =Architectural 4 = Architectural modern traditional 5 = Pre-1940 remodeled 9 = Architectural colonial 56. Basement Type 4 = Partially exposed (opening on grade at least one side) 0 = Slab1 = Crawl 2 = Partial 5 = Exposed (raised ranch/bilevel-3 = FullEnglish basement- window sill at grade) 57. _ Basement Condition 0 = No problem2 = Mild problem due to seepage/aging 5 = Poor condition or no basement58. Appearance to Neighbors 1 = Less attractive 2 = Equally attractive 3 = More attractive 59. Quality 0 = Uninhabitable 5 = Well-maintained6 = Maintained like new 1 = Major mechanical or structural problems 7 = New--standard8 = New--custom2 = Interior damage 3 = Exterior maintenance 9 = New--deluxerequired 4 = Average condition

60.	Enclosed Porch
	0 = None 5 = Average glass
	2 = Average screen 7 = Small glass, heated
	3 = Large screen 8 = Average glass, heated
	4 = .Small glass 9 = Large glass, heated
61.	Total Number of Rooms
62.	Total Number of Bedrooms
63.	Total Number of Bathrooms (sum of bathroom scores)
64.	Half (Score = .5 for each)
65.	Three-quarter (Score = .75 for each)
66.	Full (Score = 1 for each)
67.	Bathroom on First Floor
	1 = Yes
68.	Total Number of Fireplaces
69.	Living Room
	(score = size, layout)
	SIZE LAYOUT
	i = Small $i = roor2 = Moderate$ $2 = Indifferent$
	3 = Large 3 = Good
70.	Dining Room
	0 = None STYLE
	1 = At end of living room
	2 = Dining L $3 = Full dining area$
	4 = Separate room

.

•

____ Den/Library/Study 71. 2 = Average 0 = None1 = Small3 = Large72. Kitchen Score Score = (Size * Type * Work area) + Eating space 73. ____ Kitchen Size 1 = Small2 = Average3 = Large74. Kitchen Type 1 = Single wall 4 = U-shaped 5 = L - or U - shaped with island2 = Pullman3 = L-shaped75. Kitchen Work Area To calculate kitchen score use: 0 = Obsolete (.5)1 = Dated(.75)3 = Modern(1.00)76. _ Kitchen Eating Space To calculate kitchen score use: 0 = None0 .2 1 = Counter/Stools .4 2 = Space for table/chairs 3 = Breakfast nook.6 77. Family Room (Score = location, size) 0 = NoneLOCATION SIZE 1 = Poor1 = Small2 = Adjoining kitchen 2 = Average3 = Fully separate and 3 = Largewell located 78. _ Recreation Room 0 = None1 = Yes (Must have fully finished floor, ceiling, and walls) 79. Laundry Area Score (Score = location * type)

80.,	Laundry Area Location
	LOCATION 1 = Basement 2 = At grade 3 = Second floor
81.	Laundry Area Type
	TYPE
	1 = Exposed
	2 = Enclosed closet 3 = Separate room
82.	Heating System Score (Score = Fuel * Type)
<u> </u>	
83.	Heating Fuel
	1 = Electricity
	2 = 011
	5 = Gas
84.	Heating Type
	<u>1 - Old bot water - radiators</u>
	2 = Old low pressure steam - radiators
	3 = Old hot water integrated with water heater
	4 = Gravity not air griffs on floor 5 = Hot water-baseboards
	6 = Forced hot air
	7 = Forced hot air-zoned Hot forced air / Walter - 2011
	o = Multiple forced not air units
85.	Electrical Service
	$\frac{AMPERAGE}{1 = 30 \text{ amp}}$
	2 = 60 amp.
	3 = 100 amp.
	4 = 125 amp. 5 - 150 amp.
	6 = > 150 amp.

86.	Water Heater	I
	Score = (Capacity, Fuel)	
	0 = With hot water heat system	
	CAPACITY OF UNIT FUEL	
	1 = 20 gal. 5 = 75 gal. 1 = Elect	ric
	2 = 30 gal. 6 = 100 gal. 2 = Solar	
	3 = 40 gal. $7 = 100 + $ gal. $3 = 0$ il	
	$4 = 50 \text{ gal} \qquad 4 = \text{Gas}$	
87.	Interior Circulation (Traff	ic pattern)
•	0 = Poor	
	1 = Moderately good	
	2 = Good	
	3 = Excellent	
88.	Total Special Features Scor	e
·	(Sum of all special features points)	

•

SPECIAL FEATURES

Front Exterior Entry 1. (Score = Sum of style and function) FUNCTION . STYLE -1 = Unprotected0 = Single door1 = Double door 2 = ProtectedFront Interior Entry 2. (Score = Sum of points) -3 = Entrance direct to living room 0 = Vestibule (hall entry) 1 = Foyer (enclosed entry) 2 = Spacious vestibule 3 =Spacious foyer Master Bedroom Suite 3. (Score = Sum of points) 1 = Extra closet space 2 = Dressing area 3 =Sitting area 4. Living Room Extras (Score = Sum of points) -3 = Classical cathedral ceiling 0 = None1 = Contemporary sloped ceiling, built-in cabinets 2 = Sunken multi-level, special natural illumination, deluxe woodwork 5. Dining Room Extras (Score = Sum of points) 0 = None1 = Built-in china cabinet, break front/buffet 2 = Wet bar3 = Deluxe built-insDen/Library/Study Extras 6. (Score = Sum of points) 0 = None1 = Built-in cabinets 2 = Deluxe woodwork

SPECIAL FEATURES (Continued)

7. Kitchen Extras (Score = Sum of Points) 0 = None1 = Each built-in appliance, serving pantry/bar, direct access to outside, grill/BBQ, more than one sink area -3 = No window-2 = Below average window area 0 = Average window area 1 = Above average window area 8. Family Room Extras (Score = Sum of points) 0 = None1 = Built-in cabinets, deluxe flooring, deluxe paneling, sloped ceiling 2 = Wet bar5 = Kitchen facilities 9. Number of Special Spaces (Score = Sum of points) 0 = None1 = Special woodwork/craft area 2 = Dark room3 = Sewing, sitting, office areas, partially finished recreation room 10. Recreation Room Extras (Score = Sum of ponits) 0 = None1 = Built-in cabinets 2 = Wet bar5 = Kitchen facilities 11. Household Extras (Score = Sum of points) 0 = None1 = Greenhouse - attached at window, special indirect lighting 2 = Security system 3 = Greenhouse - attached and walk-in, sauna 5 = Central air conditioning, grand spiral staircase

VILLAGE OF MAPLE BLUFF, DANE COUNTY SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL TAX INFORMATICH FORM AS OF JANUARY 1, 1980

1	Tax Parcel Number		460111				
2	Property Owner						
3	Street Number				· •		
4	Street Name						
5	Previous Lot Sale Price	PISPRICE					
6	Previous Lot Sale Date			ha	-	1	. 1
7	Geocode X	GEO X		77	Era	ERA	
8	Geocode Y	GEO V		50	Sq. Ft. Living Space	SQFTLS	2180
9	Neighborhood Number	NRPHD		51	Number of Stories	STORIES	
	3			74	Root	ROOF	14
10	Lot Square Feet	ITSOFT	22500	>>	Exterior	EXTER	4
11	Lot Front Feet		102				
12	Lot Depth		147	54	Garage Type	CARAGE	
13	Lot Subdividable		174	55	Building Style	STYLE	8
14	lot Oversized			56	Basement Type	BSMTYP	3
	Lot over sized		· <u>O</u>	57	Basement Condition	BSMTCND	5
15	Lake Access Encoment			58	Appearance to Neighbors	APPEARS	
16	Shore Quality		<u> </u>				
17	Water Quality	SHURE	<u>0</u>	59	Quality	QUALTY	3
18	lake Front Ecot	WAIEK		60	Enclosed Porch	PORCH	0
19		LKFFT	0	61	Total Number Rooms	ROOMS	4
	Lot on comer			62	Total Number Bedrooms	BDRMS	4
20	lat an Cul de Car						
21	Lot on tul de sac	LTCUL	<u> </u>	63	Total Number Bathrooms	BATHS	175
22		LTINS	<u> </u>	64	Half	HEBTH	0
23		LTWOOD		65	Three Quarters	тновтн	<u> </u>
24	Lot Tree	LTVIEW		66	Full	FULLBTH	
£ 7		LTTOPO		67	On First Floor	BTHIST	
25	Adus			•,			
26	Adverse Influence	ADINF	5	68	Total Number Fireplaces	FPLAC	
27	Cubdos Decl	TENCT	0	69	living Room	LIVRM	02
28		OUTPOOL	9	70	Dining Room	DINRM	4
20	Patio	PATIO	200	71	Den/Library/Study	DEN	
29	storage shed	STSHD	<u>a</u>	~ `	5cm/2101019/32009		<u>├</u> ∕
30	Death a s			72	Kitchen Score	KTCHSCR	115
21	Boathouse	BTHSE	Ô	73	Kitchen Size	KTCHS7	1:12
22	Seawall	SEAWLL	0	74	Kitchen Type	KTCHTVDE	<u> </u>
32		INPOOL	0	75	Kitchen Work Area	KTCHWRK	t
))	Elevator	ELEV	0	76	Kitchen Fating Space	KTCHEAT	<u> </u>
				/0	Kitchen Lating space	KICHLAI	- ~
34	Other Structure Name	STCTI	0				1
35	Uther Structure Value	VALUE1	0	77	Family Room	FMLYRM	0
36	Uther Structure Name	STCT2	0	78	Recreation Room	RECRM	0
37	Uther Structure Value	VALUE2	0	79	Laundry Area Score	LAUNSCR	
۶۵	special Structures Total	SPCTOT	0	80	Laundry Area Location	LAUNLOC	1.1
20				81	Laundry Area Type	LAUNTYP	1
55	Driveway	DRVWY	14	-			1
70 1.1	Neighborhood Foliage	NBRFOL	3	82	Heating System Score	HTGSCR	6
マー	Landscaping	LNDSCP	_3	83	Heating Fuel	HTGFUEL	3
42 42	Screening of Back	CRBK	0	84	Heating Type	HTGTYP	2
ز ۳	Screening of Front	SCRFT	Ø	85	Electrical Service	ELECTSRV	2
<u>ь</u> ,				86	Water Heater	WTRHTR	44
44 1.c	Curb Gutter	CRBGTR	0	87	Interior Circulation	INTCIR	17
7) 114	Sidewalk	SIDWLK	0				1
40 17	Previous Sale Price	PSPR	0	88	Special Features Score	SPFTSCR	4
7/ 1.9	Previous Sale Date	PSDATE		. -		20000	100
40	Year Built	YRBLT	1927	89	79 ASSESSMENT	19 403553	181,000
			4				
						I	1

*APPROX. USING VILLAGE HAP

24,500 56,500

<u>91 000</u>

LAND

1000 ACCECCNENT

INPROVENENTS

: 		PDENIONS SALE PDICE	0
NAUISUN, WI 53704		PREVIOUS SALE FAILE	9
LAND DATA			-
		YEAR BUILT	1927
PREVIOUS LOT SALE PRICE	0	ERA	1910-1929
PREVIOUS SALE DATE	0	SD. FT. LIVING SPACE	2180
•••••••••		NUMBER OF STORIES	2 Story
GEOCODE	0	BUILDING STYLE	Architectural Traditional
NEIGHBORHOOD NUNBER	5	ROOF	Gable,slate shingles
		EXTERIOR	Stucco
LOT SQ. FT.+	22500	GARAGE	2 Car attached,small
LOT FRONT FT.+	202	BASENENT TYPE	Full
LOT DEPTH+	142	BASEMENT CONDITION	Poor condition
LOT SUBDIVIDABLE	No	QUALITY	Exterior maintenance required
LOT OVERSIZED	No	APPEARANCE TO NEIGHBORS	Less attractive
LAKE ACCESS EASENENT	No	ENCLOSED PORCH	None
		NUMBER OF ROOMS	9
		NUMBER OF BEDROOMS	4
LAKE FRONT FT.	0	NUMBER OF BATHROOMS	1.75
LOT ON CORNER	Yes	HALF BATHS	0
LOT ON CUL DE SAC	No	THREE QUARTER BATHS	1
INSIDE LOT	No	FULL BATHS	1
LOT WOODED	4 to 7 najor trees	BATH ON FIRST FLOOR	Yes
LOT VIEW ~	Average view	NUMBER OF FIREPLACES	
LOT TOPOGRAPHY	Level contour	LIVING ROOM	Moderate Size, good layout
ADVERSE INFLUENCE	Public property	DINING ROUM	Separate room
		DEN/LIBRAKT/SIUDT	Small Size
SPECIAL STRUCTURES AND	SITE INPROVENENTS	FARILI KUUR Kitenen oode	
		RIILALA DUNK C175	1.1J Swall
TERNIS COURT	Ô	311E Tyde	Single up]]
OUTDOOR POOL	0	HITE HODE ADEA	Dingte west
PALLU CIADACE CUED	200	ENTING SPACE	Space for table/chairs
STUKAUL SHEP	0	PEOPEATION DOON	
BUATHUUSE	0	I ALLADY ADEA CONDE	1
JUNNAR PANI	0	INCATION	Basement
2 CUATAD	0	TYPE	Exposed
	0	NEATING SYSTEM SCORE	4
0	0	FUEL	(Tree's
•	•		
SPECIAL STRUCTURES TOTAL	200	TYPE	Old low pressure steam
		ELECTRICAL SERVICE	60 anp.
DRIVEWAY	Linear. concrete	WATER HEATER	50 gal., gas
NEIGHBORHOOD FOLIAGE	Shady	INTERIOR CIRCULATION	Noderately good
LANDSCAPING	Average	SPECIAL FEATURES SCORE	4
SCREENING OF BACK	Little or none		
SCREENING OF FRONT	Little or none	LAND	24,500
CURB AND GUTTER	No	1 NPROVENENTS	56,500
SIDEVALK	No	1979 ASSESSMENT	81,000

.

FACIOR TYP KATE AVE. S-BEV. PSFR 0. 1.00 89213. 22432. PSDATE 2. 0.05 3347. 1787. NRRHD 1. 1500.00 750. 1500. LISOFT 1. 0.22 2173. 873. LDISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LDTOVSZD 2. -0.05 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 350.00 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTONR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUL 1. 500.02 0. 0. LTUL 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUL
PSFR 0. 1.00 89213. 22432. PSDATE 2. 0.05 3347. 1787. NRRHD 1. 1500.00 750. 1500. LISOFT 1. 0.22 2173. 873. LOISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LOTOVSZD 2. -0.05 0. 0. LOTOVSZD 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 350.00 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTONR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTUL 1. 500.02 0. 0. LTOND 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOND 2. 0.02 -749. 866. </td
PSDATE 2. 0.05 3347. 1787. NBRHU 1. 1500.00 750. 1500. LISOFT 1. 0.22 2173. 873. LOISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. SHORE 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTONR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTODD 2. 0.05 1873. 2165. LTVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTODD 2. 0.03 0. 0. LTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF<
NBRHU 1. 1500.00 750. 1500. NBRHB 1. 1500.00 750. 1500. LDISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTCNR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTODD 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT<
LISOFI 1. 000.00 730. 1300. LISOFI 1. 0.22 2173. 873. LOISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LOTOVSZD 20.05 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. UATER 20.02 0. 0. UATER 20.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LICNR 1750.00 -750. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LITUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LITUL 2. 0.05 1873. 2145. LIVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LITUPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 20.02 -6796. 5048. SPCI0T 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. SIDRIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXIER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. SIYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSMICND 20.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 2000.
LOISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LOISDIV 1. 15500.00 0. 0. LOISDIV 2. -0.05 0. 0. LOIOVSZD 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. SHORE 2. -0.02 0. 0. WATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTONR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUL 2. 0.02 -0. 0. LTUL 2. 0.02 -749. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.0
LOTOVSZD 2. -0.05 0. 0. LOTOVSZD 2. -0.05 0. 0. LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. SHORE 2. -0.02 0. 0. WATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. UATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LITOPD 2. 0.02 0. 0. LITOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. LITOPO 2. 0.02 -749. 864. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 0. 0. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2.
LKACC 1. 100.00 0. 0. SHORE 2. -0.02 0. 0. WATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. UATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LICUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LIVUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LIVUL 2. 0.02 0. 0. LIVUL 2. 0.02 0. 0. LIVUL 2. 0.02 0. 0. LITOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SUFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0
SHORE 2. -0.02 0. 0. WATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTCNR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUU 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUOD 2. 0.05 1873. 2145. LTUTOP 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE
UATER 2. -0.02 0. 0. LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTCNR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUDU 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPU 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. SIORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP <t< td=""></t<>
LKFFT 1. 350.00 0. 0. LTCNR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUU 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUU 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTUODB 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPO 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP <
LTCNR 1. -750.00 -750. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. 0. LTUEU 1. 500.00 0. 0. 0. LTUODB 2. 0.05 1873. 2145. LTVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOPD 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926.<
L1CUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTCUL 1. 500.00 0. 0. LTWOOB 2. 0.05 1873. 2165. LTVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389.
LTWODB 2. 0.05 1873. 2165. LTWIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LTUPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389.
LIVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LIVIEW 2. 0.02 0. 0. LITOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 143. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. <t< td=""></t<>
LTTOPO 2. 0.03 0. 0. ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
ADINF 2. -0.02 -6796. 5048. SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 866. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. SUFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMIYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHICND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
SPCTOT 1. 1.00 0. 163. ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 864. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
ERA 2. 0.02 -749. 864. SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. SIGRIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSMTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
SOFTLS 1. 15.00 150. 4963. SIGRIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSHTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 400.00 0. 2000.
STORIES 2. 0.02 0. 0. EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSHTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
EXTER 2. 0.01 964. 1592. GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSHTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
GARAGE 1. 1000.00 1000. 1826. STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSNTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSNTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
STYLE 2. 0.01 596. 1971. BSNTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSNTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
BSNTYP 2. 0.01 669. 779. BSNTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
BSHTCND 2. -0.02 -4926. 3444. APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
APPEARS 2. 0.03 -2676. 673. OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
OUALTY 2. 0.02 -1949. 2389. PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
PORCH 1. 600.00 -900. 600. BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
BDRMS 1. 1500.00 0. 1225. BATHS 1. 4900.00 0. 2000.
BATHS 1. 4000.00 0. 2000.
FFLAG 1, 250,00 -187 375
DINRM 2. 0.02 749 944
DEN 1. 1000 00 750 500
KTCHSCR 1. 350.00 -814 955
FAMRN 1. 100.00 -2150 1509
RECRN 1. 2000.00 0. 0
LAUNSER 1. 300.00 -450. 714
HTGSCR 1. 200.00 -1400. 1200.
INICIR 2. 0.01 -305. A10.
SPFTSCR 1. 200.00 -250. 1310.
AVE ADJUSTED ANT 77930 4747
WEIGHTED AVE. 76000
INDICATED VALUE 76000.

··· · - · ·

· · ·

•

4:46	460115 30	OLD SHORE R	B						
51:24	6 4601325.	24 372 NOODL	AHD						
23:139	9 4601212	236 LAKENDOD	RIV						
29:155	9 4601237	122 LAKE4000	RI U						
FACTOR	SUBJECT	4-AMT	AD.1	51-4	41 AD I	913 A M	7		
PSPR	0.00	85000.00 85	000.	77850 N	11 - אשר 11 הישטפה	23-AA	I ADJ	29~A8	T ADJ
PSDATE	80.00	78.92 4	404.	79 41	V / KOJV.) 7176	122000.00	122000.	77000.00	77000.
NBRHD	5.00	5.00	0	77.72	L 4120.	/7./3	1525.	78.67	5133.
LTSOFT	22500.00	14000.00 1	870	10500 0/) 3000.	3.00	0.	5.00	0.
LOTSDIV	0.00	0.00	0/01 n	0.00	/ 201V.	1/200.00	1100.	8500.00	3080.
LOTOVSZD	0.00	0.00	Ň.	0.00		0.00	0.	0.00	0.
LKACC	0.00	0.00	v.	0.00	· · ·	0.00	0.	0.00	0.
SHORE	0.00	0 00	Å.	0.00	· · ·	0.00	9.	0.00	0.
WATER	0.00	0.00	v. ^	0.00	· •.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.
LKFFT	0.00	0.00	×.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.
LICNR	1 00	0.00	V. 780	0.00	0.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.
LTCH	0.00	0.00 ~/	/30.	0.00	-750.	0.00	-750.	0.00	-750,
1 70000		0.00	ν.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.	0.00	0.
1 10150	1.00	1.00	0.	0.00	3643.	1.00	٥.	0.0Ò	3850.
1 11000	1.00	1.00	θ.	1.00	٥.	1.00	٥.	1.00	0.
L110FU ARTNE	3.00	3.00	0.	3.00	9.	3.00	٥.	3.00	0.
COPTOT	5.00	5.00	0.	0.00	-7285.	0.00-	12200.	0.00	-7700.
SPLIUI	200.00	200.00	0.	400.00	-200.	200.00	٥.	0.00	200
SNM SOCTLO	1.00	1.00	0.	2.00	-1457.	1.00	0.	2 00	-1540
JUF ILS STOPICO	2180.00	2400.00 -33	00.	1960.00	3300.	2500.00	-4800	1820.00	5400
STURIES	3.00	3.00	0.	3.00	٥.	3.00	0.	3.00	0
CARLOT	4.00	4.00	0.	1.00	2186.	2.00	2440.	5.00	-770
UAKAGE Civic	7.00	8.00 -10	00.	4.00	3000.	5.00	2000.	2.00	
SITLE	8.00	9.00 -8	50.	4.00	2914.	9.00	-1220.	6.00	1540
BSHITP	3.00	3.00	0.	1.00	1457.	2.00	1220.	3 00	137V. A
BSHICND	5.00	2.00 -51	00.	0.00	-7285.	2.00	-7370	5 00	¥.
APPEARS	1.00	2.00 -25	50.	2.00	-2184.	2.00	-3440	2 00	
QUALTY	3.00	3.00	٥.	5.00	-2914.	5.00	-4880	7 00	~2310.
PORCH	0.00	2.00 -12	00.	0.00	0.	2.00	-1200	3.00	1200
BDRMS						2.00	1200.	2.00	-1200.
4.00) 4.0(D 0.	3.00	1500.	5.4	0 -1500	4 00	•	
DATHS	1.75	1.50 10	00.	1.50	1000.	5 50	-7000	V.	
FPLAC	1.00	1.00	0.	1.00	٥.	1 00	-3000.	1.30	1990.
DINRH	4.00	4.00	0.	3.00	1452.	4 00	v.	2.00	~/50.
DEN	1.00	0.00 10	00.	1.00	0	4.00	1000	3.00	1540.
KTCHSCR	1.15	1.50 -12	23.	4.90	-1717	0.00	1000.	0.00	1000.
Fahrh	0.00	32.00 -320	30.	22.00	-7200	9.0V ·	-190/.	0.90	87.
RECRN	0.00	0.00	0	0 00	A 2200.	32.00 -	-3200.	0.00	0.
LAUNSCR	1.00	1.00	<u>0</u> .	۶.VV	v. -1500	0.00	V.	0.00	٥.
HTGSCR	6.00	6.00	۵.	18 00	-940A	2.00	-300.	1.00	٥.
INTCIR	1.00	1.00	٥.	1 0.00	-49VV, A	10.00	-800.	18.00 -	2400.
SPFISCR	4.00	6.00 - AA	0.	17 00	V 	2.00 -	1220.	1.00	٥.
		417V 'Y	**	13.00	-1846.	5.00	-200.	-3.00	1400.
ADJUSTED AN	HOUNT	7544	2		10700				
SELECTION	INDEX	144	5	(97/82. 311320	8	3128.	8	3811.
		1000	£ .		411/2.	2	1227.	2	2803.

4 CONPS SELECTED

RUM PROPED B.B. Filenano? NBLOTS Gutput Filenano? KB: Enter (start col>, (mun col>, (strt in>, (end in> T 1, 132, 1, 60 Format Cade Filemanet PROPTY.CRD 18 WITSA::KB65 PROPCD+BASIC J 18 WITSA::KB65 PROPCD+BASIC J RN 16(16)K+15K 38(11R) 14(14)K+15K

. .

.

47.4(+18.1) 48.6(+1.0)

Property card for waccant site

.

INPROVENENT DATA

7 ,

9

9 ,

99

9

99.00

Vacant Lot

PREVIOUS SALE PRICE PREVIOUS SALE DATE

ERA BQ. FT. LIVING SPACE

NUNDER OF STORIES Building Style

GARAGE BASEMENT TYPE BASEMENT CONDITION

BATH ON FIRST FLOOR

NUMBER OF FIREPLACES LIVING ROOM BINING ROOM

APPEARANCE TO NEIGHBORS

APPEARANCE TO NEIGHBORS 7 ENCLOSEB PORCH 97 HUNBER OF ROONS 97 HUNBER OF DEDROONS 99 HUNBER OF DATHROONS 99 HALF BATHS 97 THREE GUARTER BATHS 99

FULL BATHS

TEAR BUILT

ROOF EXTERIOR

QUALITY

LAN# BATA	
PREVIDUE LOT SALE PRICE	٥
PREVIOUS SALE DATE	•
BEOCODE	0
REIGHDORNOOD NUNDER	2
LOT SQ. FT.+	8400
LOT FRONT FT.+	81
LOT DEPTH+	104
LOT SUBDIVIDABLE	Xo
LOT OVERSIZED	No
LAKE ACCESS EASENENT	Xo
SHORE QUALITY	No domisant problem
WATER QUALITY	No dominant problem
LAKE FRONT FT.	0
LOT ON CORNER	Xo
LOT ON CUL DE SAC	¥o
INSIDE LOT	žo
LOT VOODED	4 to 7 major trees
LOT VIEW	Averses visu
LOT TOPOGRAPHY	Level contour

1780 PROPERTY CARB - PARCEL 4401124

LOT VIEW	Average view	NUMBER OF FIREPLACES	99
LOT TOPOGRAPHY	Level contour	LIVING ROOM	99
ADVERSE INFLUENCE	None	BINING ROOM	
		BEN/LIBRARY/STUDY	
SPECIAL STRUCTURES AN	B SITE INPROVEMENTS	FAMILY ROOM	
		KITCHEN SCORE	999.00
TENNIS COURT	•	SIZE	99
OUTBOOR POOL	9	TYPE	
PATIO	9	UORK AREA	99
STORAGE SHED	9	EATING SPACE	44
BOATHOUSE	*	RECREATION ROOM	
SEAUALL	•	LAUNDRY AREA SCORE	
INBOOR POOL	•	LOCATION	é
ELEVATOR	•	TYPE	÷
7	•	NEATING SYSTEM SCORE	
7	,	FUE	40
SPECIAL STRUCTURES TOTAL	0	TYPE	
		FLECTRICAL SERVICE	
BRIVEVAT	77	BATER HEATER	90
NEIGHBORHGOD FOLIAGE	77	INTERIOR CIRCUMATION	
LANDSCAPING	99	SPECIAL FEATURES SCOPE	**
SCREENING OF BACK	77	Previne remained source	,,
SCREENING OF FRONT	77		
		AND	
CURB AND GUTTER	77	INPROVENENTS	2
SIDEVALK	99	1979 ASSESSMENT	28,500
*APPROX. USING VILLAGE HAP	,	1 446	34 404
		[# # ##################################	20,000
		INFROVENENT	24 000
		1188 433633A641	∡e,uuv

BUS BB.RETRIE

B.B.FILE TO RETRIEVE BATA FROM >HPBLUF OUTPUT FILE > B.B.FILE HPBLUF: 540 RECORBS, 74 COLUMNS. HA Column >18 <, >, or = (WHICH DNE) >> VALUE >0

¥A

COLUNN >51 >, OR = (UHICH ONE) >> VÁLUÉ >Q ¥P. NUNDER OF COLUMNS >12 RPT.COL. 1 >1 RPT.COL. 2 >3 RPT.COL. 3 >4 RPT.COL. 4 >10 RPT.COL. 5 >18 RPT.COL. 6 >50 RPT.COL. 7 >62 RPT.COL. \$ >63 RPT.COL. 7 >88 RPT.COL. 19 >87 RPT.COL. 11 >90 RPT.COL. 12 >91 DELINITER (NAY BE WULL) > BO YOU WANT ALLIGNED COLUMNST >Y POSITION TO BEBIN COLUMN 1 , TXPARNUMOG POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 2 , STRMUN>13 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 3 , STRNAN>21 POSITION TO BEBIN COLUNN 4 , LTSQFT>39 POSITION TO BEBIN COLUMN 5 , LKFFT>49 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN & , SOFTLE>59 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 7 , BORHS>69 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 8 , BATHS>77 POSITION TO BEBIN COLUMN 9 , SPFTSCR>85 POSITION TO BEBIN COLUMN 10 , 79ASSESS>95 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 11 , BOASSESS>105 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 12 , ZCHANGE>115

Creation of list lising DB MPBLUF data file -- ordered by parcel number -- lake preparties Col. 18 = >0 lade front ft. Col 51 = >0 selecte rady procedo sonth improved

TXPARNUN	STRNUN	STRNAK	LTSOFT	LXFFT	SOFTLS	BBRHS	BATHS	SPFTSCR	77485E38	80A58E55	ZCHANGE
46011	43	BURROWS RD	13500	90	1960	4	2.25	7	112000	121000	1.08034
4601100	309	LAKEWOOD BLVD	63500	100	4960	5	3.5	14	107500	234000	2.177
4601101	303	LAKENOOD BLVD	122000	275	5820	ĩ	5.5	21	324000	139000	1 0447
4601104	81	CAMBRIDGE RD	31000	89	3840	5	4	14	159000	175000	1 1004
4601105	47	CANBRIDGE RD	57000	260	5750	2	Å	21	757886	276666	1 4545
4601104	57	CANERIDGE RD	21500	180	2480	5	3 75	10	117000	140000	1 37044
4401107	49	CANERIDGE RD	17000	80	4740	5	5 25	17	142000	190000	1.23874
4401108	45	CANERIBGE BB	18000	80	3000		7 75		142999	147000	1.11111
4401109	37	CANERIDGE DB	20500	80	2480	1	7 75	-	163444	183000	1
4401110	37	CANDRIDGE NA	20304	77	2189	3	3.23	•	180000	140000	1
4401110	33	CANDALDUE AD	27344		3000	3	2.3	1	124999	134500	1.22419
767111	27	CHRISKINGE KN	24300	82	2640	•	3.5	19	141500	147000	1.03887
4401112	25	CANURINGE CT	24000	71	3000	4	4.25	13	172000	179000	1.0407
4601113	23	CANSRIDGE CT	13000	87	2629	4	2.5	7	135000	130000	.762763
4601114	17	CANBRIDGE CT	87500	475	4440	6	6	14	320000	310000	.96875
4601117	11	CANBRIDGE RD	15500	30	1780	3	1.5	2	95000	105000	1.10574
4601118	7	CANBRIDGE RD	16000	78	3000	- A	2.75	14	131000	144000	1 1145
4601119	5	CANBRIDGE RD	14500	78	2340	Å	2.75	4	120000	120000	1
4601120	3	CANERIDGE RD	17000	70	1580	i	1 5	*	105000	110000	1 04743
4601121	35	BAYSIDE BP	20000	77	7440		7	4	174344	141500	1.04/02
4401123	27	BAVGINE ND	19533	75	2709	-	3	7	170000	141500	1-0882
44.519	4/ E1	JEIJIJE JE	17300	73	2990	3	3	/	123000	157500	1.02941
10412	J:	BUKKUND KU	23200	3/3	1740	2	1.5	12	142000	122000	1.09155
460120.7	1008	BAT DK	28000	190	2860	5	2.5	4	186009	189000	1.01613
4401"C											

#G

I D.B.FILE MBCPY: 560 RECORDS, 96 COLUMNS. #P NUMBER OF COLUMNS >4 RPT.COL. 1 >3 RPT.COL. 2 >4 RPT.COL. 3 >2 RPT.COL. 4 >1 DELIMITER (MAY BE NULL) > DO YOU WANT ALLIGNED COLUMNST >Y POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 1 , STRNAM>10 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 3 , PROPOWN>32 POSITION TO BEGIN COLUMN 4 , TXPARNUM>62

Creation of hist using DB MBCOPY date file which had been sorted street

TXPARNUM STRNUMSTRNAM PROPOWN 1008 BAY DR RAEMISCH, BRUCE & GREG 460120.7 BUTCHER, GORDON G 46019 я BAYSIDE DR 46017.2 BACH, FRANCIS H 23 BAYSIDE DR WHIFFEN, JOHN P & LORNA D 4601121 BAYSIDE DR 35 4601123 WESTON, JOHN C BAYSIDE DR 27 HARPER, ALPHA S 46015 BAYSIDE DR 3 BRUDEN, PHILIP M & PATRICIA I 46018 BAYSIDE DR BAYSIDE DR BAYSIDE DR SHELTON, WILLIAM E & CAROL 46016 7 FISHER, JEROME 46017 15 KLIPSCH, RICHARD W & MARCIA 46013.1 44 BURROWS RD BURROWS RD BURROWS RD 22 SHERRY, TOBY E 460112 46013 BLAKE, PHOEBE 48 BURROWS RD BURROWS RD HAIGHT, NANCY K 46012 51 43 ELA, DOROTHY A 46011 BUTTERNUT RD VOLZ, GORDON 837 4601398 BUTTERNUT RD BUTTERNUT RD TRAVERS, THOMAS G & MARY ANN 4601390 816 HOBBINS, MEREDITH L 4601395 811 4601349 BUTTERNUT RD LEIDEL FREDERICK D 911 BUTTERNUT RD BUTTERNUT RD SIEBRECHT, HARLAN & DIANE 4601389 822 ORR, ELEANOR A 4601387 840 BARRY, DAVID S & JANE 4601396 BUTTERNUT RD 819 BUTTERNUT RD BUTTERNUT RD WITTMEYER, ESTHER E 4601397 831 HOLMES, GEORGE E 4601404.1 704 STRUCK, VERNON C & GERTRUDE M 4601388 828 BUTTERNUT RD BREDESON, DUANE 4601392 806 BUTTERNUT RD BUTTERNUT RD VACARRO, JAMES A & SLYVIA 4601391 812 BLANCKE, ROSEMARIE 4601468.1 BUTTERNUT RD 801 BUTTERNUT RD BUTTERNUT RD 4601362 902 STEVENS, MYRON BLANCHAR + DONALD W 4601404.2 708 4601394 BUTTERNUT RD HOPKINS, J D 807 BLANCKE, ROSEMARIE BUTTERNUT RD 4601393 801 STICHA, PENELOPE G 4601413 CAMBRIDGE CT 23 CAMBRIDGE CT STICHA, EDWARD H 4601113 23 SUHR, FREDERICK C 4601126 CAMBRIDGE CT 29 WHIFFEN, JAMES D & ARLIS E 4601114 CAMBRIDGE CT 17 FINDORFF, JOHN R CAMBRIDGE CT 4601112 25 MAUTZ, BERNHARD M JR 4601106 CAMBRIDGE RD 57 CAMBRIDGE RD 4601110 MCGUIRE,R T 33 HARPER, JOHN & NANCY 4601120 CAMBRIDGE RD 3 92 CAMBRIDGE RD HART, JOHN R 4601142 CAMBRIDGE RD STEUER, JOSEPH T 4601104 81 CAMBRIDGE RD 4601173 HOVDE, RAYMOND 109 4601107 WESTON, CARL B 49 CAMBRIDGE RD TORMEY, DR. WESTON 68 CAMBRIDGE RD 4601147 CAMBRIDGE RD DIMOND, WALDO B 4601108 45 4601109 WHIFFEN, JOHN CAMBRIDGE RD CAMBRIDGE RD 37 SUHR, FREDERICK C & MARY E 4601111 29 KRUPP, JOSEPH & CYNTHIA J NEL CAMBRIDGE RD 4601187 118 CAMBRIDGE RD FRAZIER, ALBERT F JR 4601171 121 4601144 CAMBRIDGE RD NOURSE, DENNIS 88 VILAS, H J FRANCIS CAMBRIDGE RD 4601105 69 CAMBRIDGE RD CAMBRIDGE RD 4601117 JENSEN, KAI 11 LIZON, ROBERT H & DOROTHY I 4601119 ٩. 4601148 OSTBY, BYRON C 58 CAMBRIDGE RD

CAMBRIDGE RD USIBIJBIKUR C CAMBRIDGE RD VARDAJOHN P CAMBRIDGE RD SCHWARZJFREDERICK C

50

38

and the second of the second second

4601150

4601152

jinster.

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL SEMINAR

IX. Investment Purchase Simulation

Investment simulation is useful to select most probable use, predict most probable price, or test the market comparison price prediction for fit to the profile of consumer objectives. Each requires a different level of data for application, depending on the type of property and the sophistication of investor-buyers in the market place.

- A. Do not confuse gross rent multipliers, net income multipliers, or market capitalization rates as investment simulation techniques. These are market comparison techniques. Sales price is being related to gross rents, net income, or indirectly to investment.
- B. The front door and back door approaches may be considered as the most basic method of investment simulation. Examples are provided in Exhibits 1-3; a second example of this method is provided in the demonstration appraisal case.
 - 1. The back door approach is used primarily to determine the most probable use.
 - 2. The front door approach is used to test a most probable price conclusion determined from the market place.
 - 3. The BFCF model was specifically designed as an after tax test of probable market price.
- C. Investment simulation requires proof that the most probable buyer group does in fact think in the format presented so that it is first necessary to define the appropriate simulation model and then define the elements as used by most probable buyers as well as the elements appropriate to the issue.
 - 1. Hotel owners may use house profit to determine the price to be paid for the hotel but fair market value for real estate tax appeals must define the income attributable to real estate.
 - 2. There are indirect controls on price, such as debt cover ratio required by lender, land value per unit allowed by FHA or state housing agencies multiplied by typical loan to value ratio, or recent developments in farm appraisal where computers will convert soil productivity and tillable acres to most probable gross income estimate.
 - 3. Income, expenses, and discount rate must be appropriate to the viewpoint in the probable use-probable investor scenario.
- D. The income attributable to real estate may require market rents for fair market value or contract rents and a lease management plan for investment value. However many rental structures are tied to business operations which are identified with the real estate but are not attributable to the real estate but rather to entrepreneurial management such as hotel operations, super regional shopping centers, or sand and gravel operations. It is useful to set up generalized rules which suggest the presence of non-real estate income:





32,000 = \$27.80/sq. ft. justified building budget

Building an and the start of th

.. 34

DEVELOPER'S POINT OF VIEW

EXHIBIT 3



\$37/sq. ft. of gross area for justified bldg. budget

35

- 1. Is the income from a retailing, service intensive business or from wholesaling of space (parking ramp vs. ramp operations or John Hancock Observation Deck or floor space rents)?
- 2. Are entitlements that go with the land point specific or transportable? (permit to build a dam vs. a liquor license)
- 3. Extraordinary features or services rather than customary (refrigerator stove may be customary but maid service is not)
- 4. Ancillary rather than integral such as janitorial service or utilities which could be contracted for from off-site contractors
- IRS classification as 1250 property or 1231 (real) or 1231 property (personalty).
- E. The operating expenses from the history of the building are not necessarily appropriate for a new buyer if the prudent management rule for fair market value or profile of the prospective purchaser for the most probable price may suggest changes in the modus operandi.
 - Currently manually operated elevators may be replaced by automated elevators.
 - 2. Budgets for kilowatt hours and BTU consumption may be modified downward by instituting improved procedure even though the cost per unit may be rising more than most expenses.
 - Accounting systems of many owner occupied buildings are used to hide various items which may be weeded out including salaries to children, rent-a-plant, etc.
 - 4. Sale of a property may trigger reassessment and a whole new real estate tax, which leads to an interesting problem in circular reasoning since income value will be a function of real estate tax and the real estate tax is probably tied to value.
 - 5. It is necessary to read each lease to determine renewal options, the degree to which increased expanses can be passed through, or other concessions which may have been made which will cost money in the future. Ultimately expenses will need to be compared for normal level for that type of building and patterns analyzed.
- F. Exhibits 5-6 show the forecast of revenue, expenses, and deductions for non-real estate allocations for a hotel property.
 - 1. Note that the estimate of occupancy is much more difficult than the determination of average rent per room per night.
 - 2. Note that projection for inflation may differ with specific items, such as utilities, labor, and supplies.
 - 3. Note that this appraisal was for a real estate tax appeal so that real estate taxes are not included in expenses.
 - 4. Note that a five year projection is about as far in the future as one cares to go.
 - 5. Except in the case of subdivisions, a short-term projection makes it necessary to have an assumption about real sale price.
- G. Discount rates must be chosen that are consistent with the treatment of income and the viewpoint of the appraisal.

	•	Howard Jo Schedule of Proj For the Years (ohnson — jected Income an Commencing May 1	d Expenses , 1974-78	Exh	ibit <u>4-6</u>
	Period Occupancy (163 rooms)	1974-75 68%	1975-76 70%	1976-77 71%	1977-78 72%	1978–79 73 %
1	Revenue: Available Rooms Occupied Rooms Rate Average	59,463 40,463 18.89	59,400 41,580 19.00	59,400 42,174 19.50	59,400 42,768 20.00	59,400 43,362 20.50
	Room Revenue Public Room Rental ² Restaurant Rental ³ Telephone ⁴ Other Income ⁵ Room Service Commissions ⁶ Total Revenue	764,450 7,116 31,500 (14,345) 6,113 1,635 796,468	790,020 7,200 31,500 (14,795) 6,165 1,850 821,940	822,390 7,200 31,500 (15,375) 6,405 1,920 854,040	855,360 7,200 31,500 (15,960) 6,650 1,995 886,745	888,920 7,200 31,500 (16,560) 6,900 2,070 920,030
Landmark Research	Operating Expenses: Payroll ⁷ Housekeeping ⁸ Adm. & Gen. ⁹ Adv. & Promotion ¹⁰ Utilities ¹¹ Repairs & Maintenance ¹² Total Operating Expenses House Profit Misc. Interest Income Gross Profit Less: Insurance Land Rental ¹³ Income to Furnishing ¹⁴	166,180 33,160 83,150 82,250 66,500 16,550 447,790 348,678 720 349,398 10,314 7,680 64,000	164,390 $33,700$ $85,890$ $82,735$ $76,030$ $13,500$ $456,245$ $365,695$ 720 $366,415$ $9,926$ $7,680$ $64,000$	170,808 34,200 89,250 84,704 79,000 13,500 471,452 382,578 720 383,298 9,926 7,680 64,000	177,349 34,700 92,665 86,352 82,025 13,500 486,591 400,154 720 400,874 9,926 7,680 64,000	184,006 35,200 96,145 88,030 85,100 13,500 501,981 418,049 720 418,769 9,926 7,680 64,000
Iw.	Income before RE Taxes and Debt Service to Land and Buildings	267,404	284,809	301,692	319,268	337,163

1

8

t--- н

1.1.1

£

1

•

`a

Notes to Exhibit 4-6

- 1. Rate Average:
 - The average room rate for the year ending April 30, 1975 was \$18.89. This was a \$.19 increase over the room rate for the period ending April 30, 1974, or about 1%. The increase was due in large part to standardizing room discounts for major clients and for functions requiring a large number of rooms.
- 2. Public Rooms:
 - For the year ending April 30, 1975 the total dollar volume was \$7,116. In comparison, for the year ending December 31, 1974, the total volume was \$6,854. Public room rental was not found to be related to the level of occupancy or total revenues, thus it is assumed to be fairly fixed in character.
- 3. Restaurant Rental:
 - The restaurant is leased to Howard Johnson's for a minimum rent of \$31,500, plus 5% of the amount of gross receipts which exceeds 20 times the minimum rental.
- 4. Telephone:
 - Telephone revenues have averaged 3.4% of room revenues, compared with an industry average of 3.6% (Lodging Industry, by Laventhal, Krekstein, Horwath, and Horwath).
 - Annual equipment lease payment is \$12,764.40.
 - Net losses have average 1.8% of revenues. With increased occupancy, losses should not exceed 1.5%, comparable to national averages in Laventhal, Krekstein, Horwath and Horwath.
- 5. Other Income:
 - Includes valet and laundry, vending sales, sundry sales, and 10% commission on banquet food sales. Vending has averaged 1/2 of 1% of total revenues. The remainder accounts for 1/4 of 1% of total revenues.
- 6. Room Service Commissions:
 - 2% commission on restaurant bills and room service charged through motel plus 20¢/room service ticket, thus variable with occupancy.

- hatgela

- 7. Payroll:
 - Actual and target results are 20% of total revenues.

- 8. Housekeeping:
 - Averages have ranged from \$33,157 (December 31, 1974 closing) to \$33,775 (April 30, 1975 closing), or 4.06% to 4.27% of total revenues. Dollar amounts are fairly constant within a narrower range of occupancies.
 Includes commissions to travel agencies.
- 9. Administrative and General:
 - For the year ending December 31, 1974 the total amount was approximately \$82,750, or 10.45% of revenues. The totals are comprised of expenditures the majority of which are variable in nature.
 Includes a 3% fee for management services.

10. Advertising and Promotion:

Schedule		
Outdoor Sign		1975-76
Sign Co.	\$1625.50/mo.	
Advertising Co.	31.50/mo.	
Less: Howard Johnson's share	(275.00/mo.)	
Total	\$1377/month X	12 = \$16,524
Promotions		1,500
Publications		7,200
Franchise Fee (5% of gross room	receipts plus	
public room rentals)		39,537
Manager Expense and Promotion		3,475
Miscellaneous Advertising		2,500
Reservation Charge to Howard Joh	nson	12,000
Total		\$82,736

11. Utilities:

- The total is comprised of four elements: electric bulbs, electric current, fuel, and water. The total for the year ending December 31, 1974 was \$64,274 or 8.12% of total revenues.
- Interim rate increases by Gas and Electric commenced in June 1975. Electric increased 17.7% while fuel (gas) increased 7.33%. At present, additional proposed increased are being evaluated by the Public Service Commission which would become effective in 1976. Electric increases are proposed to be an additional 14.9% while gas is to increase 4.9%. Beyond 1976, increases are expected to be between 5% and 10% per year for both forms of energy.
- Utilities are not expected to exceed 9.23% of total revenues without a corresponding increase in room rates. Increases in utilities are expected to occur faster than any corresponding increase in room rates, thus it should be some time before the utility expense ratio will stabilize at approximately 9%.
- Year to date totals indicate the projections for 1975-76 are consistent with the above assumptions concerning the room revenue increase lag.

12. Repairs and Maintenance:

Contracts	
Plabocki Sign Repair Contract	\$1,060
Westinghouse Elevator Contract	3,336
Pellitteri Wast Removal	738

- Actual for year ending December 31, 1974 was approximately \$16,550.

- For the year 1975-76, the year to date totals indicate a decrease in expenditure. Such expenditures should remain fairly constant over the next five years.
- 13. Land Rent:

Monthly rental charges	\$1000
Less: Recovery from leased property	(360)
Net land cost per month	640

14. Furnishings and Other Assets:

Furnishings and Equipment	
Furnishings and Equipment	\$251,120
Carpeting	60,490
Two Autos	9,480
Signs	9,967
Leasehold Improvements	5,778
Total per Audit	336,835

Factors Attributed to Furnishings	
Rate of Return	9.0%
Recapture	10.0%
Personal Property Tax	4.5%

Income Equivalent of Recapture and Return to Equity 336,835 + 336,835(9% X 10 years) = 639,987 639,987 + 10 = 63,999 or <u>64,000</u>

- 1. Straight capitalization presumes reserves in expenses for any item replaced before the end of the useful life. The Ellwood discount factor assumes reserves only for items replaced within the protection period.
- 2. The FHA will provide a discount rate for the 2013 form which integrates the allowable cash on cash return to equity, mortgage insurance and debt service constant at the allowable interest rate.
- 3. Investment analysis assumes only cash available for distribution is discounted after a decision to internally finance improvements has been reached. Reserves and expense policies must be kept consistent with resale assumptions in the scenario.
- 4. Viewpoint gets tricky in terms of prudent investor vs. trader vs. institutional investor, all with different opportunity costs of money. Eminent domain appraisal is clearly from the viewpoint of the buyer but net liquidating value is from the viewpoint of the trustees and what he must do to protect himself against charges of waste (prudent man) or delay.
- H. Do not rely on overall rates from the market place since these are derivative of particular financing packages or engineered to suit past objectives of the parties

Reprinted with permission of McCloud B. Hodges, Jr.

Exhibit 7

MCCLOUD B. HODGES, JR. REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT, VALUATION AND COUNSELING 410 PINE STREET, SUITE 203 VIENNA, VIRGINIA 22180 703 - 281-5668

October 9, 1980

MEMORANDUM FOR several interested RE appraisers/counselors, trial attorneys and academicians

Enclosed is an expanded and revised list of OARs and assessment/ sales ratios which are self explanatory. This list is not a pure (random) sample by statistical rules. On one hand it is much larger than a sample need be, as it covers nearly 70% of all known property sales for the areas described, in the price range above about one-half million dollars, excluding MF apartment properties sold for condo conversion. On the other hand, it is possible that the 30% of investors-purchasers who, thus far, have not cooperated in furnishing data for this survey, may have shown slightly lower average OARs and A/S ratios.

This study, consuming several hundred man-hours in visits to offices of investors and inspections of their properties, was initiated more than two years ago primarily to obtain market data for rebutting several ad valorem tax valuations of properties owned by my clients. But it is now evident, from the specific results of the study and from its sheer coverage, that it ought to serve as the basis for a new educational manuscript advocating modern methods of valuing investment classed property. The "OAR" capitalization method, regardless of how the OAR is derived or constructed, is quite crude, often erroneous, and therefore useless as applied to higher priced property valuations. It was made even more useless during the last year in which many institutional sources of long term, level payment mortgage loans have withdrawn or have changed their lending practices in order'to share in part of the inflation-produced cash flow through additional interest and/or future capital gain.

The second enclosure, a revised edition of "Effects of Financing on Price and Value", should explain the main reasons for the variances in OARs shown in the first enclosure: financing and tax shelter. The other reasons for OAR variances are the buyers' anticipated future changes in net income and resale/exchange values. Some properties are expected to produce large profits, or their only profits, in the distant future, while others will be nominally profitable only in the short range. This reduces the "NOI" either as a first year or a "stablized" figure to a position of invalidity in the valuation appraisal practice.

é é tine callè é l'étre control d'al trad

Enclosures

MCCLOUD B. HODGES, JR. REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT, VALUATION AND COUNSELING 410 PINE STREET, SUITE 203 VIENNA, VIRGINIA 22180 703 - 281-5668

Sample of investment-classed property resales in the Virginia and Maryland suburbs of Washington, D. C., showing the wide variations in the overall capitalization rate (OAR) and in the assessment/sale price ratio. For any property which was not sold for cash above new, market-rate mortgage financing, the price shown is the cash-equivalent price, being the sum of the equity cash and the balances of the mortgage loans after discounting the loans to their estimated cash liquidable values at dates of property sales.

The OAR is based upon the cash-equivalent sales price and the net operating income (NOI) produced in the first year following the date of sale. If a full year had not passed by the date of any datum sale analysis, the NOI is that which was budgeted by the new owners. The assessment/sale price ratio is based upon 100% market value assessment and the cash equivalent sales price. Supporting data for all property sales are contained in a separate, confidential listing with corresponding identification (ID) numbers.

תד	Year of	Kind of Property and Location	Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
100	1977	Garden apts., Fairfax Co.	440,000	.1298	118%
105	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	467,074	.0856	118%
107	1978	Elevator apts., Montgomery Co.	474,389	.0942	148%
110	1978	Elevator Apts., Arlington Co.	559 , 800	.0857	718
113	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	585,126	.1324	133%
115	1977	Garden apts., Fairfax Co.	589,000	.1091	948
120	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	590,255	.0860	158%
125	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	638,975	.1291	229%
130	1976	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	730,058	.1232	77ቄ
132	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	746,833	.0818	97%
135	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	802,900	.1396	104%
140	1980	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	836,857	.0874	96%
141	1977	Garden Apts, Prince Georges Co.	850,000	.1012	878
142	1978	Office Bld., Montgomery Co.	950,000	.0759	89%
143	1978	Elevator Apts., Prince Georges Co	994,808	.1151	101%
144	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	1,010,865	.0868	59%
145	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	1,120,209	.0957	112%
147	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,159,172	.1267	102%
150	1977	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	1,245,200	.1124	106%
155	1976	Garden Apts., Arlington Co.	1,395,000	.1019	1038
				1	

ID	Year of Sale	Kind of Property and Location	Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
157	1977	Shopping Cntr., Montgomery Co.	1,461,500	.0879	988
160	1976	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	1,577,300	.1065	108%
162	1980	Garden Apts., Ann Arundel Co.	1,638,000	.1416	90%
163	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,716,505	.1290	101%
164	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,732,107	.1827	144%
166	1978	Office Bldg., Arlington Co.	1,751,835	.0645	90%
168	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,879,250	.1248	123%
170	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,960,835	.1140	114%
175	1975	Elevator Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,984,500	.1321	156%
180	1978	Elevator Apts., Falls Church	2,000,000	.0821	91%
184*	1977	Garden Apts., Montgomery Co.	2,113,500	.1192	115%
185	1980	Shopping Center, Fairfax Co.	2,144,706	.1081	125%
190	1975	Elevator Apts., Alexandria City	2,153,606	.0831	137%
195	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,324,000	.1224	106%
200	1975	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,375,000	.0950	115%
205	1977	Elevator Apts., Arlington Co.	2,400,000	.0975	66%
210	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	2,510,492	.1290	133%
225	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,569,500	.1068	85%
300	1975	Elevator Apts., Alexandria City	2,558,669	.1234	938
301*	* 1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	2,960,244	N/A	131%
303	1975	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	2,789,190	.0775	122%
304	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	3,090,639	Neg.	95%
305	1979	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	3,100,000	.1221	78%
306	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	3,117,300	.1056	165%
307	1977	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	3,125,000	.1070	102%
310	1979	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	3,214,928	.1110	110%
315	1980	Shopping Center, Fairfax Co.	3,765,341	.1093	132%
317*	1977	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	4,000,000	.0810	86%
318	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	4,100,000	.1439	97%
319	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	4,128,173	.0962	988
320	1975	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	4,190,700	.1359	155%
323	1977	Elevator Apts., Montgomery Co.	4,796,255	.0790	154%

* Financed under FHA 223(f) rehabilitation and refinancing program.

** Nominal price shown. No information available on terms of sale or NOI in first year of ownership.

a comonge lage

• •

ID	Year of Sale	Kind of Property and Location	Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
325	1980	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	4,871,282	.1316	124%
328*	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co	5,426,138	.0921	116%
330	1980	Office Bldg Complex, Fairfax Co	5,529,031	.1071	110%
335	1979	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	6,296,800	.1345	113%
340	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co	6,593,267	.1121	154%
344	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co	6,726,848	.1457	888
345	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	6,735,450	.1161	102%
352	1979	Elevator Apts., Montgomery Co.	8,189,554	Neg.	208%
354	1979	Office Building, Montgomery Co	8,850,000	.0862	120%
355	1979	Office Bldg., Arlington Co.	8,857,450	.0593	128%
360	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	10,729,000	.1025	80%
365	1976	Elevator Apts., Fairfax Co.	12,819,124	.0936	998
375	1978	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	14,957,334	.0881	89%
385	1979	Elev. & Gdn. Apts., Prince Geo.	18,866,955	.0674	72%

Financed under FHA 223(f) rehabilitation and refinancing program.

•

ł

*

က ကရေး ျပင်သည်။ ကြောက်များသည့် ကရိုးသည့် ကျွန်းများသည်။ မြောက်ကြောင်းများကြည်း ကျွန်းပြုန်းကျောင်သည်။ သည်။ သည်။

EFFECT OF FINANCING ON PRICE AND VALUE

WHAT CAN A 4-PERSON PARTNERSHIP PAY FOR A 10-YR. OLD, GOOD QUALITY APARTMENT COMPLEX UNDER 3 DIFFERENT SETS OF FINANCING TERMS ?

- FACTORS CONSTANT IN ALL 3 ANALYSES: NET INCOME BEFORE R.E. TAXES STARTS AT \$350,000 AND RISES ON A 4% SLOPE IN ACTUAL INFLATION S.
- R.E. TAX RATE = .0121; ASSESSED VALUE = SALE PRICE.
- DEPRECIABLE ASSETS = 85% OF PRICE, 25 YR. LIFE, 125% S/L D.B.
- · NO MAJOR CAPITAL REPLACEMENTS IN NEXT TEN YEARS.
- RESALE PRICE IO YEARS LATER = \$3,662,000, CASH-TO-SELLERS
- OWNERS WILL REMAIN IN 50% FED. & 5.75% STATE INCOME TAX BRACKET DURING ALL IO YEARS OF OWNERSHIP.
- · OWNERS WANT 18% EQUITY YIELD (I.R.R.) AFTER INCOME TAX.
- · 1978 TAX ACT GOVERNS INCOME, GAIN & ADD-ON TAXES.

VARIABLE FACTOR: FINANCING

IST MTGE		\$ 1,479,786 Asmd. @7 ¹ / ₂ %,17 More Yrs.	New \$1,850,000 @ 13%, 30 Yr. Amort., Ballooning 10 Yrs.	None
2ND MTGE		\$1,500,000 DPMM @6% Int.Only, 10 Yrs.	None	
PRICE	VALUE	\$ 3 537 073	\$ 2527098	\$ 1435046
EQUITY	CASH	557287	677098	1 435046
	1	\$ 85 460	\$ 88 738	#189 003
AFTER-	2	86 244	92 103	193 988
TAX	3	87 085	95 555	199 054
CASH	4	87 960	99 081	204 196
FLOW	5	<i>88 849</i>	102 664	209 411
IN	6	89 730	106 289	214 695
YEAR	? 7	93 655	112 136	221 293
	8	97 373	117 879	227 890
	9	100 867	123 503	234488
	10	912 938	1297 106	2905 060
"O.A	. <i>R</i> ."	.0869	.1264	.2318 &

"Overall Rate" = Year 1 Net Income After R.E. Taxes + Total Sale Price/Value

presente de la militaria de la completa de la comp

4/0,

SEMINAR INSTRUCTOR

DR. JAMES A. GRAASKAMP, Ph.D., SREA, CRE is one of the most popular and dynamic real estate instructors in the U.S. today. His presentations reflect the rare combination of real world experience and academic achievement that has characterized him as one of the industry's "Original Thinkers".

He has served as Chairman of the Department of Real Estate and Urban Land Economics at the University of Wisconsin for over ten years. He is currently teaching advanced appraisal techniques and advanced feasibility studies.

In addition to his academic work, Dr. Graaskamp is President and founder of Landmark Research, Inc., a real estate research and appraisal firm. He is also co-founder of a general contracting firm, a land development company and a real estate investment corporation. His work includes court testimony as an expert witness, substantial and varied consulting and valuation assignments which include investment counseling to insurance companies and banks and other lenders, plus feasibility and financial analysis of nationally known real estate development projects for a wide variety of clients.
SECTION I

.

Seminar Instructor

Basic Concepts and Definitions	1
Diagram: The Real Estate Process	3
A Real Estate Appraisal - A Business Forecast	б
Decision making models	6
Sample model	7
Three approaches to value as models	7
An appraisal as a benchmark for decision	. 8
Most probable selling price	9
Format of RATGRAM Appraisal	9
Appraisal Process	10
Traditional Appraisal as a Fictional Set of	. 11
Contemporary Real Estate Appraical Pepert	13
Contemporary Real Estate Applaisal Report	10
List of Contents	د⊥ .
Appraisal Problem Assignment	. 13
Property Analysis to Determine Alternative Uses .	. 14
Selection of Most Probable Use	. 14
Prediction of Price for Subject Property	. 15
Appraisal Conclusion and Limiting Conditions	. 16
Concept of Most Probable Buyer Type/Most Probable Price	. 17
Ratcliff Theory	. 17
Three Basic Methods of Appraisal	. 19
Inferring Future Price from Sales Data	. 20
Exhibit: Cumulative Frequency Distributions	. 21
Exhibit: Basic Information of Residential Multi- Family Land Sales Comparables	. 23

TABLE OF CONTENTS SECTION I Page 2

Exhibit:	Vacant Land Market Comparison-Residential Land Use Land Price: Mean	4
Exhibit:	Vacant Land Market Comparison - Multi- Family Residential Land Use Price - Mean & Standard Deviation	5
Exhibit:	Industrial Land Sales Selected as Comparables to MG & E Subject Parcel 2	6
Exhibit:	Quality Scores & Weight Per Category 2	7
Exhibit:	Lease Squares Regression 2	8
Exhibit:	Basic Information on Restaurant-Commercial Land Sale Comparables	0
Exhibit:	Attribute Point and Weight Comparison of Restaurant-Commercial Land Sales and Subject Property	1
Exhibit:	Determination of Linear Regression - Weighted Mean Value of Land/sf - Commercial Restaurant	2
Exhibit:	Buyer Characteristics in Dudgeon School Area	3
Exhibit:	Ratings of Properties - Compared to Weighted Ratings	4
Exhibit:	Ratcliff Linear Regression 3	15
Exhibit:	Graph of value	6
Exhibit:	Single-Family Residential Information Form 3	17
Exhibit:	Special Feature Scores 4	3
Exhibit:	Single-Family Residential Tax Info Form . 4	4
Market Con	mp Theory Compared to Regression 4	15
Exhibits:	Property card 4	16

SECTION I

PRINCIPLES OF CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL: ORIGINS, THEORY, AND APPLIED EXAMPLES

Copy of Section I is found in VII. H. I. "Contemporary Appraisal Seminar"

SECTION II

CONTEMPORARY APPRAISING OF LARGE INCOME PROPERTIES INCLUDING EFFECTS OF FINANCING, SUBSIDIES,

AND NON-REAL ESTATE PROFIT CENTERS

•

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION II

Introduction to Contemporary Appraising of Income Properties	l
Games People Play with Income Investment Property & how effects application of 3 approaches to value	2
Exhibit: Critical Issues Which Define Appraisal Process	3
Exhibit: Fair Market Value	4
Exhibit: Most Probable Price	4
Definition of Economic Rent Attributable to the Real Estate	5
Case Study of 50-Year old high rise office building	
Problems and Management Problems	, 6
List of Case Study Exhibits	. 7
Assumptions Used in MRCAP	, 27
Analysis of Test Results	. 30
Issues involved in appraisal of properties with economic development loans or state subsidized	
housing loans	. 37
Exhibits: Loan to Cost Ratio Approach	. 68
Debt Cover Ratio Approach	. 69
Default Ratio Approach	. 70

-

SEMINAR CRITIQUE FORM

•••

Contemporary Appraisal of Large Income Properties Including Effects of Financing, Subsidies, and Non-Real Estate Profit Centers

A One Day Seminar For NORTHWEST CENTER FOR PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

August, 1981

Presented by Prof. James A. Graaskamp, CRE, SREA Schoel of Business, University of Wisconsin

I. Introduction

It is generally recognized that the real estate market is dependent on substantial amounts of credit to support effective demand so that real estate prices and perhaps values vary with the terms and supply of credit generally available in the marketplace. Indeed the old timers have seen the definition of fair market value gradually move away from the firm premise of cash to the seller to a somewhat more subjective condition of terms generally available in the market.

- A. The pressure of double digit inflation is eroding many of the appraisers' favorite simplifications of the market model:
 - 1. The long term fixed interest mortgage, amortized from property productivity is gone.
 - 2. The simple division of income between the mortgage and the equity component is smothered in participating mortgages, limited partnerships, convertible mortgages and seller financing.
 - 3. As the government had removed general subsidies to real estate finance such as regulation Q, it has made greater use of specific interest subsidies to selected special groups.
 - 4. Real estate markets must be defined not only in terms of use, age, income, but also access to capital.
 - 5. Moreover, most properties exist in a 3-tier market, utility to house an activity, commodity and money speculation, and as part of a going concern.
 - 6. The 3-tier market can be further subdivided by the nature of permits or other entitlements that are site specific and define risk of a vested or non-vested opportunity.
- B. Volatile money market conditions and the widespread use of creative financing leave the appraiser in considerable difficulty in defining typical market terms, cash equivalent prices or the relationship of

fair market value to transaction price. Does the client want fair market price, most probable price, going concern value, contributory value, investment value, or liquidating value in event of delinquency and foreclosure.

- C. The impact of these elements is significantly different for problems involving:
 - 1. Income investment properties
 - 2. Economic development properties
 - . 3. Multi-family residential properties
 - 4. Single family residential properties
- D. The impact of financing in each situation requires that we go back to basics. The appraiser or his clinet must define:
 - 1. What is the function of the appraisal?
 - 2. Which rights are to be appraised? (Those that run with the establishment on the site, with the ownership position, or with fee simple title).
 - 3. Which definition of value is appropriate?
 - 4. How is productivity allocated to the agents of production?
- E. Reference to Exhibit |
- F. Reference to definition of fee simple title in Exhibit 2
- G. Reference to definition of fair market value in Exhibit 3 and compare to most probable price in Exhibit 4
- 11. The Games People Play With Income Investment Property makes it very difficult to apply any one of the three appraoches to value.
 - A. Sales prices: are engineered by accountants to some degree to shift asset values among various classifications for land, structure, personalty, intangibles, capital gains and losses and ordinary gains and losses, making market comparison anything but objective (not to mention adjustments for non-market financing discussed in Section 111).
 - B. Similarly, the income approach has great difficulty in applying the truism that income value is the present value of income plus the present value of reversion.
 - 1. There is the problem of defining net operating income in terms of what is attributable to the real estate (aside from financing effect on cash throwoff).
 - There is the problem of defining the net reversion to equity in an uncertain future (aside from financing effect on mortgage balance).

EXILIBIT 1

Critical Issues Which Define Appraisal Process

Function of the Appraisal	Property Rights	Relevant Definition of Value	Allocation of Productivity	Buyer Motivation Presumed
Tax assessment	Fee simple private rights unencumbered	Fair market value	Income attributable to land and structures only	Furchase of economic productivity
Mortgage loan (non-participating)	Encumbered fee simple private rights plus additional rights pledged	Regulations - fair market value Underwriting ~ solvency price or liquidating value	Fixed income pledged from all sources less costs of creative management	Share of economic productivity contributed by capital
Mortgage loan (participatory)	Encumbered title plus non-vested interest in selected future revenues	Present value of all future cash flows	Variable income pledged plus share of reversionary interest	Share of economic produc- tivity contributed by capital plus share in selected management returns plus positioning against devaluation due to changing conditions
Sale of an Invostment	Encumbered title plus vested entitlements plus going concern profit center opportunities	Most probable price above minimum accept- able alternative opportunity	Return from land, struc- tures, personalty, and selected entitlements	Increase in spendable cash Increase in liquidity value of estate Positioning to maximize probability of survival of benefits despite changing conditions
Purchase of Investments	Encumbered title plus positioning for access to entitlements	Most probable price within perceived peril point limit	Land, structure, personalty, and intangible assets less profit centers for management	Increase in spendable cash Increase in liquidity value of estate Positioning to maximize probability of survival of benefits despite changing conditions
Going concern purchase of a business	Encumbered title plus positioning for access to entitlements plus reduction in risk for business start-up plus monopolistic market controls	Most probable price within perceived costs of alternative	Land, structure, personalty, and intangible assets and good will plus profit centers for management	Increase in spendable cash Increase in liquidity value of estate Positioning to maximize probability of survival of benefits despite Changing conditions

EXHIBIT 3

(*The most probable price - new edition, institute) FAIR MARKET VALUE - The highest price in terms of money which a property will bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, knowledgeably and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.

Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

- I. buyer and seller are typically motivated.
- 2. both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what he considers his own best interest.
- 3. a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market.
- 4. payment is made in cash or its equivalent.
- 5. financing, if any, is on terms generally available in the community at the specified date and typical for the property type in its locale.
- 6. the price represents a normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special financing amounts and/or terms, services, fees, costs, or credits incurred in the transaction.

Source: P. 137, Real Estate Appraisal Terminology, Editor Byrl Boyce.

EXHIBIT 4

The most probable price is that selling price which is most likely to emerge from a transaction involving the subject property if it were to be exposed for sale in the current market for a reasonable time at terms of sale which are currently predominant for properties of the subject type.

Source: P. 8, The Appraisal of 25 N. Pinckney, Editor James A. Graaskamp.

*Not to be confused with most probable price in contemporary appraisal, which does not reflect an assumption of a competitive market with alternative, does not require ignoring of public bargaining position of the party, and which does not require cash to the seller if the market cannot have a transaction without seller financing.

- 3. There is the problem of selecting a conversion process which reduces income cash flows and reversionary cash flows to a single present value.
- C. Neither revenue, nor expenses nor debt service are constant over time:anymore so that NOI/OAR is no longer a useful valuation model. Instead rents, vacancies, expenses, and financing must be staged using a spread sheet for both income and the reversion. Lenders may share in appreciation and owner and lender may share the risk of variable interest and the first principal payment.
- D. The definition of economic rent attributable to the real estate
 - Is income attributable to entitlements that go with fee simple title to the land and are point specific or to transportable permits?
 - a. For example does liquor license go with the building? Is permit to build or maintain a dam assignable? Does right to management fee and brokerage fee go with general partnership or property?
 - 2. Is the real estate income from retailing of space or from wholesaling space?
 - a. Parking ramp lease versus parking space by the hour, observation deck versus ticket, condominium conversion feeversus apartment project investment.
 - 3. Is the income for extraordinary services or intangible assets rather than customary?
 - a. Maid service versus janitorial, shopping center premium for proximity or for joint merchandising and risk management.
 - Ancillary to rather than integral with the project.
 a. Can services be acquired off premises such as janitorial or utilities?
 - 5. IRS classification as 1250 property (real) or 1231 property (personalty) or Section 38 (tangible) or Section1048(intangible).
 - 6. Is income attributable to governmental agencies in exchange for contractual entitlements of control or use to the public interest for the term of the contract?
- E. Problem of defining or forecasting a reversion
 - 1. Pricing real estate for utilitarian purpose, to buy access to service sales, or speculate in long term demand/supply commodity relationships of long term commodity/money ratios.
 - 2. Can the appraiser prove presence of necessary conditions for appreciation and amount of depreciation?
 - a. Rising net income
 - b. Falling interest rates
 - c. Falling investor expectations

- 3. When is appreciation speculative, non-vested and excluded from fair market value?
- 4. Can the appraiser simulate alternative speculative gains for most probable price?
- 5. When a premium is paid anticipating syndication of condominium conversion, should there be an adjustment for purchase of a business opportunity? Does fair market value include management fees for conversion?
- III. Case Study of an appraisal of a 50-year old high rise office building in the CBD with vacancy problems, utility problems and management problems.
 - A. Revenues reflected loss of a major tenant (State of Wisconsin), lack of demand for retail space on the first floor, a soft market for B-class space, and a reluctance of management and tenants to use pass-throughs for operating costs.
 - B. It was necessary to do a spread sheet indicating a gradual reduction of vacancy loss, a gradual updating of existing leases with passthrough clauses, and investment in critical energy conservation.
 - C. Resale price is tied to projected net income and gross with a debt cover ratio and a cash-on-cash yield. Loan-to-value ratio is irrelevant. (See The Appraisal Journal, January 1981, DCR/R_e Cap Rate Tables for Today's Financing, p. 15.)
 - D. Our firm makes heavy use of the backdoor approach on MRCAP for valuation.

LUNCH BREAK

CASE STUDY - EXHIBITS 4-29 - SEMINAR

LIST OF EXHIBITS

1	Location of Subject Site Relative to the Capitol Square
2	Subject Site in Original Madison Plat
3	Site Plan of Subject Property
4	Proposed Capitol Concourse Plan
5	Proposed Parking for Concourse Plan
6	Traffic Patterns and Public Parking Upon Completion of Capitol Concourse
7	View from the East Main Office Entrance of the Subject Property
8	Photographs of Subject Property
9	Location of First Floor Retail Vacancies on the Capitol Square
10	First Floor Retail Vacancies on the Square Existing or Known to be Available as of January 1, 1980
11	Madison Downtown Office Space as of January 1, 1980
12	Expression of State's Interest in Post Office Building Wisconsin State Journal Article
13	Location of Comparable Sales on or Near Capitol Square
14	Comparable #1 - 30 West Mifflin
15	Comparable #2 - 50 East Mifflin
16	Comparable #3 - 16 North Carroll
17	Comparable #4 - 123 West Washington
18	Comparable #5 - 102 and 110 North Hamilton • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
19	Comparable #6 - 212 East Washington
20	Comparable #7 - 2 West Mifflin • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
21	Scale for Scoring Comparables on Important Investor Considerations
22	Weighted Matrix for Comparable Properties
23	Calculation of Most Probable Price Using Mean Price Per Point Equation Method 11

II-7

......

Page

24	Schedule of Rental Revenues for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985
25	Schedule of Vacancies by Floor and By Lease Terms for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985
26	Average Rate of Increase in Consumer Price Index - All Items May 1975 Through April 1980
27	Schedule of Projected Revenues and Expenses from April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985
28	Revenue Justified Capital Budget - Debt Cover Ratio Approach
29	MRCAP Input and OutputJustified Capital Budget with Real Estate Taxes at 5.4% of First Year's Gross Rent
30	Sources of Comparable Land Sales from 1973-1980 in Madison, Wisconsin
31	Location of Comparable Class B Office Sites in Odana Area
32	Analysis of Comparable Land Sales
33	BFCF Test of Justified Land Cost
34	Wisconsin Housing Finance Authority
35	Comparative Operating Budgets for 100-One-Bedroom Units
36	Assessment Valuation of Section 8 Using Income Approach

EXHIBIT 21

FOR OFFICE/RETAIL	_ SPACE_IN_MADISON_C-4_ZONE
Parking 25%	 5 = Ample private parking on site or available on contract within the same block. 3 = Limited parking on premises 0 = Little or no surface parking on premises.
Location 20%	 5 = In the blocks of East and West Mifflin St. or North and South Carroll St., across from the Capitol Square 3 = In the blocks of North and South Pinckney St., across from the Capitol Square, or in the 100 block of West Washington, or adjacent to General Executive Facilities. 1 = Off of the Capitol Square
First Floor Retail Lease in Place at Time of PUrchase 15%	<pre>5 = Strong lease in place. 3 = Strong lease in place for part of first floor. 0 = Lease expires in less than 6 months or vacant.</pre>
Need for Renovation of Office Space at Time of Purchase 15%	<pre>5 = No renovation required. 3 = Modest renovation required. 1 = Intensive renovation required.</pre>
Visual Quality of Office Entrance 10%	<pre>5 = Excellent design and location. 3 = Indifferent design and/or location. 1 = Poorly defined and/or adjacent to incompatible uses.</pre>
Vacancies in Existing Office Space at Time of Purchase 15%	<pre>5 = Less than 10% of net rentable area (NRA). 3 = More than 10% of NRA. 0 = Vacant</pre>

SCALE FOR SCORING COMPARABLES ON IMPORTANT INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS FOR OFFICE/RETAIL SPACE IN MADISON C-4 ZONE

54

Rating/Weighted Rating							
FEATURE/ WEIGHT	/1 30 W. Hiffiin	12 50 E. Hiffiin	/3 16 N. Carroll	#4 123 H. Vashington	#5 102 N. Hamilton	#6 212 E. Washington	Subject 110 E. Maln
Parking 25%	5/1.25	3/.75	0/0	0/0	3/.75	3/.75	3/.75
Location 20 2	5/1.00	5/1.00	5/1.00	3/.60	1/.20	37.60	3/.60
First Floor Retall Lease In Place 15%	5/.75	5/.75	0/0	3/.45	3/.45	0/0	1/.15
Need for Renovation 15%	5/.75	17.15	3/.45	5/.75	1/.15	1/.15	3/.45
Visual Quality of Office Entrance 10%	5/.50	3/.30	3/.30	5/.50	3/.30	3/.30	1/.10
Vacancl es In Existing Office Space 15%	5/.75	0/0	5/.75	5/.75	0/0	0/0	1/.15
Total Weighted Score	5.00	2.95	2.50	3.05	1.85	1.80	2.20
Selling Price	\$2,555,500	\$850,000	\$615,270	\$2,896,000	\$330,000	\$472,000	x
Total Net Rentable Area (NRA)	65,000 sq. ft.	38,500 sq. fr.	35,725 sq. ft.	138,000 sq. ft.	28,000 sy. ft.	38,000 sq. ft.	74,000 sq. ft.
Price Per Square Foot (NRA)	\$39.30	\$22.10	\$17.20	\$21.00	\$11.80	\$12.40	
Price Per Square Foot of NRA Total Weighter Score	7.86	7.49	6.88	6.89	6.38	6.89	

WEIGHTED MATRIX FOR COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

EXHIBIT 22

EXHIBIT 23

CALCULATION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD (With Standardized Weighted Point Scores)

Comparable Property	Selling Price per NRA	Weighted Point Score	Price per NRA Weighted Point Score	(x)
1	\$39.30	5.00	7.86	
2	22.10	3.45	7-49	
3	17.20	2.50	6.88	
4	21.00	3.05	6.89	
5	11.80	1.85	6.38	
6	12.40	1.80	6.89	
		тс	DTAL 42.39	

 $\frac{\text{Central Tendency}}{(\text{Mean } = \bar{x})} = \frac{\underline{x}}{n} = \frac{42.39}{5} = 7.07$

Dispersion (Standard deviation = s) = $\sqrt{\frac{\leq (x-\bar{x})^2}{n-1}} = \sqrt{\frac{1.38}{5}} = .525$

where:

.

7.86 - 7.07 = .79 .62 6 5 $7.49 - 7.07 = .42$.18 $6.88 - 7.07 = .19$.04 $6.89 - 7.07 = .18$.03 $6.38 - 7.07 = .69$.48 $6.90 - 7.07 = .18$.03	<u>×</u>	x	/(x-x)/	<u>≨(x-x</u>) ²	n	<u>n-1</u>
0.09 - 1.07 = .10030	7.86 - 7.49 - 6.88 - 6.89 - 6.38 - 6.89 -	7.07 = 7.07 = 7.07 = 7.07 = 7.07 =	.79 .42 .19 .18 .69 .18	.62 .18 .04 .03 .48 .03 1.38	6	5

Value Range:

x ± s = 7.07 ± .53

Estimate of Value of Subject Property =

NRA of subject * Weighted point score of subject * (74,000 S.F.) (2.2)

[Sample mean of price per NRA per total weighted score ± (Dispersion * t value)] [7.07 ± (.53 * t value)]

	Confidence	e Level
	68% (t = 1.000)	$\theta n-1 = 5;$ 90% (t = 2.015)
High Estimate: ¹	\$1,240,000	\$1,320,000
Central Tendency:	1,150,000	1,150,000
Low Estimate:	1,060,000	980,000

¹All value estimates are rounded.

Schedule of Rental Revenues¹ for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

		Annual	Annual			Annualized Gross Rental Revenues			
Occupancy as of April 30, 1980	Space Sq. Ft.	Rent per Sq. Ft. ²	Lease Terms as of 4/30/80 ³	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- 4/29/85	
Lower Level & Roof B Level Vault-Vacant B Level-Showroom & Office A Level-Storage Honeywell Phone Box Total-Lower Level	700 4000 400 <u></u> 5100	3.00 3.00 4.00	6/30/80	\$2,100 12,000 1,600 <u>600</u> \$16,300	\$ 2,100 12,000 2,400 <u>600</u> \$17,100	\$ 2,270 12,960 2,600 <u>600</u> \$18,430	\$ 2,270 12,960 2,800 <u>650</u> \$18,680	\$2,450 14,000 3,000 <u>650</u> \$20,100	
First Floor Chez Vous-112 Chez Vous-114 ON North Entry N South Entry-Leaf & Ladle Total-First Floor	454 1000 2000 <u>3500</u> 6954	4.80 4.80 9.00 9.00	10/1/76 - 9/30/81 10/1/76 - 9/30/81 1/1/80 - 12/30/84	\$ 2,180 4,810 18,000 <u>31,500</u> \$56,490	\$ 2,290 5,030 19,500 <u>33,130</u> \$59,950	\$ 2,360 5,200 21,000 <u>33,950</u> \$62,510	\$ 2,360 5,200 22,500 <u>36,670</u> \$66,730	\$ 2,360 5,200 EXH B 24,000 B T 39,600 \$71,160 24	
Second Floor 201 Vacant 202 State ⁵ 203-4 Vacant ⁵ 205-6 State 207-8 Homecrafts 209-10 State ⁵ 211 Dr. Regez 212-14 Dr. Wierwill 215 Vacant 216 UP1 218-19 Rape Crisis Center 220-21 State ⁵ Total-Second Floor	150 600 543 506 386 451 219 700 415 500 816 1400 6686	6.50 6.70 6.20 7.00 7.20 6.25 7.00 6.50 6.75 7.50 7.00 6.25	7/1/79 - 6/30/80 9/1/78 - 8/31/79 3/1/78 - 5/31/80 1/1/79 - 12/31/81 11/1/79 - 5/31/80 	\$ 970 4,020 3,370 2,780 2,820 1,600 4,570 2,800 3,750 5,840 8,7 <u>50</u> \$44,810	\$ 970 4,320 3,640 3,820 2,850 3,040 1,730 4,900 3,020 4,050 6,120 9,450 \$47,910	\$ 1,050 4,320 3,640 3,820 3,000 3,040 1,730 4,500 3,020 4,050 6,260 9,450 \$48,280	\$ 1,050 4,670 3,640 4,120 3,280 1,870 4,900 3,270 4,370 6,530 10,200 \$50,900	\$ 1,140 4,670 3,930 4,120 3,080 3,280 1,870 5,210 3,270 4,370 6,690 <u>10,200</u> \$51,830	

Schedule of Rental Revenues¹ for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

		Annual			Annua) i zed	Gross Rental	Revenues	
become an of	Space	Rent per	Lease Terms ,	4/30/80-	4/30701-	4730/82-	4/30/83-	4/30/84- 6/29/85
April 30, 1980	Sq. FL.	Sq. FL. ²	as of 4/30/80"	4/29/81	4/29/82	4/29/01	4/25/04	1/2/10)
Third Floor 301 Vacant 302-3 State5 304 State5 305-8 State 309 The Journal Co. 310-11 State5 312 Vacant H 313-14 Dr. R. Mong H 315 Vacant 1 co 316-19 Wisc. Builders Assoc. w 320-24 Vacant Total-Third Floor	150 1179 230 942 232 456 234 482 731 1091 1363 7090	5.75 5.75 6.70 6.70 7.20 6.70 5.75 7.20 6.70 7.00 7.00	 9/1/79 - 8/31/80 6/1/79 - 5/31/80 10/1/79 - 9/30/80 1/1/80 - 12/31/80	\$ 860 6,780 1,540 6,300 1,810 3,050 1,340 3,490 5,000 7,810 <u>9,540</u> \$47,520	\$ 060 7,320 1,660 6,800 1,880 3,300 1,450 3,730 5,080 8,180 <u>10,300</u> \$50,560	\$ 930 7,320 1,660 6,800 1,970 3,300 1,450 3,750 5,310 8,360 10,300 \$51,150	\$ 930 7,900 1,800 7,360 2,030 3,560 1,570 4,000 5,480 8,730 11,130 \$54,430	\$ 1,000 7,900 1,800 EXHB 7,360 EXHB 7,360 1 2,120 1 3,560 1 1,570 4,030 4 5,630 1 8,940 1 11,130 0 \$55,040 0
Fourth Floor 401 Vacant 402 Furst, Carlson Inc. 403-11 State 412 Vacant 413-14 Wisconsin Alliance of Citie 415 State 415 State 416-19 State 420-20a State 421-22 State 423-24 Ed Konkol Total-Fourth Floor	150 648 2147 202 5 679 259 1370 560 300 <u>340</u> 6655	6.40 6.40 6.75 6.40 6.80 7.00 6.00 6.70 6.60	5/1/79 - 4/30/80 1/1/80 - 12/31/81 3/1/79 - 2/28/81 vacated 6/30/80 vacated 6/30/80 vacated 6/30/80 9/1/79 - 8/31/80	\$ 960 4,350 14,500 1,290 4,980 1,830 8,220 3,750 2,010 2,240 \$44,130	\$ 960 4,370 14,880 1,290 5,020 1,940 8,880 3,750 2,010 2,240 \$45,340	\$ 1,040 4,700 15,670 1,400 5,420 1,970 8,880 4,050 2,170 2,420 \$47,720	\$ 1,040 4,730 16,100 5,420 2,100 9,590 4,050 2,170 2,420 \$49,020	\$ 1,120 5,090 16,960 1,500 5,850 2,130 9,590 4,370 2,340 2,340 2,620 \$51,570

•

Schedule of Rental Revenues¹ for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

		Annual			Annualized	Gross Rental	Revenues	
Occupancy as of	Space	Rent per	Lease Terms ,	4/30/80-	4/30/81-	4/30/82-	4730783-	4/30/84-
April 30, 1980	Sq. Ft.	Sq. Ft. 2	as of 4/30/80 ³	4/29/81	4/29/82	4/29/83	4/29/84	4/29/85
Fifth Floor								
501 E.C. Barton	150	7.60		\$ 1,240	\$ 1,270	\$ 1,270	\$ 1,380	\$ 1,380
502 Vacant	842	7.50		6,310	6,820	6,820	7,360	7,360
503-5 Vacant	810	7.50		6,070	6,070	6,440	6,800	6,800 😾
506-19 State	3922	6.25	11/1/79 - 10/31/83	24,500	24,500	24,500	30,590	31,770 兰
520 State-Bd. of Aging	555	6.70	7/1/79 - 6/30/81	3,950	4,000	4,270	4,330	4,940 🚥
521-22 Dr. Coryell	339	7.20	7/1/79 - 6/30/80	2,440	2,690	2,740	2,920	2,950
523-24 Green Bay Press Gazette	337	7.60	9/1/79 - 8/31/82	2,560	2,690	2,760	2,760	2,760
Total-Fifth Floor	6955	·		\$17,070	\$48,040	\$48,800	\$56,140	\$57,960 2
of Sixth Floor								1
A 601 Vacant	150	6.70		\$ 1,000	\$ 1,000	\$ 1,080	\$ 1,080	\$ 1,170
1 602-4 State ²	1473	6.00	vacated 6/30/80	8,840	9,540	9,540	10,300	10,300
G 605 Vacant	204	6.40		1,300	1,300	1,410	1,410	1,520 🎽
Ť			to 6/30/80					
14 606-10 State	1000	6.70	then mo mo.	7,370	7,500	7,500	8,100	8,100 2
611 The Evjue Foundation	286	7.00	vacated 11/30/80	2,000	2,000	2,160	2,160	2,330 ก็
612-14 State	647	7.50	11/1/79 - 10/31/83	4,850	4,850	4,850	5,080	5,240 ^{CL}
615 Tenney Bldg.	344	7.00		2,400	2,400	2,600	2,600	2,800
616 John Barsness	850	6.00	3/1/79 ~ 2/28/81	5,170	5,520	5,590	5,950	6,020
617 BILl Ward	250	6.70	vacated 5/31/80	1,940	2,120	2,120	2,300	2,300
618-19 State	494	8.00	vacated 5/31/79	3,950	3,950	4,270	4,270	4,610
620-24 Vacant	1262	6.70		8.450	9,130	9,130	9,860	9,860
Total-Sixth Floor	6960			\$47,270	\$49,310	\$50,250	\$53,110	\$54,250
Seventh Floor								
701 Lawton & Cates	150	5.75	6/1/79 - 5/31/83	\$ 930	\$ 970	\$ 1,100	\$ 1,050	\$ 1,090
702-19 Lawton & Cates	5417	5.75	6/1/79 - 5/31/83	33,600	35,100	36,450	37,850	39,160
720-24 Vacant	1106	7.00		7,740	7,740	8,360	8,360	9,030
Total-Seventh Floor	6673			\$42,270	\$43,810	\$45,910	\$47,260	\$49,280

		A 1			Annualized	Gross Rental	Revenues	
	_	Annual	tanca Tarms	1/30/80-	4/30701-	4730/82-	4/30/83-	4/30/84-
Occupancy as of	Space	Kent per	F // 20/803	4/29/81	4/24/82	4/29/83	4/29/84	4/29/85
April 30, 1980	<u>Sq. Ft.</u>	<u>Sq. 11.4</u>	as 01 4730700	1/ 20/21				
Flatth Floor					e 1 010	6 1 130	\$ 1,130	\$ 1.220
Hot Vicconsto Radio News	150	7.00	to 6/30/80	\$ 1,050	31,000	11 600	12 060	12.520
	1536	7.55	to 10/31/83	11,600	11,600	1,000	4 210	4 320
DU2~D State	470	7.50	9/1/79 ~ 8/31/80	3,840	4,000	4,000	37 100	39 580
DUG-/ pr. namis	4580	6.00	7/1/79 - 6/30/80	27,480	36,620	37,100	37,100	3 120
808-22 State	339	7.60	9/1/79 - 8/31/80	2,780	2,880	3,040	1/20	czo 525 m
823-24 Dr. Boyle	7675	7.00		\$46,750	\$56,150	\$56,870	\$57,620	300'100 X
Total-Eighth Hoor	7075		•					ـلد
Ninth Floor		0	1/1/80 12/21/80	\$ 1 230	5 1.300	\$ 1,340	\$ 1,400	\$ 1,400 🚥
901 Hillman & Robertson	150	8,00	1/1/00 - 12/31/00	6 400	6 480	6,910	7,000	7,000 -4
902 Wisc. Ins. Alliance	864	1.00	6/1/79 - 5/31/80	6,400	A 6 30	8 750	9,210	9,210 N
903-6 Hulcahy & Wherry	980	8.00	1/1/79 - 12/31/81	1,070	1 060	1 980	2,110	2,110 #
007 Robert Hehling	225	8.00	4/1/80 - 3/31/81	1,010	1,300	4 8 10	4,900	4,900
004-10 Jacry Hall	700	6.00	6/1/79 - 5/31/80	4,520	4,200	2,060	2 140	2.230
O otto De Schuitz	248	7.75	1/1/79 - 12/31/80	1,920	1,970	2,000	19 350	19 350 23
UI 911 DI. SCIMPTCE	2580	7.00	4/1/80 - 3/31/83	18,060	18,060	10,100	6 200	4 700 Q
H 912-19 Devine insurance	5/5	7.00	vacated 7/1/80	4,020	4,350	4,350	4,700	1,700 ct
H 921 State	355	6.50	5/1/79 - 4/30/81	2,300	2,500	2,500	2,700	2,700 11
1 922-23 Judicial Longission	110	7 20	6/1/79 - 5/31/80	2,650	2,680	2,860	2,000	
1 924-25 Dr. Rundall	307	,		\$50,980	\$52,380	\$53,800	ş56,390	\$20,400 0
Total-Hinth Floor	/016			•••••				n n
Tenth Floor	160	6 80	11/1/79 - 10/31/80	\$ 1.050	\$ 1,200	\$ 1,250	\$ 1,300	\$ 1,350
1001 Victor Lind	150	6.00	1/1/80 = 12/31/80	5,760	6,050	6,190	6,480	6,650
1002 Wisc, Assoc, of Indep. C	olleges 004	0.00	c/1/20 - b/20/80	6 050	6.050	6,530	6,530	7,050
1003-4 Wisc. Canners & Freezers	756	0.00	5/1//5 - 1/30/00	6 370	6.650	6,880	7,200	7,400
1005-8 Boelter Co.	911	6.80	12/1//3 - 11/30/00	2 950	1,190	3,190	3,450	3,450
1009-10 Vacant	455	6.50		£ 220	5 2 10	5.640	5.670	6,100
1011-13 Dr. Doll	727	6.65	6/1//9 - 5/31/00	5,230	1 4 30	1 540	1.540	1,670
1014 Vacant	229	6.25		1,10	12 120	12,120	12.600	13,090
1015-18 State	1616	7.50	11/1/79 - 10/31/83	12,120	r	5 870	5,910	6.350
1019-21 Vacaut	680	6.70	vacated 2/29/80	5,300	2,440	1,670	1 540	1.600
1022 ilerb Valsh	171	8.00	12/1/79 - 11/30/80	1,420	1,490	1,12,00		
1022 Here for Advocate for	•			~ · · · ·	2 (00	2 01.0	2 900	3_070
Rattered Women	331	7.20	8/1/79 - 7/31/80	2,610	2,600	2 1 1 U	\$55 120	\$57.780
Tutola Tuoth Fluor	6890	-		\$50,370	\$51,570	222,240	4221110	43111-00
Totals for	74,054 sq	. ft.		\$493,960	\$522,120	\$537,260	\$565,460	\$586,210

•

EXHIBIT 24 -- Continued

Notes to Schedule of Rental Revenues for the Period of April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

¹The annualized gross rental revenue for the period from April 30, 1980 through April 29, 1981 is consistent with the actual lease terms, if at market rents, as of April 30, 1980. Increases in rents are assumed to take place according to lease terms and conditions; an increase of 8 percent is used at lease renewal dates. This factor was taken from a survey of office rent increases in Class B buildings on and near the Capitol Square in Madison and is the current rate used by the Tenney Building manager.

 $_{0}^{0}$ The annual rental market rate is given as of April 30, 1980. Only one tenant in Rooms 909-10 is considered to be below H market rent at \$4.73/square foot; therefore the rent for this space is calculated at a market rate of \$6.00/square foot. H Market rents are also imputed to spaces used by the building owner.

⁶ ³Of the 87 rental space units in the Tenney Building as of April 30, 1980, there are 62 leases in place, but 54 of those terminate between 1980 and 1982. Only eight have leases that extend beyond April 30, 1982.

⁴The Leaf and Ladle Restaurant began its lease of 3500 sq. ft. of the first floor retail space on January 1, 1980. The restaurant had closed its door by October 1, 1980, and the remodeled space is once again on the market. The rental rate of \$9.00 with an annual escalator of 8% per year commencing in the second year is considered comparable for the area. A most probable investor might consider an escalator based upon a percentage of gross sales to encourage rental of this space if restaurant use is most likely; the projected revenues probably would not increase as rapidly as forecast.

⁵The state has given notice that it will vacate these spaces by June 30, 1980.

			Annua I	∦ of		Pr	ojection Pario	od	
	Space Sq. Ft. ²	1 Vacant	Rental Rate Per. Sy. FL.	Honths Vacant	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- 4/29/85
Lower Level & Roof			1 00	12	6 3 100				
Blevel - Vault	700	100	3.00	12	\$ 2,100	¢ 3 100			
	700	100	3.00	12		3 X,100	t 2 270		
	700	100	3.25	12			\$ 1,110	6 1 160	
	700	50	3.25	6				3 1,140	¢ 1 1kg
	700	50	3.50	6					4 1, 190
8 level									
Showroom and Office	4.000	100	3.00	12	12,000				
	4.000	100	3.00	6		6,000			Ÿ.
	4.000	50	3.25	6			3,250		Ĩ
	4 000	50	3.25	6				3,250	œ
(Th	4 000	50	3.50	3					1,750]
6	1,000	1-		•					
A Level - Storage	400	100	1.00	6				1,400	0 10
	400	100	7.50	9					2,250
Ϋ́.	•								
🖓 Total - Lower Level					\$14,100	\$ 8,100	\$ 5,520	\$ 5,790	\$ 5,140
First Floor	t ch	100	F 20	A		\$ 1 570			
112 East Main	454	100	5.20	12		4 13210	\$ 2.360		
	454	100	5.20	14			4 4, 100	\$ 780	
	454	100	5.20	4				4 /00	
116 Fast Halo	1,000	100	5.20	8		3,480			
	1.000	50	5.20	12			2,600		
	1,000	50	5.20	4				860	
losf f lodla	3 500	100	9.00	7	18.370				
LCAI & LAUIG	3,500	100	9.50	j	•=•	8,310			
	3,500	100	10 50	Ĩ		•		9,190	
	3,500	100	11 30	1					\$ 9,890
	3,500	100		,					
Horth Entry	2,000	100	9.00	9	13,500				
Total - First Floor					\$31,870	\$13,360	\$ 4,960	\$10,830	\$ 9,890

			Annual	# of		P	rojection Perio	bdb	······································
	Space Sq. Ft. ²	% Vacant	Rental Rate Per Sq. Ft.	Months Vacant	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- <u>4/29/85</u>
Second Flour ³ 201	150	100	6.50	12	\$ 900	\$ 900			
	150	100	0.50	12		4 J00	\$ 1.050		
	150	100	7.00	12			4 .1-2-	\$ 1,050	
	150 150	100	7.60	12				• • •	\$ 1,140
	(00	100	6 70	6	2.010				
202	600	100	7 20	12	2,010	2.160			e
	600	50	7.20	12		-,	2,160		Ĥ
	600	20	7.80	6			-	1,170	
	600	50	7.80	3					580 -
	61 a	100	6 20	12	3 370				2
203-4	543	100	6.20	12	0,0,0	1.820			ហ
D	543	50	6.70	12		•,•==	1,820		:
6	543	50	6.70	9			••	1,360	•
н	543	50	6./U	5				• -	င်
H 1 205-6	506	100	7.00	6	1,770				с т
	506	50	7.50	12		1,900			Ξ.
ω	506	50	7.50	12			1,900		Ē
	506	50	8.15	9				1,550	
	506	50	8.15	6					1,030
200.10	461	100	6.25	6	1,410				
209-10	121	50	6.75	12	•••	1,520			
	431	50	6 75	12			1,520		
	451	50	7.30	9				1,230	
	1.45	100	6 75	10	2 800				
215	415	100	0./2	6	1,000	1 510			
	415	100	7.30	2		1,10	760		
	415	100	1.30	L			,		
218-19	816	100	8.00	8				4,370	6 600
	816	100	8.20	12					0,070
220-21	1,400	100	6.25	6	4,370				
	1,400	50	6.75	12		4,720			
	1,400	50	6.75	6			2,360	_	
	1,400	50	7.30	6				2,560	
Total - Second Floor					\$16,630	\$14,530	\$11,570	\$13,290	\$ 9,440

					#F		Pr	ojection Perio	4	
		Space Sg. Ft.2	% Vacant	Annual Rental Rate Per Sq. Ft.	Honths Vacant	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/04- <u>4/29/85</u>
	Third Floor ³ 301	150 150 150	100 100 100	5.75 5.75 6.20	12 12 12	\$ 860	\$ 860	\$ 930	\$ 930	
		150	100	6.70	12					\$ 1,000 <u></u>
	302-3	1,179 1,179 1,179 1,179	100 50 50 50	5.75 6.20 6.20 6.70	6 12 12 6	3,390	3,650	3,650	3,950	IT 25
70 II-J	304	230 230 230	100 100 100	6.70 7.20 7.80	6 12 6	770	1,660			Contin 900 tin
Q	305-8	942 942 942 942	100 50 50 50	6.70 7.20 7.20 7.80	6 12 12 3	3,150	3,390	3,390		بة م. 1,830
	310-11	456 456 456	100 50 50	6.70 7.20 7.20	6 12 12	1,530	1,640	1,640		
	312	234 234 234 234	100 100 100 100	5.75 6.20 6.20 6.70 6.70	12 12 12 12 12	1,340	1,450	1,450	1,570	1,570
		731	100	6.70	4	1,610				
	320-24	1,363	100 100	7.00 7.60	12 6	9,540	5,150			
		1, 10, 1	-			\$22,190	\$17,800	\$11,060	\$ 6,450	\$ 5,300

Total - Third Floor

			Annual	/ of		P	rojection Perio	bc	
	Snace		Rental Rate	Months	4/30/80-	4/30/81-	4/30/82-	4/30/83-	4/30/84-
	Sq. FL. ²	& Vacant	Per Sq. Ft.	Vacant	4/29/81	4/29/82	4/29/83	4/29/84	4/29/85
Fourth Floor									
401	150	100	6.40	12	\$ 960				
101	150	100	6.40	12		ş 960			
	150	100	6,90	12			\$ 1,040		
	150	100	6.90	12				\$ 1,040	×
	150	100	7.45	12					\$ 1,120 =
412	202	100	6.40	12	1,290				3
712	202	100	6.40	12		1,290			
	202	100	6.90	12			1,400		2 V
	202	100	6.90	12				1,400	
71	202	100	7.40	12					1,500
1 116-10	1 370	100	6.00	6	4,110				Cor
10-15	1 370	50	6.50	12		4,450			r n
	1 370	50	6.50	12			4,450		5
	1,370	50	7 00	12				4,800	Ę
	1,370	50	7.00	6					2,400 0
100.00-	560	100	6 70	6	1.880				
420-20a	500	100	6 70	12		1.870			
	560	50	7.20	9			1,520		
Total - Fourth Floor					\$ 8,240	\$ 8,570	\$ 8,410	\$ 7,240	\$ 5,020
Flfth Floor									
F11 (11 1 100)	842	100	7.50	12	\$ 6,310				
502	842	50	8.00	12	•	\$ 3,410			
	81.2	50	8 00	12			\$ 3,410		
	842	50	8.75	6				\$ 3,410	
c 0.0		100	7 70	6			2,130		
520	222	50	7 80	12				2,160	
	555	50	8.90	9				- 	\$ 1,850
Total - Fifth Floor					\$ 6,310	\$ 3,410	\$ 5,540	\$ 5,570	\$ 1,850

Total - Fifth Floor

				Assual	1 of		Pi	ojection Perig	h	
		Space Sq. Ft.2	% Vacant	Rental Rate Per Sy. Ft.	Honths Vacant	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- 4/29/85
	Sixth Floor			(70	12	\$ 1.000				
	601	1 50	100	6.70	14	\$ 1,000	\$ 1.000			ch.
		150	100	6.70	12		4 1,000	s 810		<u>لا</u>
		150	100	7.20	9			•		I I
		1 673	100	6.00	6	4,420				
	602-4	1 673	50	6.50	12		4,770	•		
		1,471	50	6.50	12			4,770		N
		1 471	50	7.00	9				\$ 3,0/0	
		1 473	50	7.00	6					3 2,200
2		2777	24	,						•
	105	204	100	6.40	12	1,300				0
H	605	204	100	6.40	12		1,300			5
1		204	100	6.90	12			1,410		
21		204	100	6.90	9				1,060	2
•		***	100							ē
	617	250	100	7.75	4	640				a
	817	- - -								
	620-26	1.262	100	6.70	12	8,450				
	620-24	1,262	100	7.20	6		4,540	1 cho		
		1 262	100	7.20	6			4,540	2 (00	
		1.262	50	7.80	9				7 0 20	
		1,200	-					A . 1 . 5 20	£ 8 610	¢ 7 580
	Total - Sixth Floor					\$15,810	\$11,61U	\$11,230	3 0,020	4 2,500
	Seventh Floor No Vacancles Projected									
	Eighth Floor			7.00	10	¢ 880				
	Bôi	150	100	7.00	10	a 1100	\$ 1.050			
		150	100	1.00	12		4 1,000	\$ 560		
		150	100	7.50	D	A		1	A COLUMN TO A COLUMN TO A COLUMN	<u>and an order of the second se</u>
	w. t. St. 14 Flags					\$ 8 80	\$ 1,050	\$ 560	0	Q

•

Total - Eighth Floor

			Annual	# of		P1	rojection Perio	adi	
	Space 2 Sq. Ft.	% Vacant	Rental Rate Per Sq. Ft.	Months Vacant	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- <u>4/29/85</u>
<u>Ninth Floor</u> 909-10	70 0 700	100 100	6.50 7.00	6 6		\$ 2,280	\$ 2,440		
922-23	355	100	7.00	12 6			2,500	<u>\$ 1,350</u>	
- Total - Ninth Floor		100	,		0	\$ 2,280	\$ 4,940	\$ 1,350	Û
Tenth Floor 1009-10	455 455 455	100 100 100	6.50 7.00 7.00	12 12 9	\$ 2,950	\$ 3,190	\$ 2,390		
1014	229 229 229	100 100 100	6.25 6.25 6.70	12 12 6	1,430	1,430		770	
1019-20	680	100	6.70	1	380	<u></u>	. <u></u>		
Total - Tenth Floor					\$ 4,760	<u>\$ 4,620</u>	\$ 2,390	<u>\$ 770</u>	0
TENNEY BUILDING TOTALS ⁴					<u>\$120,790</u>	<u>\$85,330</u>	<u>\$66,480</u>	<u>\$59,910</u>	<u>\$39,220</u>

The lower level space has a continued record of vacancy; it is assumed that until the space is made more marketable by remodeling, rents will not keep pace with the market. Uses other than a showroom for the 4000 sq. ft. will need to be explored; subdividing the larger space for office space and/or storage space are possibilities.

² It is assumed that the smaller office spaces from 200-500 square feet will experience less overall vacancy than the larger spaces. There appears to be a trend toward several small independent businessmen sharing a common secretarial staff; some of the larger vacant suites could be remodeled for this type of use.

³The second and third floors have the greatest amount of vacancy due to the exodus of State tenants. By the end of June, 1980, the State's move alone will cause 44% of the second floor vacancies; the third floor will experience a vacancy rate of 39.5% due to loss of State tenants; the State related vacancy rates on the fourth and sixth floors will be 29% and 21% respectively. A most probable buyer will have to anticipate a large capital investment in 1980 to remodel and refurbish the Building to make it competitive in the Class B office market that already has a large supply of space available on and near the Square.

⁴Vacancles are assumed to gradually decrease between 1981 and 1983; a most probable buyer will institute a vigorous marketing program which will involve research of space needs in the area and remodeling which will be targeted to those needs.

R	levenues:	4/30/80- 4/29/81	4/30/81- 4/29/82	4/30/82- 4/29/83	4/30/83- 4/29/84	4/30/84- 4/29/85
-	Gross Income Less: Vacancies Effective Gross Parking Rentals	\$493,960 <u>(120,790</u>)(24.5%) 373,170 <u>12,960</u>	\$522,120 (85,330)(16.3%) 436,790 12,960	\$537,260 (66,480)(12.4%) 470,780 12,960	\$565,460 _(59,910)(10.6%) _505,550 _14,000	\$586,210 _(39,220)(6.7%) _546,990 _14,000
	Total Revenues	\$386,130	\$449,750	\$483,740	\$519,550	\$560,990
Ĩ	xpenses :			5 100	5 650	6.240
77 II-24	Accounting & Legal Building Security ² Insurance Maintenance ³ Wage & Salarles Payroll Taxes Repairs Telephone ₄ Utilities ⁵ Office Expenses ⁵ Management ⁶ Concourse Special Assessment	4,200 21,840 7,000 28,850 60,000 11,500 14,880 1,600 90,600 7,040 22,390 2,360	4,640 24,100 7,730 31,850 66,240 12,700 16,430 1,770 101,470 7,520 26,320 2,410	5,120 26,620 8,530 35,160 73,130 14,020 18,130 1,950 107,560 8,250 27,540 2,630	5,650 29,390 9,420 38,820 80,730 15,470 20,020 2,150 114,380 8,840 30,280 2,550	6,240 32,440 10,400 42,860 89,130 17,080 22,100 2,380 122,020 9,690 32,570 2,480
	Total Operating Expenses Before R.E. Taxes	(<u>\$272,260</u>)	(\$303,180)	(\$328,640)	(<u>\$357,700</u>)	(<u>\$389,390</u>)
	Net Operating Income Before R.E. Taxes	\$113,870	\$146,570	\$155,100	\$161,850	\$171,600
	Real Estate Taxes	(26,680)	(28,000)	(29,400)	(30,880)	(32,420)
	Net Operating Income	\$ 87,190	\$118,570	\$125,700	\$130,970	\$139,180

Schedule of Projected Revenues and Expenses From April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

EXHIBIT 27

Notes to Schedule of Projected Revenues and Expenses From April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

1 Expenses

In general, expenses are projected to increase according to the average annual change of 10.4% in the All Item Consumer Price index over the past five years. (See amended Exhibit 27).

²Building Security

Security personnel is hired from 10 P.H. to 6 A.H. on weekdays with 24 hour coverage on the weekends. The building is open to the public from 6 A.H. to 6 P.H. each weekday. The continuing problems created by the presence of bars and adult entertainment places across the street make this security protection mandatory.

3_{Halntenance}

 $\frac{1}{100}$ This account includes an elevator maintenance contract at \$9,060 a year.

HLIIties

II-25

At present the Tenney Building consumes approximately 55,000 to 70,000 gallons of No. 2 fuel off per year depending upon the weather. The cost of fuel has increased as follows:

January	12,	1979	.43/gallon
October	1,	1979	.77/gallon
February	1,	1980	.95/yallon

In thirteen months the cost has risen 121%. Though the Tenney Building is converting to natural gas on its primary boller, the cost of natural gas is also volatile. Over the past five years natural gas has had an average annual increase of 17.6% for the commercial time-of-use consumer, according to Milton Spiros, Madison Gas & Electric Co.

The installation of combination storm windows throughout the building should help to conserve fuel costs. To stabilize utility costs it is assumed management will place energy cost escalators in renewed leases; therefore in the pro-forma income statement utility costs are escalated at 12 percent annually with 50 percent of the increase passed through to the tenant after year 2.

⁵Office expenses include rental of space in the Tenney Building for management operations.

6 Hanagement costs are computed as 6% of effective gross office revenue with 4% allowed for management and 2% for leasing commissions for space turnover. Notes to Schedule of Projected Revenues and Expenses From April 30, 1980 Through April 29, 1985

7 Total operating expenses are calculated before including real estate taxes for ease in using the MRCAP discounted cash flow program.

8 Real estate taxes are calculated as 5.4% of gross revenues in the first year and increased at 5% per annum thereafter. These calculations are based on the following fact and assumptions:

1. The assessed value as of 1/1/80 is \$1,200,000.

- 2. The mill rate is assumed to increase slightly (approximately 1%) after several years of decrease.
- 3. Taxes will continue to increase due to inflated city budgets and decreasing state aids.

4. Conversion of Net Income to Present Value

The MRCAP program from the National EDUCARE library of programs, previously described, is used to convert net income to a present value after taxes as of April 30, 1980, for the Tenney Building at the end of a five-year holding period.

C. Assumptions Used in MRCAP

The MRCAP discounted cash flow program can solve for a justified project value by specifying the ratio of net income to debt service acceptable to an institutional mortgage lender. Given the interest rate and term available as of April 30, 1980, the program will solve for the justified amount of mortgage and for justified cash equity, assuming typical before-tax cash-on-cash investor requirements for office buildings, with potential for inflation sensitive rents. Exhibit 28 is a simplified flow chart depicting the steps in solving for the justified project budget.

On April 30, 1980, prudent lenders will require a minimum debt cover ratio of 1.3 and equity investors expect no less than 6 percent cash-on-cash.

- 1. Inputs into MRCAP Program
 - a. Debt cover ratio = 1.3
 - b. Before tax cash-on-cash requirements = 6%
 - c. Project holding period = 5 years

EXHIBIT 28

REVENUE JUSTIFIED CAPITAL BUDGET DEBT COVER RATIO APPROACH



d. Real estate taxes = historical pattern suggests real estate taxes at 5.4 percent of first year's gross with an annual inflation factor of 5% (see assumptions discussed below) e. Discount rate = 13% (present value factor used to discount cash flow) f. Reinvestment rate = 6% after tax rate applied to after tax cash flow g. Resale price = 10 times net operating income in year of sale h. Resale cost rate = 4% i. Working capital reserves from equity to cover one month's expenses = \$30,000 Investor marginal income tax rate = 50% j. Land = \$340,000, as of most recent appraisal for k. IRS Buildings = 60% of total improvement value 1. Mechanicals and site improvements = 40% of total Π. improvement value Elevators = remaining book value of \$73,000 n. Improvements for Energy Conservation = a total of \$54,000 which includes \$43,000 for storm windows and \$11,000 for natural gas conversion unit. P. Tenant Improvements = \$50,000 for carpeting and partitions as needed to upgrade vacant office space Investment Credit Dummy = to allow for tax benefit of investment credit in first year for capital improvement for energy conservation r. Mortgage = principal amount determined by debt cover ratio; interest rate a minimum of 12% with a 20-year term, paid monthly, on the first mortgage and 13% interest and an 8-year term for the second mortgage

2. Real Estate Tax Assumptions

Real estate taxes are a function of assessed value (or fair market value when assessed value is 100 percent of market value) and the net mill rate; therefore, real estate taxes are estimated as a function of gross rental income. During the past two years, real estate taxes have been between 5 percent and 6 percent of

the Building's potential gross rental income. As a result of tests of several values between 5 percent and 6 percent, it is determined that 5.4 percent of gross rental revenues best represents the historical pattern of the Building's real estate taxes. MRCAP is programmed to use 5.4 percent of the first year's gross rental income to compute the first year's real estate taxes and then provides for a growth factor of 5 percent to increase the taxes each year thereafter.

D. Analysis of Test Results

Four runs of the MRCAP program were done using different assumptions about the amount of real estate taxes that would be paid on the subject property. Taxes and net mill rates for the past three years on the subject property have been:

Year	1977	1978	<u>1979</u>
<u>Real Estate Taxes</u>	\$33,118.75	\$29,951.95	\$25,340.93
Net Mill Rate	.026495	.024153	.022036

Real estate taxes estimated at various percentages of the first year's projected gross and inflated 5 percent a year gave these results in the MRCAP runs:

Percentage of First	Real Estate Taxes				
<u>Year's Gross Rental</u> <u>Revenue</u>	1980	1981	1982	1983	1984
5.0 5.4 5.8 5.0	\$24,698 \$26,674 \$28,650 \$29,638	\$25,933 \$28,008 \$30,082 \$31,119	\$27,230 \$29,408 \$31,586 \$32,675	\$28,591 \$30,878 \$33,166 \$34,309	\$30,021 \$32,422 \$34,824 \$36,025

The real estate taxes estimated at 5.4 percent of the first year's gross rent best approximates the shift from a decreasing to an increasing net mill rate that can now be expected due to an anticipated decrease in state aids to cities. Rising costs of local government can be expected to be borne by the local taxpayer.

The input and output for the MRCAP program using real estate taxes estimated at 5.4 percent of gross rental revenue are found in Exhibit 29.

If taxes are a conservative 5.4 percent of gross rental revenue, MRCAP substantiates the fair market value of \$1,150,000 estimated by the market comparison approach to value.
Reprinted with permission of Dr. Michael L. Robbins, CRE, President GRAASroot Real Estate Counseling, Inc.



EXHIBIT 29

MRCAP INPUT AND OUTPUT--JUSTIFIED CAPITAL BUDGET WITH REAL ESTATE TAXES AT 5.4% OF FIRST YEAR'S GROSS RENT

HRCAP 09:49CST 12/20/80

ENTER INPUT FILE NAME?TENNEY

THE PROGRAM NRCAP IS THE PROPERTY OF NICHAEL L. ROBBINS C/O REAL ESTATE BYNAMICS INC. 4701 WINNEQUAH RD. NONONA. WISC.

USER NO. 36

(608)-221-1120

NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE THAT THE ASSUMPTIONS OR COMPUTATIONAL FORMAT USED IN THIS PROJECTION WILL BE ACCEPTABLE TO TAXING AUTHORITIES.

#\$10.00 LIB CHG APPLIED

NUMBER 1 REPORT SECTION PAGE 1

*	GROSS RENT	£_554378.	*	RATE OF	GROUTH	OF GRO	SS RENT	0.0432
*	EXPENSES	£ 330234.	*	RATE OF	GROUTH	OF EXP	ENSES	0.093a
*	R E TAXES	₽ 29478.	*	RATE OF	GROUTH	OFRE	THXES	0.0500
	INCOME TAX RATE	E 0.5000		PROJECT	VALUE	GROUTH	0F	2.0000
*	VACANCY RATE	0.1375		UORKING	CAPITA	L LUAN	RATE	0.1400
	EQUITY DISCOUNT	T 0.1300		EXTRAOR.	DINARY	EXPENSE	S 1	0.
	RESALE COST	0.0400		REINVES	THENT R	AÏE		0.0600
	UKG CAPITAL RS	\$ 30000.		CAPITAL	RESER	INTERES	I RATE	0.
	INITIAL COST \$	1091502.		INIȚIAL	EQUITY	REQUIR	ED 3	486009.
	ALL 1*1 VALUES	ARE AVERAGE		AMOUNTS	FOR HOL	01NG PE	RI00. OF	5 YRS.

INITIAL COST DERIVED THROUGH BACKDOOR TYPE 3 USING 2 MORTGAGES

:

PRO FORMA

INVESTNENT ANALYSIS OF

BUILDING

FOR

REPORT SECTION NUMBER 2 PAGE 1

1

.

CONPONENT SUMMARY

TITLE	PCT.	BEGIN	USEFUL	DEFR			
	BEPR	USE	LIFE	HETHOD		COST	SCH
16440	9.	:	25.	. 0	3	340000.	Û
BUILDING	0.80	1	29.	2	\$	338221.	ΰ
HVAC	0.90	1	Ģ.	2	3	225481.	Ü
ELEVATORS	9.90	1	4.	2	5	73000.	Ð
ENERGY CONSERVATION	0.90	1	5.	2	Ŧ	54000.	Q.
TERART IMPROVEMENTS	0.9V	i	10.	4	ž	50000.	0
INVESTMENT CREDIT DU	1.00	;	1 .	2	ī	10800.	ý

MORTGAGE SUMMARY

TITLE	INTR Rate	BEGIN YR'	END YR.	TERM		ORIG Balc	PCT VALUE
FIRST MORTGAGE	0.1200	1	20	20	3	531493.	0.487
SECOND MORTGAGE	0.1300	1	9	8	1	104000.	0.095

.

:

PRO FORMA

INVESTMENT ANALYSIS OF

BUILDING

FOR

R	Ξ	Ρ	0	2	7	9	ε	C	ſ	I	0	H	ť	ŧ	U	'n	₿	Ε	R		- 3	F	PAGE	1
= :	: = :	:=	= =	= = :	= = =	 = =	= =	:= 3	=	= = :	:23	===:	====	:=	= =	:=:	===	= =	==:	=:332	=:=	•		

.

CASH	FLOU ANALYSIS					
1224:		1980	1981	1982	1983	1984
1	GROSS INCOME	508920.	535080.	550220.	579460.	300210.
ġ	LESS VACANCY	120790.	\$5330.	óá480.	54910.	39320.
3	LESS REAL ESTATE TAXES	20674.	28008.	29408.	30878.	32422.
4	LESS EXPENSES	272260.	303180.	328640.	357700.	389390.
5	NET INCOME	87196.	118562.	125692.	130972.	139178.
Å	LESS REPRECIATION	76323.	64378.	63442.	62629.	45513.
7	LESS INTEREST	76472.	74515.	72298.	6 9785.	66938.
3	TAYABI E THOBHE	-63599.	-20351.	-10048.	-1443.	26726.
0	PLUS REPRECIATION	76323.	64398.	63442.	62629.	45513.
10	LESS PRINCIPAL PAYNENTS	14730.	16687.	18904.	21417.	24263.
11	CASH THROU-OFF	-4006.	27361.	34490.	39770.	47976.
17	LESS TAYES	9.	0.	٥.	0.	13363.
17	LESS PESEDUES	0.	0.	٥.	٥.	0.
13	CASH EDAN APERATIONS	0_	27361.	34490.	39770.	34613.
15	UNDETER CAPITAL LAAN	0.	0.	0.	0.	0.
1.0	RICTOTONTADIE CASH AFR TAY	. 0.	27361.	<u>.</u> 34490.	39770.	34613.
10	TAY CAUTHO ON OTHER INCOME	32799	10175	5024.	721.	Û.
17	THA SHVING ON DINER INCONC	20799	37536.	39514.	40491.	34613.
10	SFERUNDLE GHOR HFIER INA	441//4	0,0001			

:

##RY	ET VALUE I REVERSION					
====						
CASH	FLOU ANALYSIS					
= = = =		1980	1981	1685	1953	1954
19	END OF YEAR MARKET VALUE	871962.	1185425.	1256921.	1309717.	1391778.
20	LESS RESALE COST	34675.	47425.	50277.	5238?.	55671.
21	LESS LOAN BALANCES	620764.	504077.	585173.	5å375e.	539493.
22	PLUS CUH. CASH RESERVES	25994.	25994.	25994.	25994.	52664°
23	SEFORE TAX NET WORTH	242314.	560117.	647460.	7195cc.	822-08.
0.4	FLETTAL RATH (TE SOLT)	-181094.	182544	3:35:1.	424717.	551596.
75	CAPITAL GAING TAY	-34019	36509	67702.	85344	1:0319
20	WINING PREF TA:	00211	0000 .	Û Û _	<u>, 000</u>	0_
27	TUCCHE TAY ON EYPERS DEP	1500	2478	7897.	2950.	2457
20	TOTAL TAY ON CALE	-14410	79944	12111	38291	112977
20	AFTER TAY HET HORTH	752974	50170.	581847	431973	709437
47	HEILA INA ALI SURIA	236724+	4617794	391097+	557275.	707032.
BERG	JKE IAA KAILU HRHEISIS					
3333						
~ ~ ~ ~						
CASI	1 FLUS ANALISIS	1000	1001	1903	1007	1003
2321	==============	1780	1781	1782	1107	1704
	ACTUAL AN MET MARTIN B/A TA		1 1715	A 9175	A 1778	A 7400
30	KEIUKN UN MEI MUKIN 3/4 IH		1.1273	9-2173	721.55	0.2077
31	LAANGE IN RET WURIN B/4 IN	NA -2936784	31/803.	0/317.	72100.	103042.
32	UKIB EQUIIT LASH KINB/4 IP		V. UJCJ A 0517	0.0710	0.0010	0.9787
33	URIG EQUIT PATRACK B/4 IA		0.0303	V=12/3	V.2V71	0.2803
54	B/4 TAX PRESENT VALUE	840380.	1092030.	1126006.	1142770.	11/4187.
AFTI	ER TAX RATIO ANALYSIS					
CASI	H FLOU ANALYSIS					
2323	* 32 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	1980	1981	1982	1483	1984
35	RETURN ON NET WORTH AFR TH	AX -0.3998	1.1578	0.1923	0.1545	0.1790
3ó	CHANGE IN NET WORTH AFR TH	AX -227086.	262248.	60a96.	4940a.	78359.
37	ORIG EDUITY CASH RTNAFR TA	AX 0.0675	0.0772	0.0813	0.0833	9.0712
38	ORIG EQUITY PAYBACK AFR TA	AX 0.0675	0.1447	0,2260	9.3393	0.380é
39	AFTER TAX PRESENT VALUE	893655.	1102039.	1124564.	1133347.	1:50092.
			•			
CAS	H FLOW ANALYSIS					
111	;;::;:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	1980	1981	1982	1983	1934
40	HET INCOME-MARKET VALUE RI	TD 0.1000	0.1000	0.1000	0.7000	0.1000
41	LENDER BONUS INTEREST RATE	E 0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	9.0000	0.0000
42	DEFAULT RATIO	0.7675	0.7894	0.8105	0.8230	0.8542
-						

INPUT FILE

09:48CST 12/20/80

110 1. BUILDING. DAVIS 120 10,1980.0,1,1.0.5.74000 130 20.3.2.1.3..06.2.2 140 40.493960.522120.537260.565460.586210 150 50.12940,12940.12940,14000.14000 160 60.120790.85330.56480.59910.39220 170 70..054..05.* 180 80.272240.303180.328440.357700.389390 190 100..13..50..00 200 101.0.10.2 210 102..14.1..04.0 220 103.0.30000.0.0 230 200.1.1LAND 240 201.1.340000.0.0 250 202.1.1.25.0 230 200.2.BUILDING 270 201,2..60..80,2 280 202.2.1.29.0 290 200.3.HUAC 300 201.3..40..90.2 310 202.3.1.9.0 320 200,4.ELEVATORS 330 201,4.73000..90.2 340 202.4.1.4.0 350 200,5, ENERGY CONSERVATION 340 201.5.54000..90.2 . 370 202.5.1.5.0 380 200,6.TENANT IMPROVEHENTS 390 201.6.50000..90.4 400 202.4.1.10.0 410 200.7, INVESTMENT CREDIT DUNHY 420 201.7,10800.1.0.2 430 202.7.1.1.0 440 300.1.FIRST HORTGAGE 450 301.1.1.0..12.0.20 460 302.1,12.1.20.0 470 303,1.0.0.0.0 480 300.2.SECOND HORTGAGE 490 301.2.104000..13.0.8 500 302.2.12.1.8.0 510 303.2.0.0.0.0 520 400,9 530 403.99.1.2.3.4.5 540 999.99

- IV. Aside from the problem of defining and allocating income and reversion to the real estate interest, income property appraisal is at C. with the problem of cash equivalency adjustments for both comparable sales and the subject property. Many of the issues on how to appraise properties with economic development loans, state-subsidized housing loans, or seller financed property relate to when and how cash equivalency rules should be applied.
 - A. Fair market value seems to call for cash to the seller (Exhibit 3) but then provides an exception where market practice may be different. The Institute textbook says,

"Unusual financing or other factors that might result in a price deviation from market value are also excluded. However, if the availability of other than conventional financing (such as FHA or VA loan terms) is sufficiently extensive to constitute a market within which the property being appraised is expected to sell, the typical purchaser may be expected to take advantage of this available financing, and the market value of the property reflects the probable sale price in this market. In market valuation assignments the appraiser first identifies the market in which the property being appraised will be exposed and sold. The market value of the property is then identified within parameters that reflect conditions in this market." Source: <u>The Appraisal of</u> Real Estate, Seventh Edition.

- B. In addition to market characteristics, we need to know the purpose of the appraisal before determining where their fair market value based on fee simple title or most probable price or going concern value is appropriate.
 - 1. For example, the assessor is required by law to look at fee simple title; he does not recognize contract rents when they are below market rent nor can he look at premium rents and going concern values over and above market or economic rents. Cash equivalency is a must.
 - 2. However, in a Section 8 loan from a state housing authority, it is typical to take an assignment of the general partnership position which can be exercised by the Housing Authority in the event of default on the mortgage terms or the related property management agreement. Control of the property can pass through subsequent assignment without disturbing the tax position or the special non-market interest rate of the deal. Moreover, the rights transfered include existing reserve funds. Therefore, fair market value is not relevant relative to the security of the loan. The investor purchases a fee simple title encumbered by transfers of owner prerogatives to the government in exchange for tax privileges and minimum income guarantees for 20-40 years. That is the question of most probable price or going concern value.

Reprinted with permission of McCloud B. Hodges, Jr.

Exhibit 30

MCCLOUD B. HODGES, JR. REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT, VALUATION AND COUNSELING 410 PINE STREET, SUITE 203 VIENNA, VIEGINIA 22180 703 - 281-5668

October 9, 1980

MEMORANDUM FOR several interested RE appraisers/counselors, trial attorneys and academicians

Enclosed is an expanded and revised list of OARs and assessment/ sales ratios which are self explanatory. This list is not a pure (random) sample by statistical rules. On one hand it is much larger than a sample need be, as it covers nearly 70% of all known property sales for the areas described, in the price range above about one-half million dollars, excluding MF apartment properties sold for condo conversion. On the other hand, it is possible that the 30% of investors-purchasers who, thus far, have not cooperated in furnishing data for this survey, may have shown slightly lower average OARs and A/S ratios.

This study, consuming several hundred man-hours in visits to offices of investors and inspections of their properties, was initiated more than two years ago primarily to obtain market data for rebutting several ad valorem tax valuations of properties owned by my clients. But it is now evident, from the specific results of the study and from its sheer coverage, that it ought to serve as the basis for a new educational manuscript advocating modern methods of valuing investment classed property. The "OAR" capitalization method, regardless of how the OAR is derived or constructed, is quite crude, often erroneous, and therefore useless as applied to higher priced property valuations. It was made even more useless during the last year in which many institutional sources of long term, level payment mortgage loans have withdrawn or have changed their lending practices in order to share in part of the inflation-produced cash flow through additional interest and/or future capital gain.

The second enclosure, a revised edition of "Effects of Financing on Price and Value", should explain the main reasons for the variances in OARs shown in the first enclosure: financing and tax shelter. The other reasons for OAR variances are the buyers' anticipated future changes in net income and resale/exchange values. Some properties are expected to produce large profits, or their only profits, in the distant future, while others will be nominally profitable only in the short range. This reduces the "NOI" either as a first year or a "stablized" figure to a position of invalidity in the valuation appraisal practice.

Enclosures

MCCLOUD B. HODGES, JR. REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT, VALUATION AND COUNSELING 410 PINE STREET, SUITE 203 VIENNA, VIRGINIA 22180 703 - 281-5668

Sample of investment-classed property resales in the Virginia and Maryland suburbs of Washington, D. C., showing the wide variations in the overall capitalization rate (OAR) and in the assessment/sale price ratio. For any property which was not sold for cash above new, market-rate mortgage financing, the price shown is the cash-equivalent price, being the sum of the equity cash and the balances of the mortgage loans after discounting the loans to their estimated cash liquidable values at dates of property sales.

The OAR is based upon the cash-equivalent sales price and the net operating income (NOI) produced in the first year following the date of sale. If a full year had not passed by the date of any datum sale analysis, the NOI is that which was budgeted by the new owners. The assessment/sale price ratio is based upon 100% market value assessment and the cash equivalent sales price. Supporting data for all property sales are contained in a separate, confidential listing with corresponding identification (ID) numbers.

	Year of	(Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
	<u>Sale</u>	Cordon ants Fairfax Co.	440,000	.1298	118%
100	1977	Galden apes., failian co.	467.074	.0856	118%
105	1980	Office Blug, Faillax CO.	474 389	0942	148%
107	1978	Elevator apts., Montgomery CO.		0857	71%
110	1978	Elevator Apts., Arlington Co.	559,000	.0007	100
113	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	585,126	.1324	1328
115	1977	Garden apts., Fairfax Co.	589,000	.1091	94%
120	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	590 , 255	.0860	158%
125	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	638,975	.1291	229%
1.30	1976	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	730,058	.1232	778
132	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	746,833	.0818	97%
135	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	802,900	.1396	104%
140	1980	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	836,857	.0874	963
141	1977	Garden Apts, Prince Georges Co.	-850,000	.1012	87%
142	1978	Office Bld., Montgomery Co.	950,000	.0759	89%
143	1978	Elevator Apts., Prince Georges Co	994,808	.1151	101%
144	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	1,010,865	.0868	598
145	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	1,120,209	.0957	112%
147	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,159,172	.1267	102%
150	1977	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	1,245,200	.1124	106%
155	1976	Garden Apts., Arlington Co.	1,395,000	.1019	103%

ID	Year of Sale	Kind of Property and Location	Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
157	1977	Shopping Cntr., Montgomery Co.	1,461,500	.0879	98%
160	1976	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	1,577,300	.1065	108%
162	1980	Garden Apts., Ann Arundel Co.	1,638,000	.1416	90%
163	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,716,505	.1290	101%
164	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	1,732,107	.1827	144%
166	1978	Office Bldg., Arlington Co.	1,751,835	.0645	90%
168	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,879,250	.1248	123%
170	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,960,835	.1140	114%
175	1975	Elevator Apts., Fairfax Co.	1,984,500	.1321	156%
180	1978	Elevator Apts., Falls Church	2,000,000	.0821	91%
184*	1977	Garden Apts., Montgomery Co.	2,113,500	.1192	115%
185	1980	Shopping Center, Fairfax Co.	2,144,706	.1081	125%
190	1975	Elevator Apts., Alexandria City	2,153,606	.0831	137%
195	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,324,000	.1224	106%
200	1975	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,375,000	.0950	1153
205	1977	Elevator Apts., Arlington Co.	2,400,000	.0975	66%
210	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	2,510,492	.1290	133%
225	1978	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	2,569,500	.1068	85%
300	1975	Elevator Apts., Alexandria City	2,558,669	.1234	93%
301*	* 1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	2,960,244	N/A	1313.
303	1975	Garden-Apts., Alexandria City	2,789,190	.0775	122%
304	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	3,090,639	Neg.	95%
305	1979	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	3,100,000	.1221	78%
306	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	3,117,300	.1056	165%
307	1977	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	3,125,000	.1070	102%
310	1979	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	3,214,928	.1110	110%
315	1980	Shopping Center, Fairfax Co.	3,765,341	.1093	132%
317*	1977	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	4,000,000	.0810	86%
318	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co.	4,100,000	.1439	97%
319	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co	. 4,128,173	.0962	988
320	1975	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	4,190,700	.1359	155%
323	197 7	Elevator Apts., Montgomery Co.	4,796,255	.0790	154%

* Financed under FHA 223(f) rehabilitation and refinancing program.

** Nominal price shown. No information available on terms of sale or NOI in first year of ownership.

ID	Year of Sale	Kind of Property and Location	Cash Equiv. Price	OAR	Assmt/ Sale
325	1980	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	4,871,282	.1316	124%
328*	1978	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co	5,426,138	.0921	116%
330	1980	Office Bldg Complex, Fairfax Co	5,529,031	.1071	110%
335	1979	Garden Apts., Alexandria City	6,296,800	.1345	113%
340	1980	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co	6,593,267	.1121	154%
344	1979	Garden Apts., Prince Georges Co	6,726,848	.1457	883
345	1976	Garden Apts., Fairfax Co.	6,735,450	.1161	102%
352	1979	Elevator Apts., Montgomery Co.	8,189,554	Neg.	208%
354	1979	Office Building, Montgomery Co	8,850,000	.0862	120%
355	1979	Office Bldg., Arlington Co.	8,357,450	.0593	128%
360	1978	Office Bldg., Montgomery Co.	10,729,000	.1025	80%
365	1976	Elevator Apts., Fairfax Co.	12,819,124	.0936	993
375	1978	Office Bldg., Fairfax Co.	14,957,334	.0881	893
385	1979	Elev. & Gdn. Apts., Prince Geo.	18,866,955	.0674	72%

^{*} Financed under FHA 223(f) rehabilitation and refinancing program.

EFFECT OF FINANCING ON PRICE AND VALUE

WHAT CAN A 4-PERSON PARTNERSHIP PAY FOR A 10-YR. OLD, GOOD QUALITY APARTMENT COMPLEX UNDER 3 DIFFERENT SETS OF FINANCING TERMS ?

FACTORS CONSTANT IN ALL 3 ANALYSES:

- NET INCOME BEFORE R.E. TAXES STARTS AT \$350,000 AND RISES ON A 4% SLOPE IN ACTUAL INFLATION \$.
- R.E. TAX RATE = .0121 : ASSESSED VALUE = SALE PRICE.
- DEPRECIABLE ASSETS = 85% OF PRICE, 25 YR. LIFE, 125% S/L D.B.
- · NO MAJOR CAPITAL REPLACEMENTS IN NEXT TEN YEARS.
- RESALE PRICE IO YEARS LATER = \$3,662,000, CASH-TO-SELLERS.
- OWNERS WILL REMAIN IN 50% FED. & 5.75% STATE INCOME TAX BRACKET DURING ALL IO YEARS OF OWNERSHIP.
- OWNERS WANT 18% EQUITY YIELD (I.R.R.) AFTER INCOME TAX.
- · 1978 TAX ACT GOVERNS INCOME, GAIN & ADD-ON TAXES.

VARIABLE FACTOR: FINANCING

IST N	ÍTGE	\$ 1,479,786 Asmd. @7½%,17 Mcre Yrs.	New \$1,850,000 @ 13%, 30 Yr. Amort., Ballooning 10 Yrs.	None
2ND I	MTGE	\$1,500,000 DPMM @6% Int.Only, 10 Yrs.	None	
PRICE/	VALUE	\$ 3 537 073	\$ 2527098	\$ 1435046
EQUITY	CASH	557287	677098	1435046
	1	\$ 85 460	<i>\$ 88 738</i>	\$189 003
AFTER-	2	86 244	92 103	193988
TAX	3	87 085	95 555	199 054
CASH	4	87 950	99 081	204 196
FLOW	5	<i>88 849</i>	102 664	209 411
IN	6	89 730	106 289	214 695
YEAR	77	93 655	112 136	221 223
	8	97 373	117 879	227 890
	9	100 857	123 503	234488
	10	912 938	1297 106	2905 060
"O.A	.R."	.0869	1764	2318 .8

"Overall Rate" = Year 1 Net Income After R.E. Taxes + Total Sale Price/Value

- 3. Going concern value may be more relevant to an economic development loan. The public purpose of the loan subsidy is to create employment, improved physical environment, and the seeds of an economic base appropriate to redevelopment. In appraising the property for loan purposes the cash equivalency of fee simple title is not relevant if eventual delinquency on the loan gives the lender several options other than foreclosure. For example:
 - a. assignment of business ownership as collateral permits transfer and sale of the going concern to better management.
 - b. it could permit a change of use within constraints of the economic development program as a workout.
 - c. it could look to additional forms of subsidy, such as applied to Section 8 rehab money as a deep subsidy applied to rescue of a delinguent moderate 236 subsidy program.
 - d. Public purposes may create a monopoly for the facility to be appraised which provides a market price superior to fee simple title where it is not directly encumbered by long-term public priorities and commitments.
- C. If the appraisal is for loan security, then the issue is whether similar nonmarket credit terms would be available to the next buyer. VA loans are assignable; economic development loans may be transferable with a change in management; subsidized rental housing loans may be undisturbed by default because of the assignability of control via transfer of partnership interests.
 - 1. The appraiser does not discount a purchase price of a home purchased with a shared appreciation mortgage. That is contingent interest for the lender.
 - 2. If a builder of condominiums buys down the loan of his customer, what are those points really worth? It depends on how long the buyer owns the property and is really an oblique form of a shared appreciation mortgage, is it not? Contingent interest for the borrower as well as the lender.
 - 3. Appraisers have generally overlooked cash equivalency arguments relative to the seller paying the points to buy down the loan for the buyer in VA loans. Similarly, it should be disregarded on financing through prior builders' commitments. Do you discount project unit values because he bought a FNMA commitment or hedged in the GNMA certificates market? After all, these costs are also included in the price and may be included in the resale price.
- D. What is a point really worth? Refer to Exhibit 30A.

WHAT IS A POINT REALLY WORTH?

Daniel J. O'Connell

any real estate professionals compile lists of personal rules of thumb. Ideally these rules of thumb serve to reduce effort and raise productivity in daily decision makingwith minimal sacrifice in accuracy and quality.

One rule-of-thumb that seems to have made a lasting impression is that the payment of one loan point! should equate to an 1/3 percent reduction in the loan interest rate. For example, a borrower choosing between a 12-1/4 percent loan with 2 points from ABC Mortgage Company and a 13 percent loan without points from the XYZ Mortgage Company would be indifferent as to the choice.² According to the rule-of-thumb. the two-point charge supposedly equates to the 1/4 percent (1/4 percent per point) difference in interest rates. However, that may not be a valid rule, as can be seen when comparing the points and nopoints alternatives.

A purchaser buys a house to be financed with a \$100,000. 30-year loan. Financing is available from ABC Mortgage at 12-¼ percent plus 2 points (\$2,000), and is also available from XYZ Mortgage at 13 percent with no points. This is illustrated in Table 1.

Assume the borrower plans to hold the property for a period of only two years at which point the balance of the loan will be paid. The difference in payments between the two loans is \$468.00 for the two-year period, favoring the lower interest rate loan:

2-year payments (@ 13%	\$25.548 30	
a 12-14%	- 26.080.80	
Payment savings with 12-34% loan	\$ 468.00	

The difference in remaining balances upon the loan pay-off must also be taken into account. Because the 12-3/4 percent loan will amortize faster, it will have a remaining balance that is \$34.71 lower than the 13 percent loan at the end of the two years. Adding this balance to the \$468.00 in reduced payments results in a savings of \$502.71 over the two-year life of the loan:

Payment savings with 12-34% ioan	\$468.00
Accitonal Joan reduction	+ 3471
Total savings with 12-74% ican	5502.71

The borrower, if choosing the 12-34 percent loan, saves \$502.71 in payments and additional amortization over the 13 percent loan, but has paid \$2,000 to do so. Obviously, the two-point fee does not always equate to the corresponding 1/4

Table 1	ABC Mortzage Co.	XYZ Mortgage Co.
Loan	\$100.000	\$100.000
Interest rate	12-24%	13%
Monthly payments	\$1.086.70	\$1 106.20
Annual payments	\$13.040.40	\$13.274.40
Points	2	0
\$ Point charge	\$2.000	0

¹As used here, a point is defined as an additional, up-front charge made by a lender and paid by a borrower, that enables a loan to be made at a lower interest rate. A point is computed as 1% of the loan amount. More than one point may be charged, with each point creating a corresponding decrease in the interest rate.

²Assuming the borrower has the available funds to pay the points.

The second s

Table 3

	Discounted, after-tax payment savings with 1234% loan						
	1	2	3	4	5		
Year	Payment Difference	Tax Savings On 13% Loan	Annual After-Tax Payment Savings	Column 3 Discounted @ 8%	Cumulative Payment Savings		
1	\$234.00	392.74	\$141.26	\$130.80	\$ 130.80		
2	234.00	93.26	140.74	120.66	251.46		
3	234.00	93.82	140.18	111.28	362.74		
4	234.00	94.41	139.59	102.60	465.34		
5	234 00	95.02	138.98	94.59	559.93		
6	234.00	95.56	138.44	87.24	647 17		
7	234 00	96.31	137.69	80.34	727 51		
8	234.00	96.95	137.05	74.04	801.55		
9	234.00	97.62	136.38	68.22	369.77		
10	234.00	98.25	135.75	62.98	932.65		
15	234.00	100.49	133.51	57 26	1,180.99		
20	234.00	97.34	136.66	54.27	1.350.33		
25	234.00	77.38	156.62	22.87	1,475.26		
30	234.00	12.91	221.09	21.97	1,584.75		

Column 1 is the annual difference in payments between the two loans with the advantage to the 123/2% loan.

Column 2 is the annual savings in taxes attributable to the 13% loan due to additional interest cayments.

Column 3 is the combined effects of the first two columns; Column 1 minus Column 2 = Column 3.

Courn 4 is Column 3 discounted to the present at 8% per annum.

Coumn 5 is the cumulative total of Column 4.

Table 4

	Discounted, after-tax pay-off and combined savings with 12% loan									
	1	. 2	3	4						
Year	Pay-Off Difference	Column 1 Discounted @ 8%	Cumulative Payment Savings (Table 3, Col. 5)	Combined Savings						
1	\$ 16.65	\$ 15.42	\$ 130.80	\$ 146.22						
2	34.71	29.76	251.46	281.22						
3	54.29	43.10	362.74	405.84						
4	75.44	55.45	465.34	520.79						
5	98.26	66.87	559.93	626.80						
6	122.80	77 38	647.17	724.55						
7	149.09	86.99	727.51	814.50						
8	177.13	95.70	801.55	897.25						
9	206.96	103.59	869.77	973.30						
10	238.51	110.48	932.65	1.043.13						
11	271.70	116.53	990.61	1,107,14						
12	306.38	121.67	1,044.06	1,165,73						
13	342.37	125.89	1,093.37	1,219,26						
14	379.38	129.16	1,138.90	1,268,06						
15	416.98	131.45	1,180.99	1,312,44						
20	589.40	126.45	1.350.33	1.476.78						
25	601.55	87.84	1.475.26	1.563.10						
30	0	0	1.584.75	1.584.75						





Loan Holding Period



Present value of borrower's after-tax savings with point charge added to basis



Example Problem: Cash Equivalent Price - Existing Mortgage plus Purchase Money Mortgage Given the following information, determine the cash equivalent price of the transaction: Sale Price \$1,000,000 Existing Mortgage (assumed) Balance \$682,052 Mo. Pmt. \$6,039.20 Contract rate 8.5% Expired Term 6 years Remaining Term 19 years \$200,000 @ 10% Purchase Money Mortgage Amortization over 20 years, balloon in 10 years Current Financing 14,5%, 20 year amortization with 10 year balloon A. What is the equity investment? B. What is the balance outstanding on the existing (assumed) mortgage in 10 years? C. What is the payment on the PMM? What is the balance outstanding EOY 10? D. What is the cash equivalent price of the transaction? Suggested Solution - II Existing Mortgage plus PMM A. \$117,948 B. \$454,781 C. \$ 1,930 \$146,049 \$117,948 D. Equity Assumed Existing Mortgage PW \$6,039.20, 120 mos. @ 14.5% \$381,535 PW \$454,781, EOY 10 @ 14.5% Purchase Money Mortgage PW \$1,930, 120 mos. \$121,931 @ 14.5% PW \$146,049, EOY 10 @ 14.5% \$ 34,558 \$763,581 Total (Cash Equivalent Price)

* Courtesy of Byrl Boyce

II-47

IX. PROBLEM (CASH EQUIVALENCY)*
 *Courtesy of A. Robert Parente, SREA, MAI.

An income producing property (special purpose) was resold by the Midland National Bank on a "workout." The terms of the sale were as follows:

Sale Price:	\$1,178,808, no cash by purchaser, ile., 100% debt financing
Terms of Financing:	First year - interest only at a rate of 4-1/2% and payable monthly
	Second year - interest only at a rate of 6% and payable monthly
	For the next 23 years - principal and interest at 8-1/2%, payable monthly

The property (a 12,000 sq. ft., 3-year old restaurant building) was purchased on November 10, 1977 for \$1,178,808. Typical terms of financing at that time (11/77) were 9-3/4% interest for 25 years on a 75% loan-to-value ratio. It is estimated that equity required a 12-15% return.

Questions:

- A. What are the monthly interest costs in years 1 and 2?
- B. What is the constant on the amortized portion of the mortgage?
- C. What is the monthly payment on the mortgage?
- D. What is the unadjusted sales price per square foot for use in the DSC approach?
- E. What is the cash equivalent price assuming 100% financing were typical in the market?
- F. What is the cash equivalent price assuming an equity yield requirement of 12% 15%?
- G. What is the adjusted sales price per square foot under each of the conditions set forth above?

Suggested Solution - IX Problem (Cash Equivalency) A. Year 1: \$4,420.53 Year 2: \$5.894.04 B. f = .09913C. \$9.737.97 D. $$1,178,808 \div 12,000 = $98.23/sq.$ ft. E. PW i Costs Year 1 @ 9-3/4% = \$ 50,347.92 PW i Costs Year 2 @ 9-3/4% = 60,918.28 PW Amortization payments Years 3-25 @ 9-3/4% = 881,198.63Cash Equivalent Price = \$992.464.83* (100% Financing) *\$186,343.17 less than face value of note $$992,464.83 \div 12,000 = $82.71/sq.$ ft. F. Discount Rates given Y = 12%, Y = 15%, m = 75% i = 9.75\% Y = 15%Y = 12% $.75 \times .0975 = .073125$ Mortgage $.75 \times .0975 = .073125$ Equity $.25 \times .12 = .03$.25 x .15 **≖** .0375 Discount Rate (r) = .103125Discount rate (r) = .110625PWCF @ 11.0625% PWCF @ 10.3125% \$ 49,999.88 \$ 50,198.33 Year 1 59,715.07 Year 2 60,399.42 835,796.73 780,188.86 Years 3-25 \$889,903.81*** \$946,394.48** G. \$946,394.48 ÷ 12,000 = \$78.87/sq. ft. \$889,903.81 ÷ 12,000 = \$74.16/sq. ft.

* Courtesy of Byrl Boyce

EXHIBIT 33

CASH EQUIVALENCY EXAMPLE

NAKOMA HEIGHTS 168 APARTMENT UNITS SOLD NOVEMBER 1, 1979 NOMINAL SALES PRICE \$3,450,000

A. One appraisal reviewed recently contained the following summary analysis. It is used as it probably parallels the Madison Assessor's Office perception of the transaction:

Date	Price	Gross	Net	GIM	Expense	Unit	OAR
7/79	\$3,450,000	\$449,249	\$196,548	7.68	56.3	\$20,536	5.7

3. Cash Equivalency - Monthly payment differential

If 25% down with 75% L/V	at 10.55 for 25 years	Down	862,000
		Mortgage	s2,588,000
			\$3,450,000

Monthly payment \$24,528; Annual payment \$294,335

1979	-	4/80	Conv.	Mortgage (9.25)	\$294,3 272.8	35 375			
				()	\$ 21,4	60/12	=	\$1,788	(A)

4/80 - 4/81

\$2,950,000				Conv.	Mortgage	\$294,335		
250,000		L.C.	3			249,750		
\$2,700,000	Х	.0925				\$ 44,585/12 =	= \$3,715	(B)

4/81

\$2,700,000			\$294,335	
250,000			226,625	
\$2,450,000	X	.0125	$\frac{567,710}{12} = \frac{55,643}{12}$	(C)

NET PRESENT VALUE UNDER L.C. FINANCING AND BALLOON PAYOUT ACCORDING TO CONTRACT ON 12/31/85

	1979	1980	1981	<u> 1982 - 84</u>	
Down Payment	\$500,000 <u>3,576</u> (2A) \$503,576	\$250,000 5,364 (3A) <u>33,435</u> (9B) \$288,799	\$250,000 11,145 (1 50,787 (1 \$311,932	4 years 38) \$ 67,710 9C)	(12C)
				\$2,517,710	
	NET PRE	SENT VALUE CONVEN	ITIONAL LOAN		
	1979				
Down Payment	\$862,000			Balance <u>2,404,022</u>	
Cash year 1	\$503,576	\$288,799 \$3	311,932		
Cash year 2	255,491	.884666 \$255.491	.796455		
Cash year 3	248,440	2	248,440	710	
Cash year 5	43,710		, ³⁰⁷ , 67,	710	
Cash year 6 Cash year 7	39,351 \$1,317,332		67,	710 \$2,517,710	
	\$2,456,451 To (Vi	tal Cash Equivale ersus \$3,450,000	nominal selling	price)	
	INCOME PREPORTE (Contract)	D GROSS	INCOME \$499, NCOME 196.	249 548	
	(,	MARKET BENT LEVE	ELS		
		At lea Less 409	ast gross \$450, & expense 180, NOI \$270,	000 000 000	
	OAR	= <u>270,000</u> = . 2,456,451	. 109915		
	SP/Unit	$= \frac{2,456,451}{168} = $	14,622		

- 7
- 1. Most probable price always requires a statement as to the financial terms which are a condition of effective demand at that price. Fair market value definition is sufficiently ambiguous to require a statement of financial terms as a qualification on conclusion.
- 2. In practice you ignore points paid by the seller in a VA loan. To predict the most probable price, why not ignore points paid by the seller for a conventional loan? For loan security the lender is interested in the most probable price at which it will sell or whether the spread between probable price and fair market value will be covered by private mortgage insurance. In the latter case the appraiser could provide both numbers if asked.
- 3. Only the assessor is locked into cash equivalent fair market value!
- E. The mechanics of cash equivalency values come into play where income properties are sold subject to non-market financing or for purposes other than income investment, such as syndication or condominium conversion. Professors Byrl Boyce and William Kinnard have prepared an excellent half-day presentation on cash equivalencies. The cases in Exhibits 31 and 32 are from their seminar and are suggestive of the mechanics of cash equivalency due to non-market financing.
- V. The fair market value appraisal for tax assessment of subsidized, rental housing is a very frustrating experience for both the assessor and the ownership position. None of the components of value are what they seem to be.
 - A. It should be noted that 221 d3 and d4 and 236 projects involve subsidy of the interest rate only, while Section 8 recognize the damage done by inflation to cost to construct and operating expenses, so that it subsidizes the total project.
 - Section 8 was intended to subsidize conventionally financed apartments within a larger project, thus avoiding a ghetto of subsidized projects and permitting the depth of subsidy to vary; government would pay the difference between fair market rents and 25% of eligible tenants income.
 - 2. The legislation included instructions that the subsidy would cover full taxes and utilities, presuming taxes would be similar to non-subsidized development pegged at prevailing market rents. It was an operating subsidy program with no specific relationship to financing.
 - The 1974 legislation did say that if the Section 8 contract was used as collateral to obtain financing, HUD had the right to approve financing and refinancing.
 - 4. Three factors precluded the original concept rising interest rates in the conventional market, the evolution of HUD prerogatives for auditing, management, and tenant selection or eviction, and finally the operating procedures of state housing finance agencies and GNMA tandem plans which provide virtually all of the financing.

	7-	Exhibi	t 34	i	IFA FORM NO. * Revised 1/19/77 Page 1 of 4	,100
all'i	都 a w	lisconsin Housing	g Finance Au	thority		
	<u></u>	L. GENERAL I	NFORMATION			
1. Develor	ment Name:	Woodview Park		4. (x)	Feasibility	
2. Develop	ment Sponsor:	Munz Investment	Real Estate, Inc	()	Firm	<u> </u>
5. Develo	ment Location:	Tyrell Ave. & G	eneva St.	5. lyne ((X)	or Mortgagor: L.D. N.D.	
		Delavan, Wal (City)	Worth (County)		····	
6. (X) Ner () Rai	<pre>Construction tabilitation</pre>	7. Permanent Mtg. Rate <u>7</u> .	Interest	3. Const Fin	ruction XX WE ancing: () Co	IFA Inventional
9. Туре о	f Development.	No. of (Jnits		No. a	of Stories
(30 1)	aw Rise (l-3 sto	pries) <u>84</u> 4p; Oup	t. Units <u>6</u> plex Units	T.H. Unit S.F. Unit	$s = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2}{3}$	<u>Story</u>
() M	id Rise (4-6 sto	pries) Na	. of Units	•	I	<u></u>
() H	igh Rise (7 sto) and over)	ries INo	. of Units		! 1	
10. Access	ory Buildings:	(No. and type) N	lone			
il. Total	Number of Build	ings: I	lhree			
12. Total	Number of Units	90	(Family 22 :	Elderly 6	8 : Handican	;
13. Total	Number of Units	:90	Revenue;	<u></u> ۷	Ion-Revenue	
14. Densit	y:20	Units Per Acre				
15. Buildi	ng Information:	Structural System Exterior Finish Floor System	Wood frame > Masonry Wood	v/exterior	<pre>% interior / bearin</pre>	masonry g walls
16. Gross	Floor Area (Inc	luding Basement and	Common Areas)	85,600	5q. Ft.	<u></u>
17. Net Ro	atable Floor Ar	ea: 53,396	Sq. Ft.			<u> </u>
18. Number 34 E 44 F	of Parking Spa Iderly	C05 :	19. P:	irking Ratio	2:	
	II. AMENIT	IES]	111. Si	RVICES	
	ige (Segura Elec Frigerator	(Sleeve (Talu)	lleat		Included i	n Rent No
$\frac{\mathbf{X}}{\mathbf{X}}$	 Conditioning Conditioning tral Air Condit tchen Exhaust Factors tral Laundry Factors 	(Sleeve Unit) (Sleeve Unit) Sioning In In In Scilitics	Gas/Hot W Gas/Force Electric.	ater d Air	(X) (X) 3Bdr ()	() ;.() ()
	it Laundry Facil sposal shwasher	itics	- <u>Hot Water</u> Cas Electric.		(X) ()	() ()
	anes ades ds		Unit Elec (Lights	tric , Cooking,	(X) etc.)	()
	nmon Area Furnis	shings	Water	•••••	(X)	()
	her (Specify)		Other Fue	1 (Specify) () () ()	() () ()

James Wilson Plaza, Suite 300 • 131 West Wilson Street • Madison, Wisconsin 53703 • Telephone 608/256-7884

Page 2 4 Revises ./10/77

No. of	1		Size 5	y Sq. Ft.	1	Contract	Utility	
Units	Type	Bdrms	Net	Gross	FMR	Rent	Allowance	
67	E-L.R.	1	500	546	\$271	\$258.10	\$14G, \$4E	
1	E -L.R	2	800	860	\$348	\$278.84	\$20G, \$8E	
16	W- L.R	2	820	875	\$293	\$278.84	\$20G, \$8E	
6	Т.Н.	3	996	1080	\$381	\$372.21	\$35G,\$12E	
]		
			1					
	ial Contract	Sont	<u></u>				- S 291,194	
1033 -4110	-	n - ())=:	1. m				314,762	

IV. RENT SCHEDULE

	V. EQUITY CALCULATION		VI. INCOME COMPUTATION
1.	Total Replacement Cost : 2,212,267	1.	Gross Annual Income (Contract Rent) \$ 314,752
г.	Nortgage Amount 5 1,991,040	2.	Vacancy (5:) S_15,738
3.	BSPRA 192,737	5.	Effective Gross Income \$ 299,024
4.	BSPRA & Mtg. Amount \$ 2,183,777	4.	Debt Service (72.5) 5 157,229
5.	Equity Cash (Line 1 \$28,490	5.	MIFA Service Fee (5 3) 5 9,955
	ainus Line 4)	6.	Total Operating 118,568 Expenses & Taxes S
		7.	Return on Equity 5 13,274
	VII. SETTLEMENT REQUIREM	ENTS - IN	VITIAL CLOSING
1.	Cash Equity Cash S	2.	Letter of Credit Construction Adjustments \$
	Construction Adjustments \$		Off-Site 5
	Off-Site		Completion Assurance \$
	Completion Assurance 5		Total Letter of Credit Requirement S
	Total Cash Requirement S	5.	Total Cash & Letter of Great Requirement \$
		4.	Bonds Compiction Assurance \$
			Off-Site S
	VIII. SPGON	CILIATIC	X
	1. ACC Authorization		
	2. Tenant Psyments -		· · · ^S
	3. Expected HUD Contr	ributions	· · · `
	4. Total Revenue		\$
	5. Total Expenses		· · \$

	IX. REPLACEMENT COST AND MORTGAGE
	A. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT
,	Per Unit Total
1.	la. Apartments
	1b. Townhouses
	lc. Suplexes
	ld. Single Family
	le. Other Buildings
	1F. TOTAL STRUCTURES
2.	LAND IMPROVEMENTS:
	2a. Usual (landscaping paving, etc)
	2b. Unusual
	2c. TOTAL LAND IMPROVEMENTS
. 3.	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS ()
4.	GENERAL OVERHEAD ()
5.	BOND PREMIUM/LETTER OF CREDIT FEE
ά.	OTHERTYTELL AVE. IMPREVEMENTS-Eng. Est. \$70275000-122 D.U. s=\$614
7.	TOTAL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 7a. Per Unit Construction Contract
8.	ARCHITECTURAL FEES
	Sa. Jesign ()
	3b. Supervision (3)
	Sc. TOTAL ARCHITECTURAL PEES S 60,000
	Sd. Per Unit Architectural Fees 5 666.67
9.	TOTAL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 5 ARCHITECTURAL FEES
10.	CONSTRUCTION INTEREST (10 mo. 3 8 ;) for 1 & 2 Bdrms 5 65,139
11.	CONSTRUCTION TAXES
12.	CONSTRUCTION INSURANCE
13.	TITLE & RECORDING
14.	WHFA PROCESSING FEE (2.5)
ί5.	LOAN LOSS RESERVE (2.5%)
16.	LEGAL (5_{4950}) & COST CERTIFICATION ($5_{2,000}$) $5_{5,950}$
17.	TOTAL CARRYING CHARGES & FINANCING FEES- 17a. Per Unit Carrying Chgs. & Fin. Fees S 2.121
13.	ΤΟΤΛL (Lines 9 + 17)
19.	BSPRA
20.	LAND
21.	TOTAL REPLACEMENT COST (Lines 18 + 19 + 20) 21a. Per Unit Replacement Cost S 24,581
22.	MORTGAGE (90 3)

Γ 4 of 4 Reised 1/10/77

	I. CPERATING EXPENSES
	Est. assessed Mkt. yalue Per Unit Sub-Total
1.	REAL ESTATE TAXES: \vec{z} \vec{s} \vec{s} \vec{s} <th< th=""></th<>
	la. Est. Assessed Val. 67 3 Br \$25,000 x 6 x 67% = \$104,520
	\$ <u>33.37</u> per \$1000 X \$1,082,720 <u>X 26,672</u>
	1b. Per Unit R.E. Taxes 5 408
2.	SERVICE ACCOUNTS:
	22. Fuel (Htg. & Dom. Hot Water) \$ 198.40 \$ 17,856
	25. Electric
	2c. Water - Sewer
	2d. Garbage & Trash Removal \$ 27.00 \$ 2,430
	2e. Other - AdvertisingS 3.00 S 270
	2f. TOTAL SERVICE ACCOUNTS
	Zg. Per Unit Service Accounts \$ 336.94
3.	INSURANCE
4.	AUDIT
5.	LEGAL
6.	MANAGEMENT :
	6a. Fees
	6b. Central
	6c. Oπ-Site
	6d. Administrative
	6e. TUTAL MANAGEMENT 15.948
	6f. Per Unit Management 5 177.20
7.	MAINTENANCE:
	71. Caretaker Salary 6,480
	7b. Other Salaries
	7c. Contract Services
	7d. Supplies
	7e. Other - Repair Services 7,170
	21,348
\$	PEDIACEMENT DESERVE
а. а	TOTAL OPERATIVE EXPENSES (line in $26 + 1 + 4 + 5 + 4 + 75 + 6$
э. 10	$\frac{119,563}{19,563}$
	101 Per Unit Dobt Service c 1,857-59
11	
12.	TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES DEED SERVICE & RETERN ON FOURTY (Lines 0 = 10 = 11)

	WISCONSIN HOUSING (INANCI AUTHORITY	sate I of l
- 5/12/77	CONTRACTOR'S and or MORTGAGOR'S	
many Mung Alesdreen	COST BREAKDOWN	214
inte associ	INCREDULES OF VALUES)	

Wandview Park 1..... casts and services as a basis for dissurging dellar amounts when advances The form represents the Contractors

······					······································	<u> </u>
אכ	TRADE LTEM	· COST		TRADE DESCR	IPTION	
		7.170				
<u>- 2 2xi</u>	cavating & Sackfill	43438				
		75657				·
- 4 (7.3 x		10 1 7 5 1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
<u> </u>		100 52				~~~~~·~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
	an Carpencey I then	74				
	in Carpentry Labor :		- <u></u>		·····	
- 0 Fin	teh Carpenery	2315/				
· 7 /// 10	ashrooffan	1007				
	winting i	34007				
7 1000		10000				
7 1500	ar Maral	10052	··	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
- 1 IDeo	ee lastar	12520				
3 121 -	1.3 1 1.3 1	17 7 / 7				
		17727				
- 0 010	h ()] seese	1-24-				
- 910+v		13050			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
91711	- Varia	- 205 2		<u> </u>		
	usc(ca)	1-30				
91100	d Fluoring				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
91204	ilight Flooring	14nz			····	
91Pat	nting & Decoration	17472	·····			····
10150	cializies	5970 1				
11506	clai Equipment	4543				
1110.00	iners	22157			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
11 1300	liances	479001		·····		
121811	nis & Shades, Artworki	9725				
1710-17		451.00		· · · · · · ·		
111500	cial Construction					
14 E1	VALOTS .	24911				
5 F 1	mbing & Hor Warer i	172.000				······
15 Her	it & Venrilation	125073	·•••••			
115 141	Conditioning	1000				
16 161	recrical '	149777				
IAc.	essory Structures	4000				
TO	TAL STRUCTURE(S)	1428627	······································			
- 2 (E.a.	rth Mark	11750				
2 1511	te Utilitics	16406			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
2 iRo.	ads & Walks	30720				
2 51	te Improvements	4000 I	•			
2 11.21	ans & Flancing	74964				
1 2 iUm	usual Site Condition	55260				
170	TAL LAND IMPEVIS	157600	NUNRESIDENTIAL A	NO SPECIAL	OF ANTE C	0575
1701	T. STRUCT, & LAND IMPRYTS.	1581222	EXTERIOR LANG 14	FROVENENT	leasts not included in the	ide isem bren bdan
1 .68	NERAL REQUIREMENTS	35500	DESCRIPTION	EST. COST	DESCRIPTION	EST. COST
i Isua	ITOTAL (Lines 4) and 421	16/1/27				1
	LDER'S OVERHEAD	28935				1
li lou	ILUER'S PROFIT					
1 50	STOTAL ILINGS 43 they 453	1649652				1
7.					TOTAL S	
:1 0	THERFEES				JEHOLIT	10N
31 14	DAD PEEMILIA	16123		1	course not included in the	ede seem breaden
H I					DESCRIPTION	EST. COST
. T	OTAL FOR ALL IMPROVEMENTS	1448.784		ł		ł
2	uniter's fraction para by means					
1 1	OTAL FOR ALL IMPROVEMENTS					
1 1	LESS LINE SZ		TOTAL S		TOTAL S	
	Mung handriero				-1	/
irtgaga	= Para assa	Ву			Date <u>5//</u>	2/27
	Mun Junto Lines	₹ <u></u> `				/
acract	or fill Oth	Juc_ By			Date	177
IFA			e			

II-57

3/6/75

- B. Fair market rent (FMR) has nothing to do with rents from the marketplace for the specific units in question. Instead, they are established by HUD at a level which is expected to justify construction costs in a particular locale; if the FMR's don't work, deviations as high as 10% upward are premitted, but they are indexed to HUD estimates of cost to construct rather than community norms:
- C. Using the FMR's for the unit mix of a proposed project, the developer works through the 2013 form (See WHFA, Exhibit 34) backwards to arrive at a capital budget available for hard construction costs; he typically buys his land at a value not to exceed 90% of the HUD acceptable unit cost of land. The 2013 budget is then a tentative maximum but actual project costs are audited and any savings are used to adjust the maximum mortgage commitment. The 2013 does not recognize points paid for the permanent loan or overruns on cost, but the audit doesn't recognize rents collected prior to the audit certification date. With adroit phasing these costs may be offset with revenues during a period when most operating costs are funded as indirect costs of construction.
- D. The cost approach to value is distorted by HUD's specifications, lengthy procedures, hidden profit centers in fixed allowances for design, supervision, bonding, overhead, etc. Space allocations within the project may reflect social purposes such as meeting rooms, medical centers, craft shops, and infirmary. Moreover most projects are multiple site, multiple buildings, mixed units where perhaps the FMR on elderly will subsidize inadequate FMR's on family units.
- E. Comparative operating budgets for 100-unit one bedroom project is provided in Exhibit 35.
- F. The market comparison approach is inoperative because of constraints on resale inherent in the mortgage and management contracts, the tax trap of accelerated depreciation, the loss of depreciation benefits to the second owner, the emphasis on profit centers for construction rather than management, the rent controls following construction, and the fact that conversion to a conventional market rent structure in the early years would mean rents below the government level with interest rates higher than government level, thus forcing a resale price at a capital loss to the sellers.
- G. In short, it will be almost impossible to find or simulate a sale at fee simple title. Rather a transfer would come with all the liens and contractual obligations because the owners are not the controlling powers; HUD and the finance authorities are. Owners may change but the contractual pyramid will remain in place.
 - 1. The Legislature recognized higher costs and higher risks could not be funded up front by direct subsidy so what has emerged is a series of mandatory management and operational reform and a series of initial and delayed profit centers, augmented by favorable tax rules, and automatically guaranteed.

- 2. Three groups of restrictions are the 1974 Act, complimentary administrative rules, and financing restrictions.
- Section 8 developments are built to conform to the regulatory mold rather than market or merchandising feasibility.
 Size 10-15% less, finishes are utilitarian, secondary locations, etc. for inferior products.
- 4. The inferior product may cost more because of mandatory union wages, mandatory bonding and escrows, and non-competitive bidding to the degree that FMR's permit capital cost inflation. These costs can only be amortized by maintaining Section 8 agreements or conversion to tenant ownership. HUD is not encouraging the latter and there is no financing available that would place the tenants as owners at the same level of occupancy costs.
- H. As a practical matter revenue could be subsidy payments plus actual payments from the tenants. But the subsidy payment includes a payment for the right to set rents, tenant eligibility standards and cash dividends to the investor - in short, a defeasible partial transfer of the fee to the public. Is that parallel to a lease or an easement in gross to the public?
 - 1. As a practical matter the assessor can use the annual audited financial statement of the Section 8 project.
 - 2. Gross rent equals 1/5 the ACC contract amount plus actual receipts from tenants.
 - Operating expenses should be used for the actual operations because they are different for subsidized projects (See Exhibit 36).

Exhil 35

COMPARATIVE OPERATING BUDGETS FOR 100 ONE-BEDROOM UNITS

				Co	nventiona)	
Sec	tion 8		High Range		Low R	ange
Rent	342,000	285/U	276,000	230/mo	240,000	200/mo
Management	15,800	158/yr	16,200	162/yr	12,000	120/yr
Maintenance	20,300	203/yr	18,000	180/yr	10,000	100/yr
Services/ Heat	27,000	270/yr	24,000	240/yr	22,000	220/yr
Insurance	6,850	68/yr	6,000	60/yr	4,000	40/yr
Audit/Legal	900	9/yr				-0-
Replacement Reserve	9,200	92/yr				-0-
Equity Return	14,000	140/yr	-0-	-0-		
Taxes*	51,600		42,960		37,200	
Mortgage	2,150,000		1,532,567		1,405,125	
Debt Service	184,834		168,840		154,800	
Total Replacement Cost	2,391,000		1,803.,020		1,653,088	
*Based Upon Un	adjusted Tota	al Costs				

•

Exhibit 36

Assessment Valuation of Section 8 Using Income Approach

Gross Receipts =	\$142,000 190,000	Collected from tenants Collected from ACC contract for five years totalling \$950,000
Net Revenue	\$332,000	
Vacancy deductio	n – none	ACC pays up to 60 days of vacancy and tenants pay only when occupying unit
Management fee	\$ 15,800	
Maintenance	20,300	
Services/heat*	27,000	
Insurance	6,850	
Audit-legal	900	
Replacement rese Net operating ex	rve 9,200 p \$80,050	
Net operating in B/4 real estate \$252,000/.1374264 Capitalization r	come taxes \$25 + = 1,833,3 ate = .126	1,950 or \$252,000 344 or 1,830,000 384 (25 year 12% mortgage)
(.126384 x .85)	+ (.15 x .0	95) + (^{**} ,75 x .03 mill rate)

.1074264 .0075 .02225 =

Cap rate .1374264

*Be sure gross receipts include utility allowance; in some cases the tenant contribution is less than the utility bill.

** Local tax equalization rate

 $\frac{85\%}{1000}$ loan ratio x \$1,830,000 x 126384 = 196,590 $\frac{$252,000}{196,600}$ = 1.28 debt cover ratio

- V1. Until now, cash equivalent prices have made adjustment for differences in fixed mortgage constants and predictable mortgage balances due at some future point in time. However, today we are faced with variable rate mortgages and a subsector of those called mortgage participation loans.
 - A. Variable rate mortgages should offer the appraiser little problem; indeed, it should help in that tricky allocation problem in terms of the source of value. Adjusting a sale price subject to an existing favorable mortgage is simply attributing value to the intangible element of finance rather than the productive asset of real estate.
 - 1. To the degree that the variable rate mortgage removes the commodity speculation in money from the benefits of ownership, the more likely the price represents the value of the real estate rather than real estate plus an option on cheap money.
 - 2. The form of the variable rate mortgage may cause cash throwoff to vary or net reversion on sale to vary. Hence, the necessity of doing a spread sheet if the appraiser has reason to believe rates will be adjusted upward or downward within the foreseeable future. In the absence of a rate notification or in the presence of a maximum rate limit, the appraiser does not have to speculate (capital budgeting theory would hold that the cap rate should be loaded for the third moment of the maximum interest variance to reflect the risk of alternative financial outcomes, but I doubt if appraisers are ready for that).
 - 3. Lenders may modify debt cover ratios or mortgage investment guides like default points or loan-per-unit.
 - B. Various forms of equity participation represent contingent interest payments to the lender. The appraiser has no alternative but to do a spread sheet forecast year by year for five or ten years of the proforma income and resale possibilities of the property. Participation takes on a variety of forms:
 - Participation in gross rent, generally above a floor of normalized gross. (May reduce value for mortgage loan-to-ratiovalue purposes).
 - Participation in effective gross rent (set at a minimum level so that excessive vacancy penalizes the borrower; may exclude certain rental units or percentage rents or rents for services not funded by mortgage, i.e., a defined base effective rent).
 - 3. Percentage of net operating income (certain expenses allowed in full while other discretionary expenses and vacancy allowance may be defined in amount or percentage of effective gross). Sometimes found on land leases and reduces net income available for debt service if land lease is unsubordinated.

- 4. Percentage of cash throwoff, after debt service and with defined priorities and allowable debt limits. Other restrictions may include mandatory reserves to be set aside before participation.
- 5. One of the above plus participation in refinancing surplus, net resale proceeds, or other capital transactions subject to a floor permitting recapture of equity capital and a ceiling for good fortune.
- C. Some forms of equity participation are more subtle, such as the convertible mortgage which takes several forms:
 - 1. A community shopping center costing \$6 million to build and with a million in runaway construction interests can be sold for \$7.3 million for \$800-850,000 net operating income in the first five years. Lender provides \$7.3 million for 11% interest only ten-year mortgage; in addition, he receives 50% of cash throwoff and whatever percentage of ownership is needed in the tenth year to provide overall 18% return.
 - 2. An office building in San Francisco received 100% financing for construction and eight year balloon. In addition, the developer-borrower becomes a general partner with two limited partners, the land owner and the lender, each receiving some percentage of tax shelter, cash dividends, refinancing surplus or resale value and perhaps retaining first right of refusal -as well.
 - 3. In each case, the mortgage loan represents fee simple title while the interests above that represent entitlements to tax shelter, nonvested future interests, managements and contracting fees and marketing skills.

Exhibit 4-6

	Howard Jo Schedule of Proj For the Years (ohnson — jected Income an Commencing May 1	nd Expenses L, 1974-78		
Period Occupancy (163 rooms)	1974-75 68%	1975-76 70%	1976-77 71%	1977-78 72%	1978-79 73%
Revenue: Available Rooms Occupied Rooms Rate Average	59,463 40,463 18.89	59,400 41,580 19.00	59,400 42,174 19.50	59,400 42,768 20.00	59,400 43,362 20.50
Room Revenue Fublic Room Rental ² Restaurant Rental ³ Telephone ⁴ Other Income ⁵ Room Service Commissions ⁶ Total Revenue	764,450 7,116 31,500 (14,345) 6,113 1,635 796,468	790,020 7,200 31,500 (14,795) 6,165 1,850 821,940	822,390 7,200 31,500 (15,375) 6,405 1,920 854,040	855,360 7,200 31,500 (15,960) 6,650 1,995 886,745	883,920 7,200 31,500 (16,560) 6,900 2,070 920,030
Operating Expenses: Payroll ⁷ Housekeeping ⁸ Adm. & Gen. ⁹ Adv. & Promotion ¹⁰ Utilities ¹¹ Repairs & Maintenance ¹² Total Operating Expenses House Profit Misc. Interest Income Gross Profit Less: Insurance Land Rental ¹³ Income to Furnishing ¹⁴	166,180 33,160 83,150 82,250 66,500 16,550 447,790 348,678 720 349,398 10,314 7,630 64,000	$164,390 \\ 33,700 \\ 85,890 \\ 82,735 \\ 76,030 \\ 13,500 \\ 455,245 \\ 365,695 \\ 720 \\ 365,415 \\ 9,926 \\ 7,680 \\ 64,000 \\ 8,000 \\ $	170,803 34,200 89,250 84,704 79,000 13,500 471,452 382,578 720 383,298 9,926 7,680 64,000	177,34934,70092,66586,35282,02513,500486,591400,154720400,8749,9267,68064,000	184,00635,20096,14588,03085,10013,500501,981418,049720418,7699,9267,63064,000
Income before RE Taxes and Debt Service to Land and Buildings	267,404	284,809	301,692	319,268	337,163

Notes to Exhibit 4-6

- 1. Rate Average:
 - The average room rate for the year ending April 30, 1975 was \$18.89. This was a \$.19 increase over the room rate for the period ending April 30, 1974, or about 1%. The increase was due in large part to standardizing room discounts for major clients and for functions requiring a large number of rooms.
- 2. Public Rooms:
 - For the year ending April 30, 1975 the total dollar volume was \$7,116. In comparison, for the year ending December 31, 1974, the total volume was \$6,854. Public room rental was not found to be related to the level of occupancy or total revenues, thus it is assumed to be fairly fixed in character.
- 3. Restaurant Rental:
 - The restaurant is leased to Howard Johnson's for a minimum rent of \$31,500, plus 5% of the amount of gross receipts which exceeds 20 times the minimum rental.
- 4. Telephone:
 - Telephone revenues have averaged 3.4% of room revenues, compared with an industry average of 3.6% (Lodging Industry, by Laventhal, Krekstein, Horwath, and Horwath).
 - Annual equipment lease payment is \$12,764.40.
 - Net losses have average 1.8% of revenues. With increased occupancy, losses should not exceed 1.5%, comparable to national averages in Laventhal, Krekstein, Horwath and Horwath.
- 5. Other Income:
 - Includes valet and laundry, vending sales, sundry sales, and 10% commission on banquet food sales. Vending has averaged 1/2 of 1% of total revenues. The remainder accounts for 1/4 of 1% of total revenues.
- 6. Room Service Commissions:
 - 2% commission on restaurant bills and room service charged through motel plus 20¢/room service ticket, thus variable with occupancy.
- 7. Payroll:
 - Actual and target results are 20% of total revenues.

- 8. Housekeeping:
 - Averages have ranged from \$33,157 (December 31, 1974 closing) to \$33,775 (April 30, 1975 closing), or 4.06% to 4.27% of total revenues. Dollar amounts are fairly constant within a narrower range of occupancies.
 Includes commissions to travel agencies.
- 9. Administrative and General:
 - For the year ending December 31, 1974 the total amount was approximately \$82,750, or 10.45% of revenues. The totals are comprised of expenditures the majority of which are variable in nature.
 - Includes a 3% fee for management services.
- 10. Advertising and Promotion:

Schedule		
Outdoor Sign		<u> 1975–76</u>
Sign Co.	\$1625.50/mo.	
Advertising Co.	31.50/mo.	
Less: Howard Johnson's share	(275.00/mo.)	
Total	\$1377/month X 1	2 = \$16,524
Promotions		1,500
Publications		7,200
Franchise Fee (5% of gross room	receipts plus	
public room rentals)		39,537
Manager Expense and Promotion		3,475
Miscellaneous Advertising		2,500
Reservation Charge to Howard Joh	inson	12,000
Total		\$82,736

- 11. Utilities:
 - The total is comprised of four elements: electric bulbs, electric current, fuel, and water. The total for the year ending December 31, 1974 was \$64,274 or 8.12% of total revenues.
 - Interim rate increases by Gas and Electric commenced in June 1975. Electric increased 17.7% while fuel (gas) increased 7.33%. At present, additional proposed increased are being evaluated by the Public Service Commission which would become effective in 1976. Electric increases are proposed to be an additional 14.9% while gas is to increase 4.9%. Beyond 1976, increases are expected to be between 5% and 10% per year for both forms of energy.
 - Utilities are not expected to exceed 9.23% of total revenues without a corresponding increase in room rates. Increases in utilities are expected to occur faster than any corresponding increase in room rates, thus it should be some time before the utility expense ratio will stabilize at approximately 9%.
 - Year to date totals indicate the projections for 1975-76 are consistent with the above assumptions concerning the room revenue increase lag.

12. Repairs and Maintenance:

 Contracts	
Plabocki Sign Repair Contract	\$1,060
Westinghouse Elevator Contract	3,336
Pellitteri Wast Removal	738

- Actual for year ending December 31, 1974 was approximately \$16,550.
- For the year 1975-76, the year to date totals indicate a decrease in expenditure. Such expenditures should remain fairly constant over the next five years.
- 13. Land Rent:

Monthly rental charges	\$1000
Less: Recovery from leased property	(360)
Net land cost per month	640

14. Furnishings and Other Assets:

Furnishings and Equipment	
Furnishings and Equipment	\$251,120
Carpeting	60,490
Two Autos	9,480
Signs	9,967
Leasehold Improvements	5,778
Total per Audit	336,835
Factors Attributed to Furnishings	
Rate of Return	9.0%
Recapture	10.0%

- Personal Property Tax 4.5% Income Equivalent of Recapture and Return to Equity
- 336,835 + 336,835(9% X 10 years) = 639,987 639,987 + 10 = 63,999 or <u>64,000</u>


LENDER'S POINT OF VIEW

EXHIBIT 2



 $\frac{890,500}{32,000} = $27.80/sq.$ ft. justified building budget

.

DEVELOPER'S POINT OF VIEW

EXHIBIT 3

DEFAULT RATIO APPROACH



\$37/sq. ft. of gross area for justified bidg. budget



13555 Bel-Red Road, Suite 207, C96870 Bellevue, Washington 98009

PROGRAM EVALUATION

We appreciate your participation in this program. Your feedback is important. Your critical comments help us evaluate the effectiveness of the topic material and its presentation, and guide in the development of new programs for you and your professional peers. Thanks for your help.

Contemporary Appraising of Program Title Income Properties Location (city) #8256

Please tell us your primary objective in attending this program.

How well was this objective achieved through your participation in the program?

Well achieved _____ Mostly achieved _____ Moderately _____ Not _____

Please rate the program elements by circling the appropriate numbers below:

	EXCELL	ENT	GO	DD	AVE	RAGE	F	AIR	POC	DR
The course in general	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
The instructor (s)	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
Relevance of informati	on 10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
Handout materials	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
Quality of facility	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
Program Management	10	9	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
What điđ you like leas	t about	the	prog:	ram?						
What changes should we	make i	n the	pro	gram?						
Your general comments	a bout t	he pr	ogra	m:				····		
May we publish your re	marks?	Yes			>					
Name				Firm			•			

In the following category lists, please circle the identifying numbers which apply to you.

YOUR PROFESSION

- 1 Attorney
- 2 Accountant
- 3 Tax preparer or Consultant 10 Real Estate Investor
- 4 Mortgage lender or banker
- 5 Real Estate Broker/Assoc. Broker 12,- Other (Please specify)
- 6 Real Estate Salesperson
- 7 Life Insurance Agent

YOUR PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS

- 1 (Your state) Association of Realtors
- 2 Multiple Listing Service (s)
- 3 An Exchange Club
- 4 A Homebuilders' Association
- 5 Other memberships or affiliations

YOUR PROFESSIONAL READING (Subscribe to, or read?)

- 1 Real Estate Review
- 2 Creative Real Estate
- 3 Real Estate Today
- 4 Other professional or trade publications?_____

THE PROPERTY YOU DEAL WITH

- 1 Residential
- 2 Commercial/Retail
- 3 Industrial
- 4 Income or Investment

- 5 Recreational
- 6 Farm/Ranch
- 7 Other (Please specify)

Are there other topics, programs or speakers you'd like?

Thanks for your help,

Norm Swent Executive Director

- 8 Real Estate Appraiser
- 9 Builder/Developer
- 11 Architect/Engineer

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

Presented by

Professor James A. Graaskamp, Ph.D., CRE, SREA University of Wisconsin, School of Business

INTRODUCTION

I. INTRODUCTION TO CONTEMPORARY ISSUES

Appraisal of real estate income properties is a critical social function with high ethical requirements because it is a pivotal benchmark for decisions involving social equity, validation of financial institution assets for regulatory purposes, governance of private contracts, and benchmarking of the effectiveness of asset manager.

- A. Appraisal is a specialty in the rapidly evolving information business. Appraisers systematically collect information, organize and analyze the data, and reach decisions about value while communicating essential information to a client. This is similar to the work of:
 - 1. Accountants
 - 2. Insurance managers
 - 3. Security and investment counselors

4. Lawyers

- B. Unlike accountants and others, appraisers receive little help from their professional organizations in the form of position papers which define appropriate methods for a particular question.
 - Accounting has the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) that continually modifies generally accepted accounting principles to fit new problems such as mergers, current values of fixed assets, accounting for real estate operations, etc.
 - 2. Securities people have the Midwest Securities Association.
 - The insurance education program is controlled by two independent organizations, the American College of Life Underwriters and the American College of Property and Casualty Underwriters.

4. Appraisers have no such independent fixed point. Even the Eighth Edition of the Institute textbook disclaims any responsibility for being a standard. The flyleaf of the Eighth Edition says:

> "FOR EDUCATION PURPOSES ONLY The opinions and statements set forth herein are those of the individual members of the Institute's editorial staff and do not necessarily reflect the viewpoint of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers or its individual members."

- C. As a result, the appraisal process is evolving into one of the following:
 - 1. The art of disinformation as in military intelligence where the appraiser is implicitly part of a conspiracy with his client to provide documents that satisfy regulators, provide cover against future charges of negligence, or provide bargaining points for income tax, real estate tax, divorce settlements, partnership dissolution, and other negotiations.
 - 2. The discipline of rigid format and language for purposes of standardization at the expense of relevance and as an alternative to qualifications of the appraiser's judgment as opposed to form filling ability.
 - 3. A counseling assignment wherein the appraiser must select and match the basic elements of the appraisal assignment to the requirements of the decision for which the appraisal is sought as a benchmark.
- D. Distinguishing carefully between advocacy and suitability, the ethical and professional appraiser must counsel his client on the basics to establish a fit between the appraisal and the issue for which it is required as a benchmark, including, but not limited to:
 - Definition of real estate interests to be appraised

- 2. Definition of highest and best use
- 3. Definition of market value
- 4. Definition of what constitutes market comparison
- 5. Definition of accounting rules for the income approach
- 6. Definition of the economic context assumed
- 7. Definition of buyer and seller perspectives
- 8. Definition of rules for anticipating future benefits
- 9. Definition of who is considered an independent observer

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

II. BASIC PREMISES OF CONTEMPORARY APPRAISAL

The basic premises of the contemporary approach stem from the fundamental belief that pricing is a behavioral science, that analysis should be inductive rather than deductive wherever possible, and that appraised values are intended to serve as a benchmark for some decision process.

A. A price is a social transaction and the behavior of the parties and configuration of the transaction reflects a concensus at some point in time between external market forces sufficiently strong to impose on the outcome and internal forces on the supply side sufficiently strong to pursue their own self-perceived interests. (See Exhibit 1.)

Notice that the above does not presume:

- 1. Both demand and supply forces to have alternatives of equal indifference.
- 2. Negotiation abilities of equal force, or
- 3. Cash maximization as their sole criteria all of which characterize the traditional approach.
- B. The contemporary view sees appraisal as a limited and fictional case of feasibility analysis which, in turn, is a limited case in problem solving which, in turn, is part of a larger planning framework.
- C. Appraisal as a fictional feasibility study is a model of a decision process and, therefore, like all models is constrained by the following elements:
 - 1. What is the nature of the question?
 - 2. What quantity and quality of data may be available?

- 3. What theory or hypothesis may edit and focus the available data as a tentative answer to the question?
- 4. What techniques and data management can be used reliably by the analysts?
- 5. What techniques and data management have credibility with the ultimate decision maker hiring the analyst?
- 6. What techniques and data management are cost effective in terms of the dollar consequences of the decision?
- D. Functions of appraisal differ dramatically and lead to multiple definitions of value.
 - 1. Validation (mortgage loans)
 - Benchmarking performance (pension funds)
 - 3. Confrontation (legal cases)
 - 4. Counseling (investment decisions)

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

III. THE PROCESS OF CONTEMPORARY APPRAISAL

In that light, the sequence of steps required of the contemporary appraisal process referred to by Wisconsin students as RATGRAM is as follows:

- A. What is the issue for which the appraisal is sought as a benchmark?
 - 1. Problem perceived redefined to the problem as a second understood
 - 2. Statutory or financial
 - Burcherory of Linear States
 Perspective in time, viewpoint, and continuum as going concern
- B. What are the attributes of the property and the potential for productive alternative courses of action for future use
 - Responsibility for engineering, marketing, or legal/political assumptions
 - 2. What special enhancements or encumbrances are to be valued as additional sticks in the bundle of rights to be appraised
 - Opportunities for monopoly in space, place, or time
- C. Given the basic alternatives, what is the most probable use matrix relevant to the appraisal purpose where
 - English Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) distinguish between existing use and all possible uses
 - 2. With or without zoning change
 - 3. With or without possible assemblage value
 - 4. With or without administrative rule recognition

5. With or without opportunity cost doctrine

- D. Given the most probable use, who is the most probable buyer in terms of class, motivation profile, or market position? (See Exhibit 3.)
- E. Given the most probable use and most probable buyer assumptions, there are three approaches to predicting most probable price:
 - 1. Inference from past transactions involving properties of similar potential and buyers of similar motivation.
 - Failing adequate transaction data, it is then acceptable to simulate the pricing methods of the most probable buyer.
 - 3. Failing to find either similar properties or articulate buyers, the appraiser is then permitted to use normative methods which indicate what might happen if buyer and seller were as smart as the appraiser.
- F. With an initial estimate of value, it may then be modified for external conditions unique to the parties, the place, or the time.
- G. The adjusted value must then be tested to demonstrate that results at that price would be consistent with the minimum goals of all major parties to the transaction.
- H. Since the appraiser is predicting price under conditions of uncertainty and many different market terms, the appraisal conclusion must be expressed as a central tendency within a transaction zone which is qualified by financial terms and/or critical assumptions about unknowable facts.
 - Although the Institute uses fair market value and most probable price interchangeably, that is a travesty on the work of modern theorists and a deliberate attempt to confuse or negate the implied criticism of traditional ways by contemporary analysis. (See Exhibits 1 and 2.)

- 2. Contemporary theory recognizes explicitly the errors in forecasting, the role of financial terms, and the reality of bargaining position.
- These general precepts are then expanded into an appraisal report outline of the general type included in Exhibit 4.
- J. We believe it is important that every appraisal first report fair market value strictly defined as cash to the seller for the real estate interest as a standard point of departure and that value enhancements and encumbrances then be reported in reference to that base number. Most probable price will only be the same as fair market value where the most probable buyer behaves as though he were the most prudent man buying only returns attributable to land and building.

.

CONTEMPORARY DEFINITION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE

"Most Probable Selling Price", as defined by Professor Richard U. Ratcliff:

The most probable selling price is that selling price which is most likely to emerge from a transaction involving the subject property if it were exposed for sale in the current market for a reasonable time at terms of sale which are currently predominant for properties of the subject type. [1]

[1] Unpublished quotation, Richard U. Ratcliff speaking on his book <u>Valuation for Real Estate Decisions</u>, Santa Cruz, CA, Democratic Press, 1972.

page to not found

SAMPLE PROFILES OF MOST PROBABLE USE AND BUYER

The most probable use of the subject property would be as a shell for conversion to three small retail units on the first floor, four townhouses in the three-story structure, and two 700 square feet office modules with skylights in the second-story structure.

A review of sales on the Square and along the State Street Mall reveals that the buyers of these properties have been either a local businessman who was seeking a new location for his business or a professional real estate investor who was willing and able to execute extensive renovation and Those comparables that were bought by businessmen re-leasing. primarily for their own use were small and narrow; the larger buildings, similar in size to the subject property or larger, were purchased by professional developers who already had other commitments in the downtown area. The old Leath Furniture building, which was purchased by amateur businessmen for use as a restaurant, is again available for rent because the new owners discovered that their intended use was not compatible with Three of the seven comparables were partially building codes. occupied by the new owner; five were financed by the seller with a 10 percent to 15 percent down payment and a land contract at 8 percent; six were sold for significantly less than May 1, 1976, assessed valuation; and in six of them, the first floor was subdivded into retail rental units with about 20 feet of frontage each.

Therefore, the most probable buyer will be a professional real estate developer who expects to remodel and redirect marketing of the subject property. The most probable buyer expects generous land contract terms and resale, before or after conversion, to a small group of participating equity investors. The professional investor will negotiate only after the owner has had the property on the market for a protracted period of time and is willing to sell it well below assessed valuation.

CONTEMPORARY REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL REPORT OUTLINE

Letter of Transmittal

- 1. Brief statement of appraisal issue
- 2. Definition of value aplied
- 3. Value conclusion (qualified by financing, terms of sale, and range of probable transaction zone as appropriate)
- 4. Sensitivity of conclusion to critical assumptions
- 5. Property observations or recommendations
- 6. Incorporation by reference of limiting assumptions and conditions

Table of Contents

List of Exhibits

Digest of Facts, Assumptions, and Conclusions

- 1. Property type
- 2. Property location
- 3. Property ownership
- 4. Determinant physical attributes
- 5. Controlling legal-political attributes
- 6. Pivotal linkage attributes
- 7. Marketable dynamic attributes
- 8. Most probable use conclusion
- 9. Most probable buyer profile assumed
- 10. Initial probable price prediction and central tendency
- 11. Adjustment of preliminary value estimate for external factors or market position of parties
- 12 Testing of corrected probable price for consistency with most probable buyer objectives
- 13. Final value conclusion and range of error estimate as appropriate
 - I. Appraisal Problem Assignment
 - A. Statement of issue or circumstances for which appraisal is intended to serve as a decision benchmark and date of valuation
 - B. Special problems implicit in property type or issue that affect appraisal methodology and definition of value

- C. Special assumptions or instructions that are provided by others
- D. Definition of value, which is the objective of appraisal analysis and disciplines appraisal process
 - 1. Selected definition and source
 - 2. Implicit conditions of the definition
 - 3. Assumptions required by relevant legal rulings
- E. Definition of legal interests to be appraised
 - 1. Legal description and source
 - Permits, political approvals, and other public use entitlements
 - 3. Fixtures or personalty to be included with sale
 - 4. Specific assets or liabilities excluded as inconsistent with issue or premise of appraisal

II. Property Analysis to Determine Alternative Uses

- A. Site Analysis
 - Physical (static) site attributes (size, shape, geology, slope, soil hydrology, etc.)
 - Special site improvements (wells, bulkheads, irrigation systems, parking surfaces with unique salvage or re-use characteristics, etc.)
 - 3. Legal-political attributes (applicable federal, state and local zoning, convenants, easements, special assessments, or other land use codes and ordinances, etc.)
 - 4. Linkages of site (key relationships to networks, populations, or activity centers that might generate need for subject property)
 - 5. Dynamic attributes of site (perceptual responses of people to site in terms of anxiety, visibility, prestige, aesthetics, etc.)
 - 6. Environmental attributes of site as related to off-site systems or impact areas.
- B. Improvement Analysis
 - Physical (static) attributes of improvements, cataloged by type, construction, layout, condition, structural flaws, etc.
 - 2. Mechanical attributes (brief sttement of heating, ventilating, air conditioning, electrical, plumbing, and fire or safety systems in terms of limitations on use or efficiency)

- 3. In short, it is useful to subdivide improvements into subsystems:
 - a. Foundation system
 - b. Structural system
 - c. Vertical circulation
 - d. Horizontal circulation
 - e. Floor system
 - f. Ceiling system
 - g. Roof system
 - h. Internal wall system
 - i. External wall system
 - j. HVAC system
 - k. Communications system
 - 1. Traffic separation system
 - m. Security system
 - n. Life safety system
 - o. Waste removal system
- 4. Special structural linkages to off-site elements (tunnels, bridges, adjoining structures, etc.)
- 5. Legal-political constraints on use of existing improvements (federal, state and local building codes, fire codes, conditional use procedures, neighborhood associations, and inspection liens of record for violations).
- 6. Dynamic attributes of existing improvements (impressions created by type, bulk, texture, previous uses, past history, or functional efficiency)
- 7. Current uses and tenancies of improvements, if any
- Environmental impact attributes of improvements on environs
- C. Identification of Alternative Use Scenarios for Subject Property
 - 1. Marketing existing uses of property as is
 - 2. Renovation of existing property and marketing improved space
 - 3. Redirection of existing property to alternaitve tenancies and uses
 - Replacement of existing improvements or program with new uses

- III. Selection of Most Probable Use
 - A. Comparative Analysis of Alternative Uses
 - Testing and ranking alternative use strategies for legal-political compatibility
 - 2. Testing alternative use scenarios for fit to physical property attributes within reasonable cost to cure
 - 3. Selection of scenarios that justsify market research
 - B. Analysis of Effective Demand for Selected Uses
 - Search for rents and income potentials of scenario space-time products
 - 2. Screen and rank market targets
 - 3. Apply income-justified residual investment approach to rank economic power of alternative market scenarios
 - Evaluate marginal revenue, marginal investment risk trade-offs
 - C. Summary Matrix for Selection of Most Probable Use Scenario
 - 1. Physical fit
 - 2. Legal-political risk
 - 3. Strength of market demand
 - 4. Adequacy of available financing
 - 5. Revenue and cost assumptions risk
- IV. Prediction of Price for Subject Property
 - A. Specification of Most Probable Buyer Type Implied by Most Probable Use
 - 1. Criteria motivations of alternative buyer types
 - 2. Selection of most probable buyer type as basis for prediction
 - 3. Specification of essential site, improvement, financial, or key decision criteria of principal alternative buyer types

- B. Explanation of Appraisal Methodology for Prediction of Probable Purchase Price
 - Preferred method: to infer buyer behavior from actual market transaction and market data available from sales by comparable buyers of acceptable alternative properties
 - In the absence of adequate market sales data, the alternative method selected for simulation of probable buyer decision process
 - 3. If market influence of simulation is impossible, select normative model such as investment value, or cost to replace
- C. Search for Comparable Market Sales Transactions
 - 1. Unit of comparison
 - 2. Method of comparison
 - 4. Investigation of sale transaction circumstances
 - 5. Evaluation for comparability
 - 6. Definition of predominant terms of sale
 - 7. Source of comparative adjustments
- D. Determination of Suitability of Existing Market Data for Inference of Value for Subject Property
 - 1. Where data is adequate, selection of market comparison method to estimate value
 - Where data is lacking or misleading, selection of method leads to simulation in E or normative methods in F
- E. Simulation of Probable Buyer Decision Process if Market Comparison Approach is Inconclusive or Impossible
 - 1. Source and explanation of simulation model
 - 2. Schedules of simulation assumptions
 - 3. Range of alternative simulation value predictions (sensitivity analysis)
- (OR) F. Selection of Normative Model of Buyer Behavior
 - 1. Investment model
 - 2. Cost-to-replace model
 - 3. Nonquantitative decision models
 - G. Computation of Most Probable Price and Standard Error of Prediction

- H. Correction of Preliminary Value Estimate for External Factors
 - Identification of conditions relative to date of appraisal not present in market comparison assumptions
 - Specification of political contingencies that might upset normal appraisal assumptions of substitution
 - 3. Identification of any violation of conditions in the definition of value by the appraisal methodology
 - 4. Indication of adjustment necessary to preliminary probable price estimate or
 - 5. Explicit statement that no adjustment is necessary
- I. Test of Most Probable Price or Value Conclusion by Means of:
 - Comparison to values derived from selected alternative appraisal methodology
 - Demonstration of achievement of objectives of most probable buyer minimum selection criteria
 - Measurement of fit of financial cash requirements to market rents, lender ratios, or other relevant constraints
 - 4. Comparison to decision criteria appropriate to issue (financial ratios required by mortgage lender, comparative assessments of similar property for the tax appeal board, rates of return in alternative investments, construction prices for similar property, or whatever demonstrates consistency with statement of the issue)
- V. Appraisal Conclusion and Limiting Conditions
 - A. Definition of Value and Value Conclusion of the Report
 - B. Certification of Independent Appraisal Judgment
 - C. Statement of Limiting Conditions that Establish:
 - 1. Contributions of other professionals on which report relies
 - 2. Facts and forecasting under conditions of uncertainty
 - 3. Critical assumptions provided by the appraiser
 - 4. Assumptions provided by the client
 - 5. Controls on use of appraisal imposed by the appraiser

17

Appendices

•

Maps, data sets, only if referred to in the text. These data collections would slow down the reader if included as an exhibit and are secondary to the argument in the body of the report.

. .

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

IV. THREE BASIC METHODS OF APPRAISAL

Dilmore has the most basic philosophical view of the three approaches to value while Ratcliff has the most operational sense of researching and forecasting value.

- A. Dilmore refers to the three approaches as order, chance, and beauty
 - Assuming order, there is a universe in which the parts fit and we shave away the chaotic mass of information until we find the critical pattern. Like the test for color blindness, the appraiser is looking for the pattern of red dots in a field of random dots of various colors which appear to be scattered.
 - 2. Chance acknowledges the possibility that in the closed system there may be possibilities which were not considered or that there may be an error. No respectable scientist is afraid of the word "error". In appraisal, imprecision is built into the process of choosing data subjectively before we attempt to treat it objectively.
 - 3. Beauty simply recognizes intuition and elegance in our forecasting model may be legitimate reasons for its use. Intuitive reactions, qualitative judgments, or gut feelings are a form of aesthetics in the decision process.
- B. Ratcliff concludes that most appraisals are concerned with prediction of a future event, a transaction price. Since an appraisal method is a forecasting tool, forecasting is best done with inference from selected past experience. Failing that, the best method is simulation of the real estate market process.

- Given reliable information on past market behavior, the preferred method of appraisal is to process the data, statistically if possible, to derive a prediction of future price behavior under given conditions and with means for estimating the reliability of the prediction.
- 2. Statistical prediction if possible.
- 3. Set theory for definition of a data set at the least.
- C. Should market data be unavailable or inconclusive, the appraiser is forced to resort to the second method of appraisal, namely the construction of a real estate investment or decision model of factors which reflect his understanding of how buyers and sellers might behave.
 - The income approach and the cost approach are submodels of how an investor is supposed to behave.
 - 2. After-tax investment models are another submodel of market behavior, but while these may measure demand from the buyer's viewpoint, it may not measure the minimum price expected by the seller who also has a tax model to consider. In using the second approach, the appraiser must be very careful to indicate price on the supply side representing minimum expectations (Vs) of the seller.
- D. Should there be no sales and no way to verify how buyers would review the specific property (utility case - rate base or kilowatt production?), then the appraiser falls back to normative methods.
 - Normative means what the buyer would do if he were as smart as the appraiser and motivated only by a desire to maximize wealth.
 - 2. The traditional income approach or the cost approach are normative models unless it can be proven buyers behave accordingly.

- 3. After-tax cash flow models are normative models until it can be shown that buyers and sellers use cash flow to value property.
- E. Highest and best use or most probable use in order to identify most probable user and buyer, requires analysis and explicit recognition of possible uses which are:
 - 1. Legal/political acceptability
 - 2. Physical/technical feasibility
 - 3. Effective demand and marketability
 - 4. Financial viability
 - 5. Community compatibility

(See Exhibits 5, 6, and 7.)

- F. Most probable use presumes <u>economic feasibility</u> while many projects today require only <u>financial solvency</u> due to special enhancements or encumbrances which modify the operating characteristics of the property. These are not inherent in fee simple title but require expansion of the definitions of legal interests to be acquired; the appraiser may require legal support for presuming the transferability of these enhancements or a cost for elimination for an encumbrance.
 - Enhancements include special entitlements under land use control laws, subsidized financing program, financial reserves which travel with the title and the assumable financing, and all manner of profit centers provided by operating agreements which may be assignable under certain review procedures.
 - Encumbrances such as licenses, easements, and leases may be removed depending on relative positions of buyer and seller which are not within the American rule that fee simple title is the sum of the parts.

- 3. Economic surplus for the user is not adjusted for economic costs to external parties unless the political system can find methods to internalize these opportunity costs as anticipated in the definition of best use in Exhibit 5.
- 4. Fair market value may take the premise that existing leases will run out their term while most probable price may reflect a probability of renegotiation betewen landlord and tenant for mutual benefit or background information which makes it impossible for the status quo to persist.
 - a. Check Dunn and Bradstreet on the tenants
 - b. Analyze reported sales volume relative to breakeven point
 - c. Analyze opportunity cost of the status quo

COFFEE BREAK

DEFINITION OF HIGHEST AND BEST USE

That reasonable and probable use that will support the highest present value, as defined, as of the effective date of the appraisal.

Alternatively, that use, from among reasonably probable and legal alternative uses, found to be physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and which results in highest land value.

The definition immediately above applies specifically to the highest and best use of land. It is to be recognized that in cases where a site has existing improvements on it, the highest and best use may very well be determined to be different from the existing use. The existing use will continue, however, unless and until land value in its highest and best use exceeds the total value of the property in its existing use. See Interim Use.

Implied within these definitions is recognition of the contribution of that specific use to community environment or to community development goals in addition to wealth maximization of individual property owners. Also implied is that the determination of bighest and best use results from the appraiser's judgment and analytical skill, i.e., that the use determined from analysis represents an opinion, not a fact to be found. In appraisal practice, the concept of highest and best use represents the premise upon which value is based. In the context of most probable selling price (market value) another appropriate term to reflect highest and best use would be most probable use. In the context of investment value an alternative term would be most profitable use.

Source: Byrl N. Boyce, Real Estate Appraisal Terminology, Revised Edition, AIREA, SREA, Ballinger, Cambridge, Mass., 1981, p. 107-108.

. .

FEASIBILITY OF ALTERNATIVE USES

	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	<u>Scenario 4</u> Conversion to	<u>Scenario 5</u> Conversion to	Scenerio 6	
Feasibility Factor	Return to Former Une	Purchase by Welfare	Conversion to Class B/C Office	Apartments with Office on 1st Floor	Apartments with Existing Bar	Demolition and Sale of Site	
Market Demand Risks	Demand very elastic relative to price unless room rates subsidized by welfare agencies	Welfare agencies lack capital resources to purchase and remodel facilities, given the absence of government funding	Office market becoming more price sensitive; would not accept neighborhood and lack of parking unless rents were lower than necessary to support remodeling	Strong demand for spacious two bedroom units in CBD area	Though there is a strong demand for affordable downtown housing, consumer survey abows tenant reluctance to live above noisy/poten- tially melodorous bar-restaurant	Soft market for vacant sites which cannot be assembled into larger plot- tage; parking revenues from 20 spaces inadequate to carry clearance costs	
Legal/Political Acceptability	Inconsistent with long term City goals for Olin Place	Mixed acceptability as interim use as housing for transient males by some groups; favored by welfare advocates and disfavored by local residents	Neighborhood resistance to increased demand for strest parking	Preferred use, given need for downtown housing and politi- cal statements by alderpersons for reduction of bar business in residen- tial neighborhoods	Preferred use for housing is compro- mised by existing bar management agreement	Inconsistent with constituency favoring landmark designation	
Technical Construction Problems and Capital Cost Risks	Failure to repair within one year may have jeopardized grandfathered non- conforming building conditions. Other- wise this use has lowest construction risks of Scenarios 1 through 5	Capital costs of renovation to state standards excessive for short term use	Variance needed for parking requirement of 1 stall per 300 SF to 1 stall per 2,500 SF of office space	Spacious apartments with views provide favorable rent/cost per SF ratio housing code creates more remodeling risk than commercial code	Apartment mix cheapened by re- taining existing ber operationsmaller units require more plumbing and bring less favorable rent/ cost per SF ratio	None	
Relative Investment Power Based Upon Revenue Generation							
Potential	\$192,765	\$120,380	\$80,331	\$103,220	(\$10,513)	\$13,778	
Special Income Tax Advantages or Public Subsidies Available	lione	None	Rehabilitation tax credit of 20% for older commercial building conversion plus possible industrial bond financing	Possible historic landmark status for 25% rehabilitation tax oredit plus tax incremental financing (TIF) assistance	Possible historic landmark status for 25% rehabilitation tax credit. TIF less likely because increase in tax is smaller	Noné	
Real Estate Tax Consequences to City	Modest increase in assessed value	Loss of \$194,300 tax base with tax-exempt agency as owner	Real estate tax base would be multiplied approximately 3 times the present	Real estate tax base would be multiplied approximately 3 1/2 times the present	Real estate tax base would be multiplied approximately 2 1/2 times the present	Loss of approximately \$140,000 of tax base	

EXHIBIT

BIT 6

DEMONSTRATION OF SELECTION OF BEST USE SCENARIO FOR VACANT OFFICE TOWER REQUIRING COMPLETE MECHANICAL RENOVATION

B. Alternative Uses for Fvare Square

A combination of the physical characteristics of the property and the general demand characteristics of the Hilldale area suggest the following alternative scenarios for use of the subject property (Appendix D):

Scenario #1: The building would be remodeled into multi-tenant office space of class A on floors 4 to 14 and class B on floors 1 to 3.

Scenario #2: The building would be modified into residential apartments on floors 4 to 14 and class B office space on floors 1 to 3.

Scenario #3: The building would be modified into residential condominiums on floors 4 to 14 and class B office space on floors 1 to 3.

Scenario #4: The building would be modified into a hotel facility with hotel rooms on floors 4 to 14; a festaurant on floor 3, and seminar and office space on the remainder.

C. Economic Ranking of Alternatives

The alternative uses that might be plausible for the subject property can first be ranked in terms of the general budget parameters inherent in revenues and expenses for each. The best financial alternatives must then be screened for effective demand, political acceptability, and risk. In order to reveal the general range of justified investment on the existing property, the appraiser developed a logic of converting rents to justified investment by determining a market rant for each use and assuming an acceptable cash breakeven point¹ for financial planning and budgeting. This process capitalizes funds available for debt service or clash dividends into amounts of justified investment. This residual approach can be mislanding if there are small errors in the cash-flow forecast, but if estimating bias is consistent when applied to the alternative uses, it does rank the alternatives in terms of their ability to pay for the subject property as is. The logic of this process is provided in Exhibit 15; the cost assumptions and calculations are provided in Appundix D.

I The ratio of cash expenses, real estate taxes, and debt service to potential gross income.

TITLE BASIC LOGIC FOR RANGING ALTERNATIVE PROGRAM SCENARIOS BY JUSTIFIED



A summary of these calculations from the Appendix are provided in Exhibit 16. A preliminary ranking based on a cash-justified investment (Line 3, Exhibit 16), without regard to future reversion value, demonstrates that Scenario 1 is the preferable use of the structure as is.

D. Ranking of Alternatives

In terms of estimating risks, Scenario 1 offers more certainty in regard to construction budget because multi-temant office use is more similar to the previous use. Less extensive remodeling plans imply that fewer problems will arise. In Scenarios 2, 3, and 4, all new plumbing facilities and windows are required for floors 4 to 14. The same improvements simply need refurbishing if the building remains office use. In addition, the market for a high-rise residential or hotel facility is largely untested in the Hilldale area, but office use has been expanding. A change from office use of Pyare Square carries business risks that are difficult to ascertain, and the costs incurred in those risks could be great.

E. Political Compatibility of Alternatives

According to the village administrator of Shorewood Hills, all four of the scenarios would be politically acceptable because the village wants to see improvement of the building. However, Scenarios 2, 3, and 4 require a zoning change that must be approved by the village---an effort that is likely to be more time-consuming than futile.

Although condominiums are a relatively new idea to Shorewood Hills, the community boasts of being a residential suburb, and so a well-conceived plan should pass the board. A hotel use, however, is questionable and would be subject to serious scrutiny because demand is not evident. Office use appears to be most probable in light of the fact that costs are lower, zoning is proper, and demand is evident.

F. Conclusions

Since the estimated residual justified purchase prices of Scenarios 1 and 3 are fairly close, the choice in determining the most probable fitting use relates to the higher costs of converting to residential coupled with the risks involved in tapping an untested market. A prudent investor would seek to stabilize his income by choosing the less speculative scenario. A review of the summary feasibility data in Exhibit 17 supports the conclusion that the most probable use of the subject property in the opinion of the appraiser is Scenario 1.

The most probable use of the subject property would be renovation to a multi-tenant office building. 27

0	en fangeligerigerigerige				
1	Budget Stem	Scenario #1	Scenario /2	Scenario /3	Scenario #4
1.	Cost to construct	(2,509,975)	(2,414,225)	(2,668,140)	(2,569,600)
2.	Justified investment for property as is	2,897,566	1,409,513	2,868,983	(4,662,172)
3.	Total justified investment in subject property as is	387,591	(1,004,712)	200, 843	(7,231,772)

.

•

to a state of the

38 78 18 **1**8 18

•

SUMMARY MATRIX OF FEASIBILITY OF ALTERNATIVE USES

Feasibility Factor	asibility Factor Scenario #1		Scenario /3	Scenario 14	
Justified Investment in subject	387,600	Negative	200,843	Negative	
Remodeling Risks Moderate		Significant	Significant	Serious	
Effective Market Positive		Positive	Questionsble	Soft	
Political acceptability	Strong	Strong	Strong	Hixed	
Financial Risk	Depends on market- ing ability in pro- jecting new image for the building	Depende on desire to live in a high- rise	Depends on desire to own a home in a high-rise	Financial risk is great Hilldale is not a major office center nor a stop for travellers.	

29

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

II. DECISION THEORY AND IMPROVED METHODS FOR THE MARKET COMPARISON APPROACH

There are a number of basic books on decision theory which the appraiser should read to better understand alternative appraisal models available in the age of the micro computer. One such book is <u>The Complete Problem</u> <u>Solver</u>, by John R. Hayes, Franklin Institute Press, Philadelphia, PA, 1981. It is useful to look at the problem of market comparison approaches to value as a decision model in the complex world where a limited number of facts have to be focused on the problem.

- A. Hayes described four general types of decisions which require different decision procedures.
 - 1. Decisions under certainty
 - 2. Decisions under risk
 - 3. Decisions under uncertainty
 - 4. Decisions under conflict
- B. Many appraisal decision systems are modeled under the methods in Exhibit 8. (Page 157)
- C. Hayes distinguishes between risk where we can calculate probability, such as gambling, or uncertainty where there is an element of chance which can't be calculated. Decisions under conflict are like moves in chess or strategy where the outcome must anticipate countermoves by other players in the game. Appraisal pricing decisions are either decisions under certainty or decisions under conflict. Between sharp distinctions for risk and uncertainty, there is a broad area in which we operate under judgmental probability.
- D. A guide for the bewildered decisionmaker can be found by answering the following questions relative to the decision tree in Exhibit 9.

- 1. Is this a decision under certainty?
- 2. Does it involve costly search?
- 3. Is this a decision under conflict?
- 4. Can you estimate the relevant probabilities with reasonable accuracy?
- 5. Does the decision involve catastrophic outcomes?
- E. Appraisal decision theory for economic behavior fits the theory of "bounded rationality" which describes economic decision processes today. A short definition of bounded rationality is included in Exhibit 10.
- F. Market inference is the preferred method of valuation if we can discover a pricing pattern in the random dots of properties and transactions. The search for pattern must also be consistent with appraisal protocol.
 - 1. Valuation directly from a regression formula violates appraisal protocol if the appraiser has not inspected all of the comparables used, because the subject property is compared to a hypothetical mean property from the set of observations, and because the appraiser is not directly responsible for the selection or weights given the attributes selected as the basis of comparison. Moreover, the amount of data points were limited relative to the number of variables which were thought to be relevant so that the risk characteristic of statistical variance were also suspect.
 - 2. Market comparison is set theory using a limited number of subjectively selected properties in a relatively objective comparison on a few factors thought to be highly correlated to prices paid. An additive weighting system is one method for managing the information integration for a market comparison.

- G. One influential method is to develop a pricing algorithm which provides an estimated price for each comparable and then presumes the same algorithm can be applied to the subject property. The steps involved are as follows:
 - Adjust prices for terms of sale and time on comparable properties. Comparable properties would be those bought for renovation, or for the owners own use, etc. You may choose to abstract out land values where size or locational quality is significantly different.
 - 2. Selecting a proper unit of comparison
 - Developing a hierarchy of significant attributes thought to affect price and scoring each property on a point system
 - Developing a weighting system to rank the relative importance of ordinal attribute scores on a cardinal scale
 - 5. Developing a price per weighted point per unit of comparison
 - 6. Testing the price weighting formula for best estimate of the sales price of actual comparables in order to minimize dispersion and variance between actual price and price estimated by formula
 - Application of a price per point formula to the subject property to estimate range of alternative prices
 - Adjustment of predicted price for unique externalities such as land, financing, or nontransferable license
- H. Search for an appropriate unit of comparison as a single variable in a linear regression by trying three or four unit concepts, such as: (See Exhibit 11.)
 - 1. Gross building area
 - 2. Net leasable area
- 3. Cubage
- Two times the first floor area plus gross building area
- 5. Barrels of cranberries rather than acres of cranberries
- 6. Number of bedrooms rather than square feet
- I. Arrive at a price per unit as the first step in establishing a price algorithm
- J. Identify property attributes which distinguish subject properties qualitatively from one another and develop a simple scoring system
 - 1. 5-3-1 is one method, but scores may become multipliers and lead distortion
 - 2. Dilmore prefers:

Rating	<u>Points</u>
Excellent	26
Good	20
Average	15
Fair	13
Poor	10

- K. See selection of examples in Exhibits 11 through 24.
- L. The market comparison approach presumes that the appraiser can match sales price to the real estate interest required and the productivity anticipated by the buyer and the seller or that differences in each transaction can be factored out.
 - Litigation always involves kid stuff arguments involving gross rent multipliers where rents include or exclude utilities, furnishings, and window air conditioners.
 - In recent years cash equivalency adjustments for seller financing have further distorted the growth or adjusted sales price.

- 3. More subtle are the sales prices which are engineered by accountants and lawyers to shift asset values among asset classifications for land, structure, inventory, control of management contracts, accounting periods for related parties for tax purposes, public accounting figures, or balance sheet diplomacy.
- 4. The public is further confused by engineered sales prices to support syndication prospecti of \$90 million on a single office building which was also appraised for \$35 million in the same month for taxes.
- 5. Market comparable sales are suspect when one party names the price if the other names the terms; the appraiser has adapted his style so that the customer names the value and the appraiser gets to define the real estate interests appraised and the limiting conditions which control the relevancy and reality of his report.
- 6. Discounted cash flows defined by proper accounting become a more sensitive and more realistic appraisal tool than the market comparison method.
- M. The traditional normalized net operating income divided by the cap rate should be recognized as a market comparison approach of the income multiplier family. There are imaginary "cap rates" out there, the reciprocals of price earnings ratios, which benchmark prices, but should not be confused with a true income approach.
 - Appraisers must be careful not to confuse thumbnail benchmarks for valuation procedures and never confuse market multipliers with contemporary income simulation methods.
 - 2. There is a danger that appraisers use street talk and conventional wisdom as a market determined rate as in "Phoenix is a 9 percent cap rate town, or "Indianapolis has a net income multiplier of 9-1/2." These are applied without sensitivity to differences among properties or sensitivity to present values.

Reprinted courtesy of the Franklin Institute, Philadelphia, PA-'Under Certainity' added to the title by James A. Graaskamp

EXHIBIT 8

35

DECISION MAKING METHODS UNDER CERTAINTY

Method	Туре	Use this method:	Cost of com- putation re- quired	Number of alternatives examined
Domi- nance	optimizing	for prelimi- nary screen- ing of alter- natives	low	all
Lexicog- raphy	optimizing	when attri- butes are very different in weight	very low	all
Additive Weighting	optimizing	when it is im- portant to find the best alter- native	high	all
Effective- ness Index	optimizing	when it is very impor- tant to get best alterna- tive	very high	all
Satisficing	non-optimizing	when the cost of examining the whole set of alternatives is very high	very low	some

Source: John R. Hayes, <u>The Complete Problem Solver</u>, 1981, The Franklin Institute Press, Philadelphia, PA, p. 157.





Figure 2. A Decision Tree for Choosing a Decision Procedure

Source: John R. Hayes, <u>The Complete Problem Solver</u>, 1981, The Franklin Institute Press, Philadephia, PA, p. 180.

	•	
Space Unit	Correlation	R ²
First floor frontage (frt)	0.745	55.5%
Lot area	0.908	82.4
First floor (1st fl)	0.790	62.4
First floor + Upper floors (upp fl)	0.933	87.0
1st fl + .05 (upp fl)	0.919	84.5
2(1st fl) + upp fl	0.919	84.5
(1st fl) x (frt)	0.784	61.5
[1st f1 + 0.5 (upp f1)] x (frt)	0.864	74.6
[2(1st fl) + upp fl)] x (frt)	0.864	74.6
(1st fl + upp fl) x (frt)	0.874	76.4

CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS AND R² OF SALES PRICE

EXHIBIT 11

•••

EXHIBIT 12

RATGRAM STYLE

(

ĺ

(de la companya de l

WOOLWORTH BUILDING SCALE FOR SCORING COMPARABLES ON IMPORTANT INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS FOR OFFICE - RETAIL SPACE IN MADISON C-4 ZONING

LOCATION 105		5 3 1		High visibility Corner visibility limited Inside lot
EXPANSION POTENTIAL 30%		5 3		Potential for significant increases of floor space Flexible layouts due to bay spacing and elevator
	7.	1 57 57	8	position Inflexibility of layout due to old bearing walls and elevator shafts
CONDITION AT TIME OF PURCHASE 25%		53		Fully renovated and leased Long-term retail leases in place. Serviceable as retail in tired space. Vacant and in need of total rehabilitation. Short-term lease or large vacancy in need of total rehabilitation.
ELEVATORS AT TIME OF PURCHASE 20%		5 2 1	- 2	Two passenger and freight Two passenger One passenger
FENESTRATION ON UPPER 15%	R LEVEL		; = ; =	Large windows facing the Square Limited window area No windows

45

- 3

÷

WOOLWORTH BUILDING

WEIGHTED MATRIX FOR COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

SCORE/WEIGHTED SCORE

ATTRIBUTE	WEIGHT	COMPARABLE NO. 1 30 N. CARROLL WOLFF KUBLY	COMPARABLE NO. 2 14 W. HIFFLIN	COMPARABLE NO. 3 5 & 7 E. HIFFLIN CENTRE SEVEN	COMPARABLE NO. 4 50 E. NIFFLIN EMPORIUM	COMPARABLE NO. 5 2 W. HIFFLIN WOOLMONTH	SUBJECT
LOCATION	101	3/0.30	1/0.10	1/0.10	3/0.30	5/0.50	5/0.50
EXPANSION POTENTIAL AT TIME OF SALE	305	3/0.90	1/0.30	1/0.30	5/1.50	3/0.90	3/0 .90
CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE	255	1/0.25	5/1.25	1/0.25	3/0.75	3/0.75	1/0.25
ELEVATORS In place	205	5/1.00	3/0.60	1/0.20	3/0.60	1/0.20	1/0.20
FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS	15\$	1/0.15	5/0.75	5/0.75	1/0.15	3/0.45	3/0.45
TOTAL MEIGHTED SCORE	1001	2.60	3.00	1.60	3.30	2.80	2.30
ADJUSTED SELLING PRICE	E [1]	\$625,000	\$750,000	\$210,000	\$850,000	\$662,500	
DATE OF SALE		7/17/80	2/27/84	12/31/77	4/30/78	7/31/78	
GROSS BUILDII AREA (GBA)	NG	41,000 SF	40,000 SF	26,000 SF	42,500 SF	39,000 SF	39,000 SF
ADJUSTED PRI	CE/GBA	\$15.24	\$18.75	\$ 9.23	\$20.00	\$16.99	
ADJUSTED PAIO WEIGHTED POLI	CE/GBA/ NT SCORE	\$5.86	\$6.25	\$5.77	\$6.06	\$6.08	

EXHIBIT 13 RATGRAM STYLE

[1] Sr Appendix _ for assumptions and calculations to determine adjuster slling price.

EXHIBLE 14 x.i . # Attributes = 5 WOOLWORTH - RATGRAM STYLE Attribute Nones, Frelim, Weights 1st RUN LOCATION 20 DEPAREION POTENTIAL 20 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 20 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 30 FENELETRATION ON LIFFER PLOOPS 23 Contra de la contra En contra de la contr # of Charvetions = 5 Observ. # 1 UOLFF-KLELY-30 N. CARROLL Frice 15.34 LOCATION 3 • EXPANSION POTENTIAL 3 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 1 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 5 PENESTRATION ON LIPPER FLOORS 1 Observ. # 2 14 9. HIFFLIN Frice 18.75 LOCATION 1 DEANSION POTENTIAL 1 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 5 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 3 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 5 Observ. # 3 CENTRE SEVEN-5 L 7 N. FINCINEY Frice 9.23 LOCATION 1 EPANSION POTENTIAL 1 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 1 ELEVATORS IN FLACE : FENESTRATION ON UPPER PLOOPS 5 Observ. 8 & EPPORIUN-SU E. HIPPLIN Price 20 LOCATION 3 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 5 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 3 ELEVATORE IN FLACE 3 FENESTRATION ON UPPER PLOOPS 1 Observ. 8 5 LOCLUCTI-2 U. MIFTLIN Price 16.99 LOCATION 5 EPANEION POTENTIAL 3 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 3 ELEVATORS IN FLACE 1 FENESTRATION ON LETTER FLOORE 3 The Masr x1 20 20 10 10 30 3 20 10 10 10 15 25 15 15 15 15 2 R 25 23 25 T 30 30 2 Median . 5.861538 Meen = 5.913663 Standard Deviation = .5637666 Geightst LOCATION - 33 DEANEION POTENTIAL • 20 CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL = 20 ELEVATORS IN PLACE = 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FL = 20 ,# Final Results: • 3125 • 381 Median - 6.040404 - 4.00175 Mean Standard Deviation = .1873479 Lie : ghts : LOCATION = 10 EPANSION POTENTIAL 30 . CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL + 25 ELEVATORS IN PLACE • 20 PENESTRATION ON UPPER FL = 15

(:...

Attributes # 5

Attribute Names, Preise, Leights LOCATION 20 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 23 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 20 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 20 T of Observations = 5

Observ. # 1 UCLFF-KLELY-30 N. CARROLL Frice 15.24 LOCATION 3 EDPANEION POTENTIAL CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 1 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 5 FENESTRAFION ON UPPER FLOORS 1 Observ. # 2 14 U. MIFFLIN Frice 18.75 CATION 1 EXPANSION POTENTIAL CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE S ELEVATORS IN PLACE 3 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 5 Observ. # 3 CENTRE SEVEN-5 & 7 N. FINONEY Price 9.23 LOCATION 1 EXPANSION POTENTIAL CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 1 ELEVATORS IN PLACE FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 5 Observ. # 4 EMPORIUM-50 E. MIFFLIN Frice 20 LOCATION 3 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 5 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 3 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 3 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 1 Observ. 8 5 400 LORTH-2 4. HIFFLIN Price 16.77 LOCATION 5 ECANSION POTENTIAL 3 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 3 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 1 PENESTRATION ON OFFER PLOURS 3 The Matrix! 20 15 10 30 25 15 10 5 20 6 23 15 10 5 20 25 30 15 35 30 20 10 25 35 20

Median = 6.060606 Mean = 6.00175 Standard Deviation = ,1873479

.

Usights: LOCATION = 10 EDFANSION POTENTIAL = 30 CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL = 25 ELEVATORS IN PLACE = 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FL = 15

Finel Results: Number of Combinations = 3125 Number of Combinations Adding to 100% = 381

was The spiller and the

- 6.040636 Median . 6.00175 Mean Standerd Deviation = .1873477 Weightsi LOCATION 10 -EPANSION POTENTIAL . 30 CONDITION AT THE OF SAL = 25 ELEVATORS IN PLACE - 20 FENERATION ON LARGE FL . 15

EXHIBIT 14 (Continued)

WOOLWORTH - RATGRAM STYLE 2nd RUN

EXHIBIT 15

WOOLWORTH - RATGRAM STYLE

22 27

CALCULATION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD

COMPARABLE PROPERTY	SELLING PRICE PER SF OF GBA	POINT SCORE	PRICE PER SF OF GBA/ TOTAL WEIGHTED SCORE (X)
1	\$15.24	2.60	\$5.86
2	18.75	3.00	6.25
3	9.23	1.60	5.77
4	20.00	3.30	6.06
5	16.99	2.80	6.08
		TOTAL	\$30.02

7

Total of <u>Price Per SF of GBA</u> = \$30.02 Total Weighted Score

Mean Value $(\bar{x}) = 30.02/5 = 6.00

(

(``

Standard Deviation =				$\int \frac{\mathbf{Z}(\mathbf{x})}{\mathbf{n}}$	$\frac{\mathbf{x}}{\mathbf{x}}$ =	\$0.1	9 where:
x		X		<u>(x-x)</u>	<u>(x-x</u>) ²	n j	<u>n-1</u>
\$5.8 6.2 5.7 6.0 6.0	5 - 5 - 7 - 6 -	\$6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00		-\$0.14 0.25 - 0.23 0.06 0.08	0.0196 0.0625 0.0529 0.0036 <u>0.0064</u> 0.1450	5	4

$$\begin{array}{c} 0.1450 \\ 4 \end{array} = \begin{array}{c} 0.03625 \\ 4 \end{array} = 0.190394 \text{ or } \$0.19 \end{array}$$

Value Range	of Price/Point S	Score: \$6.	00 <u>+</u> \$0.19	
Since GBA of point score	subject is 39,0 of subject is 2.	000 square .3, then:	feet and tot	al weighted
High Estimate:	\$6.19 x 2.3 x 39 (\$14.23/SF)	9,000 SF =	\$555,243 or	\$560,000
Central Tendency:	\$6.00 x 2.3 x 39 (\$13.80/SF)	9,000 SF =	\$538,200 or	\$540, 000
Low Estimate:	\$5.81 x 2.3 x 3 (\$13.36/SF)	9,000 SF =	\$521,159 or	\$520, 000

.

če. 50

	JUSTIFICATION OF COMPARABLE PRICE FORMULA FOR								
	MOCL WORTH BUILDING								
87	HEARS OF ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF ACTUAL SALE PRICE VS. PREDICTED	MICE							
	OF COMPARABLES USING HEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION HETHOD								

ie e

#==## NO.	COMPARABLE PROPERTY	WEIGHTED POINT SCORE	HEAN PRICE PER POINT SCORE	PREDICTED PRICE/ SF GBA	ACTUAL PRICE/ SF GBA	VARIANCE	\$ OF VARIANCE TO ACTUAL PRICE
1	WOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Cerroll Street	2.60	\$6.00	\$15.60	\$15.24	\$ 0.36	2.45
2	14 W. Mifflin Street	3.00	6.00	18,00	18.75	- 0.75	4.0
3	CENTRE SEVIN 5 & 7 N. Pinoimey Street	1.60	6.00	9.60	9.23	0.37	4.0
4	ENPORTUM 50 E. Mifflin Street	3.30	6.00	19 .8 0	20.00	- 0.20	1.0
5	WOOLMORTH 2 V. Hifflin Street	2.80	6.00	16.80	16 .99	<u> </u>	1.1
	•				NET VARIANCE	\$ - 0.41	;

EXHIBIT 16 MATGMM STYLE

 $\sum_{i=1}^{n}$

21

EXHIBIT 17

WOOLWORTH BUILDING SCALE FOR SCORING COMPARABLES ON IMPORTANT INVESTOR CONSIDERATIONS FOR OFFICE - RETAIL SPACE IN MADISON C-4 ZONING DILMORE STYLE								
LOCATION 15%	26 = High visibility 15 = Corner visibility limited 10 = Inside lot							
EXPANSION POTENTIAL 30%	<pre>26 = Potential for significant increases of floor space 15 = Flexible layouts due to bay spacing and elevator position 10 = Inflexibility of layout due to old bearing walls and elevator shafts</pre>							
CONDITION AT TIME OF PURCHASE 40%	<pre>26 = Fully renovated and leased 15 = Long-term retail leases in place. Serviceable as retail in tired space. 10 = Vacant and in need of total rehabilitation. Short-term lease or large vacancy in need of total rehabilitation.</pre>							
ELEVATORS AT TIME OF PURCHASE 15\$	26 = Two passenger and freight 15 = Two passenger 10 = One passenger							

NOCLIDETH BUTLDING

WEIGHTED NATRIX FOR COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

SCORE/MERCHTED SCORE

DILHORE STYLE

ATTRIBUTE	WEIGHT	COMPARABLE NO 30 N. CARROLL WOLFF KUBLY	. 1	COMPARABLE NO 14 W, MIFFLIN). 2	COMPARABLE NO. 5 & 7 E. MIFFLI CENTRE SEVEN	3 IN	COMPARABLE IN 50 E. HIFFLIS ENPORISH) . 4	COMPANANLE NO. 5 2 W. HIFFLIN WOOLNORTH	SUBJECT
LOCATION	155	15/2.25		10/1.50		10/1.50		15/2.25		26/3.90	26/3.90
EXPANSION POTENTIAL AT TIME OF SALE	306	15/4.50		10/3.00		10/3.00		26/7.80		15/4.50	15/4.50
CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE	405	10/4.00		26/10.40		10/4.00		15/6.00		15/6.00	10/4.00
ELEVATORS IN PLACE	155	26/3.90		15/2.25		10/1.50		15/2.25		10/1.50	10/1.50
TOTAL WEIGHTED SCORE	1006	14.65		17.15		10.00		18.30		15.90	13.90
ADJUSTED SELLING PRIC	z (1)	\$625,000		\$750,000		\$240,000		\$850,000		\$662,500	
DATE OF SALE	6	7/17/80		2/2 1/M		12/31/77		4/30/78		7/31/78	
GROSS BUILDI AREA (GBA)	[HG	` 41 ,00 0	3 F	40,000	æ	26,000	SF.	42,500	SF	39,000 SF	39,000 SF
	ICE/GBA	\$15.24		\$18.75		\$ 9.23		\$20.00		\$16.99	
ADJUSTED PIL NEIGHTED PO	ICE/GINA + LINT SCORE	\$1.04		\$1.09		\$0.92		\$1.09		\$1.07	

[1] See Appendix _ for assumptions and calculations to determine adjusted selling price.

•

Attributes = 5

Attribute Names, Preim, Despits LOCATION 20 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 20 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 20 ELEVATOPS IN PLACE 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 20

of Observations = 5

Observ. # 1 LOLFE-KLELY Price 15.24 LOCATION 15 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 15 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 10 CONSTICUTION AT TIME OF SALE 10 ELEVATORS IN ALACE 26 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 10 Observ. 8 2 14 UT MIFFLIN Price 18.75 LOCATION 10 EDRANSION POTENTIAL 15 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 25 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 15 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 26 Observ. # 3 CENTRE SEVEN Price 9.23 CATION 10 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 10 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 10 ELEVATORS IN FLACE 1G FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 24 Observ. # 4 EPORILM Price ZD LOCATION 15 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 26 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 15 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 15 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 10 Observ. 8 5 WOOLWORTH Price 16.99 LOCATION 26 EPANSION POTENTIAL 15 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 15 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 10 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 15 The Matrix!

20	23	20	20	20
10	10	10	10	10
:5	15	15	15	15
25	3	25	25	25
30	30	30	30	30

• • • -

Median = 1.048765 Mean = 1.012557 Standard Deviation = .1756356

Weights: LOCATION = 20 EXPANSION POTENTIAL = 20 CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL = 20 ELEVATORS IN PLACE = 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FL = 20

_

Final Results: Number of Combinations = 3125 Number of Combinations Adding to 100% = 361

.

Median = 1.060553 Mean = 1.024281 Standard Deviation = .1314307 Usights: LOCATION = 15 EXAMSION POTENTIAL = 30 CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL = 30 ELEVATORS IN PLACE = 15 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FL = 10

WOOLWORTH - DILMORE STYLE 1st RUN

ŧ

**** WOOLWORTH-DILMORE STYLE ****

Attributes = 5

(

(.

EXHIBIT 19 (Continued)

WOOLWORTH - DILMORE STYLE 2nd RUN

an an an tha an thair an a

. . . .

Enter

.

۰.

HTEORICE

Attribute Names, Prelin, Weights LOCATION 20 EXPANSION POTENTIAL 20 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 20 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 20 FENESTRATION ON UPPER PLOORS 20 # at Observations = 5 Observ. # : UCLFF-KLELY Price 15.26 LOCATION 15 DEANSION POTENTIAL 15 CONDITION AT THE OF SALE 10 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 24 FENESTRATION ON LIFFER FLOORS 10 Observ. 8 2 14 U. MIFFLIN Frice 18.75 LOCATION 10 ECHANSION POTENTIAL 10 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 26 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 15 FENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORS 24

Observ. # 3 CENTRE SEVEN Frice 9.23 OCATION 10 EPANEION POTENTIAL 10 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 10 ELEVATORS IN PLACE 10 PENESTRATION ON UPPER FLOORE 24 Observ. # 4 EPORILM Price 20 LOCATION 15 EPANEION POTENTIAL 26 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 15

ELEVATORS IN PLACE 15 FENESTRATION ON LIPPER FLOORS 10 Observ. 5 5 LOCLUORTH Price 16.77 LOCATION 26 EPANGION POTENTIAL 15 CONDITION AT TIME OF SALE 15 . ELEVATORS IN PLACE 10 PENESTRATION ON UPPER PLOOPS 15 The Matrix:

15 30 30 15 10 **5** 20 20 5 0 10 25 25 10 5 15 B 23 8 20 20 - 15 2 40 40 3 20

Nedian	-	1.046553
Mean	•	1.004281
Standard Deviation		.1314337

Upights: LOCATION - 15 DPANEION POTENTIAL . 30 CONDITION AT TIME OF SAL = 30 ELEVATORS IN PLACE = 15 FENESTRATION ON LIFTER FL = 10

Final Results: Number of Combinations 3125 Number of Compinations Adding to 100% = 381

Median Mean		• 1. • 1.	048653
Standard Devi	etion e	7	284803E-33
Weights:			
LOCATION			:5
DPANSION POTE	NTIAL		30
CONDITION AT T	ITE OF S	N. a	40
E.E.4" (90 1) :			· E

EXHIBIT 20

WOOLWORTH BUILDING CALCULATION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD DILMORE STYLE

•

-

	=======================================	==================	PRICE PER SE	F OF GBA/
COMPARABLE PROPERTY	SELLING PRICE PER SF OF GBA	POINT Score	TOTAL WE SCORE	EIGHTED (x)
1	\$15.24	14.65	\$1.0)4
2	18.75	17.15	1.0	09
3	9.23	10.00	0.9	92
4	20.00	18.30	1.(09
5	16.99	15.90	_1_1	27
		TOTAL	\$5.3	21
Total of <u>Pr</u> Tot	<u>ice Per SF of GB</u> al Weighted Scor	A = \$5.21 e		
Mean Value ($(\bar{x}) = \$5.21 + 5$	= \$1.04		
Standard Dev	viation of the Me	ean = 🚺	$\frac{2}{(x-x)^2} =$	\$0.07 where:
		Υ.	n-1	
	x x	<u>(x=x)</u>	(x=x)_2	n n-1
*	\$1.04 - \$1.04 1.09 - 1.04 0.92 - 1.04 1.09 - 1.04 1.07 - 1.04	= \$0.00 = 0.05 = - 0.12 = 0.05 = 0.03	0.0000 0.0025 0.0144 0.0025 <u>0.0009</u> 0.0203	5 4
<u>0.0203</u> 4	= 0.005075	= 0.071239	or \$0.07	

· · · · · ·

(...

(

.

Value Rang	ge of Price/Point	Score: \$	1.04 ± \$0.07	
Since GBA point scor	of subject is 39 re of subject is	,000 šquar 13.90, the	e feet and tota n:	l weighted
High Estimate:	\$1.11 x 13.90 x (\$15.43/SF)	39,000 SF	= \$601,731 or	\$600,000
Central Tendency:	\$1.04 x 13.90 x (\$14.46/SF)	39,000 SF	= \$563,784 or	\$ 560,000
Low Estimate:	\$0.97 x 13.90 x (\$13.48/SF)	39,000 SF	= \$525,837 or	\$530,000
	•	•		
	COMPARISON OF WO RA AND WOOLWO	DOLWORTH D Igram Styl RTH - DILM	EMONSTRATION - E Ore style	
	RATG RAM	STYLE	DILMORE STYLE	S VARIANCE RATGRAM TO DILMORE

Estimated Value Central Tendency \$540,000 \$560,000 3.7%

> sille. Na seta

JUSTIFICATEON OF COMPARABLE PRICE FORMULA FOR MOOLNORTH BUILDING BY MEANS OF ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF ACTUAL SALE PRICE VS. PREDICTED PRICE OF COMPARABLES USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD DILNORE STYLE

COMPARABLE PROPERTY	NEIGHTED POINT SCORE	MEAN PRICE PER POINT SCORE	PREDICTED PRICE/	ACTUAL PRICE/		1 OF VARIANCE
		FUTHI SCORE	SF GBA	SF GBA	VARIANCE	TO ACTUAL PRICE
MOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street	14.65	\$1.04	\$15.24	\$15.24	\$ 0.00	0.01
14 W. Hifflin Street	17.15	1.04	17.84	18.75	- 0.91	4.9
CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinckney Street	10.00	1.04	10.40	9.23	1.17	12.7
ENPORTUN 50 E. Mifflin Street	18.30	1.04	19.03	20.00	- 0.97	4.9
WOOLMORTH 2 W. Mifflin Street	15.90	1.04	16.54	16.99 NET VARIANCE	_ <u>0.45</u> \$ - 1.16	2.6
	WOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street 14 W. Hifflin Street CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinckney Street EMPORIUM 50 E. Mifflin Street WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street	WOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street 14.65 14 W. Hifflin Street 17.15 CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinckney Street 10.00 EMPORTUM 50 E. Mifflin Street 18.30 WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street 15.90	MOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street14.65\$1.0414 W. Hifflin Street17.151.04CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinokney Street10.001.04EMPORTUM 50 E. Mifflin Street18.301.04WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street15.901.04	MOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street 14.65 \$1.04 \$15.24 14 W. Hifflin Street 17.15 1.04 17.84 CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinokney Street 10.00 1.04 10.40 EMPORTUM 50 E. Mifflin Street 18.30 1.04 19.03 WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street 15.90 1.04 16.54	MOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street 14.65 \$1.04 \$15.24 \$15.24 14 W. Hifflin Street 17.15 1.04 17.84 18.75 CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinokney Street 10.00 1.04 10.40 9.23 EMPORTUM 50 E. Mifflin Street 18.30 1.04 19.03 20.00 WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street 15.90 1.04 16.54 16.99 NET VARIANCE 15.90 1.04 16.54 16.99	MOLFF RUBLY 30 N. Carroll Street 14.65 \$1.04 \$15.24 \$15.24 \$ 0.00 14 W. Hifflin Street 17.15 1.04 17.84 18.75 - 0.91 CENTRE SEVEN 5 & 7 N. Pinokney Street 10.00 1.04 10.40 9.23 1.17 EMPORIUM 50 E. Mifflin Street 18.30 1.04 19.03 20.00 - 0.97 WOOLMORTH 2 W. Hifflin Street 15.90 1.04 16.54 16.99

EXHIBIT 22

1.1

\$

5 = Corner lot with high visibility on Location major traffic artery 15% 3 = Inside lot with low visibility on major traffic artery 1 = Inside lot with low visibility on secondary street 5 = Strong identification with Square Investor Perception of (within 1 block) or established Neighborhood Image commercial or residential area 15% 3 = Neutral investor attitude 1 = General identification with deteriorated neighborhood 5 = Fire-resistant construction, well Structural Condition maintained, operational. of Improvements 1:: marketable 25% 3 = Ordinary mill construction (brick bearing walls-wood beams), poorly maintained, needs mechanical work 1 = Boarded up and/or partially damaged or vandalized 5 = Dominant commercial/retail reuse Reuse Potential potential with anticipation of 30% Landmark designation with 1981 tax laws applied 4 = Dominant commercial/retail reuse potential with anticipation of Landmark designation prior to 1981 tax law 3 = Residential reuse potential with 1981 tax laws applied 2 = Residential reuse potential prior to 1981 tax law At constraining on 1 = Warehouse 0 = Improvements demolished leaving land only

SCALE FOR SCORING COMPARABLE SALE ATTRIBUTES

58 b

22**.**

2. 1. 1. 1

Bargaining Position of Seller 15%

- 5 = Income adequate to carry property or seller with strong asset position
- 3 = Little or no steady income but seller not known to be under financial pressures
- 1 = Building owner known to have financial pressures or multiple liens on property

WEIGHTED MATRIX FOR COMPARABLE PROPERTIES

.

		Rating/Weighted Rating							
	WEIGHT	f1 Frautschi 215-219 King	#2 Sutherland Eleg. 323 E. Wilson	f3 Fess Hotel 123 E. Doty	ØN Hiller Horne <u>714 Hilliamaon</u>	€5 Miller Horne 722 Williamaon	#6 Atrium 25 M. Pinckney	97 Old Sorority <u>10 Langdon</u>	Cardinal Hotel
Location	15%	3/ .45	5/ .75	5/ .75	3/ .45	3/ •45	1/ .15	3/ .45	5/ .75
Investor Perception of Neighborhood Image	15\$	3/ .45	3/ .45	5/ •75	1/ .15	1/ .15	5/ .75	5/ .75	1/ .15
Structural Condition of Improvements at Time of Sale	25\$	3/ .75	5/1.25	1/ .25	5/1.25	5/1.25	3/ .75	1/ .25	1/ .25
Reuse Potential	30\$	4/1.2	1/ .30	4/1.2	2/ .60	4/1.2	4/1.2	4/1.2	5/1.5
Margaining Position of Seller	15\$	5/75	3/	1/15	3/45	1/15	1/15	1/15	3/45
Total Point Score		3.6	3.2	3.1	2.9	3.2	3.0	2.8	3.1

.

	¢1 Frautschi 215-219 King	#2 Sutherland Elec. 323 E. Vilson	#3 Fess Hotel 123 <u>S. Doty</u>	ؤم Hiller Horne 714 Williemson	<i>45</i> Miller Horne 722 Villianson	<i>4</i> 6 Atrium <u>25 N. Pinokney</u>	97 Old Sorority <u>10 Langdon</u>
Nominal Sale Price	\$320,000	\$165,000	\$120,000	\$148,000	\$300,000	\$150,000	\$91,000
Date of Sale	November 1978	July 1979	January 1975	January 1979	November 1981	April 1977	July 1981
Terms of Sale	Land contract \$50,000 - down 270,000 - 2 yrs 105 Year 1 65 Year 2	Cash to seller	Land contract	Land contract \$23,000 down 125,000 @ 9 3/4\$ - 5 years	Land contract	\$100,000 cash 50,000 seller 2nd subordinated to construction loan	Cash to seller
Adjustment for:							•
Terms of Sale	Discount 10\$	No adjustment	55 Finder's fee for \$320,000 construction loss	Reduce to \$140,000	Discount 20\$ for creative financing	Discount 2nd-205	None
Time of Sale (5\$/year from 1/1/79 on)	Appreciate 17.5\$	Appresiate 15\$	Appreciate 17.5\$	Appreciate 17.5%	Appreciate 2.5\$	Appreciate 17.5\$	Appreciate 5\$
Adjusted Price for Terms and Time	\$338,400	\$189,750	\$121,500	\$164,500	\$246,000	\$164,500	\$95,550
Land Area	21,728 SF	8,221 # F	8,712 SF	8,712 55	17,424 SF	8,712 SF	6,720 SF
Adjustment for Land Area Differences 6 \$5.00/SF	(\$108,640)	(\$41,105)	(\$43,560)	(\$43,560)	(\$87,120)	(\$43,560)	(\$33,600)
Adjusted Price Less Allowance for Land Value	\$229 ₁ 760	\$148,645	\$77,940	\$120,940	\$158 ,88 0	\$120,940	\$61,950
Gross Building Area (GBA) (Square Feet)	21,000 SF	17,790 SP	9,330 SF	28,000 SF	30,000 SF	16,060 SP	10,500 SF
Adjusted Price par Square Poot of GBA	\$10.94/55 of aba	\$8,36/SF of GBA	\$8.35/3F of GBA	\$4.32/SF of GBA	\$5.30/SF of GBA	\$7.53/SF of GBA	\$5.90/SP of QBA
Total Point Score	3.6	3.2	3.1	2.9	3.2	3.0	2.8
Price per Square Foot/Point Score	\$3.04	\$2.61	\$2.69	\$1.49	\$1.66	\$2.51	\$2.11

,

•

· •

•

Comparable Property	Adjusted Selling Pri per SF of (Weighted Lee Point GBA Score	<u>Price per SF</u> Weighted Point Score	(x)
1	\$10.94	3.6	\$3.04	
2	8.36	3.2	2.61	
3	8.35	3.1	2.69	
4	4.32	2.9	1.49	
5	5.30	3.2	1.66	
6	7.53	3.0	2.51	
7	5.90	2.8		
		TC	DTAL \$16.11	
Central Ter	ndency =	$\frac{4 x}{n} = \frac{16.1}{7}$	1 = 2.30	
Dispersion	$= \sqrt{\frac{\pm (x)}{(n)}}$	$\frac{\overline{x}^2}{-1} = \sqrt{-1}$	<u>.9417</u> = .569 6	
where:			_	
x	x	$/(x-\bar{x})/$	$(x-\overline{x})^2$ n n-1	
3.04 2.61 2.69 1.49 1.66 2.51 2.11	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	= .74 = .31 = .39 = .81 = .64 = .21 = .21 = .19 $\pounds(x-x)^2 =$	-5476 7 6 .0961 .1521 .6561 .4096 .0441 <u>.0361</u> 1.9417	

CALCULATION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD

Value range: $x \pm dispersion = 2.30 \pm .57$ <u>Gross</u> Weighted <u>Building</u> x Point x (Central Tendency \pm Dispersion) = <u>Area</u> Score 17,900 SF x 3.1 x (2.30 $\pm .57$) = High Estimate of \$159,256 or \$160,000 Central Tendency of \$127,627 or \$130,000 Low Estimate of \$95,998 or \$100,000

All value estimates are rounded

EXHIBIT 23

. . .

(

(

•.

. ,

۲.

COMPUTER OUTPUT OF DILMORE QUANTITATIVE

POINT WEIGHTING PROGRAM

AND

COMPUTERIZATION OF

ALL OF THE MARKET COMPARISON

CALCULATIONS

1. Childe

**** GOODWILL 3 **** * Attributes = 5 Attribute Names, Prelim. Weights - Preliminary weights selected GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 20 by the appraisers LOCATION 20 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 20 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 20 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 20 # of Observations = 6 -----Comparable sales with score for each comparable Observ. # 1 1115 O'NEILL ST Price 14.46 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 5 LOCATION 1 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 3 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 3 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 5 Observ. # 2 2810 BRYANT ST Price 10.73 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 3 LOCATION 3 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 1 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 1 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 3 Observ. # 3 901 WATSON AVE Price 10.81 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 1 LOCATION 5 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 1 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 1 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 3 Observ. # 4 4401 COTTAGE GROVE RD Price 15.21 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 3 LOCATION 5 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 5 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 5 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 1 Observ. # 5 4610-22 FERMITE RD Price 17.4 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 5 LOCATION 3 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 3 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 5 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 5 Observ. # 6 3103 WATFORD WAY Price 14.94 GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) 5 LOCATION 5 RATIO OF LAND TO GEA 1 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN FOR STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 3 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM 1 The Matrix: Test matrix to select optimal 20 20 20 20 20 combination of weights 10 10 10 10 10 15 15 15 15 15 **2**5 25 25 25 25 30 30 30 30 30

(



٠

14112 6.6.

COMPUTERIZATION OF ALL MARKET COMPARISON CALCULATIONS

-	
- 	 Program Choices Are:
	1 Energiadia / display/file input data
	7 Analyze mulity print ratings
<u>.</u>	7 Display dutout to screen
<u></u>	- A Print output to printer
• • ·	5. Select options
<u>. </u>	6. Quit
	Enter your chaice: ? 1
2 _	- Load/edit file options - Current disk file: None
<u></u>	1. Create new data file
<u></u>	- 2: Load existing disk file for editing
17	3. Display current data
	4. Edit current data
• · · · · · · · ·	5. Seve current data to disk file
	6. Clear (erase) all current data
-	7. Quit load/edit options, return to main program
	Enter selection number:
-	Enter selection number: 1
	Enter new data
•	Enter heading for output: INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE
	Enter number of attributes:? 5
	Enter name for attribute: 1 ? GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) Preliminary weight: 1 ? 20
	Foter name for attribute: 2 ? LOCATION
	Preliminary weight: 2 ? 20
	Enter name for attribute: 3 ? RATIO OF LAND TO GEA
	Preliminary weight: 3 ? 20
<u> </u>	Enter name for attribute: 4 ? EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN -
	Preliminary weight: 4 ? 20
	Enter name for attribute: 5 ? GLALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM
	Weight for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM is 20, so that total of weights is 100

97114

(

- Enter number of observations:? 6 Do you want to <1> Enter a unit price or (2) Enter a total price & size Enter your choice: ? 1 Observation number 1 : ----- Enter-name 1-? 1115 O'NEILL ST. Enter price 1 ? 14.46 Score for LOCATION? 1 Score for RATIO OF LAND TO GBA? 3 --- Score for EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 3 Scare for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 5 ---- Observation number 2 : Enter name 2 ? 2810 BRYANT ST. Enter price 2 ? 10.73 Score for GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA)? 3 Score for LOCATION? 3 Scare for RATIO OF LAND TO GBA? 1 Scare for EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 1 Score for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 3 Observation number 3 : Enter name 3 ? Score for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 3 Observation number 3 + Enter name 3 ? 910 WATSON AVE. Enter price 3 ? 10.81 Scare for GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA)? 1 Score for LOCATION? 5 Scare for RATIO OF LAND TO GBA? 1 Score for EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 1 Score for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 3 Observation number 4 : Enter name 4 ? 4401 COTTAGE GROVE RD. Enter price 4 ? 15.21 Score for GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA)? 3 Scare for LOCATION? 5 Score for RATIO OF LAND TO GBA? 5 --- Scare for EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 5 Score for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 1

Observation number 5 : Enter name 5 ?

Score for QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 1

 Observation number 5 :

 Image: Second for gross Buildoing AREA (GBA)? 5

 Image: Second for GLALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 5

 Image: Second for GROSS Buildoing AREA (GBA)? 5

 Image: Second for GLALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 5

 Image: Second for GLALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 5

 Im

- ---- Enter price 6 ? 14.94 -Score for GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA)? 5 ---- Score for LOCATION? 5 Score for RATIO OF LAND TO GBA? 1 - Score for EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 3 Score for GUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM? 1

Enter subject property name:? INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE

Enter the name of the designated unit of comparison (acre, square foot, etc.) ? SQLARE FOOT

Enter number of units of comparison for subject (acres, square feet, etc.) ? 30195

Enter attribute scores for subject property GROSS BUILDING AREA (GBA) ? 3 LOCATION ? 3 RATHO OF LAND TO GBA ? 1 EFFICIENCY OF BUILDING DESIGN? 1 QUALITY OF HVAC SYSTEM ? 5

.

(

(

(

										- · ·
		Load/edit fi	ie or	tians	Cur -	rent d	lisk fil	e: None		
		-1. Erecte na 2. Load exis 3. Display c 4. Edit curr 5. Save curr 6. Clear (er -7. Guit Hoec	w dat iting currer ent c ent c ase) i/edit	te file disk f nt data jata jata to all cu t optic	ile fr disk urrent	file data sturn 1	ing comein	program	-	
		Enter select	ian r	number	5					
		Enter name f	or di	nta fil	e:? 5	MPLE		- 1 - 1	~	
		Load/edit fi	ie op	stions	Cui	rrent d	disk fil	e: SAMPLE		
		1. Create no -2. Load exis 3. Display c 4. Edit curr 5. Save curr	w dat iting urren ent o	ta file disk f nt data data data to	r File fi D disk	or edit	ting.		<u></u> .	
	1 <u>1</u>	6. Clear (er 7. Quit load	ase) i/edit	all cu t optic	urrent Ins; r	data eturn 1	to main	program		
		Enter select	ian 1	number	: 3				···	
		Project tit	e: Il	DUSTR	(al wa	REHOUSI	E			
		Unit prices	Se	erch i	nterve	= 5				-
·			GROS	s loca	RATI	O EFFI	C QUALI	Price		-
	 ·	Prei. wts.	20	20	20	20	20	-	•	
		1115 O'NEIL	5	1	3	3	5	\$14.46		
		2810 BRYANT	3	3	1	1	3	\$10.73		
	_	910 WATSON	1	5	1	1	3	\$10.81		
		4401 COTTAG	3	5	5	5	1	\$15.21		
		4610-22 FEM	5	3	3	5	5	\$17.40		
÷		3103 WATFOR	5	5	1	3	1	\$14.94		
		INDUSTRIAL	3	. 3	1	1	5	-		

Press any key to continue

्री सिंह सामन के सेंग्रेज क

• * *	
Version 2.1	· ·
41	
. <u>.</u>	
2 Program Choices Are:	
1. Enter/edit/display/file input da	
Z. Anelyze quality point ratings	
4 Print subset to arister	
	·
6. Quit	
E nter your choice: ? 2	· · · ·
- ·	
-	
	• ·
Paes # 1	Combination # 4
Standard deviation	= .4693161 Mean = 4.497911
••• ·	
Status GROSS LOCAT RATIO EFFIC	ULPLI D.U. Mean 1 //1501 / 579773
Pretime With ZU ZU ZU ZU	0 .441371 4.380223 -
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•
· ·	

:_

-

•



.

···	-								
-		Weighted Matrix							
	Feature/ Attribute	GROSS BU	LOCATION	RATIO OF	EFFICIEN	GLALITY	Wtd. Score		
	Initial weights Final	20	20	20	20	0	190		
• ·	weights	30	30	10	10	20	100		
	1115 O'NEILL S 2810 BRYANT ST 910 WATSON AVE 4401 COTTAGE G 4610-22 FEMRIT 3103 WATFORD W INDUSTRIAL WAR	5/ 1.50 3/ 0.90 1/ 0.30 3/ 0.90 5/ 1.50 5/ 1.50 3/ 0.90	1/ 0.30 3/ 0.90 5/ 1.50 5/ 1.50 3/ 0.90 5/ 1.50 3/ 0.90	3/ 0.30 1/ 0.10 1/ 0.10 5/ 0.50 3/ 0.30 1/ 0.10 1/ 0.10	3/ 0.30 1/ 0.10 1/ 0.10 5/ 0.50 5/ 0.50 3/ 0.30 1/ 0.10	5/ 1.00 3/ 0.40 3/ 0.40 1/ 0.20 5/ 1.00 1/ 0.20 5/ 1.00	3.40 2.40 3.40 4.20 3.60 3.60 3.60		

hill Court

Press any key to continue

•

74

• -

. ..

The she the second

Display Output to Screen

Select output to be displayed:

-1. Weighted metrix for properties . . . 2. Value range determination: mean price per point method 3. Value range per unit of dispersion - 4 .- Transaction zone: mean price per point method 5. Transaction zone: linear regression method 6. Mean price per point method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables ŧ -7. Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables . 8. Input data -9. Computation matrix ÷ · ···- kReturn> to quit ----(and 3) Enter your choice: 2 - - ----

Value Range Determination: Mean Price Per Point Method

Mean price per point:\$4.18Dispersion About the Mean:\$0.05Coefficient of Dispersion:0.0121

Value Range Per Unit of Dispersion

·	Subject Paint Score	•	Mean (+/- One Standard Deviation)	Price Per Unit
Low Estimate	3.00	X	\$4.13 =	\$12.38
Central Tendency	3.00	X	\$4.18 =	\$12.53
High Estimate	3.00	x	\$4.23 =	\$12.68

Press any key to continue

(

 $(\cdot \cdot)$
Display Output to Screen

Select output to be displayed:

1. Weighted matrix for properties

2. Value range determination: mean price per point method

3. Value range per unit of dispersion ...

4. Transaction zone: mean price per point method

5. Transaction zone: linear regression method

6. Mean price-per point method: predicted vs. actual price for-comparables - -7. Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables

----8. Input data

. .

,-

_

...

Ę

1.1.1

- -

Enter-your choice: 4 (and 5) (Return) to quit

-

.

._ . _

Transaction Zone: Mean Price Per Point Method

Number of units in subject property: 30195

low Estimate	\$373,679	Or	\$374,000
Central Tendency	\$378,274	ar	\$378,000
High Estimate	\$382,869	Or	\$383,000

Transaction Zone: Linear Regression Method

Standard Error of the Forecast = .2056632 a =-7.505322E-02 b = 4.200016

Prediction equation: price =

30175 units X [-7.505322E-02 +(4.200016 +/- .2056632) X 3]

Low Estimate	\$357,56Z	or	\$360,000
Central Tendency	\$378,192	ar	\$378,000
High Estimate	\$376,82Z	or	\$397,000

Press any key to continue

(:::

Τ Display Output to Screen |-__: |-__-Select output to be displayed: 2. Value range determination: mean price per point method -3. Value range per unit of dispersion - 4. Transaction zone: mean price per point method -5. Transaction zone: linear regression method 6. Mean price per point method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables --7: Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables • 8. Input data 9. Computation matrix • <Return> to quit Enter your choice: 6 ---Meen Price Per Point Method: Predicted vs. Actual Price for Comparables Predicted Price Actual price Error

L115 O'NEILL ST.	\$14.20	\$14.46	-\$0.26
2810 BRYANT ST.	\$10.86	\$10.73	\$0.13
710 WATSON AVE.	\$10.86	\$10.81	\$0.05
401 COTTAGE GROVE	\$15.03	\$15.21	-\$0.18
4610-22 FEMRITE RD	\$17.54	\$17.40	S 0.14
3103 WATFORD WAY	\$15.03	\$14.94	\$0.07

Ξr

Press any key to continue

 :	
_	
: 	Display Output-to Screen
	Select output to be displayed:
•	1. Weighted matrix for properties
·	2. Value range determination: mean price per point method
:	
	4. Transaction zone: mean price per point method
-	5. Transaction zone: linear regression method
-	
-	7. Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables
-	8. Input data
2	_ 9. Computation matrix
-	<return> to quit</return>
<u>.</u>	Enter your chaice= 7

14112 4 14

.

•

.

_

-- .

Linear Regression Method: Predicted vs. Actual Price for Comparables

	Predicted Price	Actual price	Error
1115 O'NEILL ST.	\$14.20	\$14.46	-\$0.26
2810 BRYANT ST.	\$10.84	\$10.73	\$0.11
910 WATSON AVE.	\$10.84	\$10.81	\$0.03
4401 COTTAGE GROVE	\$15.05	\$15.21	-\$0.16
4610-22 FEMRITE RD	\$17.57	\$17.40	- 50.17
3103 WATFORD WAY	\$15.05	\$14.94	\$0.11

Press any key to continue

.

· 我们,你们还要不要能把了,……"

.

.

(

14 1 1 × C H.

(

Display Output to Screen Select output to be displayed: 1. Weighted matrix for properties 2. Value range determination: mean price per point method 3. Value range per unit of dispersion 4. Transaction zone: mean price per point method 5. Transaction zone: linear regression method 6. Mean price per point method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables 7. Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables 8. Input data 9. Computation matrix (Return) to quit Enter your choice: 8 - -- -Project title: INDLSTRIAL WAREHOUSE <u>-</u> Unit prices Search interval = 5 GROSS LOCAT RATIO EFFIC QUALI Price .* 20 10 10 30 Prél. wts. 30 ÷ 5 \$14.46 3 3 1115 O'NEIL 5 1 \$10.73 З 1 1 2810 BRYANT 3 3 \$10.81 З 1 5 1 910 WATSON 1 \$15.21 5 1 5 5 4401 COTTAG 3 5 \$17.40 3 5 3 4610-22 FEM 5 \$14.94 3 1 1 5 3103 WATFOR 5 5 1 3 1 INDUSTRIAL 3 Press any key to continue

_	Display Output to Screen					
· · ·	Select output to be displayed?					
	 Weighted matrix for properties Value range determination: mean price per point method Value range per unit of dispersion Transaction zone: mean price per point method Transaction zone: linear regression method Mean price per point method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables The state of the state					
	<pre><return> to quit Enter your chaice: 9</return></pre>					

Computation Matrix

-

.

7

- .

•.

20	20	20	20	۵
10	10	10	10	10
15	15	15	15	15
25	25	2 5	25	25
30	30	30	30	30

Press any key to continue

.

•

.

(

(

į.

	Display_Output_to Screen
	Select output to be displayed:
 1	1. Weighted matrix for properties
	2. Value range determination: mean price per point method
	3. Value range per unit of dispersion
	4. Transaction zone: mean price per point method
	5. Transaction zone: linear regression method
· -	_ 6. Mean price per point method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables
	7. Linear regression method: predicted vs. actual price for comparables
	8. Input data
	.9. Computation matrix
	(Return) to quit
	Enter your choice: 10

2

, ·

Iterations

- - -	Prelim. Wts. Pass # 1 Pass # 2	GROSS 20 30 30	LOCAT 20 30 30	RATIO 20 10 10	EFFIC 20 10 10	20 20 20 20	S.D. .441591 4 5.067353E- 5.067353E-	M 520 -02 -02	4.175902 4.175902	•··
-	•									
•										
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										
	•								_ ··· _	
: .:	·			Press	any k	ey to a	cont i nue		-	

- 91.

81

.

n na star Na star

à.

QP

Version 2.1

Program Choices Are:

Enter/edit/display/file input data
 Analyze quality point ratings
 Display output to screen
 Print output to printer
 Select options
 Quit
 Enter your choice: 7 5

Special options

Enter your selection:

1. Change search interval

(Return) for no changes
 Enter your choice: ? 5

EXCERPTED FROM APPRAISAL OF INDUSTRIAL SITE

C. <u>Adjustments for Differences to Relate the</u> <u>Comparables to the Subject Property</u>

To estimate the fair market value of the subject property, based upon the sale prices of the comparables, adjustments are made to account for the differences in the price sensitive attributes of the comparables and the subject propery. The comparable properties and the subject property are scored according to the scale detailed in Exhibit 9.

The subject site, which contains 2.5 acres, receives a score of 3 because it is an average sized lot. Since it does not command a more highly visible corner location, a score of 1 is given.

Linkages are extremely sensitive to price. Sites located in major retail areas command higher prices than do warehouses and light manufacturing sites. No retail uses are in sight of the subject so a score of 1 is given. International Lane, a traffic collector, feeds into Packers Avenue, a major arterial, so the subject receives a score of 3. A bus line on Packers Avenue is within two to three blocks of the subject to yield a score of 3. Electricity, telephone, and natural gas lines are available in the general area, but there are no curbs, gutters,

SCALE FCR SCORING COMPARABLE SALES BASED UPON PRICE SENSITIVE ATTRIBUTES

PHYSICAL ATTRIBUTES = 35%

Size 20%	5 = Less than 1 acre 3 = 1 to 4 acres 1 = Greater than 4 acres
Corner Location 15%	5 = Yes 3 = Next to corner on a major road 1 = No
LINKAGES = 50%	
Proximity to Major	5 = Near a shopping center
Retail Area	3 = Near strip retail area
20%	1 = No retail uses in sight
Access to Major	5 = On a major boulevard or highway
Highways	3 = On a traffic collector
15%	1 = On a side street
Availability of	5 = On a bus line
Madison Metro	3 = Within 2-3 blocks of bus line
5%	1 = None
Availability of	5 = Water, sewer, gas, curb,
Utilities	and gutter
10%	3 = Water, sewer, gas

1 = None

EXHIBIT 9 (Continued)

DYNAMIC ATTRIBUTES = 15%

Positive Public Recognition of	5 =	High visibility or recognition of location
Street/Location	3 =	Average .
5%	1 =	Relatively unknown
Perceived Adverse	<u> </u>	None
Influences	3 =	Noise/Odor/Visual Problems
5%	1 =	: Physically threatening
Immediate View	5 =	: Well-landscaped office,
from Property	· .	shops, and residential
Frontage	3 :	: Office/warehouses well-screened
5%	-	and partially landscaped
24	1 :	= Assortment of office/warehouse
		uses with inadequate screening
		and/or poorly maintained or
		vacant

or sidewalks. A score of 3 is given the subject for the availability of utilites.

Dynamic attributes, (the public's perceptions of the property's contribute to value. Since attributes) International Lane is a well-known location with positive public recognition, the subject is given a score of 5. Since the noise from planes landing and taking off could be disruptive, the subject receives a 3. The view from the subject is marred by old barracks converted to offices and buildings that would no longer meet the more warehouse stringent architectural controls now in existence in Truax Air Park West, so the subject receives a score of 1.

Each comparable is scored in a similar manner; the weighted point score matrix which details the calculation of a total point score for both the comparable and the subject is found in Exhibit 10.

The price per square foot for each comparable is divided by its point score and the results are also found in Exhibit 10.

The mean point score per square foot is applied to the point score of the subject to indicate a central tendency value of \$111,000, or \$1.01 per square foot. These calculations are detailed in Exhibit 11.

The range of estimates yields a high of \$123,500, or \$1.13 per square foot and a low of \$98,000, or \$0.90 per square foot.

ETHIEIT 9 (Continued)

WEIGHTED POINT SCORE MATRIX FOR COMFARABLE SALES BASED UPON PRICE SENSITIVE ATTRIBUTES

ATTRIBUTE	WEIGHT	Ø1 1905 ABERG AVENUE	#2 1801 Commercial avenue
Physical Attributes		[1]	
Size of Site	205	3/ .60	1/ .20
Corner Location	15\$	1/ - 15	1/ .15
Linkages			
Proximity to Retail	20\$	3/ .60	1/ .20
Access to Hajor Roads	15\$	5/ .75	3/ .45
Availability of City Bus	5\$	3/ .25	5/ .25
Availability of Utilities	105	5/ .50	5/ .50
Dyramic Attributes			
Public Recognition	55	5/ .25	3/ -15
Perceived Adverse Factors	5\$	3/ .15	5/ .25
Tiew from Site	_51	1/05	12
TOTAL POINT SCORE		3.30	2.20
Sale Price		\$80,000	\$181,150
Date of Sale		1/12	10/80
Land Area (SF)		53,426 (1.23 A) 175,547 (4.03 A)
Price per Square Foot		\$1.50	\$1.03
Total Point Score		3-30	2.20
Price per SF/Point Score		80.45	\$0.47

[1] Explanation of weighted acore: point score/score x weight

.

-

,

EXEIBIT 9 (Continued)

ATTRIBUTE	WEIGHT	Ø3 3520 Packers avenue	#4 814 ATLAS AVENUE (Backs on to Cottage Grove Rd.)	05 LOT 1, BLK. 7, MADISON INDUSTRIAL SUB., 01	#6 2447 ADVANCE (m.k.m. 4701 Pflaum Road)	07 LOT 6, BLK. 3, MADISON INDUSTRIAL SUB., 01
Physical Attributes	<u></u>	[1]				E / 1 00
Size of Site	20\$	5/1.00	3/ .60	3/ .60	3/ .60	371.00
Corner Location	15 \$	5/ .75	1/ .15	1/ .15	5/ .75	1/ .15
Linkages			27 60	1/ .20	1/ .20	1/ .20
Proximity to Retail	20\$	3/ .60	37 .00	1/ .15	3/ .45	1/ .15
Access to Hajor Roads	15\$	3/ .45	5/ •75	1/ .05	1/ .05	1/ .05
Availability of City Bus	5\$	5/ .25	5/ .25	17 .05	57 .50	5/ .50
Availability of Utilities	1 0\$	5/ .50	5/ .50	5/ .50	J. • 76	-
Dynamic Attributan				1/ 05	5/ .25	1/ .05
Public Recognition	5\$	1/ .05	3/ .15	17 103	5/ .25	5/ .25
Perceived Adverse Factors	5\$	3/ 15	5/ .25	5/ .25	37 .15	3/15
View from Site	55	1/05	34	<u>کلم پلا</u>	3 20	2.50
TOTAL FOINT SCORE	1003	3.80	3,40	2.10		
		\$30,000	\$125,000	\$70,000	\$60,000	\$20,900
Jalo Frice		2/79	6/83	9/82	9/82	9/82
Date of Sale			80.613 (1.85 A)) 73,109 (1.68 A)	45,472 (1.04	A) 22,997 (0.53 A)
Land Area (SF)			41.55	\$0 . 96	\$1.32	\$0.91
Price per Square Foot		\$1.55 L <j< td=""><td>2.80</td><td>2,10</td><td>3.20</td><td>2.50</td></j<>	2.80	2,10	3.20	2.50
Total Point Score		3.80	5.40	A0. NG	±0.41	\$0.36
Price per SF/Point Score		\$0.41	\$0. 45	90 . 90		

¥

[1] Explanation of weighted means: point means weight
 [2] This older male is adjusted upward 12 percent for time. (1.12 x \$1.38 = \$1.55)

EXHIBIT 24(Continued)

ATTRIBUTE	WEIGHT	ØB Lot 2, blk. 6. Madison Industrial Sub., Ø1	99 4484 ROBERTSON ROAD MADISON IND. SUB., 81	SUBJECT Lot 2, CSM 928
Physical Attributes		[1]		
Size of Site	20\$	5/1.00	-3/ .60	3/ .60
Corner Location	15\$	1/ .15	1/ .15	1/ .15
Linkagaa			17 20	1/ .20
Proximity to Retail	20\$	1/ .20	17 .20	3/ .45
Access to Hajor Roads	15\$	1/ .15	17 .13	3/ .15
Availability of City Bus	5\$	1/ .05	17 .05	24 20
Availability of Utilities	10\$	5/ .50	5/ .50	3/ .30
Dynamic Attributes				5/ .25
Public Recognition	5\$	1/ .05	17 .05	3/ 15
Perceived Adverse Factors	5\$	5/ .25	5/ .25	37 . 17
View from Site	_55	3/15	3/15	
TOTAL POINT SCORE	1005	2.50	2.10	2.30
	, ,, ,,	\$32,000	\$98,600	N/A
Sale Price		2/82	1/82	N/A
Date of Sale		21 975 (0.57)	98,600 (2.26 A)	109,493 (2.51 A)
Land Area (SF)			\$1.00	M/A
Price per Square Foot		\$1,20	2.10	2.30
Total Point Score		2.50		N/A
Price per SF/Point Score		\$0.51	\$0.40	n/ n

[1] Explanation of weighted score: point score/score x weight

,

.

• ·

· .

68

2.50

2.10

Comparable Property	Adjusted Selling Price per SF	Weighted Point Score	Price_per_SF Weighted Point Score		
1	\$1.50	3.30	\$0.45		
2	1.03	2.20	0.47		
3	1.55	3.80	0.41		
4	1.55	3.40	0.46		
5	0.96	2.10	0.46		
6	1.32	3.20	0.41		
7	0.91	2.50	0.36		

CALCULATION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE USING MEAN PRICE PER POINT EQUATION METHOD

8

9

\$4.01 TOTAL

0.51

0.48

Central Tendency $\begin{bmatrix} 1 \end{bmatrix} = \underbrace{\leq x}_{n} = \underbrace{4_{01}}_{9} = \underbrace{.44}_{9}$	
Dispersion = $\sqrt{\frac{\xi(x-x)^2}{(n-1)^2}} = \sqrt{\frac{.0168}{8}} = .$	05
[1] x = Sum of <u>Price per SF</u> Weighted Point Score	
n = Number of Observations	
<pre>x = AveragePrice_per_SF Weighted Point Score</pre>	

1.28

1.00



EXHIBIT 9 (Continued)

¥	_ x _	<u>/(x=x)/</u>	(x=x) 2	<u>_n_</u>	n=1
.42 .47 .46 .46 .46 .41 .36 .51 .48	.44 .44 .44 .44 .44 .44 .44 .44 .44	.02 .03 .02 .02 .02 .03 .08 .07 .04 $= (x - \overline{x})^2$.0004 .0009 .0009 .0004 .0004 .0009 .0064 .0049 .0016	9	8
		↓ / ↓ /	0.00		

Value range for subject property:

 $\overline{x} \pm \text{dispersion} = \$0.44 \pm .05$

Square Footage of x Weighted x (Central Tendency ± Dispersion) = Subject Point Score

 $109,493 \times 2.30 \times ($0.44 \pm .05) =$

High Estimate of \$123,500 or \$1.13 per square foot Central Tendency of \$111,000 or \$1.01 per square foot Low Estimate of \$98,000 or \$0.90 per square foot 91

where:

As a check on the appropriateness of the appraiser's selection and weighting of price sensitive factors, the point scores calculated for each comparable is multiplied by the mean price per square foot per point score to predict or estimate the actual selling price of each comparable. The results are as follows:

COMPARABLE	WEIGHTED POINT_SCORE	ESTIMATED PRICE/SF_	ACTUAL <u>PRICE/SF</u>	RESIDUAL _ERROR
1	3.30	1.45	1.50	05
2	2.20	0.96	1.03	07
3	3.80	1.67	1.55 (adj.)	+.12
4	3.40	1.50	1.55	05
5	2.10	0.92	0.96	04
6	3.20	1.41	1.32	+.09
7	2.50	1.10	0.91	+.19
8	2.50	1.10	1.28	18
9	2.10	0.92	1.00	±.08

NET RESIDUAL ERRORS +.09

There appears to be a tight fit between the estimated and the actual price; so it can be concluded that the selection and weighing of the price sensitive factors successfully reflected buyer behavior.

comparable approach is sensitive to the The market appraiser's ability to predict buyer perceptions in a changing market. The weighted point scores are an attempt to capture these perceptions. Consequently, this calculated value is only the initial step in determining the final price estimate. This initial transaction zone must be adjusted in light of certain external factors such as the buyer's alternative option to lease surrounding land from Dane County instead of buying in fee which, in turn, will be affected by the current cost of financing land purchases, the income tax consequences of buy versus lease decision, and the effect of the Consumer Price Index (CPI) escalator upon rental rates for leased land. Other external factors include the effect of the Truax Air Park covenants upon the quality of future development in the area, and the future expansion of the Dane County Regional Airport.

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

III. THE INCOME APPROACH OR INVESTMENT SIMULATION APPROACH APPLIED TO LARGE INCOME PROPERTY

The basic concept of the income approach is that the property value is the present value of an income stream to the investor plus the present value of the reversion to the investor. That simple truism requires very disciplined, systematic, but internally consistent logic to carry off.

- A. First there is the problem of defining the perspective of the buyer or buyer presumed by the issue for which the appraisal is required as a benchmark. This perspective will determine what revenues and expenses must be considered.
- B. There is the problem of defining the source, amount, and timing of receipt in terms of accounting theory (cash or accrual) and in terms of business practice (receivables versus collections).
- C. There is the problem of defining expenses attributable to the real estate as opposed to the occupancy as perceived by the most probable buyer.
- D. Selection of a forecast period also determines necessary charges to operations for tenant improvement, leasing commissions, reserve for replacement and refurbishment, and other soft capital items to be amortized over nominal periods of time.
- E. Then there is the problem of defining the most probable capital structure for buyer financing of the property assuming cash to the seller and/or assuming some seller financing.
- F. There is the problem of selecting a conversion process with which to define a net reversion assumed for some future point in time in an uncertain future.

- G. There is the problem of recognizing entitlements or submerged profit centers which can be controlled through purchase of real estate because real estate traditionally does not carefully delineate net income from real estate, personalty, intangible assets, captive consumers, or managment.
- H. Given the complexities of the above, how do buyers convert cash flows, reversions, peripheral profit centers, and portfolio effects to a purchase price.

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

IV. CONTEMPORARY APPRAISAL AND ACCOUNTING THEORY

Fundamental isues which will lead to standardization of perspective by the FASB, the American Appraisal organizations, and the European Common Market in which RICS played a major role.

- A. Unwitting deviation from derivation of the income approach which:
 - Originally intended to measure economic surplus of an asset in terms of normalized net income projected over a mathematical line for the life of an asset;
 - Investment band theory shifted value to the sum of present value claims on the income, specifically liability valuation.
 - 3. Equity valuation in the securites markets recognize claims from income were prioritized by risk and critical path of service provided. Earnings were irregular, related to investor tax status, and manipulated by marketing monopoly or operating control.
- B. This evolution from economic surplus to claims on liabilities to going concern values has produced incredible confusion and opportunity for valuation disinformation because appraisers don't know any accounting.
 - 1. Economic productivity requires accrual accounting
 - 2. Financial productivity requires cash accounting
 - 3. Going concern valuation requires profit center segregation and venture capital discounting based on source and application

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

IV. CONTEMPORARY APPRAISAL AND ACCOUNTING THEORY

Fundamental isues which will lead to standardization of perspective by the FASB, the American Appraisal organizations, and the European Common Market in which RICS played a major role.

96

T

- A. Unwitting deviation from derivation of the income approach which:
 - Originally intended to measure economic surplus of an asset in terms of normalized net income projected over a mathematical line for the life of an asset;
 - Investment band theory shifted value to the sum of present value claims on the income, specifically liability valuation.
 - 3. Equity valuation in the securites markets recognize claims from income were prioritized by risk and critical path of service provided. Earnings were irregular, related to investor tax status, and manipulated by marketing monopoly or operating control.
- B. This evolution from economic surplus to claims on liabilities to going concern values has produced incredible confusion and opportunity for valuation disinformation because appraisers don't know any accounting.
 - 1. Economic productivity requires accrual accounting
 - 2. Financial productivity requires cash accounting
 - Going concern valuation requires profit center segregation and venture capital discounting based on source and application

- C. Some computer systems for property management already have the feature of converting from accrual to cash accounting and several studies are underway to define acounting conventions for appraisers.
 - 1. Exhibit 25 contains generalized theory for converting accrual accounting to cash accounting
 - Exhibit 26 contains an analysis of the feasibility of a small city office rehab project
 - 3. Exhibit 27 contains the format for an income property pro forma on a cash accounting basis
 - 4. Exhibit 28 contains an example of discounted cash flow without a computer
- D. Accounting theory also distinguishes value by a variety of perspectives in order to fit the function of the accounting task to measure the appropriate economic aspect:
 - 1. Exit value assuming completion of normal business cycle in an orderly fashion (benchmarking).
 - 2. Exit value assuming abrupt liquidation (construction loan validation).
 - 3. Replacement value with asset of current technology.
 - Reproduction value of asset at original state of technology.
 - 5. Market value in an organized market for tangible goods.
 - Current value in an organized market for tangible goods.
 - 7. Discounted value of future receipts at interest factor.
 - 8. Value of asset not yet charged to consumption or production.

- E. Discounted cash flow must also anticipate that the collectibility of CPI adjustments and pass-throughs as well as deferred rent concessions must be examined. The shorter the lease term and the lower the tenant investment in improvements, the less probability there is of collection.
 - The appraiser must not only read the leases, but determine the degree to which management has collected future adjustments as a measure of effective rents rather than contract rents.
 - 2. However, the appraiser is not expected to be an auditor and his statement of limiting conditions should contain a clause indicating the presumption of the appraisal, i.e., that payments due the landlord have in fact been collected, does not represent a conclusion based on an audit of past operations.
 - 3. Tenant improvements which will benefit the property after the lease has expired or greatly in excess of allowances in the original contract represent a form of rent guaranty which might be identified by the appraiser when making an assumption about the collectibility of all forms of reimbursements.
 - 4. The appraiser should also note if property management is releasing under terms which convert old escalators to monthly reimburseables or CAM items which are collectible monthly on an anticipated average basis to be adjusted at the end of each fiscal year, significantly altering cash flows and the certainty of collection in the future.

- F. The increasing use of CAM payments and the broadening scope of costs included introduce another problem in analyzing real estate reeceipts. Property managers generally include a 10 to 15 percent surcharge on actual outlays for the work of collecting and accounting for CAM; CAM contains a profit center for management. The appraiser must determine if that profit center belongs to the building owner to offset the general management fee or has been considerd as part of the compensation formula to the management function. In the latter case, it is clearly not real estate revenue to be capitalized into the value of the property.
 - Management compensation forumlas have become more complex so that simple appraisal accounting for a percentage of effective gross plus a leasing commission can be very misleading.
 - 2. Formulas generally involve different leasing commissions for renewals versus replacement of tenants, construction supervision fees for renovations, tenant improvements, etc., as well as reimbursement for advertising, after-hours servicing, or negotiation of casualty losses.
 - 3. Construction supervision, tenant relations, as well as actual refurbishment expenses suggest how much is being invested in the future of the building, like R & D in a manufacturing corporation.
- G. Fair market value presumes definition of economic rent attributable to the real estate as opposed to intangible assets or personal property.
 - Is income attributable to entitlements that go with fee simple title to the land and are point specific or to transportable permits?
 - a. For example--does liquor license go with the building? Is permit to build or maintain a dam assignable? Does right to management fee and brokerage fee go with general partnership or property?
 - 2. Is the real estate income from retailing of space or from wholesaling of space?

- a. Parking ramp lease versus parking space by the hour, observation deck versus ticket, condominium conversion fee versus apartment project investment.
- 3. Is the income for extraordinary services or intangible assets rather than customary?
 - a. Maid service versus janitorial, shopping center premium for proximity or for joint merchandising and risk management.
- 4. Ancillary to, rather than integral with the project.
 - a. Can services be acquired off premises such as janitorial or utilities?
- 5. IRS classification as 1250 property (real) or 1231 property (personalty) and Section 453, 453A and B, or Section 38 (tangible) or Section 45 (intangible).
- 6. Is income attributable to governmental agencies in exchange for contractual entitlements of control or use to the public interest for the term of the contract?
- H. Defining expenses attributable to the real estate is particularly difficult where you have a current occupancy/owner, such as a home office for a bank or insurance company. There are many distortions in the general ledger due to:
 - 1. Superadequacy of maintenance.
 - Corporate accounting to shift or conceal division profits
 - Confusion of busines security with building operations
 - 4. Deliberate concealment of corporate pet projects as building expense
 - 5. Artificial corporate accounting charges for space or corporate services

- I. Careful accounting distinctions are the critical differences in valuing property for real estate taxes, or liquidating value for a lender, or going concern value for a limited partnership or unit value of a comingled fund.
 - Choice of the accounting format is also related to selection of the number of periods on a forecast. The assessor can accept short-term forecasts since there is opportunity for periodic review; the mortgage lender needs a longer term forecast to anticipate cyclical contractions of cash flow threatening the mortgage payment.
 - 2. However, what time frame is appropriate for valuing assets in a comingled fund? Large, unrecognized assets and negative cash flows have their payoff over the average lease term or longer; how should the valuation formula recognize these intangible assets?
- J. Selection of a forecast period as five or ten years or more reflects purpose and sensitivity to value to long term assumptions and the curve of compound interest. Ten-year convention seems to be growing although a single lease rollover period is sufficient to strain the forecasting talents of most appraisers.
- K. The decision by the Institute to require definition of fair market value with all cash to the seller before reporting a value attached to special financing provided by the seller is critical in providing the hope of its standard against which all manner of structuring can be related.
 - 1. Financing is not the only entitlement which enhances value beyond fair market value. There may be favorable leases, tax abatements, monopolies, and all manner of regulatory entitlements which are not included in fee simple title, but travel with the real estate. The increment attributable to these should generally be flagged as well.

- 2. Fee simple encumbered by leases is generally identified, but what about fee simple encumbered by special district rules, title flaws, or regulatory controls like those of the FERC?
- L. Submerged profit centers are becoming much more significant due to management loads on CAM, back-end loads on finite financing agreements, and penalties for prepaid financing, cancelled contracts, windfall real estate tax returns, or sale of services and equipment leasing to the tenants. As control of property shifts to asset managers, so does control of the captive consumers within the building and the customer lists of potential tenant relocation in the future go to the benefit of the asset manager at the expense of the building owner.
- M. Problem of defining or forecasting a reversion:
 - Pricing real estate for utilitarian purpose, to buy access to service sales, or speculate in long term demand/supply commodity relationships or long term commodity/money ratios.
 - Can the appraiser prove presence of necessary conditions for appreciation and amount of depreciation?
 - a. Rising net income
 - b. Falling interest rates
 - c. Falling investor expectations
 - 3. When is appreciation speculative, non-vested, and excluded from fair market value?
- N. The most common reversion process is to estimate net income for the year after the year of sale--year six in a five-year forecast, or year eleven in a ten-year forecast.
 - 1. This income is then capitalized at some rate, either a market rate at the time of the forecast or a more conservative rate to reflect aging of the proerty and the anticipation that it would be sold when the possibility of further increases in net income had declined significantly.

- 2. The critical question is how dependent is value on the change in retail price? Dilmore indicates there are seven sources of cash return which might each be discounted separately to represent the risk inherent in realizing the expected flow. These elements are:
 - a. Return of original equity investment
 - b. Value of cash flows at first year level
 - c. Growth (decline) of cash flow stream
 - d. Tax shelter of subject's cash flow
 - e. Tax shelter of external income
 - f. Growth of equity from amortization
 - g. Growth of equity from value appreciation
- 3. See "Component Capitalization" by Gene Dilmore in Real Estate Issues, Spring-Summer 1985.
- 4. Perhaps the most important paragraph at the end of the Dilmore article, with reference to a simple future price or Monte Carlo resale price estimate is:

"Whether the appraiser consideres this as an independent value indication from the income approach, or as a testing of the probable price indicated by analysis of the market data, is a matter of individual choice. In either case, a report section on externalities should follow these calculations giving consideration to the external facctors (money markets, investor moods, political contingencies, local phenomena altering market expectations, etc.) which can push the indicated price in either direction."

- 5. Probability models are not likely to be accepted soon for three practical limitations--appraisers have limiteed knowledge of statistics, decsion-makers prefer their subjective intuitions, and thoroughness may not be cost effective in terms of decisions to buy, sell, or lend.
- 6. There is a sensitivity algorithm called the Cady-Westby model which can directly compute changes in net present value or IRR or the break-even ratio which can occur for each one percent variance in key variables. It works quickly on a PC; it is based on response theory, but the algorithm represents high security information for nuclear power plant management. It will allow appraisers to avoid probability modeling just a set theory by-passes the problems with degrees of freedom in a limited data base.

PRO FORMA INCOME PROPERTY FORMAT

(Cash Accounting Basis)

I. Expected Receipt

Base rent (Monthly) Index to base rent (Annual adjustment to monthly base) Percentage rent (Quarterly estimate with fifth quarter adjustment) Amortized tenant improvements (Monthly, fixed) CAM (Monthly average with 14th month adjustment) Reimburseables (Annual pass through) Escalators with stop (Annual review) Interest on reserves (Quarterly sweep) Government transfer payments (Negotiated and deferred) Total receipts

- 11. Loss of Potential Receipts Vacancy losses Rent collection losses Reimbursement collection losses Receivables Concessions Total reduction in expected receipts
- III. Actual Revenues for Operations

IV Gross Outlays for Operations CAM items Reimburseables Escalator items Owner costs Refurbishment Renewal tenant improvements Renewal lease commissions Total operating outlays

- V. Total Cash from Operations
- VI. Capital Charges Interest payments Principal payments Capital improvements
- VII. Net Cash from Operations before Taxes + Transfers from cash reserves from previous period + Net increases in loan balances outstanding
- VIII. Cash Available for Distribution and/or Taxes Less distribution and taxes = Net addition to cash reserves in following period

EXAMPLE OF DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW WITH 100% EQUITY FINANCING

,

YEAR	ANNUAL NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI)	DISCOUNT FACTOR AT 17%	PRESENT VALUE OF EQUITY
Last 6 Months of 1982	\$ 189,758	0.924500	\$175 JI21
1983	364 022	0.700171	
1094	110.012	0.790171	20(,040
1904	410,013	0.675360	276,906
1985	457,118	0.577230	263,862
1986	454,429	0.493359	224,197
1987	579,334	0.421674	244,290
1988	574,943	0.360405	207,212
1989	591,365	0.308039	182,163
1990	624,054	0.263281	164,302
1991	659,043	0.225026	148,302
First 6 Months of 1992	323,726	0.208037	67,347
	RESALE PRICE		
1992	4,839,000	0.208037	1,007,000
	PRESENT VALUE OF E	QUITY	\$3,248,652
	TOTAL VALUE WITH 1	00% EQUITY	\$3, 248,652
		ROUNDED	\$3,200,000 =======
32222222222222			;==================================

•

114

EXAMPLE OF DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW WITH 100% EQUITY FINANCING

.

YEAR	ANNUAL NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI)	DISCOUNT FACTOR AT 17%	PRESENT VALUE OF EQUITY
Last 6 Months of 1982	\$189,758	0.924500	\$175,431
1983	364,022	0.790171	287,640
1984	410,013	0.675360	276,906
1985	457,118	0.577230	263, 862
1986	454,429	0.493359	224,197
1987	579,334	0.421674	244,290
1988	574,943	0.360405	207,212
1989	591,365	0.308039	182,163
1990	624,054	0.263281	164,302
1991	659,043	0.225026	148,302
irst 6 Months of 1992	323,726	0.208037	67,347
	RESALE PRICE		
1992	4,839,000	0.208037	1,007,000
	PRESENT VALUE OF E	QUITY	\$3,248,652
	TOTAL VALUE WITH 1	00% EQUITY	\$3,248,652 ========
		ROUNDED	\$3,200,000

114

ł

EXAMPLE OF DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW WITH CONVENTIONAL FINANCING

YEAR	ANNUAL NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI)	ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE BASED ON DEBT COVER RATIO (DCR) OF 1.3 [1]	NOI LESS DEBT SERVICE EQUALS CASH THROM-OFF (CTO)	DISCOUNT FACTOR AT 175	PRESENT VALUE OF EQUITY
ast 6 Montha of 1982	\$189,758	140,000	\$49,750	0.924500	\$46,000
1983	364,022	280,000	84,000	0.790171	66,400
1984	410,013	280,000	130,000	0.675360	87,800
1985	457,118	280,000	177,100	0.577230	102,200
1986	454,429	280,000	174,400	0.493359	86,000
1987	579.334	280,000	299,300	0.421674	126,200
1988	574.943	280,000	295,000	0.360405	106,300
1989	591,365	280,000	311,400	0.308039	96,000
1990	624.054	280,000	344,100	0.263281	90,600
1991	659,043	280,000	379,000	0.225026	85,300
rst 6 Month of 1992	s 323,726	140,000	183,700	0.208037	38,200
	RESALE PRICE	RESALE PRICE LESS MORTGAGE BALANCE [2]			
1992	4,839,000	3,042,000		0.208037	632,800
	PRESENT VALUE OF ORIGINAL MORTGAGE	EQUITY BALANCE			\$1,563,800 2,001,753
	TOTAL VALUE WITH	CONVENTIONAL FINANC	ING		\$3,565,553
				ROUNDED	\$3,600,000

.

•

[1] Based on first full year NOI
[2] Maximum mortgage which NOI can carry, assuming a DCR Of 1.3, interest at 13.5 percent for a 25 year term with monthly payments, is \$2,001,753. At the end of a ten year holding period the balance due is \$1,797,196 or rounded \$1,797,000.

EXAMPLE OF DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW WITH SELLER FINANCING

YEAR	ANNUAL NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI)	ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE BASED ON DEBT COVER RATIO (DCR) OF 1.1 [1]	NOI LESS DEBT SERVICE EQUALS CASH THROM-OFF (CTO)	DISCOUNT FACTOR AT 17%	PRESENT VALUE OF EQUITY
Last 6 Months of 1982	\$189,758	\$165,450	\$24,300	0.924500	\$22,500
1983	364,022	330,900	33,100	0.790171	26,200
1984	410,013	330,900	79,100	0.675360	53,400
1985	457,118	330,900	126,200	0.577230	72,900
1986	454,429	330,900	123,500	0.493359	60,900
1987	579,334	330,900	248,400	0.421674	104,800
1988	574,943	330,900	244,000	0.360405	88,000
1989	591,365	330,900	260,500	0.308039	80,200
1990	624,054	330,900	293,100	0.263281	77,200
1991	659,043	330,900	328,100	0,225026	73,800
First 6 Months of 1992	323,726	165,450	158,300	0.208037	33,000
	RESALE PRICE	RESALE PRICE LESS MORTGAGE BALANCE [2]			
1992	4,839,000	2,602,000		0.208037	541,300
	PRESENT VALUE OF I ORIGINAL MORTGAGE	EQUITY BALANCE			1,234,200 2,528,995
	TOTAL VALUE WITH S	SELLER FINANCING			\$3,763,195
				ROUNDED	\$3,800,000
	1272222222222222222222		572525231X5X\$8533333		

 [1] Based on first full year NOI
 [2] Maximum mortgage which NOI can carry, assuming a DCR Of 1.1, interest at 12.5 percent amortized over 25 years with monthly payments, is \$2,528,995. At the end of a ten year holding period the balance due is \$2,237,023 or \$2,237,000, rounded. .

٠

EXAMPLE OF DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW WITH SELLER FINANCING

YEAR	ANNUAL NET OPERATING INCOME (NOI)	ANNUAL DEBT SERVICE BASED ON DEBT COVER RATIO (DCR) OF 1.1 [1]	NOI LESS DEBT SERVICE EQUALS CASH THROM-OFF (CTO)	DISCOUNT FACTOR AT 175	PRESENT VALUE
Last 6 Months of 1982	\$189,758	\$165,450	\$24,300	0.924500	\$22,500
1983	364,022	330,900	33,100	0.790171	26,200
1984	410,013	330,900	79,100	0.675360	53,400
1985	457,118	330,900	126,200	0.577230	72,900
1986	454,429	330,900	123,500	0.493359	60,900
1987	579,334	330,900	248,400	0.421674	104,800
1988	574,943	330,900	244,000	0.360405	88,000
1989	591,365	330,900	260,500	0.308039	80,200
1990	624,054	330,900	293,100	0.263281	77,200
1991	659,043	330,900	328,100	0.225026	73,800
rst 6 Months of 1992	323,726	165,450	158,300	0.208037	33,000
	RESALE PRICE	RESALE PRICE LESS MORTGAGE BALANCE [2]			
19 92	4,839,000	2,602,000		0.208037	541,300
	PRESENT VALUE OF I	EQUITY BALANCE			1,234,200 2,528,995
	TOTAL VALUE WITH :	SELLER FINANCING			\$3,763,195
				ROUNDED	\$3,800,000

.

٠

. .

[1] Based on first full year NOI
 [2] Maximum mortgage which NOI can carry, assuming a DCR Of 1.1, interest at 12.5 percent amortized over 25 years with monthly payments, is \$2,528,995. At the end of a ten year holding period the balance due is \$2,237,023 or \$2,237,000, rounded.

•

ł
CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES (Continued)

VIII. CONTEMPORARY MODELS FOR CONVERSION OF CASH FLOWS TO VALUE ESTIMATES

The new income approach for large income properties has become a hybrid of a CPA format and appraisal models for converting cash flows to value estimates.

- A. Several computer software packages make it possible to detail and project large numbers of leases so that total project revenue is supported by a series of schedules as indicated by Exhibit 29. When using a discounted cash flow model, it is imperative to stay as close to cash accounting as possible.
- B. All forms of reimbursement must reflect time lags, and collection losses and renewals should be charged for concessions on past due proposals. Appraisers would be well advised to introduce a limiting condition to the effect that:

"Pro forma budgets and assumptions about actual collection of reimbursable expenses and supplemental rent are not based upon an actual audit of property operations and reflect only a business plan which could be accomplished through effective management."

- C. Operating expenses for appraisers were traditionally divided between fixed variable and reserve for replacement. Today operating expenses should be organized by groups which reflect method of, or degree of, reimbursement by tenants.
 - Revenue projections can be prepared by a CPA or a property management firm with the computer systems to handle complex allocations, timing, and changeovers in leasing format. The appraiser explicitly recognized source and can allocate liability for same to the CPA or CPM who prepared the estimate.

- 2. Building owners or investment bankers may provide the computerized lease data base for the appraiser as a point of departure.
- 3. The critical functions of the appraiser will be to estimate:
 - a. Rate of increase or decrease in operating expenses during the forecast period;
 - b. Estimate the tenant turnover and resulting loss of income from vacancy, concession, and relocation costs;
 - c. Estimate the rate and degree of application and collection of rental increases; and
 - d. Estimate concessions required to keep existing tenants, including special tenant improvements and refurbishing.
- 4. Some clients are beginning to prescribe the specific assumptions for indexing rents and the ratio of tenant turnover and tenant renewal; again, these assumptions become significant limiting conditions on the appraisal report or the subject for extensive footnote discussion.
- 5. CAM expenses are prorated on space occupied rather than usable area, so be careful where you apply flat vacancy allowances. Parking may be fully leased even if the building has substantial vacancies; at the same time, hotel room rates and office rents may conceal parking charges which are reallocated to the parking concession, so that the appraiser may unwittingly double-count.
- D. Many projects today are the beneficiaries of income generating reserves required of revenue bond issues, HODAG and UDAG grants, or municipal subsidy arrangements such as tax incremental financing. This income is part of the property value for mortgage loan purposes, but must be excluded for real estate tax purposes. The income from these reserves is generally available on a quarterly basis and the amount depends upon the reinvestment rate and allowable arbitrage at the times these reserves were created.

- Reserves tied to the finances must be deducted from sales price on FNA or IRB financed deals, solely subject to the mortgage, or prices can be seriously overstated.
- R-4lb specifically permits recognition of supplementary income from services regularly offered to tenants, such as the elderly.
- 3. See Exhibits 31 and 32.
- 4. Elderly housing pro forma.
- E. It is not necessary today to always use a mortgage equity approach. The conversion of net cash to present values may take several basic patterns.
 - Simple discounting of annual net cash by a project discount rate assuming no financing and reasonbly stable re-sale price as shown in Exhibit 30 done for a pension fund.
 - 2. A simple mortgage equity approach using a five-year forecast and a debt cover ratio and other loan parameters based on natural averages of the American Council of Life Underwriters, Schedule M (see Exhibit 33).
 - 3. A basic mortgage package presuming responsible underwriting plus the sale value of appreciable base and tax credits to a professional buyer for syndication. For example: syndicators might pay 35 percent of depreciable base plus 80 percent of first-year tax investment credit; more conservative syndicators might pay exactly one-half of the tax value of equity.
 - 4. Custom crafted finance packages with variable rates, credit enhancements, interest rate caps, and participations become investment value situations which must be compared to fair market value so that the increment to value through the modification of the financial stand is revealed.

F. As a result of all of the above, the appraisal process is subdivided into those firms which knowingly or unwittingly exploit the lack of accounting precedent to generate high values in the fine art of commercial disinformation. On the other hand, a fully-professional firm will integrate professional specialties into a clinic shop which contains a CPA, a mechanical engineer, a physical planner, an information processor, and an appraiser. The fastest growing segment of appraisal is the business consulting firm opening an appraisal subsidiary. Arthur Andersen went from almost "0" to \$16,000,000 last year, probably in third place behind the old-style firms of American Appraisal at \$66,000,000 and Marshall and Stevens at \$26,000,000. It is estimated that 20 percent of their volume is spent in marketing.

PAGES 121 TO 150 ARE MISSING

SEE:

JAMES A. GRAASKAMP COLLECTION OF TEACHING MATERIALS V. INDUSTRY SEMINARS AND SPEECHES - SHORT TERM

- A. Appraisal Organizations
 - d. "Contemporary Issues and Methods for Appraising Commercial Properties", sponsored by AIREA Arizona Chapter 41, October 9, 1985.

A RETIREMENT LIVING CENTER SCHEDULE OF PROJECTED REVENUES FROM JANUARY 1, 1985, THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 1994 [1]

 \sim

(

i. Ze

+ +4 + + + + ##########################			*********							*******	********
	GROWTH RATES PROM 1907-1994 (2)	1985	1986	1967	1966	1969	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994
EFFD.TIVE (20056 APARTHENT/SERVICE REVENUE (2)											
81 - 1 BR Apartment Units	54	0	239501	321040	337092	353947	371644	390226	409737	438224	451735
60 - 2 BP Apartment Units	61	0	266976	309093	327639	347297	3681.35	390223	41 36 36	438454	464762
8 - 2 BR Deluxe Apertment Units	74	0	47880	50719	54270	58069	62133	66483	71136	76116	01444
Service/Amenity Package - 149 Residents [3] (1st Occupant)	61	٠	435204	543635	576253	610828	647477	686326	727506	771156	817425
Service/Amenity Package - 37 Residents (2nd Occupant)	66	<u> </u>	68772	85907	91061	96525	102316	108455	114963	121061	129172
SUBTYTAL: EFFECTIVE CROBE APARTMENT/ SUBTYTAL: EFFECTIVE CROBE APARTMENT/		٠	1058233	1310394	1306314	1466665	1551766	1641713	1736978	1837811	1944539
EFFECTEVE CRCOB PARKING REVIEWE (4)											
48 Attained Gerages	54	•	19114	21480	22554	23482	24646	26109	27415	28786	30225
60 Ancillary Attached Garages	56	•	9360	14344	15082	19636	16628	17460	18333	19249	20212
SUPPORTAL: EXPECTIVE CROBE PARKING REVENUE		•	28474	35844	37636	39514	41494	43569	45747	48835	50436
LAURDRY - EPPECTIVE GROBE REVENUE [5]	54	•	1712	2118	2224	2335	2452	2575	2703	20.30	2980
OTHER - EFFECTIVE CROBE REVERUE (5)	71	•	16892	21300	22791	24306	26093	27920	29874	31965	34203
SUBT77AL: EFFECTIVE CHORE REVENUE-RENT/SERVICE PANKING, LAUNDRY & OTHER SOURCES	:	9	1105411	1369656	1448965	1532904	1621745	1715776	1815303	1920649	2032158
INTEREST INCOME [6]		- ,									
Security Deposit # 9%	01	0	7599	8754	8954	8954	8954	8954	8954	8954	8954
Debt Service Reserve Fund # 11.5%	01	64400	64400	64400	<u>64400</u>	64400	64400	64400	64400	64400	64400
SUBTOTAL: INTEREST IN CHE	•	64400	71999	73154	73354	73354	73354	73354	73354	73154	73354
TYTAL EFFECTIVE CRUSS PEVENUE (7)		64409 	1177409	1443010	1522320	1606259	1695099	L 7891 30	1888657	1994004	2105512

Ľ

FOOTNOTES TO EXHIBIT 31 (Continued)

<u>,</u>1

A RETIREMENT LIVING CENTER SCHEDULE OF PROJECTED REVENUES FROM JANUARY 1, 1985, THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 1994

- [1] Detailed calculations of projected potential and effective gross revenue are found in Appendix C. The potential gross revenue and vacancy loss from each revenue source for each year are shown.
- [2] Vacancy Loss: Although completion of targeted for the late fall of 1985, for purposes of this appraisal it is assumed that operations begin on January 1, 1986, and all pre-leased units are occupied at that time. Based upon occupancy/vacancy projections detailed in Exhibit III-6 the 81 one-bedroom units will have an average vacancy loss of 23 percent in 1986 and apartment rents will remain at the same level as in 1984-85. The average vacancy thereafter will be stable at 1.7 percent per year for tenant turnover.

The 60 two-bedroom units will have an average vacancy loss of 10 percent in 1986 and will then be stabilized at 1.7 annually for tenant turnover.

The eight deluxe two-bedroom units have a waiting list 1-1/4 years before the project is scheduled to open. Vacancy will be 0 percent in 1986 and will average 1 percent thereafter to account for the time needed to redecorate as tenancy changes.

Inflation Rate: Landmark Research, Inc.'s 1984 apartment rental survey in and in Formation indicates a varying pattern of rental increases from February 1984 to November 1984. The City of the Department of Planning and Development previously referenced study also indicates a steady increase in rents for one- and two-bedroom units. The data given for efficiencies and three-bedroom units were discovered to contain some distortions, but the one- and two-bedroom information appears to be consistent with the 1982 data and Landmark's information. Landmark's rental study and the City of comparative rent data for 1982 and 1984 are found in Appendix B of this appraisal.

FOOTNOTES TO EXHIBIT 31 (Continued)

(

Based upon historic market rent increases in and , comparative rents of other retirement centers in and on file in Landmark's office, changes in the consumer price index, and demand factors for unit types, the following inflation factors are projected for

For one-bedroom units, the rental revenue is expected to increase annually from 1987 at 5 percent after the initial rent-up period.

The two-bedroom units will have a greater demand in the early years of the project; the market survey results and the pre-leasing unit mix confirm this consumer preference. The appraiser estimates that the two-bedroom monthly service charge at \$675 per month was initially understated when compared with other and retirement center fees; because of the strong demand for two-bedroom units and the initial understatement of the total monthly service charge, the rent portion is expected to increase 3 percent in 1986 and is projected to increase at 6 percent annually thereafter.

The demand is high for the larger two-bedroom, 1.75 bath unit and therefore the rent is expected to increase 5 percent in 1986 and 7 percent per year thereafter, a rate which includes both a high demand and an inflationary factor.

- [3] The monthly service package, as detailed in Exhibit III-8, is projected to increase at 6 percent per year. As residents learn to live in and fully utilize the varied spaces and services available in a well-managed retirement living center, the value of this package will increase in intrinsic value to each resident. The revenue from the service package varies with occupancy; in 1986 occupancy is estimated to be 83.5 percent and in 1987 and thereafter. occupancy is expected to average 98.4 percent overall.
- [4] In 1986 the 48 attached garage stalls located on the south end of wings A and B are projected to experience a vacancy loss of 7.5 percent and an average of 1 percent thereafter. The rent is expected to increase by 2-1/2 percent in 1986 and at 5 percent thereafter.

FOOTNOTES TO EXHIBIT 31 (Continued)

The 60 ancillary enclosed garage stalls, expected to have a longer rent-up period, are projected to have a vacancy loss of 35 percent in 1986 and thereafter the vacancy loss is projected to be 5 percent annually. Rents will remain flat through 1986 and will then increase at the rate of 5 percent per year.

[5] Laundry revenue will vary with occupancy at 83.5 percent in 1986 and 98.4 percent in 1987 and thereafter. Laundry revenue will increase 2-1/2 percent in 1986 from the 1985 lease amount and thereafter the annual increase is estimated to be 5 percent per year. This percentage increase in laundry revenue anticipates greater use of the washer/dryer beyond the allowance limit as well as the effect of inflation.

Other income from the coffee shop, beauty shop, guest rooms, and other sources will vary with occupancy. In 1986 allowances for vacancy is 16.5 percent, and in 1987 and thereafter, vacancy loss is projected to be no more than 1.6 percent. The gross potential revenue from these sources is projected to remain at the 1985 base amount until 1987 when the residents will have gradually adapted to living in a retirement center and will make fuller use of these facilities and services. In 1987 and thereafter, revenue from other sources will increase at the rate of 7 percent per year.

[6] The interest earned on security deposits varies with occupancy; in 1986 only 83.5 percent of the potential security deposits were earning interest, but from 1987 on, interest was earned on 98.4 percent of the potential security deposits. Interest at 9 percent is expected to remain stable.

Interest earned on the Debt Service Reserve Fund does not vary with occupancy and the interest rate is projected to be stable at 11.5 percent.

[7] The total effective gross income for years 1985 through 1994 is entered into the discounted cash flow program MRCAP as fixed income net of vacancy losses. See Exhibit IV-10.



.

.

A RETIREMENT LIVING CENTER SCHEDULE OF PROJECTED REVENUES AND EXPENSES FROM JANUARY 1, 1985, THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 1994 [1]

											the second s
		1985	1986	1987	1,908	1989	1990	1991	1992	1993	1994
TOTAL EFFECTIVE GROAS REVENUE [1]		64400	1177409	1443010	1522320	1466259	1695099	1789130	1888657	1994004	2105512
Droges	Bree Amount First Year of Operation	1985	1986	1987	1986	1969	1990	1991	1483	1993	1994
	34 offertive grass before interest	•	55270	68483	72448	76645	61067	85789	90765	96032	101608
POOD SERVICE CONTRACT [3]	264771	٠	221099	272568	287240	301403	316682	332516	349142	366399	384929
ACHINISTRATIVE [4]			101 C	78190	62100	66.205	99515	95041	99793	104783	110022
Personnel	75678	•	10700	11225	11800	12390	13010	13660	14343	15060	15813
Lage1/Audit	5875	•	4900	6070	6300	6699	7034	7386	7755	0143	6550
SUBTITUE: LOLE & ADVENTSTRATIVE	92253	•	78791	95495	100200	105294	110559	116087	121891	127986	134385
UTILITIES (5)		,	24000	26176	10500	31720	32969	34308	35681	37100	38592
I.ectricity	26700	•	24000	11050	11600	12180	12789	13420	14100	14805	15545
Water & Sever	10709		4350	8000	7560	8089	8655	9261	9910	10603	11346
Gen	12009	•	10020	12500	13270	14066	14910	15805	16753	17758	10024
Telephone Service	59900	•	49320	60120	62930	66055	69343	72603	76443	60274	84307

EXHIBIT

32

.

HAINTENANCE [4]					45910	49725	52708	55871	59223	62776	66543	
Personnal-Building Services	42430	٥	32430	44289	40710		LALA	5939	6234	6547	4875	
Grounds Care	4725	0	3950	4880	5130	5.947	2020	1122	1485	3663	3846	
Rubbish Renoval	2650	٥	2200	2740	2870	3014	3104		7888	8783	8697	
Janitorial Supplies & Services	5985	٥	5000	6180	6490	6815	7155	/513	/847	4880	5240	
Value a Usage 6 Maintenance	3400	0	3000	3720	3910	4106	4311	4526	4/23	4330	14131	
	9035	0	7550	9430	9990	10589	11225	11698	12612	13364	14170	
	3000	٥	7000	7350	7718	8103	8509	8934	9381	9850	10342	
Elevator Maintenance Contract	200	6	200	200	1700	1802	1910	2025	2146	2275	2411	
Parking Lot Mappir		•	\$250	5850	6140	6447	6769	7108	7463	7836	6226	EH E
Decorating	3230	-	210	880	920	966	1014	1065	1118	1174	1233	Ē
Excernineting	830	•	260)20	330	347	364	382	401	421	442	32
Loundry Expense	300											~
-GUITOTALI MAINTENANCE	82025	٠	70550	85810	92100	97299	102785	108583	114710	121105	128028	ရှိ
ALL BY DAY THREE MANCE 171	14700	0	14700	15440	16200	17010	17861	18754	19691	20476	21710	tinu
			489721	599708	631206	663905	698317	734531	772642	612752	854966	ed)
OPERATING EXPENSES REPORE R.E. TAKES		-										
REAL ESTATE TAX (8)	13300	11650	13300	150500	174100	182805	191945	201543	211620	222201	233311	
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES	ago an an an an an an	11650	503021	750208	805306	846710	890262	936073	984262	1034952	1088277	
NET OPERATING INCOME thefore reserves, debt service, and in	COME LAXES)	\$2750 	674388	692802 	717014	759549	6 04837	8 53057	904395	959952	1017235	

FOOTNOTES TO EXHIBIT

SCHEDULE OF PROJECTED REVENUES AND EXPENSES FROM JANUARY 1, 1985, THROUGH DECEMBER 1, 1994

[1] Total effective gross revenue is taken from Exhibit IV-8 which details each revenue component.

The operating expenses used for this project are based upon estimates made by **expenses** and checked for reasonableness against actual expenses experienced by other property managers in or from service suppliers. The annual inflation factor of 5 percent used to forecast most of the expenses is based upon the following pattern of changes in the Consumer Price Index and upon the premise that current Federal deficits will cause the inflation rate to accelerate gradually from recent lows.

1980 - 10.85 1981 - 8.15 1982 - 3.55 1983 - 3.55 1984 - 4.05 (Annualized)

[2] The management fee is 5 percent of the effective gross revenue before interest revenue.

(Continued)

FOOTNOTES TO EXHIBIT (Continued)

- [4] Administrative personnel include an administrator, a resident service coordinator, a secretary-bookkeeper, receptionists, and other part-time administrative assistants. Added to the estimated base salary cost of \$63,065 is 20 percent for fringe benefits for a total base of \$75,678. Salaries are estimated to increase at 5 percent annually and staff size will vary with occupancy. Legal and audit costs are fixed and are inflated at 5 percent per year. Supplies, dues, and advertising costs vary with occupancy and are inflated annually at 5 percent.
- [5] The Electric Power Company in has experienced a 2 percent rate decrease in 1984 and less than a 1 percent decrease has been requested for 1985. A surplus of electricity generating capacity in Wisconsin will keep electricity costs stabilized for the near future. Costs are assumed to increase at a generous 4 percent per year.

Natural gas increases in September/October of 1984 were approximately 3 percent. Both pipeline and utility operators expect the commodity charge for natural gas to be flat in the future with only inflationary increases anticipated, according to a spokesman for Natural Gas Co. An inflation factor of 5 percent is assumed for both gas and sever and water. Local telephone service will be included in the monthly service charge for each apartment. The basic quote of \$12,000 from the telephone company for all telephone service is expected to inflate at 6 percent per year, higher than the anticipated inflation rate, because of the uncertainty of the telephone company's pricing policy.

[6] The personnel for building services include a full-time building service coordinator, a part-time general maintenance person and housekeepers to clean common areas and to provide monthly cleaning services for each apartment. The estimated salaries of \$35,360 plus 20 percent for fringe benefits total \$42,432. Salary increases for this type of work, more likely to be influenced by labor unions, are estimated to increase 6 percent annually.

Many of the maintenance services such as landscaping, rubbish removal, exterminating, and elevator maintenance are expected to be performed by contract. Parking lot repair and decorating expenses (the apartment portion of the total expenses) are expected to be minimal in the first two years of operation. An annual inflation factor of 5 percent is used to forecast expense increases for all maintenance categories except for labor. All maintenance expenses, except for the elevator contract, vary with occupancy or the age of the project.

1.1

- [7] An all-risk insurance policy is a fixed expense and the premium is estimated to increase at 5 percent annually. Insurance coverage during construction is included in the construction budget.
- [8] Real estate assessments are made as of the first of January of each year based upon the value in place on that day. Taxes, based on January first assessments, are due and payable in the following year, or an annual, semi-annual, or quarterly basis. Land value in 1984 is estimated to be \$462,000, or \$3,100 per unit. The 1983 net mill rate for property located in County was 0.02232 based upon assessments at 0.02232/0.9594, or 0.02326. In 1984 the assessments are at 88.47 percent of full market value and the mill rate has not yet been determined. Using the 1983 mill rate of 0.02232/0.8847 equals a 1984 mill rate of 0.02523. Average mill rate increases over the past four years range from 2.5 percent to 4.4 percent for and increase of 5 counties. However, forecasting real estate tax increases, an annual increase of 5 percent is used because State and Federal governments are continually withdrawing their tax funds from local tax districts.

For 1984 real estate taxes, payable in 1985, a land value of \$462,000 times a mill rate of 0.02523 yields taxes of \$11,650. As of January 1, 1985, the contractor estimates \$40,000 of site improvements will be added to the site. Therefore \$462,000 plus \$40,000, or \$502,000 times 0.02649 (0.02523 x 1.05) is \$13,300 for 1985 real estate taxes due in 1986. As of January 1, 1986, the project is expected to be 90 percent complete. Market value for real estate tax purposes of \$40,000 per unit includes \$3,100 per unit for land. Therefore, an improvement value of \$5,900,400, which is 90 percent complete, plus land, taxed at 0.02781 (0.02649 x 1.05) yields real estate taxes of \$150,500, payable in 1987. The completed project as of January 1, 1987, would be taxed at \$174,100 based upon the previously stated assumptions and would increase at 5 percent per year thereafter.

Commitments of \$100,000 and Over on Multifamily and Monresidential Mortgages Nade by 20 Life insurance Companies

Loan Size Class Within Hejor Property Type, Second Quarter, 1984

							Averages.			
Hajor Property Type Loan Size	No. of Loans	Amount Committed (\$000)	Loss <u>Anount</u> (\$000)	Interest Rate (by #)	Interest Rate (by \$)	Losn/ Value	Capitaliza- tion Rate	Debt Coverage	Percent Constant	Haturity (Years/Honths)
			(308	17 847	12.922	68.97	10.2%	1.12	13.32	9/10
ADARTHENT - CONVENTIONAL	22	147,578	6,700	12.748				•	A	•
teen then \$1 million	1	923	923					*	*	•
11 at 11 (an - \$3,999(000)	1	1,950	1,950			70.8	10.3	1.12	13.3	10/4
1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 = - + 2 + 4 + (000)	13	72,005	5,539	12.76	12.82	/0.8		1.14	13.3	8/6
14 MITTOR - 17,999(000)	6	56,700	9,450	13.12	13.13	67.0	7.7		A	A
\$8 million = \$14,555(000)	ī	16,000	16,000	A	•	-	-			
\$15 million and over	-	•						1 10	13.2	10/11
	34	578.040	17,001	12.91	12.74	65.8	10.2	1.30		
CONMERCIAL RETAIL		900	900	۵		•			17 7	10/8
Less than \$1 million	<u>,</u>	14.250	2.458	12.79	12.70	63.4	11.1	1.09	13.4	0/11
\$1 million - \$3,999(000)		41 745	5. 176	13.06	13.01	64.8	10.7	1.26	13.4	6/11
\$4 militon - \$7,999(000)	10	55,705	11.025	13.15	13.13	67.8	10.3	1.13	13.3	14/1
\$8 million - \$14,999(000)		33,143	37 347	12.25	12.66	66.4	9.9	1.25	12.9	14/1
\$15 million and over	12	423,300	37,775							
•			13 333	12.44	11.01	69.7	10.5	1.25	13.1	10/9
OFFICE BUILDING	153	2,037,770	13,333	11 50	11.67	60.4	11.9	1.14	14.0	6/8
Leas than \$1 million	6	4,183	878	11.07	11.01	70.7	10.9	1.19	13.2	•/7
\$1 million - \$3,999(000)	43	106,296	2,4/2	13.07	13.06	69.2	10.4	1.39	13.2	9/6
14 million - \$7,999(000)	43	242,231	2,633	13.00	12.34	21.3	10.4	1.18	12.6	13/9
ta mt11 (na = \$14,999(000)	24	256,054	10,669	12.30	12.30	68.6	4.4	1.20	13.2	13/5
ALS million and GVPT	37	1,431,230	38,682	12.94	13.11					
\$15 MILLION AND OVEL						<i>.</i>	10.	1.41	13.6	9/0
	21	104,692	4,985	13.19	13.26	84.4	10.0		•	•
LUMERCIAL PROVIDE	1	710	710	•			11 Å	1.23	13.6	9/7
Less than is million	11	24,027	2,184	13.25	13.22	68.7	11.4	1 58	13.7	9/7
\$1 million - \$3,999(000)		25.725	5,145	12.88	13.00	53.4	7.4	1.37	A	· •
\$4 million - \$7,779(000)	2	17,000	8,500	•						٨
\$8 million - \$14,777(000)	2	17.230	18.615		A	*	•	-	-	
\$15 million and over	4	2112.20	,							

Abata not shown for a limited number of loans.

(cont'd)

160

EXHIBIT 33

Table H

.

•

Second Quarter, 1984 (Cont'd)

Table H - page 2

च

							Averandi			
Major Property Type Loon Sise	No. of Loans	Amount Comiterd (\$000)	Loon Amount (\$000)	laterest Rate (by #)	Interest Rote (by \$)	Loon/ Value	Capitaliza- Lion Bate	Bebt Coverage	Percent Constant	Neturity (Years/Honths)
		5,000	5,000	•z	*2	*2	*1	•	*1	•
INSTITUTIONAL AND RECREATIONS	•	240.163	6.004	12.68	12.49	71.4	10.6	1.15	11.1	6/5 3/8
IMAUSTRIAL	3	2,420	807	14.04 11.01	13.97 12.94	61.8 72.4	11.0	1.18	13.2	6/8 5/0
\$1 million - \$3,999(000)	10	30,912	5,791	12.00	12.81	72.8	10.2	1.09	12.W A	10/0
\$A million - \$16,999(000)	2	23,559 99,989	24,997	11.00	11.96	72.4	9.9	1.03	11.1	16/5
\$15 million and over	11	101,732	9,248	13.34	13.30	48.7	11.0	1.85	13.0	•/•
NITEL AND MOTEL 11 million - \$3,999(000)	2	4, 000 27,962	2,000 5,394	13.37	13.39	44.2	11.4	1.54	14.7	•
\$4 million - \$14,999(600) \$8 million - \$14,999(600)	Ĩ	8,000	8,000 20,563	13.33	13.28	54.1	9.9	1.71	13.3	6/1
\$15 million and over	-	128.000	42,667	13.00	13.00	60.9	10.0	1.31	13.3	10/0
(All SIS million and over)	,					48 1	10.5	1.27	13.2	9/10
TOTAL	205	3,345,301	11,738	12.97	12.93		2412			

Shats not chose for a timited number of isans.

Nute: Averages for capitalization rate, debt coverage ratio and persont constant may represent a fover number of loome then the total for the specified category. Averages for interest rate are based on 273 looms. These include seven accrual loome with a mean accrual rate of 13.50% and a dellar-weighted average accrual rate of 13,67%. Henrofundable face were reported in connection with 31% of the total number and 42% of And a suffer-sugged average actions into at 13.57%, measurements the very reported in connection with JA at the occar measurement and 42% of the amount committed. The comparable shares by property type can 60% and 01% for spartments, 24% and 20% for commercial retail, 29% and 33% for office buildings, 24% and 24% for commercial enryiese, 35% and 28% for industrial, and 9% and 17% for hotels and motels.

EXHIBIT 34

VALTEST Discounted Cash Flow Model (Renamed ATCF in Real Estate Planning Program)

4. Test for Investment Yield at Estimated Market Value Assuming Cash to the Seller

A computerized discounted before and after tax cash flow program, VALTEST, is used to test the reasonableness of the appraised value. Input assumptions used are shown in Exhibit IV-4 and are taken from the Schedule of Revenues and Expenses (Exhibit IV-2) and from the MRCAP program output (Appendix C) which solved for the justified mortgage, assuming a debt cover ratio of 1.4 based upon the first year NOI of \$126,498. The net resale price is assumed to be \$1,130,000 based upon a net income multiplier of 6.5 applied to the NOI in the tenth year of the holding period, and cash resale costs of 4 percent.

The resulting modified internal rate of return of 15.6 percent before taxes and 14.2 percent after taxes represents a minimum threshold for equity investors. The Air Cargo Facility is fully priced at \$1,000,000 assuming cash to the seller and financed at a 13.25 percent interest rate and a 25-year term. (See Exhibit IV-4 for VALTEST output.)

EXHIBIT IV-4

1. ENTER PROJECT NAME 7 AIR CARGO FACILITY 2. ENTER PROJECTION PERIOD ? 10 3. DO YOU WANT TO ENTER EFFECTIVE GROSS REVENUE INSTEAD OF NOI? N N.O.I. YEAR 17 126498 N.O.I. YEAR 27 131770 N.O.I. YEAR 37 136943 N.O.I. YEAR 47 142327 N.O.I. YEAR 57 148691 N.D.I. YEAR 67 154521 N.O.I. YEAR 77 160588 N.D.I. YEAR 87 167710 N.O.I. YEAR 97 174280 N.O.I. YEAR 10? 181113 4. ACQUISITION COST: 7 1000000 5. DO YOU WANT TO USE STANDARD FINANCING? Y OR NTY MTG. RATIO OR ANDUNT, INT., TERN, NO PAY/YR 7 656633, .1325, 25, 12 6. ENTER RATIO OF INP #1/TOTAL VALUE, LIFE OF IMP #1? 1, 18 IS THERE A SECOND IMPROVEMENT? Y OR N? N 7. DEPRECIATION NETHOD. INPROVENENT #1 ? 1 IS PROPERTY SUBSIDIZED HOUSING ? Y OR N TN IS PROPERTY RESIDENTIAL? Y OR N? N 8. IS OWNER A TAXABLE CORPORATIONT Y OR N TH THE MAXIMUM FEDERAL INDIVIDUAL ORDINARY RATE COULD BE: 70% (PRE-1981 LAW) 50% (1981 LAW, EFFECTIVE 1982) (PLUS STATE RATE)

ENTER:

1) EFFECTIVE ORDINARY RATE 2) EFFECTIVE ORDINARY RATE (YEAR OF SALE) ? .4, .4

9. RESALE PRICE (NET OF SALE COSTS) ? 1130000

10. IS THERE LENDER PARTICIPATION ?N

11. ENTER OWNER'S AFTER TAX REINVESTMENT RATE (2)? 9

12. ENTER OWNER'S AFTER TAX OPPORTUNITY COST OF EQUITY FUNDS (2)? 9

ing in the second

EXHIBIT 34 (Continued) EXHIBIT 1V-4 (Continued)

AFTER TAX CASH FLOW PROJECTION AIR CARGO FACILITY DATE 1/1/85

DATA SUMMARY

ACQU	ISTN	COST:	\$1,000,000.	MTG.	AMT.:	\$656,633.	
NOI	1 S T	YR:	\$125,498.	MTG.	INT.:	13.25%	
ORG.	ΕΩι	JITY:	\$343,367.	MIG.	TERN:	25. YRS	
CTO 1	ST	YEAR:	\$36,143.	DEBT	SERVICE	1ST YEAR:	\$90,355.
				HTG.	CONST.:	.137604	
IMP.	#1	VALUE:	\$1,000,000.	INP.	#1 LIFE:	: 18.	
INC.	ΤX	RATE:	40%				
SALE	YR	RATE:	40%	OUNER:	INDIVIDUA	NL .	
							•

DEPRECIATION IMPROVEMENT #1 : STRAIGHT LINE NON-RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY LENDER PARTICIPATION: CASH THROW-OFF: NONE REVERSION: NONE

NO REPRESENTATION IS HADE THAT THE ASSUMPTIONS BY LANDMARK RESEARCH, INC ARE PROPER OR THAT THE CURRENT TAX ESTIMATES USED IN THIS PROJECTION WILL BE ACCEPTABLE TO TAXING AUTHORITIES. NO ESTIMATE HAS BEEN MADE OF MINIMUM PREFERENCE TAX. CAPITAL LOSSES IN THE YEAR OF SALE ARE TREATED AS ORDINARY LOSSES (SECTION 1231 PROPERTY) AND ARE CREDITED AGAINST TAXES PAID AT THE ORDINARY RATE AT THE TIME OF SALE. FOR THE PURPOSE OF THE MODIFIED INTERNAL RATE OF RETURN (N.I.R.R.) CALCULATION, NEGATIVE CASH IN ANY ONE PERIOD IS TREATED AS A CONTRIBUTION FROM EQUITY IN THAT PERIOD.

	\$1524441.	\$834375.	\$555556.	\$134508.	\$53799.	\$567089.
10.	181113.	78692.	55556.	45866.	18746.	72012.
9.	174280.	80132.	55556.	38593.	15437.	68488.
8.	167710.	81394.	55556.	30761.	12304.	35051.
7.	160598.	82500.	55556.	22532.	9013.	61220.
6.	154521.	83470.	55556.	15495.	, 6198 .	57968.
5.	148691.	84320.	55556.	8815.	3526.	54810.
4.	142327.	85065.	55556.	1706.	682.	51290.
3.	136943.	85718.	55556.	-4332.	-1734.	48322.
2.	131770.	86291.	55556.	-10077.	-4032.	45447.
1.	126498.	86793.	55556.	-15851.	-6341.	42484.
TEA	R NOI	LENDERS Z	DEP	INCOME	TAX	CASH FLOW
		HTG INT &	TÁX	TAXABLE	INCOME	AFTER TAX

요즘에는 것 같아. 요구

:

EXHIBIT 34 (Continued)

EXHIBIT IV-4 (Continued)

t tribus of	Ган III.
	·
	\$1,130,000. AFTER TAXES IS ND OPPORTUNITY C

.

ŵ.

.

, ·

.

EQUITY ANALYSIS AIR CARGO FACILITY **********

.

2 2 3 3 5 7 2 **2 8** 5 **8** 5

		BEFORE TAX	EQUITY DIV	IDEND	
		YR ENB		CASH	RETURN
YR	NCI	EQUITY	ANOUNT	ORG EQ	CUR ED
1.	\$126,498.	\$346,930.	\$36,143.	.1053	.1042
2.	131,270.	350,994.	41.415.	-1204	-1180
3.	136,943.	355,631.	46.588.	-1357	.1310
4.	142,327.	360,921.	51.972.	.1514	-1440
5.	148,691.	366,956.	58.336.	.1699	-1590
6.	154,521.	373,842.	64.166.	.1869	-1716
7.	160,588.	381,697.	70.233.	.2045	-1840
8.	167,710.	390,658.	77.355.	.2253	1980
9.	174,280.	400,882.	83.925.	.2444	.2094
10.	181,113.	412,546.	90,758.	.2643	.2200

ORIGINAL EQUITY: \$ 343367

NORTGAGE ANALYSIS AIR CARGO FACILITY ****************

.

. .

		HORT	HORT	DEBT		NTG.
YEAR	NOI	INT.	AMORT	SERV	DCR	BAL.
1.	126498.	86793.	3563.	90355.	1,400	653070.
2.	131770.	86291.	4064.	90355.	1.458	649006-
3.	136943.	85718.	4637.	90355.	1.516	644369
4.	142327.	85065.	5290.	90355.	1.575	A39079
5.	148691.	84320.	6035.	90355.	1-646	A33044
6.	154521.	83470.	4885.	90355.	1.710	626158.
7.	160588.	82500.	7855.	90355.	1.772	618303
8.	167710.	81374.	8961.	90355.	1.856	609342
9.	174280.	80132.	10224.	90355.	1,929	599118
10.	181113.	78692.	11664.	90355.	2.004	587454.
AV6	\$152,444.				1.697	

in the second se

1.687

EXHIBIT IV-4 (Continued)

DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE AIR CARGO FAC(LITY IMPROVEMENT # 1 STRAIGHT LINE NON-RESIDENTIAL

YEAR	TAX DEP.	S.L. DEP.	EXCESS DEP	BALANCE
۶.	555 55.6	55555.6	.0	944444.4
2.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	888888.9
3.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	833333.3
4.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	777777.8
5.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	722222.2
6.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	646666.6
7.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	611111.1
8.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	555555.5
9.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	500000.0
10.	55555.6	55555.6	.0	444444.4

	========	2222222	=======
FOTAL	55555.4	55555.6	.0

DISTRIBUTION OF CASH THROU-OFF AIR CARGO FACILITY

	CASH THROW-OFF	CASH (HROW-OFF	CASH BONUS
YEAK	TOTAL	TO EQUITY	TO LENDER
ŧ.	36143.	36143.	0.
2.	41415.	41415.	0.
3.	43588.	46588.	Q.
4.	51972.	51972.	0.
5.	58336.	58336.	0.
6.	64166.	64166.	0.
7.	70233.	70233.	0.
8.	77355.	77355.	0.
9.	83925.	83925.	0.
10.	90758.	90758.	0.
	*===**====		
	620888.	ó20888.	0.

RESALE PRICE:	\$1,130,000.
LESS NORTGAGE BALANCE:	\$587,454.
PROCEEDS BEFORE TAXES:	\$542,546.
LESS LENDER'S %:	\$0.
NET SALES PROCEEDS	
BEFORE TAXES:	\$542,546.

CASH THROW-OFF = 0%

.

REVERSION = OX

4610 University Avenue, Suite 105, Madison, Wisconsin 53705, 608-233-6400

Copy



Jemes A. Graaskamp, Ph.D., S.R.E.A., C.R.E. Jean B. Davis, M.S.

May 13, 1985

Norman P. Swent, Executive Director Northwest Center for Professional Education 13555 Bel-Red Road C-96870 Bellevue, WA 98009

Dear Paul:

Here are the two one-day course outlines | promised. Let me know if there is more detail required.

Please send a note confirming the various dates for the fall-winter read show as I seem to have misplaced your note.



NORTHWEST CENTER FOR PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

One Day Seminar

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

8:30 - 10:00

Defining the appraisal problem with the client, his attorney, and the accountant

- A. The issue for which the appraisal is required as a benchmark
- B. The exact "sticks" in the bundle of rights to be appraised
- C. The perspective in time, viewpoint, and going concern assumption controlling the appraisal
- D. The definition of value to be applied
- E. Responsibility for engineering, marketing, or legal/political data and assumptions
- F. Special enhancements or encumbrances to be valued as components
- G. Specification as to methods, data sources, and controls on use through letter of engagement

Coffee Break

10:15 - 12:00

Decision theory and improved methods for the market comparison approach

- A. The three approaches in the contemporary method
- B. Market inference by means of proxy patterns
- C. Why regression pricing is discredited
- D. Developing a pricing algorithm for comparable properties
- E. Selecting the proper unit of comparison
- F. The price per point per unit of comparison
- G. Developing a point system for significant attributes of comparison
- H. Developing a weighting system for the attribute scores
- Testing the price weighting system for best estimate of the comparables by hand or by computer
- J. Variations on the theme by Dilmore

LUNCH

1:00 - 3:00

Professionalizing the income approach or investment simulation approach

A. Recognizing the significance for allocating income to real estate, personalty, intangible assets or management, depending upon the issue for which the appraisal is sought as a benchmark

CONTEMPORARY ISSUES AND METHODS FOR APPRAISING COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES

- B. Perspective and accounting: cash or accrual, normalized or simulated
- C. Revenue classification and projection
- D. Operating expense classification and projection

2.

- E. Income from operations vs. cash for distribution
- F. Projecting increases, leakages, and concessions
- G. Formatting the pro forma real estate operating statement
- H. Financial footnotes in lieu of a narrative report

Coke Break

- 3:00 5:00 Case examples of defining the issue, the method, and the accounting relevant to litigation
 - A. Real estate tax appeal for subsidized houses
 - B. Credit enhanced elderly housing with HODAG and income from providing support services
 - C. Right-of-way for a power transmission line
 - D. Partnership values in dissolution
- 5:00 5:30 Professional status for the appraisers in litigation matters
 - A. The vested interest of the attorney
 - B. Counseling vs. advocacy
 - C. Compensation relative to value of service

Northwest Center essional Education

Jacest up

13555 Bel-Red Road, C-96870, Bellevue, Washington 98009 • (206) 746-4173

June 19, 1985

Dr. James A. Graaskamp Pyare Square Building 4610 University Ave. Room 118 Madison, WI 53705

Dear Jim:

As I'm sure you probably know by now, as a result of your discussion with Clem, we have decided to keep the New York City dates, September 26 and 27, for your program.

As you indicated, this fits your schedule the best, coupled with your personal objectives, so we will go ahead and market the program accordingly.

We look forward to a successful series of seminars.

Sincerely,

bun K

Norman P. Swent Executive Director

NPS/tk

PENSION FUND

-.

REAL ESTATE VALUATION ISSUES

Presented by

Professor James A. Graaskamp School of Business University of Wisconsin

September 27, 1985

PENSION FUND

.

REAL ESTATE VALUATION ISSUES

Presented by

Professor James A. Graaskamp School of Business University of Wisconsin

November 10-13, 1985

NORTHWEST CENTER FOR PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

One Day Seminar

REAL ESTATE VALUATION ISSUES FOR PENSION FUND REAL ESTATE

- 8:30 10:00 The case for greater standardization of appraisal/ accounting reporting for asset valuation and performance measurement
 - Α. Appraisal process must respond to issues for
 - which appraisal is required as a benchmark
 - 1. Adequacy of pension funding
 - 2. Entry/exit unit values of co-mingled shares in real estate pools
 - 3. Performance of asset managers
 - Β. Traditional presumptions of appraisal standardization
 - I. Appraisal format imposed by professional societies in the U.S.
 - 2. Appraisal format imposed in the Common Market
 - 3. Appraisal format under development for imposition by American intermediary banking institutions, i.e. FHLB, FDIC, and FNMA
 - 4. Guidelines for pension managers by NECREIF
 - C. Proposed research process of actual appraisal practices of pension real estate managers and methodology
 - 1. Formal pension policy, if any
 - 2. Selection and control of appraisals for asset measurement
 - Pattern of practice revealed in actual 3. paired appraisals
 - 4. Procedure and controls on internal appraisal values by asset managers between anniversary appraisals
 - D. Preliminary findings of study financed by PREA interpreted by Graaskamp and Gibson are basis for following discussion

Coffee Break

- 10:15 12:00Suggested requirements for developing consistent appraisal quality and performance by appraisers Α.
 - Basic components of standardization process
 - 1. Standards promulgated by industry association
 - 2. Written policy statement by pension fund sponsor

- 3. Written appraisal method statement to implement #2 by asset manager
- 4. Letter of engagement to the appraiser
- 5. Explicit methodology and terminology from appraisal association
- B. Standards promulgated by industry association
 - 1. FASB and MAIs
 - 2. Consistency with NECREIF guidelines
 - 3. Objectives of ERISA
 - 4. Total fee income and substantial economic ties constituting conflict of interest
 - 5. A vacuum of appraisal standards or white paper methods
- C. Valuation controls imposed by pension sponsor
 - 1. Frequency, quality, and independence
 - 2. Parameters for projection and simulation
 - 3. Responsibility for structural and mechanical engineering integrity
 - .4. Permissible level of aggregate simulation
 - Segrated accounts vs. open co-mingled accounts
 - 6. Accounting issues in the aggregate-
 - D. Some suggested formats

LUNCH

.4

• 1

- 1:00 2:30 Basic problems in appraiser execution of the market approach to values
 - A. Failure to establish the best unit of comparison between properties
 - B. Failure to report terms of sale or quantitative adjustments for cash equivalency
 - C. Failure to establish rules for selection and quantification of accounting patterns
 - D. Failure to explain adjustments for differences
 - E. Failure to report addresses and transaction details of comparables
 - F. Other findings

Coke Break

- 2:45 3:45 The perceived need for a standardized accounting format, accounting rules, and assumptions
 - A. Inconsistency of discounted cash flow concepts and appraisal pro forma accounting
 - B. Establishing formats for revenue schedules, expense schedules, and working capital commitments to amortizable assets such as tenant improvements, lease renewal commissions, and financing charges
 - C. Providing the appraiser with receipt and expenditure models pre-build by accountants for market review by appraisers--an ethical issue?

REAL ESTATE VALUATION ISSUES FOR PENSION FUND REAL ESTATE

- 1. Independence vs. integration of accountingbudgeting and appraisal forecasting
- Selecting value benchmarks relevant to 2. solvency, resale, and comparative performance of asset manager
- Accounting vs. appraisal relative to 3. replecation, validation, and representativeness of economic results
- Alternative methods of income property valuation D. control revealed by PREA study
- Philosophies and practices of asset managers relative to internal appraisal procedures
 - Alternative internal procedures and controls Α.
 - Justification of quarterly adjustments to Β. independent appraisals
 - C. Integration of capital expenditures during interim period with independent appraisers
 - D. Reallocation of values relative to leasehold value and investment value due to passage of time and perceived changes in discount rates
 - Should quarterly sequence of appraised value Ε. changes and source of change be indicated for each property for fund investors?

Alternatives to more disciplined appraisal practices that would be easier to implement and more cost effective

- Valuation reserves reflecting potential Α. appraisal bias to the high side, which are deducted from asset value
 - Effect is to provide a bid and asked unit 1. price
 - Effect recognizes that investors who are 2. exiting see less favorable risk/payoff matrix than those who are remaining or investing
- Β. Dollar-averaging of commitments to invest or disinvest over six quarters so that two independent appraisals of total portfolio could have occurred
- Prohibiting quarterly internal adjustments C. to value with the exception that capital expenditures would be carried as a separate account to the next valuation date of each property

3:45 - 4:30

4:30 - 5:00

PENSION FUND REAL ESTATE VALUATION ISSUES

Presented by

Professor James A. Graaskamp, Ph.D., CRE, SREA University of Wisconsin, School of Business

INTRODUCTION

- I. Appraisal is a specialty in the rapidly evolving information business in a society where a majority of the people are involved in information processing. Appraisers systematically collect information, organize, analyze, and interpret the data, reach decisions and communicate essential information to a client.
 - A. Real estate appraisal is a pivotal benchmark for decisions involving social equity (eminent domain and real estate taxes), validation of value for regulatory purposes (loans and pension security), benchmarking of asset management performance (pensions and fixed assets on balance sheets), and counseling for allocation of land uses and cost effective capital allocation. Ethical issues pervade the process.
 - B. Information processing by appraisers is similar to the work of accountants, lawyers, investment counselors, and insurance people. Unlike accountants and others, appraisers receive little help from their professional organizations in the form of position papers which define appropriate methods for a particular question.
 - Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) continually modifies generally accepted accounting principles to fit new problems such as mergers, current values of fixed assets, accounting for real estate operations, etc.
 - 2. The Lawyers' Ethics Committee has placed responsibility for "misleading" appraisals in tax work and eminent domain on the attorneys. The IRS can blacklist appraisers whose values exceed 150 percent of ultimate courtroom settlements.
 - 3. Securities people have the SEC, Midwest Securities Associations, and various licensing agencies.

- 4. Appraisers have no such independent source or consensus. Even the eighth edition of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraiser's (AIREA) textbook, <u>The Appraisal of Real Estate</u>, disclaims any responsibility for being a
- C. In the absence of professional standards, appraisal clients have taken responsibility for initiating true reforms or exploiting nominal format disinformation.
 - 1. In the 1930s, reform of the residential mortgage markets led to development of the three approaches and creation of the Institute in order to define a standard of malfeasance and self-policing organization to control malpractice. The hope was that a very systematic format would provide a standard for evaluating
 - 2. The volatility of real estate values due to inflation and the legal risks and costs of enforcement made it difficult to operationalize professional enforcement for 25,000 appraisers. However, pension fund real estate may involve only 250 appraisal firms or appraisers.
 - 3. Systematic formats once taught to everyone dealing with appraisal without stringent review leads to the potential for disinformation.
 - 4. Disinformation is military intelligence language for providing information which appears to be correct in form and terminology so that the reader rationalizes to the wrong conclusion.
 - 5. Disinformation through an appraisal format is a conspiracy of cooperation between the appraiser and his client to satisfy regulators, provide cover against second guessing on transactions which go awry, or rationalize common objectives to make a mortgage loan, negotiate real estate taxes, negotiate divorce settlements, etc.
- D. The opportunity for disinformation has been enhanced by low cost minicomputers which encourage standard formats for word processing and use of large data banks of unknown quality.
 - Sophisticated formats and boilerplate prose in industrial volume tend to conceal the validity of assumptions driving the process.
 - 2. Data banks lead to unknowing or deliberate misues of statistics. Ultimately, the Home Loan Bank had to disallow single family home appraisals

using Ellwood because of the subtle potential for distortion of the appraisal process.

- 3. The ethics of data analysis, manipulation, and communication is overwhelming the professional societies and the costs of abuse are falling on public institutions such as FSLDIC and ERISA, rather than the appraiser or his client.
- E. The appraisal process was therefore unprepared to deal with real estate investment and fiduciary account where values had to be determined monthly, quarterly, or annually.
 - 1. Real estate is a long-term investment which does not lend itself to constant measurement of value perceived, actual or by inference, from a market of fungible goods.
 - 2. The cost of proper valuation as well as the time to conduct the appraisal make any result untimely and less than cost-effective.
 - 3. The cost of cheap appraisal is a loss of sensitivity to the value fluctuations necessary to validate asset values, measure performance of the asset, or monitor the skills of the asset manager.
- F. Quality control of the appraisal process for pension fund assets will require a broad set of administrative efforts by associations of pension sponsors, asset managers, and appraisal organizations to overcome the general distrust of appraisal created by its use for disinformation in other areas and to accomplish its goals in facilitating efficient use of real estate capital.
 - 1. Pressure must be taken off the cost-effectiveness of the appraisal process by reducing the frequency, but increasing the quality of independent appraisal by changing existing administrative policies.
 - 2. An association of pension sponsors and ERISA must establish the standards for selection and performance of appraisers since appraisal organizations are not well-equipped to deal with narrow specialities within a generic profession.
 - 3. Appraisal clients and appraisal organizations specifically concerned with pension real estate

will have to create their own appraisal methodology to meet objectives in a proactive format.

- G. To that end, it will be useful to review various efforts to interface appraisal theory, methodology, and institutional regulatory objectives, in general, as well as in reference to pensions, in particular.
- II. The general conceptual framework of the appraisal process has been expanding at a rate which would keep pace with information processing tendencies of our society. Valuation theories range from the mysticism of Dilmore to the pragmatism of Ratcliff to the deductive idealistic logic of traditional approaches.
 - A. In the information game there are three approaches to valuation methodology, according to Dilmore.
 - 1. ORDER assumes under everything is a universe in which the parts fit, information has a shape. Remember the test for color blindness, as random dots in random colors until suddenly you see the red dots only as a letter or number. As appraisers, we look for the red dots. We try to organize data objectively which has been subjectively collected and perhaps naive.
 - 2. CHANCE acknowledges the possibility of alternative outcomes in our little closed system. Imprecision is inherent to behavioral science. No respectable scientist is afraid of the work error or variance. We know in part and see but through a glass darkly. We may be able to predict without always understanding cause and effect because of unknown cross-correlations.
 - 3. BEAUTY can be a legitimate basis for constructing a hypothesis--elegance is the ultimate intuitive choice, judgement, or gut response. Models may be elegant and not fully understood, but useful and sometimes dangerous like Ellwood, regression, and cost.
 - B. Each of the above may have application to the pension process to the effect that current value can be stabilized with standardized methods stressing investigation to expose the exception; chance must be an appropriate way of measuring present value of uncertain futures, and elegance may lead to development of portfolio models based on the entire portfolio of leases by industry rather than individual buildings per se or some other concept.

- C. Ratcliff restated contemporary real estate appraisal theory into an inductive, pragmatic process to be further considered today.
 - 1. The issue for which the appraisal is sought as a benchmark would define value, the assets to be included in the appraisal, and the necessary cost effectiveness of the process. For Ratcliff, it was an inductive process which moved from description of the property to identification of alternative uses.
 - 2. Alternative uses could be evaluated to identify the most probable use, which in turn would identify the most probable buyer type.
 - 3. The appraisal problem was to forecast the price at which the most probable buyer and seller would make a deal under a specific set of decision rules or conditions.
- D. For Ratcliff, the best way to forecast how a specific buyer-type would behave in the future was to observe how they had behaved in the past in similar circumstances. Ratcliff advocated a specific hierarchy of approaches to valuation, once again a trinity, (1) INFERENCE FROM A SET OF MARKET TRANSACTIONS, (2) BUYER SIMULATION, or (3) NORMATIVE METHODS OF DEDUCTIVE LOGIC.
 - 1. MARKET INFERENCE from a set of market transactions required actual transactions involving properties with similar productivity potential as the subject property to be appraised and buyers presumed to have similar motivation to the most probable buyer identified from the scenario of alternative uses. Depending on the number of available data points, inference could involve statistics, set theory, or simple bracketing.
 - 2. BUYER SIMULATION of the buyer calculus may be required in the absence of definitive sales. Simulation can range from conventional benchmarks like price per barrel of cranberry production or licensed nursing home beds to discounted cash flow models using probability techniques.
 - 3. NORMATIVE methods are the deductive logic of economists and appraisers reflecting what the market should do if it were as smart as the appraiser. Deductive approaches like the cost approach are the least likely to be predictive of market behavior, and therefore inappropriate for predicting most probable price, but logically
compatible with the artificial concept of fair market value.

- E. The traditional approaches at a simple, idealistic logic and economic rational is based on the principle of substitution--specifically that buyers and sellers had alternative of nearly equal acceptability, or sentiment, not to mention access to cash capital and freedom from irritation and duress.
 - 1. MARKET COMPARISON methods are preferred, but the appraisal profession has found it difficult to develop objective methods for neutralizing differences and selecting properties objectively.
 - 2. The INCOME APPROACH is schizophrenic as to whether it is measuring economic productivity, the sum of liability, or the change in spendable cash for ownership through control of property rights.
 - 3. The COST APPROACH has moved from unethical according to the National Association of Realtors (NAR) in 1925, to pivotal in 1935, to embarrassing in 1985 since no one is sure if fiduciary responsibility requires a cost approach to avoid a sin of omission in the event of unforseen disputes about value.
- F. However, none of these methodologies as logic systems structure the behavioral process required of the appraiser and his client. The client assumes that the task is defined when you ask for an appraisal and the appraiser assumes the client understands the rationale and appropriate application of fair market value or probable price. Both are more concerned with form than the substance of careful recognition of the problem for which the appraisal will serve as a benchmark. The problem suggests:
 - 1. Objective appraisal
 - a. Validate purchase price as appropriate.
 - b. Identify change in price over time, if any.
 - c. Independent inspection of property and
 - review of property management effectiveness.
 - d. Liquidating value of asset currently.
 - e. Future value of present assets.
 - f. Historical return on investment or future return on investment, real or nominal.
 - 2. Definition of value to be sought
 - a. Alternative definitions of value and related assumptions.

- b. Which definition of value is to be applied to which problem?
- c. Market value vs. probable price. (Exhibit 1)
- 3. Definition of assets to be valued
 - a. Property rights to be appraised.
 - b. Accounting rules to defining assets, collectively (going concern) or individually (liquidating).
- 4. Definition of methods to be used
 - a. What constitutes comparative market data?
 - b. What constitutes objective market comparisons?
 - c. What constitutes an income approach to value?
 - d. Relevance of the cost approach to appraisal and appraisal adjustments.
 - e. Which appraisal methods are appropriate to which appraisal functions?
- 5. Definition of elements income approach
 - a. Cash or accrual accounting.
 - b. Going concern value or value attributed to land and buildings.
 - c. Accounting rules for income.
 - d. Forecasting rules for changing income and expenses.
 - e. Estimating rules for changing income and expenses.
 - f. Provision for resale cost.
 - g. Conformity with historical pattern and leases in place for project.
- 6. Definition of appraiser/client relationship
 - a. Who was considered an independent observer?
 - b. Frequency of appraisal.
 - c. Who was the arbiter of methods for integrating information into cohesive standardized formats suitable for measuring comparative performance?
- III. Ironically, quality control of the appraisal process is in the hands of the customers for appraisal services, specifically those who stand to lose by permitting current conditions to continue. Historically, reform of the appraisal process has always been in the control of the customer who invests or guarantees real estate capital.
 - A. Historical origins of the three approaches

- 1. The cost approach and the life insurance industry.
- 2. The income approach and academia and the FHA.
- 3. The market approach and the National Association of Realtors.
- B. Standardized reporting requirements of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers begin with Canon 5 of their Code of Ethics and is provided in Exhibit 2.
 - 1. The Institute has never issued white papers on specific appraisal problems to standardize professional response to changing issues of common interest.
 - 2. The Institute doubts if it is cost-effective to develop special standards for those who do pension work if only 150-200 of its 6,000 members have substantial business responsibility.
 - 3. Recently the Institute has tried to issue white papers as guidelines, and a sample of such an effort is provided in Exhibit 3.
- C. More recent efforts at quality control include:
 - 1. The Home Loan Bank redirecting appraisal attention to R-41-b. (Exhibit 4).
 - 2. FNMA and FHLBMC and requirements for appraising multi-family development.
 - 3. Residential form appraisals for FNMA, VA, FHA, and FHLBMC.
- D. The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and the European Common Market Accountants have been developing a standardized language and procedure for the valuation of and reporting balance sheet assets. (See Exhibits 5, 6, 7, 8.)
- E. Requirements for developing consistent appraisal performance standards for pension programs requires a six-step process:
 - 1. Development of a written policy statement by pension fund trustees relative to reporting of real estate asset values by money managers responsible for real estate.
 - 2. A written appraisal standard followed by a specific real estate fund manager's report covering both minimum standards shared with an association of managers and unique features

believed to provide better communication to fund trustees of important underlying facts and assumptions inherent in the appraisals.

- 3. A standard letter of engagement when contracting for appraisal services implementing the written policies of sponsor and money manager.
- 4. A standard procedure for in-house appraisal reviews in the interim between independent outside appraisal reviews, including tolerance for variance before reporting changed values.
- 5. Auditing and monitoring of appraisal reports by specially trained, CPA reviewers as part of the accounting audit process.
- 6. Spot checking of appraisal procedures and a review process for disapproval of appraisal firms found to be likely of misinformation or misapplication of technique by ERISA.
- F. An early effort at appraisal control was a Letter of Engagement used at First Asset Realty Advisors (FARA) together with knowledgeable efforts to select the best local assessors. (See Exhibit 9).
 - 1. The best appraisers are difficult to pick by reputation as the big names delegate their work to apprentices.
 - 2. Some appraisers admit to being intimidated and avoiding the assignment or charging extra for the assignment, anticipating that FARA will be more demanding.
 - 3. On balance, we are getting better appraisals than most of the funds we have seen in our research at a higher average cost.
- G. The FARA letter was followed by an effort by the National Council of Real Estate Investment Fiduciaries (NCREIF) to develop guidelines and the result of that effort currently is shown by Draft #2 in Exhibit 10.
 - 1. NCREIF Committee dominated by Prudential accounting firm.
 - 2. It concluded that standardization was not possible without review of a broad range of appraisals throughout various sectors of the industry.
 - 3. Many of the NCREIF Committee felt that empirical investigation of the appraisal practices might

discourage the utilitarian use of real estate in a pension portfolio and opposed independent study.

- H. Appraisal standards are ultimately the responsibility of those funding the pension program and directing the money manager, rather than any failure by the appraisal profession. The profession has always done what it is paid to do and if its tasks were not fully defined, that is because it served the purposes of the customer who was ambiguous. The pension sponsors must determine what they are willing to pay for relevant appraisal value in terms of:
 - 1. Frequency, quality, and independence.
 - 2. Parameters for market comparison or inference.
 - 3. Responsibility for structural and mechanical engineering integrity.
 - 4. Accounting issues for income projection and discounting.
 - 5. Relevance of cost approach.
 - 6. Comprehensive interpretation of fiduciary responsibilities and relationship to appraiser.

EXHIBIT 1

DEFINITION OF MARKET VALUE AND MOST PROBABLE PRICE

•

CURRENT OFFICIAL DEFINITION OF FAIR MARKET VALUE

The most probable price in cash, terms equivalent to cash, or in other precisely revealed terms, for which the appraised property will sell in a competitive market under all conditions requisite to fair sale, with the buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and for self-interest, and assuming that neither is under undue duress.

Fundamental assumptions and conditions presumed in this definition are

- 1. Buyer and seller are motivated by self-interest.
- 2. Buyer and seller are well informed and are acting prudently.
- 3. The property is exposed for a reasonable time on the open market.
- 4. Payment is made in cash, its equivalent, or in specified financing terms generally available for the property type in its locale on the effective appraisal date.
- 5. The effect, if any, on the amount of market value of atypical financing, services, or fees shall be clearly and precisely revealed in the appraisal report. [1]
- [1] American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, <u>The Appraisal</u> of <u>Real Estate</u>, Eighth Edition, Chicago, IL, 1983, p. 33.

CONTEMPORARY DEFINITION OF MOST PROBABLE PRICE

"Most Probable Selling Price", as defined by Professor Richard U. Ratcliff:

The most probable selling price is that selling price which is most likely to emerge from a transaction involving the subject property if it were exposed for sale in the current market for a reasonable time at terms of sale which are currently predominant for properties of the subject type. [1]

[1] Unpublished quotation, Richard U. Ratcliff speaking on his book <u>Valuation for Real Estate Decisions</u>, Santa Cruz, CA, Democratic Press, 1972.

EXHIBIT 2

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF REAL ESTATE APPRAISERS

•

4

Reporting Requirements of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers

Canon 5 of AIREA Regulation 10 (Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct) establishes the minimum requirements for both written and oral appraisal reports prepared by members and candidates of the Institute. The explanatory comments for Canon 5 state:

The Institute requires its Members, in arriving at an analysis, conclusion or opinion concerning real estate, to employ all of the recognized appraisal methods and techniques that will materially contribute to a proper evaluation of such real estate or to a solution of the real estate problem under consideration. As a corollary to this rule, the Institute also requires that the appraisal process contain a clear statement of all of the assumptions made, together with a reasonably complete summary of the work done in arriving at each analysis, conclusion or opinion concerning real estate contained in the report... A Member of the Institute must preserve his or her supporting data relating to a written appraisal report.

There are a number of specific reporting rules; some are obligatory and others are recommendations that should be followed unless there are substantial reasons, disclosed in the report, for not doing so.

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

A clear and reasonably complete description of the property may include the street address, legal description, ownership, building name, and any other information that will assist in identifying the property. The identification may be part of the larger property description section of the report or a separate one- or two-sentence capsule included in the introduction to the report.

Property Identification

A complete address may suffice for a conforming residential property. For other properties an address should be included if one is available; if there have been recent changes in the street names or numbering schemes, both the present and prior addresses should be included. If the property is a vacant lot, the property address might be "the lot lying between or adjacent to" a property with an assigned street address. If only a part of the

22

address is the subject of the report, or if the report covers a project identified by the address plus adjacent excess land, the address portion of the property identification should make this clear. For example:

1250 Sleepy Hollow Lane Centerland, California 92660

1250 Sleepy Hollow Lane (previously known as 940 Tallow Street) Centerland, California 92660

The 50' by 120' lot situated between 1050 and 1056 Main Street Centerland, California 92660

456 Main Street Centerland, California 92660 except for the rear 75 feet of that address facing on the alley

320 Main Street Centerland, California 92660 plus the rear 75 feet of 318 Main Street

Legal Description

A legal description of the property, if available, should be included. A reasonably short description can be included in the body of the report; a lengthy legal description may be placed in the addenda. If the description is at all complex, it is advisable to provide the source of the description—e.g., deed, title policy, assessor's records, or record of survey. If a legal description is not available, the report should say so and a clear map identifying the property should be included in the report. For example:

Lot 23 of Tract 4630 per map recorded in Page 23 of Book 4215 on July 15, 1957, in the Official Records of Simon County.

Exhibit B in the Addenda of this report contains a metes and bounds legal description as it appeared on the Grant Deed transferring ownership of the subject property to the Cowly Corporation on July 15, 1978.

As of the date of this appraisal, a legal description conforming to the portion of the Smith Ranch that is the subject of this appraisal had not been prepared. The subject property is outlined in red on the map labeled "Plat of Land" on page 23 of this report. It is assumed that a legal description that is adequate for the transfer of real property and that conforms to the property delineated on this map will be prepared.

Ownership data assist in the clear identification of property. For example:

The subject property consists of that 42.5 acres of vacant unimproved land which was acquired by Mr. Frank L. Smith on December 30, 1979, by Grant Deed recorded in Page 1521, Book 43762 of Deeds, in the Collins County Courthouse.

Even if there is a six-page detailed description of the property elsewhere in the report, the property identification and description portion is enhanced by a concise description of the property, such as: The subject property is a six-year-old, three-story office building containing 24,320 square feet of gross building area. It is located on a 52,320-square foot parcel of land with 126 feet of frontage on Main Street.

STATEMENT OF FACTS, CONDITIONS, AND ASSUMPTIONS

It is good business practice for the appraiser and the client to agree in advance on the assumptions and limiting conditions that will apply to the report. Many appraisers include a copy of assumptions and limiting conditions with the appraisal proposal or contract. This portion of the report sets forth not only general assumptions and conditions that would apply to every report, but also any specific assumptions that apply to the particular appraisal.

Some assumptions and limiting conditions make a report a limited appraisal report; in such cases, there are additional requirements, which will be discussed and illustrated later in this chapter.

STATEMENTS RELATIVE TO NEIGHBORHOOD DECLINE

All written appraisal reports concerning residential real estate that state that a neighborhood is undergoing decline or is about to undergo decline must contain the specific facts or reasoning from which the opinion or conclusion of neighborhood decline is drawn.

DATE OF VALUE

The date of value is usually included in the letter of transmittal, in the introductory section of the report, and in the concluding valuation statement. This date is not to be confused with the date the transmittal letter was prepared, the date the assignment was started, or the date of inspection. Any or all of these dates may be the same as the date of value, but they usually are not. The only mandatory date is the date of value, but good business practice dictates that other significant dates also be identified, e.g., the transmittal date (the date the completed report is transmitted to the client), the date of inspection, the date of photographs.

REASONING THAT SUPPORTS THE VALUATION

Unless the appraisal report is a limited report—one that does not show all of the appraiser's reasoning—and has been properly qualified as such, the reader must be able to follow the appraiser's thought processes from the data presented to the conclusions formed. A "limited report" must comply with the special requirements of a limited report (see pp. 27-28).

SPECIAL DISCLOSURES

Fractional Interests

All appraisal reports that involve a valuation of a fractional interest, i.e., less than the whole fee simple estate, must clearly state that the value reported relates only to a fractional interest in the real estate involved, and that the value of this fractional interest plus

the value of all other fractional interests may or may not equal the value of the entire fee simple estate. Typically, this is included in the statement of assumptions and limiting conditions. A common example is a report of a leasehold interest appraisal. The qualifying statement is required to demonstrate to the reader that the sum of the lessor's and lessee's interests is not necessarily equal to the fee simple estate.

Larger Parcel

All appraisal reports relating to the valuation of a geographic portion of a larger parcel or tract of real estate must clearly state that the value reported is for that portion only and should not be construed as applying with equal validity to other portions of the larger parcel or tract. In addition, it must be clear that the value reported for the portion plus the value of all other geographic portions may or may not equal the value of the entire parcel or tract. This statement typically appears in the assumptions and limiting conditions section of the report.

Personal Interest or Bias

All written appraisal reports must state that the appraiser has no present or contemplated future interest in the property appraised, and that the appraiser has no personal interest or bias with respect to the subject matter or the parties involved in the appraisal. If a statement of this nature cannot be made, the report must clearly and frankly disclose all such personal interest or bias.

PROFESSIONAL CONTRIBUTION OF OTHERS

Written appraisal reports are to acknowledge the professional contributions of others in arriving at the analyses, conclusions, or opinions concerning real estate contained in the appraisal report or state that no one other than the person or persons signing the report prepared the analyses, conclusions, and opinions therein.

If several professional appraisers work on a report, and all agree to and sign it, they include a statement similar to the following in their certificate:

No one other than the appraisers whose signatures appear below has prepared the analyses, conclusions, and opinions concerning real estate which are included in this report.

If the appraisers were assisted by a cost estimator who worked only on the cost portion of the report, they may use something similar to the following:

The assistance of John A. Doe, who prepared the cost estimate used in this report, is acknowledged. Except for Mr. Doe's assistance, no one other than the appraisers whose signatures appear below prepared the analyses, conclusions, and opinions concerning real estate which are included in this report.

If another appraiser, who asks not to be identified because of personal or policy considerations, was consulted and contributed substantially to the report, the statement might be:

The assistance and counsel of another appraiser not employed by this firm and who

requests that he not be identified is hereby acknowledged. Except for this appraiser's assistance, no one other than the undersigned prepared these analyses, conclusions, and opinions concerning real estate contained in this report.

Canon 5 does not require a member of the Institute to acknowledge assistance received in obtaining the data on which the appraisal report is based, assistance received in the physical preparation of the report (e.g., taking photographs; preparing charts, maps, or graphs; or typing or printing), or any other assistance that does not directly involve the exercise of judgment in arriving at the analyses, opinions, or conclusions concerning real estate.

The rule requiring acknowledgment of the professional contributions of others does not reduce the responsibility of those who sign a written appraisal report; in evaluating such reports, clients, mortgage lenders, and other users are entitled to rely on the signatures of all who sign. Therefore, although others may participate in the preparation of a written appraisal report, any member of the Institute who signs or cosigns a report must accept responsibility for the contents of the entire report.

PUBLIC DISCLOSURE

The recommended public disclosure statement of the Institute's Code of Ethics (Canon 7, Regulation 10) is:

Disclosure of the contents of this report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers of the National Association of Realtors. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as to value, the identity of the appraiser or any reference to the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers or to the MAI or RM designation) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising media, public relations media, news media, sales media or any other public means of communication, without the prior written consent and approval of the author.

This statement is meant to preclude the potential misuse of the Institute's name and professional designations that can arise when a member's client elects to publicize the results of an appraisal report. Excessive or exploitative use of designations, sometimes out of appropriate context, does not serve the interests of the Institute, which its members should seek to protect. A client may be inclined to excerpt or quote portions of the report in promotional literature, and such practices are a potential source of great damage.

The language of a report can be misquoted, used out of context, or printed without reference to the assumptions or limiting conditions contained in the report, and may thus give a false impression of the report, the appraiser, or the profession. Although the specific use of a report is generally a matter of negotiation between the appraiser and the client, the Institute encourages its members to be aware of potential abuses and, whenever possible, to include appropriate contractual restrictions on a client's freedom to reproduce or republish an appraisal report.

CERTIFICATE

According to the Institute's Code of Ethics, all written reports must contain a certificate substantially in the following form:

I (we), the undersigned, do hereby certify that I (we) have (or have not) inspected the subject property and that to the best of my (our) knowledge and belief, the statements

of fact contained in this report, upon which the analyses, opinions, and conclusions expressed herein are based, are true and correct; also, this report sets forth all of the limiting conditions affecting the analyses, opinions, and conclusions contained in this report; also, this report has been made in conformity with and is subject to the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers of the National Association of Realtors.

The American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers conducts a voluntary program of continuing education for its designated members. MAIs and RMs who meet the minimum standards of this program are awarded periodic educational certification.

One of the following statements also must be included:

I am certified under this program through_____. I was last certified under this program through_____. I have not been certified under this program.

LIMITED APPRAISAL AND REPORT

A distinction is made between a limited appraisal, as defined by Canon 4 of Institute Regulation 10, and a limited report, as defined by Canon 5 of Regulation 10. In Canon 4 limitations on the scope of the appraisal process are treated; in Canon 5 limitations on the completeness of the report are addressed.

A limited appraisal could consist of an investigation and analysis that do not meet the requirements of established procedures of the Institute. For example, when a limited time schedule is required by the client, portions of the investigation and analysis may be curtailed or omitted. One of the approaches to value that would normally be included may be omitted, or certain reasonable assumptions may be made relative to highest and best use without the full investigation normally undertaken. However, before an appraiser can accept and perform such an assignment, three important requirements must be met.

- 1. Prior to accepting a limited assignment, the member must advise the client that the assignment calls for something less than the work required for a full and complete appraisal and that the appraisal report will be qualified to reflect the limited scope of the assignment.
- 2. The limited scope of the assignment must be sent forth in the appraisal report (and in any testimony concerning the appraisal) in a clear, precise manner.
- 3. The scope of the assignment must not be so limited that the results obtained are meaningless or could mislead the client or the public.

These requirements deal with a limitation on the scope of the appraisal process; Canon 5 deals with a limitation on the completeness of the report. It is quite possible that a complete investigation and analysis were undertaken but, by prior agreement, only the conclusions are set forth and the data and reasoning are retained in the appraiser's file. The result is what is typically referred to as a letter report (see Chapter 5).

Although part or all of the data and reasoning can be omitted, the following must be included: the certificate of appraisal, an adequate identification of the property, a date of value, the required limiting conditions referred to in the certificate of appraisal statement, acknowledgment of the contributions of others, and the statement of nonbias. To omit any of these items would make the report meaningless or misleading. A limited report must meet the same three conditions listed above for a limited appraisal. There are also requirements for preparing an expanded appraisal report, which contains more than is required by Institute standards. In these cases, the same three rules apply.

The first condition of prior client advice is best met by an agreement in writing. This can be part of the proposal letter or can be contained in a specific instruction from the client or the attorney of the client.

THE EVALUATION REPORT

The preface to the Institute's Regulation 10 clearly states that it applies to both valuation and evaluation reports. The word *valuation* is used to refer to the estimate of the value of a particular parcel of real estate at a particular point in time. The word *evaluation* is used in the broader sense as an evaluation of the nature, quality, or utility of any parcel of real estate. Examples of evaluation reports include marketability studies, feasibility reports, land-use studies, investment decision analyses, and cost-benefit studies.

When the reporting rules of Canon 5 apply to valuation assignments only, the qualifying phrase "a valuation of a particular parcel or tract of real estate" is used. In all other instances, the reporting rules apply equally to evaluation and valuation reports as do the general considerations of good communication.

5

The Letter Report

In some instances, by prior agreement with the client, the appraiser will submit the results of an appraisal in letter form. As described in the preceding chapter, this type of report generally sets forth only the conclusions of the appraiser's investigations and analyses. Although much of the data and reasoning is omitted from the letter, the following items must be included to make the report meaningful: the certificate, adequate identification of the property, the date of value, limiting conditions, acknowledgment of the contributions of others, and a statement of nonbias.

Example 5.1 offers a typical letter report, documenting the appraisal of a mobile home park.

EXAMPLE 5.1. Letter of Opinion

(Appraiser's Letterhead)

August 25, 1981

Mr. Harold S. Huntington Trans-Atlantic Factors 2082 Murphy Drive, Suite 300 Irvine, California 92715

Re: Appraisal of 274-Space Mobile Home Park 3200 Fedlow Road San Jose, California

Dear Mr. Huntington:

Upon your authorization, we have conducted the investigations and analyses necessary to form an opinion of the market value of the fee simple interest in the mobile home park located at 3200 Fedlow Road in the City of San Jose.

The opinions set forth in this letter are stated as of July 15, 1981.

The term "market value" is defined as:

The highest price on the date of valuation that would be agreed to by a seller, being willing to sell but under no particular or urgent necessity for so doing, nor obliged to sell, and a buyer, being ready, willing, and able to buy but under no particular necessity for so doing, each dealing with the other with full knowledge of all the uses and purposes for which the property is reasonably adaptable and available.

The analyses and opinions in this letter are subject to the following premises, assumptions, and limitations:

Per the request of the client, this appraisal is limited in that the only approach to value used is the income approach. Market data and reasoning supporting our analyses, conclusions, and opinions have been retained in our files.

Based upon these investigations and analyses, and upon our experience as real estate appraisers, we have reached the opinion that the subject, as of July 15, 1981, has a market value of:

THREE MILLION SIX HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$3,600,000)

Mr. Lafferty certifies that, during the completion of the assignment, he has personally inspected the property that is the subject of this report. Ms. Sullivan has not inspected the property.

The undersigned hereby certify that, except as specifically noted:

- 1. We have no present or contemplated future interest in the real estate or personal interest with respect to the subject matter or the parties involved in this appraisal letter, and our employment in this matter is not in any manner contingent upon anything other than the delivery of this report.
- To the best of our knowledge and belief, the statements of fact contained in this appraisal letter, upon which the analyses, opinions, and conclusions expressed herein are based, are true and correct.
- 3. This appraisal letter sets forth all of the limiting conditions (imposed by the terms of our assignment

continued

or by the undersigned) affecting the analyses, opinions, and conclusions contained in this report.

- 4. This appraisal letter has been made in conformity with, and is subject to, the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers of the National Association of Realtors.
- 5. We alone have prepared the analyses, opinions, and conclusions concerning real estate that are set forth in this appraisal letter.

Disclosure of the contents of this appraisal letter is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers of the National Association of Realtors. In furtherance of the aims of the Institute to develop higher standards of professional performance by its members, the appraisers may be required to submit to authorized committees of said Institute copies of this report and any subsequent changes or modifications thereof.

Respectfully submitted,

Charles W. Lafferty Ruth V. Sullivan, MAI

6

The Form Report

Many lending institutions and certain government agencies prefer a form report to a narrative report. This is particularly true for single-family residential appraisals. The form appraisal is preprinted with a combination of check-off boxes and blank lines for insertion of words or short comments.

The advantage of a form report is that the review appraiser knows exactly where to find all essential elements of the report and can do so quickly and efficiently. The disadvantage is that the appraisal problem is frequently not suited to the form. If special analyses or discussions are required, the form must be supplemented with attachments, which must be cross-referenced to specific sections of the form.

For Institute members and candidates, a form report must meet the reporting requirements of the Institute or otherwise qualify as a limited report under the conditions set forth in Canon 5 of Regulation 10.

A sample of a form report appears on the following pages.

32

25

:

۱

EXAMPLE 6.1 FNMA-FHLMC Form Appraisal

				RESI			AIJAL AL				7 84		
Property Address	7540 Ha	lesia	8					Census Tract		Map Refere	nce		
City Parks:	ide			Ç	Nety	Cook		State I	L	Z ig Cod	. 60	062	
Legal Description													
Actual Real Estate T	azes \$	ARCE OF 2	Sure Evel La	en charges (o be pard	the setter S	Vrs Propert	y Hights Age	Parsed by Pa	e () Lean	hold	DeMinin	IN PUD
Lender/Client M1	chael Ha	ber/F	Fred He	iss		Ade	Fress						
Occupant Mr. &	Mrs. Av	08	A0013-101			104	tructions to A						
L													
Eucarion Built Lin	L] Urber] Over	755	53 255	10en n 75%		ndar 764.	Frankan			6	5	~ I
Growth Rate	ully Dev [] Rape	4	Se Stead	¥		NO	Cenvenie	nce to Emolo	enent.			H . I
Property Values	, č] Incres	asing	Stable	r	<u> </u>	clining	Convenie	nce to Shopp	ng	38	33	Ξl
Demand/Supply	C] Shart	tage	🔂 in Sal	lance	<u> </u>	er Supply	Convenie	nce to School	6			3
Marketing Time] Unde	# 3 Mes	图 4-61	10.	_ ⊡ °∽	er 6 Mos	Arlequacy	of Public Tri	Rei fei teigen	3		
Freient Land Use OL	2 % 1 Farmily	20	Z 4 Family	v <u>10</u> s Api	<u>s 10 </u> e	Conde	& Commercial	Recreetio	nel Facilities			x '	
Change in Present Li	and Use	Not	Likely	Likely	, (*)		ung Place (*)	Preparty	Companio		5	1 1	ΞI
	1-1	From_			_Te			Presection	n Irom Detrum	ental Conditi		ΞΞ.	ā
Predominant Occupi	mey D	0 Own	e r		. n	•••	/acent	Police and	Fire Protect	90	Z 3		
Single Family Price I	Range S	<u>10'00</u>	<u>10</u> to \$	130,000	_Predon	wnant Value	\$ <u>110,000</u> 5.7	General A	poearance of 1	reperties	- E ;		
Single Parnity age	–	'	¥rs to	TA A4	Frequin	inant Age	<u>3-7</u> ¥rs	[Appeal is	Market			<u> </u>	Ч.,
Comments including	those factor	L, favera	able er unfr	averable, all	ecting mi	rketaberty I	e a public par	ks. schools, v	new, noise!				
The subject	t 18 10	ated	i_aear_	schools	_and	chuzch :	in a neig	hborhoo	i consis	ting of			
- well-maint	ained r	nside	MCCE.O	f.simil	ar qu	ality_ar	id age						
· · · ·						·			·	·			{
Dimensions _70_	(r. x 12)	ft.	_(esti	mated)			8.750+	Sq Fr	MXRCHX		Corner	Let	
Zoning classification	Kesid	INCIA		femer.t.st			- Present imp	reventents	bdiete ∐ie	e net confoi	m 19 200	ing regula	tions
Public	Other (Descr:	oriuse	110	SITE IMPRO	VENEN	TS Te	Level						
Elec 🔂 _		ŀ	Street Acce			Private Sec	• Typic	al for a	eighbor	hood			
C		*	Surface	asphalt		5~	er Recta	nenlar -					
<u> </u>			ι. —				<u> </u>						
Van Dat		!	Maintenanc	or 31 Pu	ынс 🔲 Т.С., тр(Private Vie	- South	-toward	residen	tial			
Vater 32 San Sewer 32 Sour Sewer 32	reround Elect		Maintenanc St Storn	ce: 3 Pu m Sewer	iblic 🔲 🕱 Curb/(Private Vie Gutter Dra Lights bod	South	-toward ars ade	residen juste	tial	issued & r		
Varer 32 Varer 32 San Sewer 32 32Under Comments Ifavorab	rground Elect le or unfavora	& Tei	Meintenani 20 Storn 22 Siden Juding any	ce: I Pu ti Sewer Nath (apparent ad	iblic [] Curb/C Sireet	Private Vie Gutter Dra Lights led	South	-toward ars ade	Tesiden Jusce Didentified Sp conditional	tial	lazard Ar	us? (Bria	ŪYe.
Vater 32 Sen Sewer 32 Son Sewer 92 Source Sources flavorab No BUTVe	rground Elect le or untavora r W28 fut	& Tel	Maintenance 20 Storm 22 Sidem Ituding any 1ed to	ce apparent ad the app	iblic D Curb/C Siret Siret Caise:	Private Vie Guiter Dra Lights led ements enco E. All c	w South may Appe he property lec eschments or c fimension	-toward ars adeo and matture other adverse & are a	residen quate Didentified Sp conditional pproxima	tial Hocul Fland I LE.	lazard Ar	se? (Brie	Ū¥ es
Ven bd	rground Elect le ar untavara f_W25_fut	& Tel	Maintenance Storn Sto	or Sever n Sever apparent ad the app	iblic [] E Curb/C Street Street	Private Vie Gutter Dra Lights kiel ements enco r. All c	w South map Appe he property lec eschments or c dimension	-toward ars adeo and maHU other adverse 8 are a	residen quate Didentified Sp conditional pproxima	tial mocial Fland I te.	lazard Ar	467 (BNo	DYe.
Ven bd	rground Elect le ar untprora r Was fut	& Ter	Meintenanc 2 Storn Stansary Studing any 1ed to str., No. Lin	ce 3 P. m Seven maik apparent ad the app	iblic [] Curb/G Sireet Verse eau Taise: Type Ide	Private Vie Guiter Dra Lights Is a ements encin T. All c	w <u>South</u> may <u>Appe</u> he property lec eschments or c limension	-toward ars ader and in a HU other adverse 8 are a) heigh framb	residen juace Didentified Sp conditional pproxima	tial motel Flend I te. etc.J (Ext)	lazard Ar	ve? (Brie 	
Ven bid	rground Elect le ar untavora f Was fut bosed Uni Uni 	Ter Cons	Meintenans Starn Starn Storn starny tuding any ted to str, No Ur No, Str	re 3 Pur n Sever apparent ad the app nuts 1 reres +	Iblic D Curb/G Sireet Verse eau raise: Type ide Detai	Private Guiter Dra Lights is d ments enco r. All c 1. duptes, so ched	South Mar Appe Megraphy lec eschments er c dimension murdet, etc h C	-toward ars ader and naHU other adverse s are a brigh framb Split	residen juste Disentional constional pproxima er, spir level level	tial model Flood 1 te. erc.J East B3	lacard Ar High Walk	•••? (BN-•	
Ven bd	rground Elect te ar untargra y was fut oosed DUne _Effective ingle	& Ter	Meintenans St Storn St Sidew Ituding any ituding any	res Purchaster and the approximation of the approxi	ibic Type ide Detain None	Private Guiter Dra Lights bed ments enor r. All c i, duptes, se ched Window f	w South mage Appe he property loc eachments or o dimension murdet, etc.; C Typel Case	-toward ars adec and na HU other alve sa 8 are a sugn tramb Split ment	residen guate Didentifed S conditional_ pproxima er, spir level, Level_	tial metal Fland I te. erc. J Eath arc.	Acard Ar		DYes
Ver bid	rground Elect le ar untargra r was fui posed Uni Uni 	& Ter L Bile incl raish Her Cons 3 to 5 Guite Al	Meintenani Storn Stor	n Seven ad apparent ad the apparent ad the app	blic Curb/C Curb/C Sireet verse eau raise: Type ide Deta: None	Private Vie Suiter Dra Liphis is d rments enco F. All c i, duptes, se ched Window f 3 Storm Floer Dran	w South man Appe he property loc dachments or c limens ion murdet, etc h C Sosh Case Fruges Ser	-toward ars ade and matty sither adverse s are approximate s are a	residen guate Didentified Sp conditional_ pproxima er, split level Level_	tial ercid Flood I te. erc.J Eatl erc.J Eatl Control	lazard Ar	1007 DNo	PYes Fleor Walt
Ver bid	rground Elect te ar untavora y was fut posed Um Um Lifective Ingle Num	& Ter & Ter Ble incl rnish Ner Cons 3 te 5 Guite Al	Meintenani Storn Stor	n Seven apparent ad the app nots or en + NDOUTS Basement tside Entrane	Iblic [] Curb/C Sireet Verse éau Taise: Type ide Deta: None	Private Vie Sutter Dra Liphis Is d rments enco F. All c t, duptes, se ched Winder 1 Winder 1 Storm Pune	w South resp Appe he property less sectments er o fimension Typel Case Son Scripter Finisher Finisher	-toward ars ade are alw other alwr s 8 are a Split Split ment eens D co 8 Cering d Wats	residen juace Didentified Sp conditional <u>oproxima</u> er, split level <u>level</u> embination	tial accul Flood 1 te. erc.1 Eati arc.1 Eati biogram	Hazard Ar	teore	EVes Fiear Walte
Ver bid Nater did San Server gid gundents (favorable No surve) Yes, Age Actual 7 Root Material Asphalt shi Manufactured HA Foundation Walls Poured cont	rground Elect te ar untavdes y was fui posed Um Effective Ungle Num Strete	Ble inci chie inci raish ler Con: Guite Guite	Meintenard Storn Stor	or 3 P. In Seven apparent ad apparent ad the app ints 1 into its 2 S. Basement S. Basement screte Floger	blic [] E Curb(Sireet verse ease raise: Type ide Deta: None 	Private Surter Liphis Is d menis excin T. All C T. All C Surter Store Floer Dian Sump Pume Sump Pume	w South resp Appe he property les eachments er o fimens ion murdet, etc. h C Typel Case South Scruspe Finisher Finisher Finisher	-toward ars ade: and in a HU ither adverse s are aj split <u>split</u> ment eres 0 co a Cening d Wars d Floor	residen juate Didentified Sy conditions pproxima er, spirt level, level	tial loc:al Flood I te. erc.J East B3 Insuration Centri	Hazard Ar	teore	Figor Waite
Ver bid Nater bid San Sewer (g) g) Unde Comments (Reverse) No surves SEsting Prod Va. App Actual 7 Root Material Asphalt shi Manufectures He Foundation Walls Poured conc (XSub on Grade	rground Elect te er untavers y was fut posed Um Effective ingle susing :rete 2 Crawl Spec	& Ter	Maintenan Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Ur Storn No Storn No Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Storn No Storn Sto	or 3 P. In Seven apparent ad apparent ad the app ints 1 into 1 S Basement scree Floer bence of and	blic Curb/ Curb/ Sireet reise eau raise: Type ide Det.a: None Compon Compon	Private Suiter Lights led ments enco r. All c All c Window I 3 Storm Floar Dian Sump Pune Singtheren Term	w South Market South Market South Market South Market South South South From South	-toward ars ade: area on a HUT ther adverse s are aj Split Split Split General d Waits d Floor	residen juace Didentified Si conditiond opproxima er, spiri level level imbination	tial mc.d Flend 1 te. erc.i En Bi Insurance Cohini	Ascard Ar	teore	Fleor Waltr
Ver bid Water bid Sen Server bid Comments (favorab No surve) B Existing Pro Yr, Age Actual 7 Roof Material Asphalt shi Manufactures Ma Foundation Walls Poured conto Comments Low 10 10	rground Elect te or untargroup y was fur posed Um 	& Tel Ble inci mish Ner Cons 3 te 5 Guite Al 	Meinternard Storn Sto	or 3 P. In Server. In Server. Saposent a apport the app In the app In th	blic Curb/C Sireet verse eau raise Type ide Deta None Dampn room, onsisi	Private Suiter Lights leaf transis enco r. All c All c All c Windows i 	w South resp Appe he property loc acchments or of diments on is Type! Cane Finishe Finishe Finishe Seri Seri Type! Seri Type! Seri Type! In Seri Seri Type! In Seri Type! In Series Series In Series S	-toward ars ade: seed in a HU to the adverse s are a) Split Split Split General d Verson f Feor iergent n and fri and pane	residen quate Disortions conditions pproxima er, spin level level smbination sill bath pline	tial cual Placed I te. erc.J Ean Data Insurtage Central The re	Hazard Ar	ter? Bris	Fieor Waitr
ver bd	reround Elect te or untarory y was fut posed Une	Ter Conners	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Massive	or 3 P. In Seven apparent apparent apparent the app ints apparent apparent the app ints boouts Seven	Detai Dampnor Composition Co	Private Gutter Lights ka mining encoments encoments and an and t, dupten, se ched Window (3 Storm Floer Dran Storm Pume family ts of cd	w South Market	-toward ars ader and n attributer store adverse are an split ment sees ca d Fieor emges d Fieor mand fi and pant Begroom	residen quate Disortions conditions pproxima e. goint level (evel smbination sill barb ling. No Barbs	tial cul Place I te. Insuration Cell Call The re- Cayogry	Hazard Ar	ter? Brie S S S S S S S S S S S S S	Fieor Waitr
Ver bit	rground Elect te or untarory y was fut bosed Une 	Ter Constant	Maintenance Storn Storn Storn Storn Massive	or 3 P. n Save asparent as the apparent as apparent as nots the apparent source floor sub Entrans- create floor floored (aundry, inish c Kitchen	Der Componenties Type ide Det al None Componenties Dampon Tooma, onsis Den 1	Private Gutter Lights Ist Gutter T. All C C. All C	w South room Appe he property less dechments er c filments fon Typel Cane Finishe Fini	-toward ars ader and an attributer store adverse s are a split ment sens C comp d Fisor sens C d Fisor and pany Breagons	residen <u>usc</u> Didentified Sp conditional pproxima er. split level. er. split level. smbination sill harh eling. No Satis 1	tial cul Place I te. fractar Insurant Call	Hazard Ar	e e e fire fire Quee	Floor Walk
Ver bid Nater bid San Sewer bid Comments (freerab No surve) SEcuting Prov Yra Age Actual 7 Root Mater.at Asphalt shi Manufactured Her Foundation Walls Poured conc Stab on Grade Comments Low List Sevel List Level List L	rground Elect te or untaron y was fut boxed Une 	A Terl B Terl Bole inci raish Ner Coong 3 to 5 Guite All All All Y TO 8	Maintenance Storn Sto	or 3 P. n Save asparent as apparent as a	blic Curb/C	Proster Vie Gutter Dr Liphis lie d ments encore r. All c Mindeen I Mindeen M	w South rosp Appe he property loss acchments or c fimension Typel Cane Finisher	- Loward ars ader ars ader ard an att brown tramb Split Split Bent erss C Color d Crime d Viets d Floor ersens C Color d Crime d Set gorns ard page	residen <u>uste</u> Didentified Sp opproxima er. phin level. evel. mbingtion sill bath ling. Ng Sing. 1	tial ctial ctial erc.J Es. Ba Insurance Control C	Hazard Ar	e e e fore fire fire Quier	Fleor Weik
ver bid	rground Elect ies outserview y was fur bowd Dunc fingle surges strete R Craw Saco tr Level ihe fam(in Level	STel Ster Connection Ster Ster Connection Ster Ster Ster Ster Ster Ster Ster Ster	Maintenanc Storn Stor	or 3 P. In Seven Seven apparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a the apparent apparent a Sasament Sa	blic Curb/C	Proster Vie Gutter Dra Liphic Led ments encore r. All construction f. dupter, so ched Window I 3 Storm Floar Dran Sung Pung _% Finisher family LS of co Family Rm 1	w South rosp Appe he property loss acchments or c dimension murdet, etc.; C South Ser South Ser Frombes Frombes Ser South Ser Frombes Frombes Ser South Ser Frombes Ser South Ser Ser South Ser South Ser Ser South Ser South Ser Ser South Ser South Ser Ser South Ser South Ser South Ser Ser South Ser Sou	Action of the second se	residen <u>usc</u> Districted St conditional poproxima er, spir level er, spir level er, spir level st l bath ling. No Sping l 2	etial etc.J East least least least least least cautory 1	Accord Ar	tore [] fore [] fire; Other	Fier Wait
ver bd	ryround Elect ies outsevery y was fut bowd Uun- fitective ingle build trete Brown Seec tr Level the famil r Luni grade contain	Bit Connection	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Mainten	or 3 P. n Seven selt apparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a the apparent selt apparent a selt the apparent selt apparent a selt apparent a apparent a ap	Dampn Composition	Proste Gutter Drate Drate Drate Drate Liphis Le Liphis Le Company	w South rosp Appe he property loss acchments or c dimension from Cane From Ser From Ser Ser From Ser Ser Ser Ser From Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser	-Loward ars ader ars ader and an att brown in att brown in att Split Split Split d Fior a Coring d Wors d Fior ment eress d Coring d Wors d Fior ment eress d Coring d Wors d Fior and pany Bedroom a chora for for a chora for a chora for a chora for a chora for for for a chora for for for for for for for for for for	residen <u>usc</u> Districted St opproxima er, spir level er,	tial metal Flood I te. erc.J Eat Insufation Centre The re Loundry 1 so, fr. Born	Accord Ar	tore L for D	Fier
Veri bid	rground Elect ie or untawny y was fu: 	Ber Conner	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Mainten	or 3 P. m Seven m Seven main the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent mouth Saunders inits crete Floar dence of aundry inits crete floar and and and and and and and and	bic Di X Gurbi X Gurbi Verse suaves Deta None U Deta Deta Deta Componisti Den Den Den Den	Proste Vie Gutter Drate Drate Drate Lights led Tr. All C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	w South rosp Appe he property loss acchments or c dimension Typel Case Fruge Fr	Lung Area	residen [uste] Distributions pproxima pproxima er, spir level, evel, spir level, evel, spir level, evel, spir level,	tial ctial ctial ctic. erc.J Eat. Ban Insurfation Centre Loundry 1 so, fr. Sum ner C Dry	Asserd Ar	tires	Fier
Asphalt shows a source of the set	rground Elect ie or untawny y was fu: bowd Dun- Elfective ingle Susng Trete Boung Trete Ithe fami r Luwr I gade contam B Refragra	set con-	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Mainten	or 3 P. m Seven m Seven the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent mounts 1 Savement Savement Savement Savement Savement aundty. Inish c Kutchen 1 	bic Di Carbona di Carb	Proste Gutter Datter Drate Lights led ments encode r. All C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	w South resp Appe he property loss acchments or c dimension Typel Case Son D Scr Finisher Finisher Son D Scr Finisher Son D Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Son Scr Finisher Finisher Scr Finisher Scr Finisher Scr Finisher Scr Finishe	- Coward ars ader ars ader ars ader and natur Split Split Split Composition of Fisor and pany Bright Bright Composition C	residen [uste Districted St conditional pproxima set, spiritevet, [evel] mbination sl11 harh sl11 harh	tial cti	Aasard Ar rror Walt / Fram KNOWN Area er (1) Area	Sere Carlo	Fier Walk
Veri bid Nater Sid San Server (g) Summers Isteurs of No survey Yes Age Actual 7 Root Material Asphalts shi Foundation Walls Poured conce (Room List Feyr Lilevei Intlevei Finished area above K-tichen Equipment HEAT Type [K] Finished area above K-tichen Equipment HEAT Type [K] HEAT Type [K]	rground Elect de or untarger y use fui bowed Duni _Elective ingle lingle	set Control She	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Maint	or 3 P. m Seven main the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent mounts 1 S Basement S Basement	bic Di Carrett 25	Private Guiter Dra- Drate Dra- ted Dra- ted Dra- ted Dra- Sump Pure Sump Pur	w South resp Appe he property loss acchments or c dimension Type! Case South Server Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Finishe Court Court Fanthood Central Custiny of	- Covard ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader Split Split Grand	residen [uste] Districted St conditional pproxima set, spirt level, level mbnation sill harh sill harh sill harh sing 1 1,798+ ctor Was the set of the set of	tial recul Flood I recul Flood I recul East Insurance The recul Laundry 1 sq. fr. Bom Ner [Ory Adequate Fingab	Assend Ar	Sere Carlos	Fleer Walt
Veri bid Water Sid San Server (g) San Server (g) Survey No survey No su	rground Elect te or untarger y was fut bowed Dunn _Effective 	Ter Connection of the second s	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc	or 3 P. n Seven naik the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent ourses I + soouth 3 soouth 3 s	bic Di Si curver Si Curver Si curver zi serer Type tes Deta None Componing Componing Den 1 Den 1 Den 1 Componing Com	Proster Vie Guiter Dra Lights Lights Lights Lights F. All2 C C C. All2 C C C. All2 C C C. All2 C C C. All2 C C C C. All2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	w South resp Appe he property loss acchemists or c dimension Typel Case Soft I Ser Frinshe Gueting of Complete Complete Complete Frinshe Frinshe Gueting of Complete Complete Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Gueting of Complete Frinshe Frinshe Gueting of Complete Complete Complete Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Gueting of Complete Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Gueting of Complete Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Gueting Office Frinshe	Loward Arsaders Ar	residen [uste] Disortinal St conducational poproxima er, spir level, level mbration sl1 harh eling. No Saths 1 2 1,798+ cror Wese Massenals & ents	tial recul Flood I te. fre.J East Insurary Cellin The re Loundry 1 sq. fr. Som ner [] Orn S Adrouati Fingshi	Assend Ar	er (Brie second second s	
Veri bid Water Sid San Server (g) San Serve	rground Elect te or untarger y was fut bored Dum 	Ter Long to the second	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc	or 3 P. n Soven mark the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent second second the apparent second second for D 0.000 ond G00 For Pro-	bic Di Seconda di Seco	Proste Vie Guiter Dra Lights Lights Lights Lights Fr. All Constraints Ched Window I 3 Store Dran Sump Pure Sump Pure	w South may Appe he property loss actiments or c dimension Typel Case Sont D Scr Frinshe Frins	Loward Ars ader ar	residen Juace Disortinad St conducate poproxima set spir level level mbration all harh eling. Ng Ssing 1 2 1,798+ cror Was Maseriak & enis	tial ccul Flood I ccul Flood	Assend Ar	er (Bree face L fire L fire L Other Other	
Veri bid Water bid San Sewer (g) g) Unde Comments Haverage No surve; g) Exiting Pro Vr. Age Actual 7 Root Material Asphalt shi Manufectures He Foundation Walls Poured conto (X Sub on Grade Comments Logy 11 Level 11 Level 11 Level Finished area above Kurtene Guopment HEAT Type [K Fioords above Walls [] Sath Floor Sath Wangor [] Sath Floor	rground Elect te or untarger y was fut pored Dum 	Ber Connersish Ser Connersish Ser Connersish All Ser Connersish Ser Conne	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc	or 3 P. In Sovie and the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent sources for the Entrans- trace Floar dence of C aundry. 'Inish C Kitchen 1 Farr Pro-	bic Di Carbe/ S Curbe/C	Proste Vie Guiter Dra Lights Lights Lights Lights T, duptes, as ched Winders (3 Store Dran Sump Pump Sing Dran Sing	South resp Appe he property loss actiments or c dimension Typel Case Sont D Scr Finisher Finisher Finisher Finisher Sent D Scr Finisher Finisher Finisher Sent D Scr Finisher Finisher Court, der Typel Ing Rec Rm Continent of Continent of Continent of Room user Clinerts and Continent of Room user Clinerts and Continent of Room user Clinerts and Continent of Room user Clinerts and Clinerts and Cliner	A covard ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader ars ader brogs tranb Split Split Grand Canes Cane	residen [uate] Disortrad Sr conditional pproxima er, spir level, evel, evel, spir level, evel, spir level, evel, spir level, evel, 1,798+ cror Wee Materiak & ents	tial ccul Flood I ccul Flood	Arce Water		
Veri Water Ed 	rground Elect te or untaren y was fut posed Uum Effective Crete Borne Crete Borne Crete Borne Creat Cr	Ber Con a Tel ber Con a te 2 Guite Guite f f f f f f f f f f f f f	Maintenanc Saturnance Storn	or 3 P. n Save asparent as apparent as apparent as apparent as apparent as the apparent as apparent as apparen	bic Di Carbo	Proster Vie Gutter Dr Liphis is d ments encore r. All c Window I Window I Window I Window I Window I Window I Window I Sump Pune Samp Pune Samp Pune Family Rm I I Gooms Z Isborater I Isborater I	South resp Appe he property loss actiments or c dimension Typel Case Sen D Scr Frushe	Loward Ars ader ar	residen Tuste Didentified Si conditional pproxima er. spin level. er. spin level. (evel	tial erc.J Flood J te. erc.J Ean arc.J Ean balance The rd Laundry 1 tg. fr. Som re Ory G Adequate Fingh)	Accord Ar		
Ver bid Water bid Sen Server g	ground Elect te or untavery vas fut posed Um Effective Trete	Ber Concession Ber Concession Status Garage Status	Maintenanc Satistication Statement Statem	or 3 P. m Save m Save asparent a apparent a apparent a apparent a mount mount Save floor aund ry fance floor aund ry fans 4 Far Pr	bic C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Proster Vie Gutter Dr Liphici led ments encore r. All correct of the second ments of the second r. dupers, se ched Window I Window I Window I Window I Sump Protection family CS Of Co Family Rm 1 poms Z ratiospheri IR COM	w South road Appe he property less eschments or of fimension frond Caste Fronthe Fronthe Fronthe Fronthe Fronthe Rec Rm Rec Rm Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Fronthe Control Caste Control Caste	A Covard ATS ader ATS ader and an att brown att Split Split Split Composition A Composition A Composition A Composition Construct for Stand Area Construct for Stand Construct for Stand Construc	residen Tuste Didentified St conditional set spirit level er spirit level er spirit level er spirit level arribination sill bath ling. No Ssing 1 1,798+ cror] Wes rikaterials & ents d condition	tial ctal			
Veri bid Water di Sen Server di JUnde Comments Ifworkson No surve; Betting Provention Post Verian Asphalt shift shift Manufactured Mains Poured conc Coments Logy Comments Logy Lievel Stabbon Grade Comments Logy Lievel Stabbon Grade Foundation Walls Poured conc Foundation Walls Poured conc Stabbon Grade Int Level Int Level Finished area above Katchen Edaupment Finished area above Sath Wankort di Social Features Int Social Features Int ATTIC Ver Q	rground Elect les outserviry y was fur bound Urn Effective ingle Stung Trete Refuel Pr Lour I Pr Lour I Refuel Refuel Refuel Refuel Constitution Refuel Refuel Constitution Refuel Constitution Refuel Constitution Refuel Constitution Constit	Ber Concilish Ser Concilish Guine Ser Concilish Guine Ser Concilish Ser Concilish Guine Ser Concilish Ser	Maintenanc Satisfield to Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Maintenan	or 3 P. n Save apparent ad apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad apparent ad Save the apparent Noouth apparent ad substance of Automatic	bic Di Carbona di Carb	Proster Vie Gutter Dra Liphic Led ments encore r. All correct of the second r. dopers, se ched Window I 3 Storm Pure - % Finisher Filter Dran Sung Pure - % Finisher Family Rm 1 	w South resp Appe he property less eschments or c dimension from Ser South Ser South Ser From Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser Ser	Loward Ars ader Ars ader Seden a Htt Split Split Split Green Conner Conner Conner Conner Constructor Sico age adequaty an adequaty an adequaty an adequaty an adequaty an	residen Tuste Disorthes pproxima se, spir level se, spir	tial ctial ctial ctic	Aasard Ar rror Walt / Fram RNOGN Area er () Q ()		
Veri bid	rground Elect is or untawny y was fut boowd Urn Effective ingle build Trete Brown Spece tr Level the famil r Urn I grade contain grade contain Refingers A Furt Harthood Drywall Good Ceramic thiding energy g No 13 B Gauge Charl	Ber Coning and a second	Adjuntemanc Satisfield to Storn St	or 3 P. m Save m Save main apparent as apparent as apparent as apparent as mounts mounts Save for aundry inish c Kitchen 1 rooms 4 Far Pro-	birc Di Carlo Carl	Proster Vie Gutter Dra- Liphic Les Transis encourse r. All Con- r. All Con- Con- Con- Con- Con- Con- Con- Con-	South Appe Me property loss acchments or c dimension From Case From Service South Service From Service Fro	Loward Try ader Toward Try ader Toward Try ader Toward	residen residen luste Disorthed St conditional condi	tial ccul Flood I ccul Flood	Assend Ar		
Asphalt shore above the second state of the se	rground Elect de or untawny y was fu: bowd Uun Elfective ingle Sung Trete Boung Trete Trete Boung Trete Trete Boung Trete Trete Boung Trete Trete Boung Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Trete Boung Trete Tret	Berliner	Maintenanc Satistication Storm Satistication Storm Storm Storm Maintenanc Storm Storm Maintenanc Mainte	or 3 P. m Save m Sav	bic Di Carbona di Carb	Proster Vie Gutter Dra- Liphis Led Tr. duptes, se Ched Winder I 33 Storm Family Pure -S FoorDra- Sump Pure -S FoorDra- -S FoorDra -S FoorDra -S FoorDra -S FoorDra -S FoorDra-	South resp Appe Represent los achments or c dimension Frues Case Son D Scr Frues Case Frues Ca	Loward Ars ader Ars ader Sed on a HU Split	residen residen residen pproxima pproxima pproxima residential	tial ccul Fleed I erc.J Eat Insufation The re Levingry 1 sq. fr. Sum Ner () Dry St. Account Fingsh)			
Ver bid	rground Elect de or untawny y was fut foored Uum Effective ingle Stars Strete Crant Saec Fr Luve I the fami, rr The fami, rr f	S Terl	Maintenanc Salaria Storn Salaria Storn Salaria Storn Salaria Maintenanc Salaria Storn Salaria Manuela Salaria Storn Stor	or 3 P. n Seven : neith apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad no. (s) [bic Di Carbona di Carb	Proster Vie Gutter Dra- Dratin Proster F. All2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	South resp Appe he property loss acchments or of fimension From Ser (Son U Ser Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Son U Ser Forman Fringhe Son Case Fringhe Fringhe Son Case Fringhe Fringhe Ser Compared	Construction Co	residen residen residen poroxima	tial erc.J Eat erc.J Eat Insurfation The ca Laundry 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Aasand Ar rror Walt // Fram // NUMA // NUMA		
Veri bid Nater Sid - San Server (g)	y vas fut over of the family for th	B Terl bee incl bee incl ber Coninsh fer Coninsh a to 5 Guine a All All All Coninsh	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Maint	or 3 P. n Seven nearth the apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad the apparent ad seven the apparent seven the	bic Di Starteri Starteri Zisreri Zisreri Vyor ise sustanti Den Den 1 Den 1 Den 1 Componenti compone	Private Vie Guitter Dra- Drate Vie Drate Dra- te duptes is de r. All2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	w South resp Appe be property loss acchments or c fimension Typel Case South South Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe Frinshe South South Condition of Condition o	Loward Ars ader Ar	residen residen residen proxima er, spir level er, spir l	tial cti	Area Walt		
Veri bid Nater Sid - San Server (g)	y vas fut ooved Um Effective ooved Um Effective Trate Sum Trate S	Ber Con Ber Con Star 2 Star	Maintenanc Storn Storn Storn Storn Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Storn Maintenanc Maint	or 3 P. n Seven naith the apparent a apparent a apparent a the apparent sources I + noores I +	bic Di Si Currer Si Currer Si Currer Si Currer Si Currer Type Ide Detai None Currer Den Den Den Den Den Den Den Componibie Componibie Currer Curer Currer Currer Currer Currer Currer Currer Currer	Proster Vie Gutter Dra- Drate Vie Drate Dra- te duptes is de r. All2 c Ched Winder I Store Dra- Sump Pure Sump Pure	W South Market South Market South Market South Market South South South South South Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe Fringhe South South Fringhe	Loward Ars ader Ar	residen residen residen peroxima er, spir level, evel, spir level, level, rmbnation still harh eling, No Sins 1 2 1,798+ cor Was enss d condition d condition d condition for way and con software (ste 50)	tial cti	Assend Ar		
Ver bid	ground Elect te or untarger y use fut too untarger y use fut too untarger too untarge	Ber Conordiants	Maintenanc Storn Stor	cross and construction of the separent as apparent appare	bird Discourse Conservation of the second se	Proster Vie Gutter Dr Dr Liphis Le d ments encor F. All C Window I Window I Window I Window I Window I Window I Sump Pure Sang Pure Sang Pure Family Rm I Coms Z Ishowather Window I Sump Pure Sang Pure Family Rm I Sump Pure Family Rm I Sump Pure Sang Pure S	W South Market South Market South Market South Market South Market South Front Case South 1 Sci Frinshe	Loward	residen Tuste Districted St conditional ser, split level, ser, split level, ser, split level, ser, split level, level, ser, split level, level, ser, split level, level, ser, split level, level, ser, split level, ser, split le	tial erc.J Eat erc.J Eat arc.J Eat arc.J Eat arc.J Eat arc.J Eat backers arc.J Eat arc.J Eat arc.J Eat backers arc.J Eat arc.J Eat	Accord Article		
Ver bid Nater bid Nater bid Son Server [g] jUnde Comments (Isroy ab No surve; Bestime Pro Ya, Age Actual 7 Root Material Asphalt shi Manulectures He Foundation Walls Poured conc (XSub on Grade Comments Logy 101 Room List Fory Lievel 101 101 101 101 101 101 101 10	rground Elect ter untawny y Uss fu: bowd Uru- Effective Ingle Uung Trete R Cave Seec br Level I Cave Seecontau I Level I Level I Cave Seecontau I Constant I Const	Ber Connish Her Connish Her Connish Gaute Gaute Sinci Sh Gaute Sinci Sh Carlor	Maintenanc Saturnance Storn	or 3 P. m Save m Save main apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad apparent ad mounts Save Floor aunday. finish c Kitchen 1 Far Dopo ond Goo ond Goo Far Pr starr Starr S	bic Di Carbona di Carb	Proster Vie Gutter Dr Dr Liphis Led ments encore F. All C Mindeer I Mindeer	w South roop Appe he property less eschments or of fimens in or fimens in or fimens in or fimens of fimens of fi	Loward Ars ader Ars ader Seden a HU Split Split Split Group Split Group	residen Tuste Didentified St conditional set, split level, set, s	tial ctal	Accord Ar		

.

•

÷

2

Purpose of Appresei		VALUA	TION	SECTION			
if submitted for FNB	I is to estimate Merket V MA, the approxim must st	alue as defined in Certificat tech [1] skatch or map show	ion & Sta ving locat	noment of Limiting Condition of Subject, prost name	tions (FHLMC is, distance fre	Form 438/FNMA Form	n 10048 and any
detrimental condition Measurements	s and (2) exterior building No. Store	j sketch af improvements shi of Sq. Ft.	nne hunn 53[ITIMATED REPRODUCTI	ON COST - 1	NEW - OF IMPROVEN	ENTS:
×2	<u>6' = 1</u>	- 754	0-	1,798+	Se. Ft. # 5 _	35.00 - : 62,	930
<u></u> 3(<u>6'*1</u>	- 1.044	<u> </u> _	L. Fin. 1,044+	34. FL # \$_	<u>22.75</u> - <u>23</u> ,	751
*		•	^E *	was Central air			500
	*			Fireplace		 A	500
*	*		¥	iacial Energy Efficient Isom Inches. Paties, est.	•	; <u></u>	000
Total Gross Living A	res (List in Market Data /	Analysis below! 1,798+	G	weekCar Part _750	St. FL # S	9.75 7.	313
Comment on functio	inal and economic abaalee			le Improvements (drivevey	, landecasing,	eel • <u> </u>	000
No obso	lescence noted.		!T•	nat Estimated Cast New		· · · • • • 99.	994
				10 000	Punctional	Economia • • • • • •	~~~
				president and a state of state of			994
				TIMATED LAND VALUE		. . 25.	000
				l leasthaid, show anly less	hold voluel		
				DICATED VALUE BY CO	ST APPROAD	ж <u>ф14,</u>	994
The undersigned has	recited three recent sales of	I properties mest similar and		te to subject and has canno	iered these in t	the market analysis. The	descrie
tion includes a dollar item in the comparab subject, if a significar ted value of the subji	adjustment, reflecting ma sie property is superior 36, nt item in the comparable i ect	rkez reaction to those items (or more favorable stan, the s inforior to, or loss favorable	of signific subject pr e than, sh	ant variation between the s rogerty, a minus 1-1 adjuster is subject property, a plus 1	ubject and cor vent is made, ti +1 adjustment	nperable properties. If a hus reducing the indicati is made, thus increasing	i signific rd volue the indi
ITEM	Subject Property	COMPARABLE NO	1	COMPARABLE	NO 2	COMPARABLE	NO. 3
Address	7540 Halesia	7637 E. Palm Ct	•	15423 S. Prime	ose i	15124 Lilac I	416
		less than 4 -41		Irarkside, iL		less than L	11-
Sales Price	1	1.11	8.500		114.000		120
Price/Living area	<u>ه</u>	3 64	.40 0		63.33 D		63.
Data Source		SREA		SREA		SREA	
Date of Sale and	DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION A	Lustment	DESCRIPTION	Adjustment	DESCRIPTION	Adjust
I me Adjustment	Cond	a-au		4-01		2-01	
Location Site/Money	70 x 125	irr.		irr.		irr.	,
Design and Appeal	Split level						+····
Quality of Const.	Br/Fr Good	1					1
<u></u>	7	6		5		7	i
Condition	Good					<u> </u>	+
Living Area Room	Total Birms Baves	Total : Brine : Bathe		Total - B-rms - Bethe 1	+2000	Total . B-rine . Baths	ų –
Count and Total	1.798+	1.840		1.800+	12000	1.884	i i
Lower level	2 10025			1 room			+
finish	1 bath	<u> </u>		1 bath	+2000		i
Functional Utility	Good						i
Ar Conditioning	_Central	} ↓			<u></u>		.
Carage/Car Port	2-car	 · +				}	
Pools, etc	Patio				l		:
		1					; _
Efficient items		! !					
						 	+
Other Le.g. fire- places, kitchen	l-fireplace	None	-1500	1	1	l	7 1
auip., remodeling)						<u> </u>	1
		Comment (one)		Conventional		Conventional	,
Sales or Financing				1			-
Sales or Financing Concessions		Conventional	600		^^^	_ '	
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total)	~	Brine, DMinus 151,	500	B Plus, C Minus SA	,000	Plus Minus	-0
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject		3 Phys. 0 Minus \$ 1, \$ 12	,500 10,000	S Plus C Minus \$4	,000 18,000	Phys. Minut S	120,
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Market	Dame All comps.	Brue Munus 's 1, sre located in s	500 10,000	E Plus, C Minus 54	,000 18,000 are very	similar. No s	120,
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke ad 1 ust ment	tone All comps. indicated. Fi	are located in s pancing concession	500 20,000 tame no	E Flus, Minus 54 isl eighborhood and y affect the sal	,000 18,000 are very e_prices	similar. No similar.	120, time
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke ad justment	Daw <u>All comps.</u> indicated. Fi	Bruncing concession	,500 10,000 1ame p	E Plus, C Minus \$4 is 1 eighborhood and y affect the sal	,000 18,000 are very e_prices	similar. No and are not r	120, time
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka Adjustment DitoleAredo VALU	Daw All comps. indicated. Fi	3 Pma Dutores 1 3 Pma Dutores 1 3 12 are located in s nancing concession 210745	,500 20,000 1 ame no 205 mar	E Plus, C Minus 54 ;s1 eighborhood and y affect the sal	,000 18,000 ere very e prices	similar. No and are not r	120, time
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka d just ment [NOICATEOVALU] [COICATEOVALU]	Case All comps. indicated. Fi	3 Phan Minus 5 1, 3 Phan Minus 5 1, 5 12 sre located in s nancing concession 21.07.453 3 III eppicable Ecompton	,500 20,000 Lame 194 20.5 194 	IS Plus, [Minus \$4 s1 s1 eighborhood and y affect the sal	,000 18,000 are very e prices	similar. No: and are not ro fultepier == = = =	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Seles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Totel) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka adjustment NoticAtelo VALU (NoticAtelo VALU) This appraise is mad	A Date All comps. indicated. Fi Cav Materia corrora Transforme and post is in " baset to broad data and to be	3 Page Minus s 1, 3 Page Minus s 1, s 12 are located in s nancing concession 11 conc	,500 20,000 Lame Da 20.5 BA AC Market predictions	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 <u>are very</u> e prices s Gross Rent h in per plans an	Similar. No: and are not r Autoplar = S dependentione.	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke <u>adjustment</u> NoticATED VALU (NoticATED VALU) This appraise is mad Comments and Cond No survey 1	a Data <u>All comps.</u> indicated. Fi indicated. Fi indicated. Superior indicated. Superior interno i Apprent Sec furnished the an	In applicable) Economy In applicable in a first on a first on a stached sheat praiser: all diss	,500 20,000 Lame Da 205 Ba we Market ponditions	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 are very e prices 	Similar. No: and are not r Autopier = \$ dependentione.	120, time port 120,0 K/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka adjust ment NoticArtEo VALU (NoticArtEo VALU This appraise is mad Comments and Cond No. survey 1	a Data <u>All comps.</u> indicated. Fi Standonisacorra. 'S'ant Data Sec 'S'ant Data Sec furnished the ap	In response of the set of the se	,500 20,000 Lame II II B II He Market ondrives	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 are very e prices 	Similar. No: and are not r Autobier = S dependentione.	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka adjust, ment Subject adjust, ment Subject	A Daw All comps. indicated. Fi Stransformation Tran	I man Dates is 1, are located in s nancing concession I mappicable Economic attached sheet praiser: all dime	500 20,000 ame no 205 ma ms Market ondritions msion	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 are very e prices 	similar. No: and are not ro hutpher =	120, time port 120,0 K/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka adjustment ScioleAssackAsto (ScioleAssackAsto (ScioleAssackAsto) (Sciole	A Daw All comps. indicated. Fi Structure of Approximation Human of Approximations of Approximations furnished the approach Market approach	3 PMax Minus [s] 3 Telescolat [s] are located in s nancing concession 11 applicable Ecomony 11 applicable Ecomony mattached sheet praiser: all dime most_indicative	500 20,000 tame no 20,000 tame no 205 mar 205 mar 200 constants co	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 are very e prices	in marketplac	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Seles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke adjustments Subject Subje	a Daw All comps. indicated. Fi Example that a contain the second second second internet second second second furnished the ap	Shun Durnes [s] Shun Durnes [s] sre located in s nancing concession in report directions or con- int report directions or con- praiser: all dime	500 20,000 tame p 20.5 Bat 	Image: The set of the set o	,000 18,000 <u>e prices</u> 	in marketplac	120, time port 120,0 K/A
Seles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Totel) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke adj 1151 ment NOTCATEONATION (NOTCATEONATION) (NOTCATEONATION) (NOTCATEONATION) Final Reconciliation	A Date All comps. indicated. Fi indicated. Fi in	Shung Dates is 1 3 Page Dates	500 20,000 same p 20.5 ma 20.5	IZ Plus. [Minus 's 4 is 1 eighborhood and y affect the sal inent 5 Mon inted brion [complete s are approximat yer and seller r	,000 18,000 <u>are very</u> <u>e prices</u> <u>a Gross Reni h</u> <u>n per plans an</u> <u>e</u> <u>resctions</u>	1 Phys. Minurt 5 3 5 milar. No : and are not r: Autoplier = 5 d specifications. in marketplac	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Sales or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Totel) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke ad justment BroncArEo VALU (BroncArEo VALU) (BroncArEo VALU) (BroncArEo VALU) (BroncArEo VALU) Final Reconciliation Construction Warsan Construction Warsan	A Date <u>All comps</u> . indicated. Fi indicated. Fi is which is achieved is of Approach Set furnished the ap Market approach ty U vee U Ne Nem	Conventional 3 Page Minus [s], s 12 are located in s nancing concession 2207423 23 III soplicable Economic attached sheet praiser: all dime 1 most indicative e of Warranty Program write, the conversion, contr	500 20,000 ame n ons ma of bu	Image: Money is 4 is1 eighborhood and y affect the sel Remt SMone intege balance Remt S	, 000 18, 000 <u>are very</u> <u>e prices</u> a Gross Rent k m per plans an <u>e a cross Rent k</u> <u>e a cross Ren</u>	in marketplac	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke adjustment DiroteArtSoVATU (RobertSoVATU (RobertSoVATU) RobertSoVATU Final Reconciliation Construction Warsan This approval is base &Final Reconciliation	A Date <u>All comps.</u> indicated. Fi Standonsentrone (3 Standonsentrone (3 Standonsentrone (3 Standonsentrone (3 Standonsentrone) (1 Standonsentrone)	Conventional : 3 Page Minus is 1; s 12 sre located in s nancing concession 2107423 111 copicable) Economo attached sheet attached sheet praiser: all dime i most indicative e of Warrany Program unit, the cor uffaction, contor cm 10048 (Rev. 10/78) find	500 20,000 ame no ons me reconstrons the Merket ondrinons the Merket ondrinons	Image: Money is 4 is1 eighborhood and y affect the sal Remt SMoney Index balance Index balance Complete sare approximat Yet and seller r Simuting conditions, and Money	, 000 18, 000 <u>are very</u> <u>e prices</u> <u>a Gross Rent k</u> <u>n per plans en</u> <u>e actions</u> <u>e actions</u> <u>verce</u> tertet Value da	I Phys. Minurt S SIMILAT. No: and are not r: Autoplier	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Siles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke adjitst ment NoticArtao VALU (NoticArtao VALU) This appraise is mad Comments and Cond No. survey 1 Final Reconciliation Construction Warran This appraised is base QF NLMC Form 43 L ESTIMATE THE N	Harket Approach	Conventional : 3 Page Minus is 1; s 12 are located in s nancing concession 2100/23 10 utrappicable) Economic attached sheat ; praiser: all dime i most indicative e of Warrony Program e of Warrony Program mits the or whestion, cont e mitode (Rev 10/78) find FINED, of SUBJECT PRO	500 20,000 5 ame 10 503 me re Merket orderines Ension of bu	I mone conductors, and we conditions and seller r	, 000 18, 000 <u>ATE VERY</u> <u>e prices</u> <u>a Gross Rent k</u> <u>m per plans an</u> <u>esclions</u> <u>esclions</u> <u>ierter Value da</u> <u>19 81</u>	I Page Minurt S similar. No: and are not r. and are not r. s_ dumpler = S dumpler = S dumpler = S function that are puted in the two suided to be \$ 120,000	120, time port 120,0 N/A
Seles or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marke adjustment ScioleAvaSoVALU (ScioleAvaSoVALU (ScioleAvaSoVALU) (A Date All comps. indicated. Fi Example and a comps. A state of the second of the s	Conventional : 3 Page Minus [5]; are located in s nancing concession in emportance for the second the report alterions, or con- attached sheet : praiser: all dimensions, or con- interpret indicative e of Warrenty Program went, the conversion, contor orm 10048 (Rev. 10/78) fixed FineD, or SUBJECT PRO	500 20,000 same no cons me constants in Merker orderinges that in fibro of but of but with cher PERTY A	Image: Monue 15 #ighborhood and 15 #ighborhood and 16 y affect the sal 16 Rent S Add at Interf and seller r 16 yer and seller r 16 Simulations, and W 16 Mathematical and seller r 16	. 000 18,000 <u>4re very</u> <u>e prices</u> <u>a Gross Ronr k</u> <u>a Gross </u>	I Phys. Minury 5 similar. No : and are not r huitplier	120, 120, 120,0 120,0 N/A C.
Sites or Financing Concessions Net Adj. (Total) Indicated Value of Subject Comments on Marka ad justments (NOICATEONALU) (NOICATEONALU) (NOICATEONALU) (NOICATEONALU) (NOICATEONALU) Final Reconciliation Final Reconciliation Construction Warran This appraised is base & FinLMC Form 42 L STIMATE THE IN	Market VALUE, AS DE	Convertional 3 Page Minus s 1; s 1; s 1; s 1; s 1; s 1; c 1; spoint leases in anoing concession concession (1) spoint leases s 1; spoint leases praiser: all dime s 2; whereas provide the second s 1; spoint indicative s 4; Warrany Program want, the conversion, contor orm 10048 (Rev. 10/78) fixed FileD, of SUBJECT PRO	500 20,000 5 ame po 20,000 5 ame po 5 a	Image: Monus 15 Image: State 15 Image: State 15 Image: State 16	, 000 18,000 <u>are very</u> <u>e prices</u> <u>a Gross Reni k</u> <u>a Gross </u>	1 Phus. Minurt S. similar. No: and are not r. and are not r. and are not r. and spectrations. in marketplac. in marketplac. in be \$ 120,000 Oct Mark B.	120, time sport 120,0 W/A

_ continued

DEFINITION OF MARKET VALUE: The highest price in terms of money which a property will bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, knowledgeably and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby. (1) buyer and seller are typically monivated. (2) both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what he considers his own best interest; (3) a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market, (4) payment is made in cash or its equivalent; (5) financing, if any, is on terms generally available in the community at the specified date and typical for the property type in its locale; (6) the price represents a normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special financing amounts and/or terms, services, fees, costs, or credits incurred in the transaction, ("Real Estate Appraisal Terminology," published 1975.)

CERTIFICATION AND STATEMENT OF LIMITING CONDITIONS

CERTIFICATION: The Appraiser certifies and agrees that:

1. The Appraiser has no present or contemplated future interest in the property appraised; and neither the employment to make the appraisal, nor the compensation for it, is contingent upon the appraised value of the property.

2. The Appraiser has no personal interest in or bias with respect to the subject matter of the appraisal report or the participants to the sale. The "Estimate of Market Value" in the appraisal report is not based in whole or in part upon the race, color, or national origin of the prospective owners or occupants of the property appraised, or upon the race, color or nation il origin of the present owners or occupants of the properties in the vicinity of the property appraised.

3. The Appraiser has personally inspected the property, both inside and out, and has made an exterior inspection of all comparable sales listed in the report. To the best of the Appraiser's knowledge and belief, all statements and information in this report are true and correct, and the Appraiser has not knowingly withheld any significant information.

4. All contingent and limiting conditions are contained herein (imposed by the terms of the assignment or by the undersigned affecting the analyses, opinions, and conclusions contained in the report).

5. This appraisal report has been made in conformity with and is subject to the requirements of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct of the appraisal organizations with which the Appraiser is affiliated.

6. All conclusions and opinions concerning the real estate that are set forth in the appraisal report were prepared by the Appraiser whose signature appears on the appraisal report, unless indicated as "Renew Appraiser." No change of any item in the appraisal report shall be made by anyone other than the Appraiser, and the Appraiser shall have no responsibility for any such unauthorized change.

CONTINGENT AND LIMITING CONDITIONS: The certification of the Appraiser appearing in the appraisal report is subject to the following conditions and to such other specific and limiting conditions as are set forth by the Appraiser in the report.

1. The Appraiser assumes no responsibility for matters of a legal nature affecting the property appraised or the title thereto, nor does the Appraiser render any opinion as to the title, which is assumed to be good and marketable. The property is appraised as though under responsible ownership.

2. Any sketch in the report may show approximate dimensions and is included to assist the reader in visualizing the property. The Appraiser has made no survey of the property.

3. The Appraiser is not required to give testimony or appear in court because of having made the appraisal with reference to the property in question, unless arrangements have been previously made therefor,

4. Any distribution of the valuation in the report between land and improvements applies only under the existing program of utilization. The separate valuations for land and building must not be used in conjunction with any other appraisal and are invalid if so used.

5. The Appraiser assumes that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or structures, which would render it more or less valuable. The Appraiser assumes no responsibility for such conditions, or for engineering which might be required to discover such factors.

6. Information, estimates, and opinions furnished to the Appraiser, and contained in the report, were obtained from sources considered reliable and believed to be true and correct. However, no responsibility for accuracy of such items furnished the Appraiser can be assumed by the Appraiser.

7. Disclosure of the contents of the apprusal report is governed by the Bylaws and Regulations of the professional appraisal organizations with which the Appraiser is affiliated.

8. Neither all, nor any part of the content of the report, or copy thereof (including conclusions as to the property value, the identity of the Appraiser, professional designations, reference to any professional appraisal organizations, or the firm with which the Appraiser is connected), shall be used for any purposes by anyone but the client specified in the report, the borrower if appraisal fee paid by same, the mortgagee or its successors and assigns, mortgage insucers, consultants, professional appraisal organizations, any state or federally approved financial institution, any department, agency, or instrumentality of the United States or any state or the District of Columbia, without the previous written consent of the Appraiser, nor shall it be conveyed by anyone to the public through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media, without the written consent and approval of the Appraiser.

9. On all appraisals, subject to satisfactory completion, repairs, or alterations, the appraisal report and value conclusion are contingent upon completion of the improvements in a workmanlike manner.

<u>Miller</u>, Appraiser

REVIEWED AND AFPROVED BY:

Date: October 24, 1981 ------

continued

		¦::: 				Ţ	•		•			: .		·					:								
							- -														.::						
<u>i</u>				1	:::	ii			::						: <u>.</u>					· :	•				1	<u> </u>	
	-			1 <u>.</u>	\vdash	1.		-			1			<u> </u>			: i				:	1					
	$\frac{1}{1}$	1				+	$\frac{1}{1}$		-								· . :							1:-	1		
		· · ·		<u>!</u> 1	ļ: ÷	-			-+									_	-				<u> </u>				
	<u> :</u>			<u></u>		-					1	+				• • •			<u> </u>	- <u></u>				[<u>.</u>		
					<u> </u>			_										<u> </u>		<u></u>				<u> </u>	+	, -÷	<u> </u>
			•••	1		ŀ					2	4				<u> </u>		<u> </u>	1						ļ	. <u> ·</u>	<u> ·</u>
						.		·			<u> :</u>	L.		 	<u> </u>			<u>.</u>					1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	.	
																									Ŀ_		
	;	111:		11					i I							Ī						1	·	·	ľ		•
		i.	i i i			- -					1				1	1	1.	1-			T	1					-1
	+		1.1.1		+	+	-		::.				1		1		1	1	•	-				1.	T	1	1
	: :		-	1		-	-+		1				+	<u> .</u>	<u> </u>		† -÷	+		·		+	1	-		1-	+ -
		ک	5 <u>6</u>	<u> </u>	-	4				::: 		1				1 3	34		<u> </u>		+		÷				+
				1	_	-										 -	;			- · · -	+		-			- I -	-i
											1:::					<u> </u>	<u> </u>		1	<u>. </u>	1					<u>ŀ</u>	+
																	<u> </u>		· · ·					1_	-		
									1:11										· T			:					
-					-1.				1:1	1							-		2 2	1							
				ing.	4				Γ					1-			- - ·		23	•							1
			-		Ĥ								+	1			<u>.</u>					-	1		1	T	1.
			-		-					+-			-	1-	-						+:		-				-
	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	+	+					-							-		•					┠┼╍	-j	+-	+-
			_	-										-	+									11:	2'6	1	
	<u> . '.</u>						<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> i''</u>															$\left + \right $	+	-+-	
				,								-		<u>.</u>	·			-		.:: . 			<u>. </u>	 . _:			
E		C	Q:	:: .			6	ar	<u>'a</u>	9	ė.	.															
	1								1:-	Y																	
	Ť					-	1							-		37				-	Ξ						·
1					1†						-		r :	1		•				1	1		4			::	: .
											- -		÷	- 10			-			7-				-	T		
							1		1.	+										-	•			-+	Ť.		-
	<u> </u>		_						2	5			-+-	-	-			- -				÷	÷Ŧ			- -	
	· [•				·::	1	Ĩ	Ĭ	<u> </u>		_				<u> </u>			· ·				-+-		<u> </u>	-+
••••							[:. 				<u> </u>			<u> </u>								-+	<u> </u>			·	<u> </u>
				-			1	1	à	16	2 2	52	a		<u>ה</u>	<u>F</u>].				<u>. </u>	· · .	:: :		<u> </u>	:.!: 	<u> </u>	
		· · ·		-					1.	÷					· .			· .		···					_: _		
		-					t::	1.	1.	EE	<u>. </u>	-1.			-1.		. : -						. Ŧ	•	1	.	
	-					:		7 5	40	U	<u>_</u> 14		<u>م</u> د	011	r t			t		•		: 1					
	-	+				+		7 D		п с 4	a 1 (d -	162 7	a (112		 1 c			.	- 1			-ŀ	-+	1		Ň	11
	<u> </u>	-+		<u>.</u>		-		ra	rκ	51	ae	, I	111	110	t R			+								÷.,	
<u> </u>	_	_		_		L					÷							-							÷	÷ł	••••
			<u>;</u> ;;		::].					<u> </u>			·• • •	Ŀ	· 1		<u> </u>		· · · · ·		<u> </u>			<u> </u>	

.

•

•

7

The Narrative Report

In a narrative appraisal report, the appraiser is afforded the best opportunity to present data and reasoning that support the conclusions reached. As stressed earlier, good organization is essential.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Transmittal letters introduce the report and present it to the client. A good transmittal letter should be concise and in compliance with accepted standards of business correspondence. It is useful to begin the letter with a reference to the terms and circumstances of the authorization of the assignment. Important points that may be included in a transmittal letter are:

- 1. Date of the letter (not necessarily or usually the same as the date of value).
- 2. Client name and address; if it is a corporate client, a reference to the individual who will receive the report should be included. Include the person's title.
- 3. A reference that will identify the property by name or street address and possibly a file or purchase order reference.
- 4. Appropriate salutation.
- 5. Reference to the authorization that initiated the assignment.
- 6. Reference to the inspection, investigation, and analyses undertaken by the appraiser for the purpose of forming an opinion of value.
- 7. A concise statement of the value conclusion and the date of value.
- 8. An indication that the value conclusion is subject to certain assumptions and limiting conditions set forth in the body of the accompanying report.
- 9. A clear reference that the letter itself is not the appraisal but that it merely serves to transmit the appraisal report that follows.
- 10. The signatures of all appraisers who bear responsibility for the analyses and conclusions within the report.

Some appraisers choose to incorporate the certificate of value within the transmittal letter; others choose to include it within the body of the report. A typical transmittal letter is presented in Example 7.1.

37

EXAMPLE 7.1. Transmittal Letter

(Appraiser's Letterhead)

May 13, 1981

Our File No. 758.3 Your Reference No. 8046-C-52

Universal Investment Company 123 Main Street Middletown, CA 99990

Attn: Mr. William D. Jones, President

Re: Appraisal Report Office Building at 300 Broad Street Middletown, California

Gentlemen:

In response to your authorization letter of March 1, 1981, we have conducted the required investigation, gathered the necessary data, and made certain analyses that have enabled us to form an opinion of the market value of the fee simple interest in the above-captioned subject property.

Based on the inspection of the property and the investigation and analyses undertaken, we have formed the opinion that, as of April 8, 1981, and subject to the assumptions and limiting conditions set forth on page 8 of this report, the subject has a market value of:

FOUR MILLION SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS \$4,750,000

The narrative appraisal report that follows sets forth the identification of the property the assumptions and limiting conditions, pertinent facts about the area and the subject property, comparable data, the results of the investigations and analyses, and the reasoning leading to the conclusions set forth.

Respectfully submitted,

Jane A. Adams John B. Roe, MAI

INTRODUCTION TO REPORT

The opening section of the report sets forth the purposes and objectives of the appraisal, an identification of the property and the property rights appraised, and a definition and explanation of important concepts fundamental to the report. Many appraisers list the assumptions and limiting conditions of the report in this section.

Purpose of Report or Objective of Appraisal

The purpose of the report is to communicate the data and reasoning leading to a conclusion. The purpose of the appraisal, or objective of the assignment, is usually to arrive at a supportable opinion. In a simple assignment, the appraiser may express both ideas in a brief paragraph such as:

The objective of this appraisal is to estimate the market value of the City National Bank Building as of April 5, 1981. The purpose of this report is to present the data and reasoning that the appraiser has used to form the opinion of value.

Other, more complex appraisal assignments require a more detailed statement of the appraisal problem as illustrated in Example 7.2.

Property Rights Valued

If the assignment concerns the appraisal of a fee simple estate interest, it may be sufficient to describe the property rights in the statement of purpose. A separate statement may be required for more complex fractional interests.

Identification of Property

The property should be clearly and unambiguously identified by as many different means as possible, including:

- 1. Legal description (if lengthy, it may be put in the addenda and referred to within the identification section of the report).
- 2. Street address, including any qualifiers if the parcel is more or less than that encompassed by the street number.
- 3. Assessor's parcel number if numbers tend to remain the same from year to year in the jurisdiction involved.
- 4. Reference to the nearest intersection (e.g., "the parcel with 100 feet of frontage on the north side of Main Street, located 360 feet west of the centerline of the intersection of Main Street and Baldwin Avenue").
- 5. Reference to any common name for the property, such as the "City National Bank Building."
- 6. Identification by property type, such as "the three-story, wood-frame office building at the southwest corner of Pierce and Franholm Avenues."
- 7. Reference to ownership and transfer such as "the 20-acre portion of the southwest quarter of Section 15, Range 10 N. Township 5 S, transferred to Frank Smith by deed recorded November 10, 1980, in Book 3516, Page 431 of Official Records."

EXAMPLE 7.2. Statement of Objective

The objective of this appraisal assignment is to undertake the investigations and analyses required to reach four supportable estimates for each of the following premises:

Premise A

Assuming the lawsuit to overturn the county's approval of Environmental Impact Report No. 568 is unsuccessful and the joint venture is permitted to proceed with development of the Moonrise Bay Hotel and commercial project described herein,

- A-1. Estimate the market value of the site "as is."
- A-2. Estimate the market value of the project, assuming completion in accord with the plans and specifications identified and described herein.
- A-3. Estimate the market value of the project, assuming completion in accord with the plans and specifications identified and described herein and also assuming completion of the leasing of the commercial space at market rent levels.
- A-4. Estimate the amount of time after completion of construction for the commercial space to be leased.
- A-5. Estimate the occupancy level and average daily rate for the hotel during its first full year of operation and estimate the time after completion for the hotel to achieve stabilized occupancy.

Premise B

Assuming the decision of the court is to sustain the Environment Alliances lawsuit to overturn Environmental Impact Report No. 568 on the basis of the arguments in their petition,

- B-1. Estimate the highest and best use of the subject site as is.
- B-2. Estimate the market value of the subject site as is.
- B-3. Estimate the highest and best use of the subject site as if joined with the adjacent 12.5-acre Coffin parcel described herein.
- B-4. Estimate the market value of the subject site and the adjacent 12.5-acre Coffin site as if they were joined.

Ownership and Recent History

It is good practice to list current ownership and the date, price, and terms of acquisition. If there have been several transfers in recent years, it is also helpful to mention these. If the appraisal is of a parcel seriously encumbered by other rights created by easements or deed reservations, these must be clearly explained. Some corporations, lenders, and public agencies require a five- or ten-year property history as a part of their appraisal requirements. Salient facts can be enumerated as follows:

This appraisal is of the leasehold estate created by the ground lease executed December 31, 1947, between the Crafton Estate Company, as lessor, and the Loomis Company, as lessee. Through successive assignments of the leasehold interest, the leasehold estate is now vested in the name of Donbrow Realty Company, a California corporation. The lease and assignments of lease are reproduced as Exhibit D in the Addenda of this report. A synopsis and analyses of the lease begins on page 53 of this report.

Definitions of Significant Terms

Appraisal terms and legal concepts should be defined early in the report. In almost every instance, there should be a definition of *market value*, perhaps with a discussion of significant elements of the definition.

The appraiser should use the definition of market value appropriate to the particular assignment. In condemnation work, market value may be defined by statute or legal precedent in the jurisdiction involved. Assignments for lending institutions may require a definition imposed by one or more regulatory agencies. The appraiser may prefer to use the definition of market value in *Real Estate Appraisal Terminology*. Example 7.3 shows one way of presenting a definition of market value.

Other terms that may require definition include highest and best use, market rent, market feasibility, and, in condemnation work, special benefits, severance damages, the part taken, and the larger parcel. The authority or source of any definitions should be cited. Some appraisers incorporate the definitions in the "Assumptions and Limiting Conditions."

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions

Canon 5 of the Code of Professional Ethics and Standards of Professional Conduct of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers requires the appraiser to "clearly and unequivocally set forth all facts, assumptions and conditions upon which the appraisal is based." A variety of assumptions and limiting conditions might apply, depending on the appraisal. A list of those the appraiser may require appears in Example 7.4. Alternate wordings as used by different appraisers are given.

This section of the report may be called "Contingent and Limiting Conditions" or "Premises, Assumptions, and Limiting Conditions." Some appraisers prefer to place the entire section at the end of the report near the certificate of value. Others prefer to put specific conditions in the introductory section and general assumptions and limiting conditions at the end of the report. By placing all assumptions and limiting conditions early in the report, the reader is alerted to the premises underlying the data analysis and reasoning of the appraisal.

34

EXAMPLE 7.3. Market Value Definition and Implications

Market value is defined in Real Estate Appraisal Terminology' as:

"The most probable price in terms of money which a property should bring in competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.

"Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of the from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

- "1. buyer and seller are typically motivated.
- "2. both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what they consider their own best interest.
- "3. a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market.
- "4. payment is made in cash or its equivalent.
- "5 financing, if any is on terms generally available in the community at the specified date and typical for the property type in its locale.
- "6. the price represents a normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special financing amounts and/or terms, services, fees, costs, or credits incurred in the transaction."

An understanding of the most likely segment of the investment submarket capable of bidding on the property is essential. Appraisers study and adopt the motivations of the potential buyer group which will exert the greatest pressure on the price structure.

1. American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and Society of Real Estate Appraisers, Real Estate Appraisal Terminology, revised edition, ed. Byrl N. Boyce (Cambridge, Mass.: Ballinger Publishing Company, 1981), pp. 160-161.

EXAMPLE 7.4. Assumptions and Limiting Conditions

GENERAL CONDITIONS

- That the term fair market value, as herein used, is defined as "the highest price on the date of valuation that would be agreed to by a seller, being willing to sell but under no particular or urgent necessity for so doing, nor obliged to sell, and a buyer, being ready, willing, and able to buy under no particular necessity for so doing, each dealing with the other with full knowledge of all the uses and purposes for which the property is reasonably adaptable and available" (Cal. Code of Civ. Proc., Title 7, Sec. 1263.320).
- 2. That the date of value to which the opinions expressed in this report apply is set forth in the letter of transmittal. The appraiser assumes no responsibility for economic or physical factors occurring at some later date which may affect the opinions herein stated.
- 3. That no opinion is intended to be expressed for legal matters or that would require specialized investigation or knowledge beyond that ordinarily employed by real estate appraisers, although such matters may be discussed in the report.
- 4. That no opinion as to title is rendered. Data on ownership and the legal description were obtained from sources generally considered reliable. Title is assumed to be marketable and free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, easements, and restrictions except those specifically discussed in the report. The property is appraised assuming it to be under responsible ownership and competent management and available for its highest and best use.
- 5. That no engineering survey has been made by the appraiser. Except as specifically stated, data relative to size and area were taken from sources considered reliable, and no encroachment of real property improvements is assumed to exist.
- 6. That maps, plats, and exhibits included herein are for illustration only, as an aid in visualizing matters discussed within the report. They should not be considered as surveys or relied upon for any other purpose.
- 7. That no opinion is expressed as to the value of subsurface oil, gas, or mineral rights and that the property is not subject to surface entry for the exploration or removal of such materials except as is expressly stated.

FOR COURT OR HEARING TESTIMONY

- 8. That testimony or attendance in court or at any other hearing is not required by reason of rendering this appraisal unless such arrangements are made a reasonable time in advance.
- 9. That, because the date of value used herein is the date of trial, the appraiser reserves the right to consider and evaluate additional data that become available between the date of this report and the date of trial and to make any adjustments to the value opinions that may be required.

FOR DISCLOSURE OF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE

10. That, although the valuation contained in this report is the work product of the appraiser, specialized professional studies relating to the engineering cost estimate prepared by Frank L. Doe, Registered Land Engineer, have been relied on in formulating conclusions.

FOR DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL INTEREST

11. That the appraiser acknowledges personal interest, limited to ownership of ten shares of stock in the American Telephone and Telegraph Company, in the subject of this appraisal, but concludes that such interest will not affect his professional judgment, and that he has made full disclosure of such interest to the client.

FOR TITLE REPORT NONAVAILABILITY

12. That, because no title report was made available to the appraiser, she assumes no responsibility for such items of record not disclosed by her normal investigation.

FOR QUESTIONABLE SOIL OR GEOLOGIC CONDITIONS

- 13. That no detailed soil studies covering the subject property were available to the appraiser. Therefore, premises as to soil qualities employed in this report are not conclusive but have been considered consistent with information available to the appraiser.
- 14. That, since earthquakes are common in the area, no responsibility is assumed due to their possible effect on individual properties unless detailed geologic reports are made available.

FOR A LIMITED APPRAISAL

- 15. That, at the request of the client, the scope of this appraisal report has been limited to include the valuation of only the land and/or improvements that the appraiser considers to have been affected by the proposed taking and construction.
- 16. That, at the request of the client, the valuation herein reported relates to only a fractional interest in the real estate involved, and that the value of all other fractional interests may or may not equal the value of the entire fee simple estate considered as a whole. The fractional interest appraised relates to only the leasehold estate.

FOR IMPROVED PROPERTY

- 17. That the appraiser has personally inspected the subject property and finds no obvious evidence of structural deficiencies except as stated in this report; however, no responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake, or occupancy codes, can be assumed without provision of specific professional or governmental inspections.
- 18. That, although no termite inspection report was available, the appraiser personally inspected the subject property and found no significant evidence of termite damage or infestation.
- 19. That no consideration has been given in this appraisal to personal property located on the premises, or to the cost of moving or relocating such personal property; only the real property has been considered.
- 20. That consideration has been given in this appraisal to certain items of equipment located on the property and itemized herein, which, in the opinion of legal counsel, are to be considered in the property valuation.
- 21. That rental areas herein discussed have been calculated in accord with standards developed by the American Standards Association as included in *Real Estate Appraisal Terminology*.
- 22. That income and expense data herein relied upon were provided by Realty Management Corporation but do not represent an audited return.

FOR PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION

23. That the plans and specifications furnished by the client and prepared by Franklin Jones, AIA, March 10, 1979, upon which this valuation is predicated, are assumed to show the intent of the builder, but the appraiser assumes no responsibility for their correctness or for undisclosed modifications. A copy of the plans and specifications is in the appraisal files.

FOR AGRICULTURAL PROPERTY

- 24. That no consideration has been given in the appraisal to the value, if any attributable to growing crops on any portion of the property appraised.
- 25. That the present owner will be allowed to harvest the current crop.

FOR PARTIAL TAKING

- 26. That this project will be constructed in the manner proposed as described briefly in this report and in detail in the condemnor's construction plans.
- 27. That during the proposed construction, existing access and utilities will remain usable by properties presently dependent upon them, or these will be rerouted without disruption in service during the proposed construction, after which they will be replaced to provide usage equal to or better than previously existed.

FOR PIPELINE CONSTRUCTION UNDER AN EASEMENT

- 28. That the top of the proposed pipeline will have sufficient cover to permit any legal use not specifically prohibited by the wording of the acquisition easement deeds. Copies of these deeds are included in this report.
- 29. That topsoil replaced after construction will be equal to or better than displaced topsoil.
- 30. That the excess subsoil will be removed from each parcel where it would adversely affect the parcel after construction.
- 31. That the construction area of all parcels will be cleared of debris after construction.
- 32. That the trench area of parcels not under agricultural use will be mounded to accommodate expected settlement after construction.
- 33. That no consideration is given to potential damage that may or may not arise from ultimate subsidence in the trench area.
- 34. That construction will be confined to the right-of-way as described in this report.
- 35. That the condemnor will pay for restoration of all items of permitted use that may be damaged by his entry to and/or over the easement area, regardless of when such items were installed unless such damage occurs from an entry necessary for the removal of items prohibited by the easement language.
- 36. That where the proposed pipeline crosses watercourses and/or storm water drainage ways, it shall be constructed at a sufficient depth and with sufficient erosion control so as not to interfere with natural water flow or to divert such water flow over adjacent lands.

FOR POSSIBLE UNLAWFUL CONDUCT

37. That the appraiser has become aware, through the media, that certain aspects of the subject property operations are being investigated by the Internal Revenue Service. The value opinion herein reported is based upon reliance on the legality of the subject property operation and resulting financial statements. However, the appraiser reserves the right to consider and evaluate data that become available as a result of the IRS investigation and to make any required adjustment to the value opinion.

FOR REVIEW WITHOUT INSPECTION

ŧ:

38. That the appraiser's sole role in this appraisal was that of review and approval and did not include personal inspection of the property appraised or the market data used.

Scope of Investigation

Some appraisers add a section in the introduction that details the scope of investigation undertaken. This may be presented in a generalized form or in detail. If included, it can be either a narrative or an outline. See Example 7.5.

EXAMPLE 7.5. Scope of Investigation

As part of this appraisal, the appraiser made a number of independent investigations and analyses. She relied on data retained in her office, which is updated regularly for use in all assignments. Listed below are the investigations undertaken and the major data sources.

AREA AND NEIGHBORHOOD ANALYSIS

Examined South Quincy Regional Planning Report for demographic data, land use policies and trends, growth forecasts, and employment data. Reviewed 1979 Planning Update and interviewed Ralph G. Calvin, assistant planning director, in 1980, to ascertain development patterns and trends for portion of Quincy lying west of Interstate 13. Interviewed the following industrial brokers active in the area: Margaret L. Raines of Industrial Realtors, Frank P. Major of Northlake Realtors, and Samuel P. Smith of Morris Industrial Brokers.

SITE DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Consulted Quincy Planning and Engineering Departments, Public Utility Company, and Suffex County Geologists Office. Reviewed American Title Report 40-31245 prepared January 5, 1980. Physically inspected site on October 1, 1980, walked perimeter of property, and photographed subject site, surrounding area, and street scenes.

IMPROVEMENT DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Reviewed plans and specifications prepared by Wilson and Wilson, AIA, and inspected similar building at 3150 Crosstown Lane by same architect and builder. Interviewed Judith G. Wilson on October 6, 1980.

MARKET DATA PROGRAM

Vacant and improved transfers were obtained by researching all transfers occurring between January 1, 1979, and October 15, 1980, which were industrially zoned and located west of Interstate 13 and within the Quincy Metropolitan Area. Copies of deeds and financing instruments were obtained from the courthouse and an attempt was made to contact buyers, sellers, or both to verify transaction data and ensure that the sales were at arms length. Details of the verified sales are included in the addenda as Exhibit E.

RENTAL DATA PROGRAM

The brokers listed in "Area and Neighborhood Analysis" above were questioned on the most recent industrial leases consummated in the subject's vicinity. They also provided data on expenses from three similar properties. The appraiser used recent lease data on other properties on file. Morris Industrial Realtors has maintained an industrial property inventory for the past four years, which was consulted for vacancy information.

EXHIBIT 3

GUIDE NOTE 1 To the Standards of Professional Practice

VALUATION OF REAL ESTATE INTERESTS INTENDED FOR SYNDICATION AND VALUATION OF REAL ESTATE PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

.

VALUATION OF REAL ESTATE INTERESTS INTENDED FOR SYNDICATION AND VALUATION OF REAL ESTATE PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

Effective May 3, 1985

Introduction

The syndication of real estate has become an important element in the current real estate market. The process of syndication often begins when an individual or group (the syndicator) purchases interests in real estate for the purpose of transferring it to a limited partnership and then selling limited partnership interests to investors. Problems arise for an appraiser when he or she is asked to value the real estate interests at the time of their purchase by the syndicator because the syndicator frequently is buying more than real estate. Problems also arise when the syndicator sells limited partnership interests to investors because of the inherent difficulty involved in separating the value of the interests in real estate from the aggregate value of the limited partnership interests.

In the syndication industry the price of the interests in real estate at the time of acquisition by the syndicator is sometimes referred to as wholesale value; and the aggregate price of the individual partnership interests to be sold by the syndicator is sometimes referred to as aggregate market value, retail value, or syndication value. If these terms are used by an appraiser, however, they must be defined clearly and precisely so that the users of the report and the public will not be confused or misled.

Valuation problems often relate to non-real estate items or conditions involved in the sale and purchase transaction such as special financing and guarantees of occupancy or income. These items are difficult to isolate and evaluate even when all facts are known. In the context of syndication purchases, the problem of analyzing comparable sales is more difficult than usual because it is extremely difficult to obtain all relevant data.

When a syndicator sells the real estate partnership interests to investor purchasers, the sale price of a limited partnership interest includes a variety of items such as tax benefits, management services, and other benefits in addition to the interests in real estate.
The syndication of real estate involves the marketing of highly specialized interests, both real and personal, to a specifically defined group of purchasers with varying motivations. Unless extreme care is taken to distinguish the exact nature of the interests being appraised, valuation conclusions can be greatly distorted or misleading, and an appraiser may become liable to third parties under security and tax regulations that have often been described as punitive.

Basis for Proper Valuation

1. Acquisition by the Syndicator

All appropriate approaches should be used to estimate value. When analyzing comparable sales in the sales comparison approach, all transactions should be specifically analyzed to determine whether non-real estate items were included in the price. If non-real estate items were included, they should be separately identified and their effect on the sale price should be carefully considered.

A limited assignment should be accepted only in unusual circumstances.

2. Sale of Partnership Interests by the Syndicator

Syndicators frequently assert that the aggregate price they are paid by investors who purchase partnership interests establishes the market value of the interests in real estate that are the subject of the syndication. The market value of the interests in real estate is an important item in a syndication because the value of the improvements is used to establish the basis for depreciation which in turn creates substantial tax The appraiser, however, must carefully analyze the aggregate benefits. sale price of the partnership interests sold to investors and separate the value of the interests in real estate from the contributory value of the non-real estate interests sold. Rarely would the retail price of the individual partnership interests sold to investors equal the market value of the interests in real estate. It is essential that the appraiser understand that the partnership interests sold by the syndicator include many non-realty items such as tax shelter, potential capital appreciation, ability to invest in a major property that an investor might be incapable of investing in alone, and management services for the investment.

When valuing fractional interests in a real estate partnership, an appraiser must be certain that all market data is comparable and be acutely aware of what was included in each investment package utilized in the valuation process. In this connection an appraiser can appraise the partnership interest involved either by breaking it down into separate components or by considering it as a whole with all the components properly identified.

Unacceptable Practices

- 1. Failing to determine whether non-realty items were included in the price of comparable sales.
- 2. Using the retail price of the aggregate fractional interests in the partnership or the aggregate market value of the partnership as the market value of the real estate interests being appraised.
- 3. Combining the value of non-real estate items with the value of the real estate interests being appraised without proper identification and analysis.
- Failing to describe and measure the effects of submarket or atypical financing on the value of the real estate interests being appraised.

EXHIBIT 4

.

.

APPRAISAL POLICIES AND PRACTICES OF INSURED INSTITUTIONS AND SERVICE CORPORATIONS (R 41b)

.

an estimate of identifiable market demand and sales pace, cites data on competing projects showing size of project, sale price per model and per square foot and sales rates in each development, recaps the anticipated cost of development, and assesses probability of obtaining governmental approval of the proposed development.

(11) Comprehensive Cash Flow Projection

The file should contain a cash flow projection which contains data on the following matters projected over the life of the project at quarter-year intervals: sales; expenditures broken down as to land, overhead, development, taxes and interest, marketing, and maintenance; and a calculation of the internal rate of return or profitability analysis.

(12) Accounting and Other Internal Controls

The file should contain a description of the type and periodicity of accounting reports to be furnished to the management and directorate of both the service corporation and its parent association(s) together with a description of the controls to be maintained with respect to cash receipts and expenditures in the project. (3/2/77)

R 39 INSURANCE REGULATION 563.33

Paragraph (b) of Insurance Regulation 563.33 provides that any insured institution which agrees in writing with the Corporation to comply with all of the guidelines set forth in paragraph (a) of the section need no longer comply with any present condition of insurance or provision of its agreement for operating policies concerning the composition of its board of directors or the employment of its officers.

Institutions wishing to enter into such an agreement should submit a resolution of their board of directors to the Supervisory Agent. Such resolution should set forth the institution's agreement to comply with Section 563.33(a) recommended guidelines for composition of the board of directors of an insured institution. In the event the existing board of the insured institution is not in compliance with the guidelines, the resolution should include a proposed schedule for bringing the noncomforming directorate into compliance. Such proposed schedule should be for a short a period of time as is reasonably possible consistent with the remaining terms of the existing directorate, but in no event later than the third annual meeting following the date of submission to the Supervisory Agent.

Unless notified by the Supervisory Agent within 30 days after submission of its resolution that the agreement is not acceptable, an institution need no longer comply with any present condition of insurance or provision of its agreement for operating policies concerning the composition of its board of directors or the employment of its officers. (3/21/ 77)

R 40 [Rescinded]

R 41 [Rescinded]

R 41a [Rescinded]

R 41b APPRAISAL POLICIES AND PRAC-TICES OF INSURED INSTITUTIONS AND SERVICE CORPORATIONS

(Editor's Note: In addition to consolidating the provisions of Memoranda R 41a and R41a-1 into a single document and incorporating the content of T 15-1, the following significant revisions have been incorporated in the section entitled "Appraisal Procedures":

Item #4—expands and clarifies requirement that appraisals of development type properties reflect deductions and discounts by eliminating the 12 month sell-out/occupancy threshold formerly provided by R-41a.

Item #5—expands and clarifies expected use of market/economic feasibility assessments to include support of appraiser's conclusion of highest and best use as well as of probable success of the project.

Item #7—revises definition of "Market Value" to reflect terminology currently in use by leading professional appraisal organizations and, consistent with the collateral lending posture of the savings and loan industry, the need to obtain the most probable selling price should the property be placed on the market under the conditions herein specified.)

Introduction

The soundness of an association's or service corporation's mortgage loans and real estate investments depends to a great extent upon the adequacy of the appraisals of the real estate. This memorandum provides guidelines for appraisal management and procedures to assist in determining compliance with the appraisal requirements of Insurance Regulation 563.17-1(c)(1)(iii).

Appraisal Management

The lending policies established by the board of directors will determine the complexity and diversity of appraisal situations to be encountered and, therefore, the general requirements of the association or service corporation for appraisal staff and facilities. Management should ensure that appraisal services provided, whether by fee or staff appraisers, meet the current needs of the association or service corporation.

An appraisal should serve an underwriter's needs by providing a supported opinion of a property's market value as of a specified date sufficiently current so as to reduce the likelihood of material value fluctuations prior to the loan/investment decision. In addition to providing estimated market value, the appraisal should give the appraiser's opinion of the property's feasibility and marketability. An accurate and useful appraisal is most often produced by a

> 4th Ed. 4-#2

Source: Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago

. •

capable and suitably equipped fee or staff appraiser who has ready access to current market information. Therefore, each association and service corporation should be able to demonstrate that its fee and staff appraisers are competent and knowledgeable of the relevant markets, and have the facilities necessary to perform adequate appraisals.

Appraisal skills and professional requirements are not static. Staff appraisers should continually increase their knowledge and skills through attendance at courses sponsored by universities, colleges, and/or professional organizations. Memberships in professional appraisal organizations should be encouraged. Attendance at courses and participation in the activities of professional organizations are also useful factors for management to consider in selecting independent fee appraisers.

Appraisal Procedures

The appraisal content shall follow generally accepted and established appraisal practices, as reflected in the standards of the nationally recognized professional appraisal organizations.

Specifically, each appraisal report must:

- 1. be totally self-contained so that:
 - a. it is a useful tool for prudent underwriting,
 - REO and/or LTF decisions.
 - b. when read by any third party, the appraiser's logic, reasoning, judgment and analysis in arriving at a final conclusion indicate to the reader the reasonableness of the market value reported.
 - c. it demonstrates professional competence, ethics and expertise.
 - be of a narrative style for major loans and/or investments made by the association or affiliates.
 - contain all recognized approaches to market value unless the appraiser fully explains and documents the rationale for eliminating one or more of the approaches to value.
 - take into consideration and make provision for all appropriate deductions and discounts for any development type property.
 - 5. address itself to the market/economic feasibility prospects for any proposed major loan/investment real estate project, in sufficient detail to support the appraiser's forecast of the probable success and the conclusion(s) of highest and best use. If a market/economic feasibility report is prepared by other than the appraiser, the appraiser will set forth the reasoning and rationale for accepting or rejecting said report. All such market/economic feasibility studies will be made a permanent part of the appraisal report.
 - contain, if for major loan/investment properties (except for home type properties) located in highly speculative local market areas which have experienced dramatic price increases relative to regional norms, a sales history analysis

of the subject property covering the speculative time period. This analysis should reasonably disclose and verify:

- a. grantor(s)-grantee(s).
- b. sale date(s).
- c. sale price(s) and terms of financing, discounting the sale to a cash equivalent, where necessary.
- d. any interrelated parties to each transaction.
- 7. address itself to "Market Value" as hereby defined and qualified:

The most probable price in terms of money which a property should bring in competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, knowledgeably and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus.

Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

- buyer and seller are typically motivated.
- b. both parties are well informed or well advised, and each acting in what they consider their own best interest.
- c. a reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market.
- d. payment is made in cash or its equivalent.
- e. financing, if any, is on terms generally available in the community at the specified date and typical for the property type in its locale.
- f. the price represents a normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special financing amounts and/or terms, services, fees, costs, or credits incurred in the transaction.

Market value as defined is applicable in all lending/ investment circumstances for insured associations and affiliates, including special purpose properties and REO/LTF situations. In REO LTF situations, defined market value estimates will be derived on an "as is" basis. Under no circumstances should the appraiser further qualify or, by assumptions, erode the impact of this definition. All market data inputs should be thoroughly analyzed and, where necessary, adjusted in terms of the above definition, as qualified.

As reflected in qualifications d, e and f of the above definition, all valuations must be couched in terms of "cash or its equivalent" and "typical financing" for that particular property type.

Any valuations which by assumption or qualification effectively utilize any form of specialized, unique and/or subsidized financing assumptions as surrogates for "typical financing" assumptions in the appraisal methodology are not considered to be acceptable. All properties, regardless of the specific nature of the particular financing arrangements then

4th Ed.

existing and/or as proposed, must be evaluated in a market value context as defined and as qualified relative to "typical financing" and "cash equivalency."

For certain governmental subsidy programs, such as HUD Section & Programs, where the real estate project and the ultimate product user represent a distinct and readily identifiable separate market relative to those projects found in the typical market, the appraiser may consider the various subsidized income/vacancy guarantees and/or subsidized aspects of the specific financing/contractual programs. In no case, however, should the final value estimate exceed replacement cost. Replacement cost in this context refers to the sum of the following:

- market value of the subject site ("value" conforming to the above referenced market value definition).
- current reproduction cost less deterioration and obsolescence of all building and site improvements.
- a reasonable, market-supportable, entrepreneurial profit.

Please note that the definition of "market value" contained in this memorandum supersedes all older definitions of "market value" or "fair market value" previously deemed acceptable to the Bank Board. Memorandum #T 15-1, which contains a now obsolete definition, is hereby rescinded. It should be understood, however, that the long-standing examining and supervisory policy described in #T 15-1 remains in effect. Substantial variations between the appraised "market value" of a property and its actual selling price (and or book value in the case of REO) will continue to be carefully scrutinized during the examination process. (3/12/82)

R 42 REASONABLENESS OF COMPENSATION AND FEES

The Board of Directors of an insured institution or affiliated service corporation has the responsibility for the determination of compensation of officers of the institution which. in accordance with Insurance Regulation 563.17(b), must be reasonable and commensurate with their duties and responsibilities.

Such compensation generally includes: remuneration such as salary, bonus, profit sharing, and fees for serving as a director, advisory director, or member of an executive, loan or other committee; as well as annuities, options, pension or other retirement benefits.

In making the determination concerning institution officers, the Board of Directors should include at least the following in the factors to which consideration is given:

1. The qualifications and experiences of the person(s) concerned;

. . .

- 2. The compensation paid to other persons employed by the institution or service corporation;
- The compensation paid to persons having similar duties and responsibilities in other insured institutions or service corporation affiliates;
- The size of the institution or service corporation, and the complexity of its operations;
- 5. The financial condition, including income, of the institution or service corporation and the individual's contribution thereto:
- 6. Any amounts received, either directly or indirectly, by the officer whose principal occupation is with the institution or service corporation for other services performed for the institution or service corporation (i.e., fees for serving as appraiser, attorney, escrow agent, insurance agent, etc.);
- 7. The value of personal fringe benefits provided to the employee and also perquisites such as an automobile, club membership and expense account.

With respect to fees of outside appraisers or attorneys, the Board of Directors is responsible for a determination of whether those fees are reasonable and commensurate with the services being performed. The responsibility will not necessarily be satisfied by a determination that the fees (particularly if the outsider appraiser or attorney is an affiliated person) are comparable to those charged by other appraisers or attorneys performing similar services for other insured institutions in the same area. In exercising its responsibility, the Board should also consider the comparative advantages to be gained by the institution or service corporation by employing a staff appraiser or attorney to perform its appraisal and legal services.

In establishing fees to be paid to members of the board, each director should be keenly aware of his fiduciary responsibilities. Each should keep in mind that one of his primary responsibilities is to establish policies which will protect the assets of the association. Thus, directors should use similar factors insetting such fees as it does in setting officer's salaries. The minutes of the Board of Directors should include the record of deliberations concerning salaries for officers and fees for attorneys, appraisers and directors, and the records of the board should support the conclusions reached. (8'2'77)

R 43 CREDIT CARDS

The staff of the Bank Board has concluded that, under certain circumstances, Federal associations presently have the authority to issue credit cards. That conclusion is confirmed in a letter directed to California Federal Savings and Loan Association, a copy of which is attached to this memorandum. In arriving at that conclusion, the staff also recognized

> 4th Ed. 4-82

47

154

EXHIBIT 5

GUIDANCE NOTES WITH BACKGROUND PAPERS ON THE VALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS

Documents in Exhibit 5 deleted; ownership unclear and request for permission from International Asset Valuation Standards Committee not returned Reproduced by permission of The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors which owns the Copyright

EXHIBIT 6

RICS Guidance Notes on the Valuation of Assets - 2nd Edition

Guidance Note No. GN 22

LAND AND BUILDINGS DEFINITIONS OF 'OPEN MARKET VALUE' AND 'FORCED SALE VALUE'

Guidance Note No. GN 22

LAND AND BUILDINGS DEFINITIONS OF 'OPEN MARKET VALUE' AND 'FORCED SALE VALUE'

1. Open Market Value

1.1 'Open Market Value' is intended to mean the best price at which an interest in a property might reasonably be expected to be sold by Private Treaty at the date of valuation assuming:

- (a) a willing seller;
- (b) a reasonable period within which to negotiate the sale taking into account the nature of the property and the state of the market;
- (c) values will remain static throughout the period;
- (b) the property will be freely exposed to the market;
- (e) no account is to be taken of an additional bid by a special purchaser.

1.2 The Institution stresses that if a valuer considers it appropriate to apply any qualifying words to 'Open Market Value', the meaning of those words should be discussed and agreed with the client before instructions are finally accepted. The Valuer should incorporate in his report the agreed meaning of the qualifying words.

1.3 It is emphasised that this definition can in no way override any statutory definition of market value which may have to be adopted for the purpose of valuations for Capital Gains Tax, compensation cases, etc.

2. Forced Sale Value

2.1 'Forced Sale Value' is the Open Market Value as defined above with the proviso that the vendor has imposed a time limit for completion which cannot be regarded as a 'reasonable period' as referred to in Para. 1.1.

2.2 If the term 'Forced Sale Value' is used members are advised that the time limit should be discussed and agreed with the client.

Guidance Note No. GN 23

THE VALUATION OF PLANT AND MACHINERY ASSETS

1. General

1.1 The Companies Act 1967 requires that assets shall be classified in the balance sheet under headings appropriate to the company's business and further that fixed assets, current assets and assets that are neither fixed nor current be separately identified but the Act contains no definitions of these classes of assets, although it refers to investments, goodwill, patents and trademarks in terms which recognise the possibility that such assets may be so classified. It should be noted that the very word 'fixed' is somewhat of a misnomer; ships, motor vehicles, railway engines and heavy movable equipment including cranes will be included although some may be classified as 'neither fixed nor current'. Smaller items of plant and machinery, particularly where they are movable, are often classified, for accounting purposes, as neither fixed nor current.

1.2 As a matter of practicality, many companies use a minimum expenditure level to account for capital expenditure; thus any item costing less than a specified amount is written off to revenue in the year of purchase whereas strictly speaking such expenditure could be charged to a fixed asset account.

1.3 Current assets (which will include stocks and work in progress) are in general those assets which are expected to be consumed or realised in the ordinary course of business in the short term.

1.4 The precise nature of the asset is not the only criterion as regards classification. Assets considered to be 'fixed' in one business would not necessarily be so in another.

1.5 When Valuers are asked to make a valuation whether it be of land and buildings or plant and machinery for inclusion in a company's accounts (whether by incorporating the valuation in the accounts or by a reference in a note or in the directors' report) it is essential that there should be a clear understanding by all concerned of what is being valued and the date of the valuation. Valuation Reports and Certificates should clearly define inclusions and exclusions. It is also essential that there should be a clear understanding of the basis of valuation and the proposed treatment of that valuation in the accounts, etc., in order to ensure that there is a proper comparison between the valuation and the book amount of the same assets. Unless this understanding exists between the directors, the accountants and the valuers concerned, there is always the risk that misleading comparisons will be drawn.

2. Basis of Valuation

2.1 Basic accounting concepts postulate that accounts are on a going concern basis, that See GN 11 is to say that the enterprise will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The normal basis of valuation of plant and machinery where the valuation is to be incorporated or referred to in the accounts, etc., of a company should therefore be its open market value on the assumption that the plant and machinery will continue in its present existing use in the business of the company. Normally this existing use basis of valuation will be depreciated replacement cost, i.e., the estimated cost as new at the date of the valuation including the cost of installation less an allowance for depreciation (i.e., wear and tear, age and obsolescence). Account should be taken in the valuation, however, of special factors such as scarcity value or the possible limitation of value caused by limited natural resources or the building housing the plant having a limited life or being held on a limited tenure or with limited planning consent. Further it is necessary to consider both individual and overall values of the plant.

2.2 In some cases an existing use basis of valuation will not be appropriate. It would See GN 1 almost certainly be inappropriate to use an existing use basis of valuation of plant and and BP 2 the an in which they are housed are valued on an alter-

the effect on the value of plant and machinery. In these circumstances the following alternatives would be available:

- (a) where the plant and machinery could be moved to and used by the company at another site, the valuation would be on a depreciated replacement cost basis, but making an allowance for the costs of removal and reinstallation;
- (b) where plant and machinery is to be disposed of rather than used in the company's business it would then be valued on an open market value basis. If there is a time limit on the disposal, forced sale value may be the proper basis of valuation.

2.3 Where the land and buildings have not been valued, then the plant and machinery should be valued on the basis that would have been appropriate had the land and buildings been valued.

See GN 24 2.4 Definitions of open market value and forced sale value are given in GN. 24. These definitions are to be used for the purpose of valuations which are to be used in company accounts, etc., and they cannot override any statutory definitions of market value which may have to be adopted for the purpose of valuation for capital gains tax, compensation cases, etc.

2.5 In all instances, it is essential that, in advance of the valuation being carried out, there should be a clear understanding with the company and its accountants (and probably its auditors) of what is to be valued, the reasons for the valuation, the use to be made of the valuation and all the surrounding circumstances so that the appropriate basis can be determined.

3. Plant and Machinery forming part of a Building

3.1 Problems have arisen when valuing land and buildings where there are items of plant and machinery which are regarded by the valuer as forming part of the building but which the accountant may wish to segregate for accounting purposes. Valuers when valuing premises will normally include all items of plant and machinery on the premises which provide the services to the land and buildings and which the open market regards as an integral part of the premises for letting or sale or as security for a loan.

3.2 A list of such items is given in GN 25 but it is stressed that the list is not comprehensive and merely indicates, as a general guide to valuers, those items that would usually fall to be included in the value of the premises.

3.3 Normally process plant and machinery should not be included in the valuation of the premises.

3.4 It is possible that some or all of these types of plant and machinery normally included in the valuation of the premises may be needed to be separated for accounting purposes, for instance when it is expected that they have a shorter useful life than the rest of the premises and depreciation is being provided accordingly.

3.5 An apportionment of a valuation as between:

- (i) land and buildings; and
- (ii) the plant and machinery element;

may also be necessary in order to correspond with the headings adopted by the company in its accounts.

3.6 In such circumstances Valuers will have to indicate clearly that their valuation is of the whole and that any apportionment is an allocation of their overall valuation between the different components. This should also be stated in the notes to the Company Accounts if the apportioned figures are referred to therein.

4. Dies, Moulds, Patterns and Spare Parts

4.1 As a general rule, dies, moulds, patterns, jigs, drawings, designs and similar items should be excluded from a valuation.

4.2 In the normal course of events, spare parts would not be valued as part of the unit as it is often the practice for these to be carried in stock, and only auxiliary items necessary

See GN 25

4.3 In both cases, Valuers should consult with the directors and auditors in order to take the appropriate action.

5. Plant and Machinery Register

5.1 It is recommended that all companies be encouraged to maintain an up-to-date plant and machinery register showing as a minimum, the location of each item of plant and machinery, its date of acquisition, original cost and any further capital expenditure as this assists considerably in a valuation and its reconciliation with the company accounts.

6. General

6.1 Valuers are advised to discuss with the Company Accountants and Auditors the requirements of the valuation before carrying out the detailed valuation.

6.2 Reports and Certificates should incorporate suitable savings clauses covering the treatment in the valuation of such items as assets on hire purchase, government grants and goodwill.

7. Consent

7.1 The Valuer's Certificate should state that his written consent to any reference to his valuation in company accounts and/or directors' reports or any company statement or circular must be obtained before such documents are published. All Valuation Certificates should, therefore, incorporate a paragraph to the effect that:

'Neither the whole nor any part of this Valuation Certificate or any reference thereto may be included in any published document, circular or statement nor published in any way without the Valuer's written approval of the form and context in which it may appear.'

Guidance Note No. GN 24

PLANT AND MACHINERY DEFINITIONS OF 'OPEN MARKET VALUE' AND 'FORCED SALE VALUE'

1. Open Market Value

1.1 'Open Market Value' is defined as the best price at which an interest in the plant and machinery might reasonably be expected to be sold at the date of valuation by either Private Treaty, Public Auction or Tender, as may be appropriate assuming:

- (a) a willing seller;
- (b) a reasonable period within which to negotiate the sale, taking into account the nature of the plant and machinery and the state of the market;
- (c) values will remain static throughout the period;
- (d) the plant and machinery will be freely exposed to the market;
- (e) no account is to be taken of an additional bid by a special purchaser;
- (f) the plant and machinery may be valued, either
 - (i) as a whole in its working place, or
 - (ii) as individual items for removal.

2. Forced Sale Value

2.1 'Forced Sale Value' is defined as the open market value as defined above with the proviso that the vendor has imposed a time limit for completion which cannot be regarded as a reasonable period as referred to in above.

2.2 If the term 'Forced Sale Value' is used members are advised that the time limit should be discussed and agreed with the client.

Guidance Note No. GN 25

PLANT AND MACHINERY ITEMS OF PLANT AND MACHINERY NORMALLY INCLUDED IN VALUATIONS OF LAND AND BUILDINGS

1. The following observations are intended to apply in the valuation of assets comprised in the majority of industrial and commercial types of property. Factory premises of a specialised nature will often require individual treatment and segregation to meet particular circumstances. In the case of sale, fire insurance, rating, etc., different criteria may apply. The list which follows, however, whilst not comprehensive, indicates those items usually valued on the basis that they form part of the 'building' service installations as opposed to those provided as part of the industrial or commercial processes carried on by the occupier. It follows that the valuation of land and buildings would normally exclude all items of plant, machinery and equipment which may have been installed wholly or primarily in connection with the occupiers' industrial or commercial processes, furniture and furnishings, tenants' fixtures and fittings, vehicles, stock, moulds and loose tools. The excluded items may need to be separately valued for balance sheet or other purposes.

2. Electricity

Mains supply cables, transformer houses with transformers, sub-stations and their equipment, generating plant and associated equipment including standby plant, and all wiring and switchgear up to and including the main distribution board in each building, together with:-

(a) In non-industrial buildings:

Wiring for lighting and power from the distribution board to wall and ceiling points.

(b) In industrial buildings:

Wiring for lighting to wall and ceiling points. *Note:* (power circuits from the distribution board would normally be excluded on the grounds that these are related to the processes).

(c) Externally:

Wiring and associated structures for lighting to roads and yards, etc.

3. Gas

Gas mains up to and including meter houses and piping from meter houses for nonprocess purposes. Where the property includes a gas producer plant this would normally be in connection with the occupier's industrial processes and would, therefore, be excluded.

4. Water

Wells, boreholes, pumps, pump houses, service pipes including those connected to Water Board's mains, water treatment plants, storage tanks and reservoirs and all structures required to contain, support or house such items.

5. Space Heating and Hot Water

5.1 Boilers and associated plant including fuel tanks, pipes and fittings (e.g., radiators and unit fan heaters) primarily supplying or using steam or hot water for space heating and other non-process purposes.

6. Air Conditioning and Ventilation

Air conditioning plant and trunking and fan extractors and ventilators except where forming part of a computer installation or primarily serving plant and machinery used in industrial or commercial processes.

7. Fire and Security

Hydrants, pumps and mains, sprinkler systems, smoke detectors and annexed fire and burglar alarm systems.

8. Drainage

8.1 Surface water and foul water drains and sewers.

8.2 Sewage disposal plants not primarily concerned with treating water and other liquids used in the processes of trade effluents.

9. Lifts and Gantries

9.1 Passenger and goods lifts, escalators and travelators designed to benefit the general occupation of a building.

9.2 Rails and supporting gantries for overhead travelling cranes where forming an integral part of the structure of a building.

Note:

Hoists, conveyors, elevators, overhead cranes, jib and derrick cranes would normally be excluded.

10. Structures

10.1 The decision upon which items should be included will, to some extent, depend upon general experience and the practice adopted by individual trades.

10.2 Among the criteria will be the degree of attachment, permanence and size. Structures which are necessary for the provision of the services or have been installed or erected other than for the industrial or commercial processes carried out on the property would normally be included in the valuation of land and buildings. Such items might include the following:

Boiler houses, Chimneys (brick and steel) and Economiser Chambers; Pits; Stagings; Internal Buildings; Permanent Partitions; Railways; Bridges and Housings for Conveyors; Fences; Roads, Yards and Hard Standings.

10.3 Structures which are ancillary to, or form a part of an item of Process Plant and Machinery, would normally be excluded.

EXHIBIT 7

.

.

.

RICS Guidance Notes on the Valuation of Assets - 2nd Edition Guidance Note No. GN 26

THE VALUATION OF PENSION FUND PROPERTY ASSETS

۱

Guidance Note No. GN 26

THE VALUATION OF PENSION FUND PROPERTY ASSETS

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The RICS draws the attention of members to the following guidance which should be observed when instructed to value the property assets owned by Pension and Superannuation Funds. This Note refers to a number of matters which should assist members but the general recommendations set out in the Guidance Notes Handbook should continue to be observed. It is recommended that the valuer should have discussions with the Trustees or the Fund Manager in order to establish the precise nature of the work required and to acquaint himself with the Fund's valuation policy and rules.

1.2 This Note applies equally to internal, external and independent valuers although, as indicated below, there can exist in certain specified circumstances special requirements which should be observed.

1.3 Funds may hold investments in companies, trusts or other entities, which in turn may own property assets. If valuers are instructed to provide a valuation of those property assets they should be valued and reported to the particular entity as separate valuations.

1.4 The term 'Trustees' includes any body of persons who have the ultimate responsibility for the investments and operation of the Fund.

1.5 The term 'Employer' refers to the body with whom the member of the fund has a contract of employment.

1.6 The term 'Fund Manager' refers to the individual to whom the Trustees may have delegated investment powers.

2. CATEGORIES OF PROPERTY

2.1 Properties owned by Funds should be categorised into four groups:-

- (a) Properties held as investments
- (b) Properties in course of development
- (c) Properties held for development
- (d) Properties in owner occupation.

2.2 Properties held as investments are those on which construction work has been completed and which are owned for the purpose of letting to produce a rental income which is negotiated at arm's length with third parties.

2.3 Properties in course of development include properties which have been acquired with vacant possession with the intention of seeking an early arm's length letting to a third party with or without works of repair or improvement being required. Apart from properties where work is in actual progress there should be included in this category any property where a start is imminent because all appropriate consents have been obtained and a building contract has been exchanged.

2.4 Properties held for development are those acquired with the intention to redevelop at some future date, with or without further properties not yet acquired, and which also do not fall within the other three categories.

2.5 Properties in owner occupation include any property which is subject to any form of intercompany leasing or licensing arrangement between the Fund and a subsidiary. Such arrangements should, therefore, be ignored. Properties which are partly occupied by the owner should only be included in this category if the occupation is substantial, say one-

3. BASIS OF VALUATION

3.1 The bases of valuation which should be adopted for each property category are:----

(a) Properties held as investments

Open Market Value.

(b) Properties in course of development

Cost, but if there is a permanent diminution in value to below cost, then at open market value, assuming the development is complete with the benefit of any contracted lettings less the estimated cost to complete. Properties should be valued on this basis until the earlier of either being fully let or a period, as may be appropriate, not exceeding twelve months from the date of practical completion.

(c) Properties held for development

Open Market Value.

(d) Properties in owner occupation

- (i) Non-specialised properties—Open market value for existing use assuming vacant possession.
- (ii) Specialised properties (See Guidance Note No. GN 11 and Background paper No. BP 3)---Depreciated replacement cost subject to adequate potential profitability.

Notes:

The Fund may occupy properties for its own administrative offices or a purpose such as farming or forestry either in hand or under some form of inter-company leasing or licensing arrangement between the Fund and a subsidiary, under which a business is either directly operated by a third party and/or the Fund.

Certain properties like hotels and petrol filling stations are valued as fully operational business units (see Background Paper No. BP 7 on the subject of Open Market Valuations having regard to Trading Potential).

The Valuer should discuss with the Trustees or the Fund Manager whether it would be appropriate to undertake separate valuations of other items of fixed assets or current assets used in connection with the occupation of properties which come within this category.

In appropriate cases the valuer should draw attention to the existence of any material alternative use and the value attributable thereto where significantly different from the figure of open market value for existing use or depreciated replacement cost to be reported.

3.2 The valuer should enquire whether the valuation will be adopted for the purposes of an actuarial valuation and if so whether there are any specific requirements for the property valuation depending on whether the actuary is making a 'continuing' or (going concern) or a 'solvency' (or discontinuance valuation.)

3.3 The Fund should have a stated policy on the treatment of financial carrying charges. In the absence of such a policy if a valuer is requested to ascertain the figure of 'cost' for property in the course of development it would be usual to include a financial carrying charge. If a finance agreement exists with a third party the prescribed rate of interest should be adopted. If the property is a direct development of the Fund or no interest rate is stated in the anreement the valuer should adopt either an opportunity cost rate or a

See BP7

See GN11 and BP3

THE VALUER 4

4.1 Valuers should meet the definition in Guidance Note No. GN 3 and can be internal, See GN3 external or independent valuers, providing:----

- (a) If the Trustees should require an independent valuation the valuer must be external and also be able to comply with the requirement for an independent valuation in Guidance Note No. GN 3. An external valuer should always consider declining to accept instructions to carry out an independent valuation of certain properties if he considers that a conflict of interest could possibly arise. An external valuer who normally acts for the Fund in acquisitions and management would not generally be able to meet the requirements for an independent valuation.
- (b) If an internal valuer is not engaged wholetime on duties in connection with the properties of the Fund and also does not have a sole responsibility to the Trustees he may not meet the definition of a qualified internal asset valuer. It is for the internal valuer to satisfy himself as to where lies his responsibility.
- (c) If an external valuer is employed also by the Employer in respect of properties not owned by the Fund he may not meet the definition of an external asset valuer. It is for the external valuer to satisfy himself as to where lies his responsibility.
- (d) An external valuer responsible for the sale of a property to a Fund should not value the property for the Fund for a period of two years after the purchase.

4.2 The Employer and the Trustees should each be independently advised in any case relating to the transfer of any interest in a property between the Employer and the Fund, or in any matter affecting value, such as the disposal by way of sale/letting and rent reviews and where the Employer and the Fund have different legal interests in a property which could give rise to a conflict of interest. It follows that neither an internal nor an external valuer nor any RICS member should, therefore, act in such connection unless in the case of the last the RICS member had been appointed by both the Employer and the Trustees to act as an independent expert or arbitrator between the parties.

4.3 If the Fund wish to appoint an independent valuer he should conform to the definition See GN19 contained in paragraph 3 of Guidance Note GN 19.

THE VALUATION CERTIFICATE 5.

5.1 The Valuation Certificate should conform to Guidance Note GN 5 but in addition the See GN5 valuer should provide the aggregate totals of the net rental income (after the deduction of all outgoings including ground and head rents but not amortization) passing at the date of valuation and at such other yearly anniversary dates in order to report reversionary increases/decreases based on market values current at the valuation date. The projection would not normally be for a period beyond ten years.

5.2 In normal circumstances the valuer should report to the Manager of the Fund but internal and external valuers must be prepared, if necessary and appropriate, to take steps to ensure that the Trustees individually have a sight of a copy of the Valuation Certificate but not necessarily copies of the schedules of properties.

5.3 It is emphasised that the Valuation Certificate should always contain a non-publica-See GN5 tion clause (see Guidance Note GN 5).

5.4 Internal, external and independent valuers should ensure that the following information is available in the Valuation Certificate to the Trustees:-

- (a) The total value of properties to be divided into:----
 - Freehold Leasehold-long and short.
 - (b) Para. (a) to be divided between:---Completed investments In course of development

- (c) Total gross rents less Ground and Head rents Property expenses (but not amortization) Total net rental income.
- (d) A projection of reversionary increases/decreases at yearly anniversary dates based on market values current at the valuation date, as set out in para. 5.1.
- (e) The percentage of the breakdown by capital value of the portfolio as between offices, retail, industrial, agricultural and others to be stated, differentiating between the U.K. and Overseas properties.
- (f) The date and basis of the valuation and the name and qualification of the valuer(s).

5.5 It is the policy of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors to encourage its members to request that the foregoing information is included in any published Report or Accounts to the extent that it is relevant and material to the valuation of the assets.

6. PLANT AND MACHINERY

Any plant and machinery to be included in the valuation should be valued in accordance with Guidance Note GN 23.

7. FREQUENCY OF VALUATIONS

7.1 The Trustees have the responsibility for deciding the frequency at which valuations shall be made and whether by an internal, external or independent valuer. Nevertheless a member, who is engaged on duties which include those of an investment advisor and/or portfolio manager, will need from time to time to make capital and rental valuations. When such valuations are made he should draw to the attention of the Fund Manager or Trustees when appropriate any significant changes in the values of individual properties or in market conditions affecting the whole or part of the portfolio.

7.2 When a valuer is instructed he should recommend, in respect of any property falling within the category 'in course of development', where cost over-runs are a very real risk, that a valuation be made each year until the property is moved into another category in order to satisfy the Trustees that there has been no permanent diminution in value.

8. DISCUSSION PAPER

A discussion paper is being prepared by the Accounting Standards Committee. If this discussion paper is followed by an Accounting Standard it may be necessary to issue an amendment to this Guidance Note.

July 1981

See GN23

Background Paper No. BP1

EXISTING USE VALUE

- 1. Fixed assets which are included in the balance sheet should, in accordance with existing law and accountancy practice, be stated on the basis of cost, or at a valuation (which may or may not be current). When assets are stated at a valuation it is assumed that the business will continue and in many cases the basis to be adopted is open market value for existing use with vacant possession.
- 2. Open market value for existing use as a basis for valuations to be incorporated into a Company's balance sheet, or for reference to in the notes, takes into account the RICS definition of open market value but with the added_assumption that the property will continue as owner-occupied in its existing use, and thus ignores any possible alternative use of the property, any element of hope value, any value attributable to goodwill and any possible increase in value due to special investment or financial transactions such as sale and leaseback which would leave the company with a different interest from the one which is to be valued.
- 3. Open market value for existing use would, however, include the possibilities of extensions or further buildings on undeveloped land or redevelopment of existing buildings providing such construction can be undertaken without major interruption to the continuing business.
- 4. It is not unusual for the occupation of business premises to be subject to a planning consent which is personal to the occupier. Bearing in mind that accounts are normally prepared on the assumption that the business is to continue in operation for the fore-seeable future, it is recommended that open market value for existing use should disregard any planning problems which may arise in the event of the owner vacating. It is, however, recommended where the occupation is subject to a personal planning consent (unless this limitation applies for a relatively short period only), the valuer should report in addition to open market value for existing use the open market value having regard to the particular planning situation. The latter figure will take account of possible alternative uses to the extent to which these would be reflected in the price obtainable on a sale.
- 5. Existing use for the valuation of land and buildings in company accounts does not carry the same meaning as in planning law, or as current use for D.L.T. purposes, nor does it necessarily mean the particular trade currently being undertaken on the property. Many buildings are general purpose structures suitable for a wide variety of different trades. Similar industrial buildings will probably have the same values irrespective of the different trades that are carried on, and this would also apply to shops. A factory is valued as a factory, not as a particular type of factory, and a shop as a shop, not as a particular type of shop (unless the market differentiates between the two).

ţ

- 6. There is a separate Background Paper "Adaptation Works and Costs" on the treatment of properties which have been adapted to meet the special requirements of the business in occupation. Likewise there is a further Background Paper "Depreciated Replacement Cost Basis of Valuation" applicable to properties which are of the type that are rarely, if ever, sold in the open market for their existing use except by way of a sale of the business in occupation.
- 7. There are certain types of property designed or adapted for particular uses, including hotels, public houses, cinemas and clubs. Such properties are normally valued having regard to trading potential and a separate Background Paper deals with this subject.

Background Paper No. BP2

ALTERNATIVE USE VALUE

- 1. Land and buildings may possess a value differing from their existing use value when the prospective use of the property for some other purpose is reflected (i.e. 'alternative use value').
- 2. Normal accounting concepts assume an ongoing business and where properties are occupied for the purpose of the business an alternative use value, which could only be realised on liquidation or a closure or removal of the business to other premises, is not suitable for inclusion in the accounts.
- 3. Such alternative use value may, however, have relevance to an overall appraisal of the company's situation. Where it differs materially (either above or below) from existing use value it should be reported by the valuer, whether the existing use value is on an open market basis or by reference to depreciated replacement cost. In the case of property occupied by a business under a personal planning consent it is recommended that the valuer should always include in the Valuation Certificate, in addition to open market value for existing use, a reference to open market value without the benefit of the personal consent.
- 4. It is probable that the alternative use value will be referred to in the notes to the accounts or the Directors' Report if it is above the open market value for existing use.
- 5. Where land and buildings are declared by the Directors to be surplus to trading requirements, they will be assessed to open market value which takes into account any possible alternative use. Such properties will be shown separately in the Valuation Certificate to enable the company to make a deduction for the estimated expenses of sale to arrive at the recoverable amount.
- 6. Land and buildings held as investments or for development will also be valued on an open market basis, subject to relevant existing tenancies and this will take into account any alternative use if appropriate.
- 7. In all cases, alternative use value should be related to definite information as to statutory or other consents (e.g. superior landlord's approval) regarding change of use or other matters, and it would not be appropriate to make unfounded assumptions.
- 8. It may be noted that in exceptional circumstances, which are more likely to arise on leasehold land, an alternative use value may be negative.

EXHIBIT 8

RICS Guidance Notes on the Valuation of Assets - 2nd Edition

Guidance Note No. GN 19

NOTES FOR INDEPENDENT VALUERS OF UNIT LINKED PROPERTY ASSETS OF LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES

•

Guidance Note No. GN 19

NOTES FOR INDEPENDENT VALUERS OF UNIT LINKED PROPERTY ASSETS OF LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES

1. This Guidance Note is of particular interest to those concerned with the valuation of Property Funds of Life Insurance Companies and it is recommended that the principles and procedures set out should be generally followed unless the Valuer considers that there are special circumstances existing, which justify a deviation. Other Guidance Notes incorporate those principles which would normally be followed in making valuations but it is considered that there is a practical value in bringing them together with certain specifics applying to the valuation of properties within a Property Fund.

2. Introductory

2.1 It is stressed that the Fund Managers are solely responsible for the investment policy of the Property Fund, the selection of properties, the pricing of units and the management of the Fund and the independent Valuer plays no part in these functions.

2.2 The Valuer should arrange his appointment on terms which allow him to require the Fund Managers and others to give him the fullest co-operation.

3. Independence of Valuer

3.1 It is normal practice for firms and not individuals to be appointed as Independent Valuer to a Property Fund and this is felt to be in the best interests of all concerned as it is both practical and adds strength to the standing of the Valuer's appointment.

3.2 In accepting an appointment as an Independent Valuer to a Property Fund the firm or the individual should apply terms which ensure that they can be seen to act in an independent role free from any suggestion that their judgement might be influenced by other relationships with the Fund Managers or promoters.

- 3.3 To accord with this independent role the firm should follow these principles:
 - (a) they should not be employed by the Property Fund in any other capacity;
 - (b) they should neither act for the Property Fund in purchasing any property nor act for the Property Fund or a purchaser in the sale of any property owned by the Property Fund;
 - (c) if they act for the vendor of a property bought by the Property Fund then another Valuer should value that property after its acquisition, but at the expiry of two years thereafter the Independent Valuer to the Property Fund should value the property;
 - (d) they should have no direct financial interest in the management of the Property Fund or its promoters. This should not be regarded as a barrier to the Valuer holding a very minor interest, providing it could not influence or be affected by the Valuer's judgement.

4. Terms of Appointment

4.1 The appointment should be in writing and made by the Trustees or Fund Managers. The Valuer should satisfy himself that he will be free to follow, as appropriate, the contents of this and other Guidance Notes.

4.2 The Trustees or Fund Managers will have the right to call on the Valuer at any time to value the whole or any part of the portfolio and the Valuer should have a reciprocal right.

4.3 If the Valuer's appointment is terminated he should possess the right not only to value the whole or any part of the portfolio but to have his Valuation Certificate issued to the publicate and Unit helders. If the Valuer chooses to resign he should necessary a

4.4 Normally there should be only one Valuer to a Fund except when Para. 3.3(c) applies or when the portfolio includes:

(a) overseas properties in areas where the Independent Valuer feels unable to value;

201

- (b) specialist properties outside the qualification and experience of the independent valuer, e.g. agricultural land.
- 4.5 The Valuer should have the right of direct access to the Fund's auditors.

5. Basis of Valuation

See GN 22 and BP 2

See GN 1

5.1 The basis of valuation should normally be open market value (thus reflecting any element recognised in the market generally for an alternative use) and the date of the valuation clearly stated.

5.2 Any assumptions made by the Valuer must be clearly set out and any qualifications to 'open market value' stated and their meaning explained.

5.3 Valuers should not include forward projections of value in their Valuation Certificates.

5.4 Valuers will normally place no additional reliance on 'buy-out' clauses arising on developments or rental guarantees unless the contracting party is of an 'undoubted' character and the contract is unconditional. Where in the rare case any reliance is so placed this should be made clear.

5.5 Valuations should make no allowance for taxation or expenses of realisation which may arise on a notional or actual disposal. The principles set out in Guidance Note GN1 concerning the valuation of contracts and options, should be followed.

5.6 The valuation of a Property portfolio will normally be the aggregate of the individual property values.

6. Frequency of Valuations

6.1 Where the Fund Managers calculate the price of the units of a Property Fund less frequently than once a month the Valuer should revalue immediately before each date on which the price is calculated and in any event at least once every twelve months, when he provides the Valuation Certificate for publication (see paragraphs 7 and 8).

6.2 If the price is calculated monthly or at more frequent intervals the Valuer should value all the properties once every month and only in the event of a material change would a shorter interval be appropriate. Every property should be valued immediately after purchase (but never before completion has taken place) and at any time when there has been a material change of facts or market conditions.

7. Publication of Valuations

7.1 The Annual Report and Accounts of the Property Fund should reproduce the year end Valuation Certificate/Certificates relating to all the properties in the Fund at the end of the accounting year.

7.2 The Fund Managers are responsible for acting on intermediate valuations made by the Valuer and these need not normally be published except when a Valuer's appointment ceases by termination or resignation (see para. 4.3).

8. Form of Valuation Certificate

See GN 5 8.1 The contents of the preamble to the Certificates are a matter for each Valuer but attention is drawn to Guidance Note No. GN 5.

8.2 The Certificate should state clearly the date of valuation, the basis of valuation, and any assumptions made (see para. 5). The Certificate should give the aggregate of the valuation of each of the properties and this total be sub-divided into the categories:

(a) Pronerties held as Investments.

86

- (c) Properties substantially vacant.
- (d) Properties held for development in the future.

8.3 Each category should be sub-divided between freehold and leasehold. Overseas properties should be shown separately. The Valuer should draw attention to any significant holding in short leasehold interests. He should state the identity of the largest property and its proportion to the aggregate amount of all Fund properties he has valued.

8.4 It is not considered necessary that any details of the individual properties need be given in the Certificate. If the Certificate refers to all the properties in the Property Fund the Valuer should request the Auditors to check the accuracy of the identity of the properties he has valued.

8.5 If the Certificate applies to only certain properties (because e.g. another Valuer is See GN5 valuing the remainder) it will be desirable to state this and indicate the properties included or excluded. The Certificate should contain a 'non-publication without consent' clause.

8.6 If in the Valuer's opinion there has been a material change in the aggregate value due to market changes or factors affecting a particular property or properties between the date of valuation and the date of the Certificate the Valuer should make an appropriate reference.

9. Developments

9.1 Developments should be valued in the state in which they exist at the date of valuation and any assumptions should be stated and explained.

9.2 Where information which is not within the Valuer's direct knowledge (e.g. the cost of completing a development) is needed to arrive at a value, such information should be obtained from an examination of the relevant documentation or from the professional adviser concerned.

10. Vacant Properties

Properties which are entirely or substantially vacant should be valued in their existing state and not on the basis that lettings might be completed, with a deduction for voids and expenses.

11. Overseas Properties

The valuation figure to be certified by the Valuer will be on the same basis as in the U.K. (i.e. open market value). The general principles relating to overseas valuations set out in Guidance Note No. 5 should be followed. As valuations are carried out in local currency the Fund Managers should be asked to arrange for a Banker to provide a letter giving the exchange rate to be adopted for conversion to Sterling on the valuation date.

See GN 5

12. Information on Property Assets and Changes

The publication of information on the property assets, changes and movements is the responsibility of the Fund Manager. The Valuer will need to compare any such published information with the facts known to him and as referred to in his Valuation Certificate to ensure that his valuation is based on correct advice.

13. Inspections

The frequency of physical inspections of the properties must be a discretionary matter for the Valuer. When properties are valued at short intervals it is not practical for inspections to be made to a similar timetable. It is recommended that the Valuer should have visited each property every year and that a full inspection should be made at least every three years. Arrangements should be made for the Property Managers to notify the

87

;

RICS Guidance Notes on the Valuation of Assets-2nd Edition

14. Sources of Information

.

The Valuer should wherever possible verify the facts relating to a property and not rely on others. On the other hand he should not accept responsibility for matters which are the province of others. It is important, therefore, to state in the Valuation Certificate the information which is relied upon and not verified and by whom it has been supplied. Where other sources of information are relied upon the facts should be confirmed in writing, e.g. a Banker's letter on currency exchange rates (see para. 11).

•

Guidance Note No. GN 20

ASSET VALUATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSURANCE COMPANIES ACT 1974

1. When valuing assets of Insurance Companies it is necessary to comply with the terms of The Insurance Companies (Valuation of Assets) Regulations 1976 (SI 1976 No. 87) made under Sections 78 and 86 of The Insurance Companies Act 1974. (See Footnote)

The Regulations are effective from 1st May, 1976, and revoke SI 1974 No. 2203.

The Regulations apply to all general business assets, and all long-term business assets but unit linked property assets are excluded and subject to separate requirements. The Regulations apply to nine categories of assets: those likely to be of direct concern to members are 'Land' and 'Debts'. 'Land' includes land and buildings and any interest in land. An option to purchase is considered to be an interest in land and consequently must be valued.

The Regulations apply to all insurance companies authorised to carry on any class of insurance business in the United Kingdom.

Whilst Valuers will wish to read the Regulations as a whole, the following are probably of principal interest:

2. Regulation 3

2.1 Para. (4) provides in effect that the most recent 'proper valuation' made under Regulation 7 is a maximum. If the Valuer makes a qualification to the valuation (e.g. the absence of HAC has not been verified or some other adverse factor) a lower value may have to be adopted by the insurance company. If there has been a change in circumstances since the last 'proper valuation' (e.g. a change in market conditions with rising yields) which make it likely that the valuation figure is not realisable, then the appropriate lesser amount is to be taken.

2.2 This could mean in practice that an up-to-date revaluation may have to be made or further advice obtained and insurance companies can be expected to consult with their valuers.

2.3 Similar considerations apply to certain other categories of assets including 'debts' valued under Regulation 6.

3. Reulations 4 and 5

3.1 These Regulations concern the valuation of assets of dependents (as defined in Regulation 2(2)). If members are instructed to value assets of this category of companies they should consult with their clients as to the advice and valuations required to comply with the Regulations in the particular circumstances.

4. Regulation 6

4.1 This prescribes the method of valuing 'debts' which include mortgages.

4.2 If due within twelve months the value is the amount which can reasonably be expected to be recovered. This will include a debt which would become due within twelve months if the insurance company exercised any right to require payment.

4.3 If due beyond twelve months the value is the amount which would reasonbly be paid for an assignment of the debt with the benefit of the security. Thus in 1979, for example, a standing mortgage of £100,000 for 20 years fixed at $7\frac{1}{2}$ % in 1965 would have fallen to be valued at a discount; consideration must also be given to the other conditions of the debt,

Note: These regulations should be read in conjunction with SI 1976 No. 2039 (which freed from the admissibility limits investments by insurance companies in Government and public authorities and increased the limit of admissibility set to certain debts from individuals) and SI 1960 No. 5 which enables insurers to elect, subject

the status of the mortgagor and the nature of the security and the strength of the cover provided by it for the debt. Where the security is land members may be asked to comment on its nature and/or the value of the land.

4.4 Members may be asked to advise on the value of a 'salvage right' where the insurance company have a right to possess or sell an asset.

5. Regulation 7

5.1 This deals with the valuation of 'land'. The value to the insurance company for the purposes of the Regulation will not be greater than the amount obtainable (after deducting reasonable sale expenses) if the land were sold at the most recent 'proper' valuation. This basis is governed by Regulation 3 (4) upon which comments are made above.

5.2 A 'proper valuation' is defined in Regulation 2 and is the amount realisable by an open market sale and must have been made not more than three years before the relevant date. This valuation must have been made by a 'qualified valuer' (see Regulation 2) viz. a person who is a Fellow or a Professional Associate of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (or a Fellow or an Associate of the ISVA or the RVA) who must have knowledge and experience in the valuation of land or by any other person approved by the Secretary of State for the Department of Trade.

5.3 As a 'person' can include any body of persons corporate or unincorporate it follows that a firm may or may not be a 'qualified valuer'. Where one or more of the partners is not a 'qualified valuer' the valuation must be made by, and the valuation report signed by, a partner who is a 'qualified valuer'.

5.4 It is recommended that the Valuer should produce the figure for the 'proper valuation' leaving the insurance company to assess the deduction for reasonable expenses of sale (according to the latter's judgement of the appropriate method of disposal). Members are advised to make it quite clear when submitting a valuation that it takes no account of the expenses of sale. Members should be prepared, if requested, to advise on the amount of sale expenses according to the circumstances.

5.5 The relevant date of valuation must be given to the Valuer by the insurance company.

5.6 It is to be noted that valuations do not have to be made by independent persons so that if they are 'qualified valuers' both directors and employees of the insurance company can undertake the valuation.

5.7 Land not so valued is excluded from being taken account of for the purposes of the Regulations (see Regulation 3(1)). This allows a company, if it so wishes, to exclude relatively small holdings.

5.8 Land occupied by the company is to be valued as if with the benefit of vacant possession; it would be wrong to value it on the basis of a sale as an investment with an assumed lease to the company at a rent.

5.9 Land is to be valued as free and clear of any mortgage or charge.

5.10 The Regulations cover land in the UK and overseas.

6. Regulation 8

6.1 This applies special valuation rules to equipment which includes 'plant and machinery'. Valuers in this field should note that the rules are severe and apply percentage deductions to a strict time scale on computer equipment and for all other equipment a minimum of 50% deduction on cost in the financial year of acquisition and a complete write-off thereafter. As the rules apply also to dependent companies it is important that Valuers consult with their instructing clients (see comments on Regulations 4 and 5).

6.2 In valuing an 'in hand' agricultural holding the basis of valuation of the land will assume vacant possession and it would appear that the operating capital (except for any item of plant and machinery acquired during the financial year) would have to be ignored.

6.4 Reference should be made to Guidance Note No. GN 25 as to those items of plant See GN 25 and machinery which are normally valued as an integral part of land and buildings and it follows that such items do not fall within the scope of this Regulation.

7. Regulation 13

This Regulation provides for life interests to be valued as the amount which would reasonably be paid for an immediate transfer; it also expressly provides for leases and reversions to be valued on the basis prescribed in Regulation 7. It should be noted that reterence in this Regulation to property includes all forms of property.

8. Schedule 2

This Schedule prescribes permitted limits for certain categories of assets in relation to the general business amount of the long term business amount (as defined in Regulation 15(2)). In this connection paragraph 1 should be noted by Valuers. This deals with the position where a valuation of a piece of land (other than land held as security for a debt) or a number of pieces of such land is greater than the aggregate of the valuations of each piece of land valued separately. This will cover the situation for example where the insurance company owns a number of interests (but not all) in a block of property or an island site, which is being assembled for development. Valuers can be expected, therefore, to be asked to advise on the 'lotting' of a portfolio to produce the highest proper valuation in order that the permitted limits can be tested.

9. The Signing of Valuation Certificates under the Insurance Companies Regulations

9.1 It is recommended that members should confirm in their Valuation Certificate that it is a 'proper valuation' made in accordance with the Regulations and the signatory is a 'gualified valuer' (see Regulation 7 above).

9.2 Care must be taken to ensure that the valuation is only signed by a qualified valuer.

9.3 The Institution is advised that where a partnership consists entirely of persons having the specified qualifications or corporate membership then the Valuation Certificate may be signed in the name of the partnership but this should also include a statement to the effect that all the partners have the specified qualifications.

9.4 If one or more of the partners is, therefore, not a corporate member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, or the Incorporated Society of Valuers and Auctioneers or the Rating & Valuation Association the Valuation Certificate must be signed by the qualified valuer who has actually made the valuation and a statement included to the effect that the signatory is a qualified valuer within the meaning of the Regulations.

9.5 If the partnership consists entirely of corporate members of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors or the Incorporated Society of Valuers and Auctioneers or the Rating & Valuation Association, the Valuation Certificate can still be signed in the firm's name, even though one or more of the partners may specialise in the valuation of categories of land other than that which is the subject of the valuation. In this event it must be understood that the actual valuation must have been made by a qualified valuer who has the appropriate knowledge and experience in valuing the subject land.

9.6 If the firm (and this may particularly apply in some overseas countries) is not a partnership but a corporate body then the signatory must be a qualified valuer, and a director or secretary, unless so qualified, may not sign the Valuation Certificate. In this case, it is also necessary for a statement to be made to the effect that the signatory is a qualified valuer within the meaning of the Regulations.

1

RICS Guidance Notes on the Valuation of Assets-2nd Edition

9.8 It follows, therefore, that there should normally be only four forms of signature in accordance with the following examples:

(a) Smith, Jones and Robinson

(Where in this case every partner is a qualified valuer within the meaning of Regulation 7).

ŊΟ

٠,

- (b) (i) A. Smith or
 - (ii) A. Smith for Smith, Jones & Robinson, or
 - (iii) Smith, Jones & Robinson A. Smith

In cases (b) (i), (ii) and (iii) A. Smith being a qualified valuer within the meaning of the Regulations and the person fully responsible for the Valuation.

In both cases (a) and (b) The Valuation Certificate must include the statements as to qualifications referred to earlier.

It must not be overlooked that a partnership can contain as a partner a body of persons corporate or unincorporate and in that case the requirements will only be met by the application of examples (b) (i), (ii) or (iii).

Guidance Note No. GN 21

REVIEWING OF VALUATIONS

1. Reviews of a Valuer's Previous Valuations

e

1.1 Valuers are often asked to carry out reviews of their previous valuations without undertaking a full reinspection of the properties. Valuers should be cautious in accepting such instructions and should have regard to the period of time that has elapsed since the last valuation. It would not normally be appropriate to accept such limited instructions where there has been a material alteration or change in the property portfolio, a material change in the property market, or a material change in the criteria previously adopted. Changes in rental income or other aspects of tenancies from investment properties would not normally be regarded as falling within the ambit of the foregoing circumstances.

1.2 Where such reviews are undertaken the Valuer is advised to obtain from the client a 'letter of comfort' stating that neither material alterations nor changes have taken place in the portfolio.

1.3 Where there have been material alterations or changes in the portfolio it will be necessary for the Valuer to undertake a valuation of those properties new to the portfolio or those where there have been alterations or changes.

1.4 When reporting the results of a review of a previous valuation the valuer is recommended not to refer to a 'desk study' or similar wording but to adopt the following, suitably amended to meet the particular circumstances:

'As instructed, we have reviewed our valuations of (date) without reinspecting (all) the properties and on the same criteria as previously used but under current market conditions we are of the opinion that the open market value as at (date) is of the order of \pounds'

1.5 Where alterations and changes of a material or significant nature have occurred and a review has still been undertaken, these should be referred to in the review report.

2. Review of Valuations made by another party

2.1 A Valuer may be asked to review in whole or in part a valuation made by a director or internal valuer of the company which owns the property, or to undertake a review of a valuation by another external valuer.

2.2 A Valuer should not accept instructions to undertake a review of a valuation unless he made that valuation, in which case he should follow the recommendations above.

2.3 Unless the Valuer has already inspected the property concerned and is already SeeGN2 familiar with the building and location or is afforded the opportunity of carrying out an inspection and has made all other relevant enquiries, or has been supplied with the information that would result from such enquiries, he is in no position to express an opinion as to value except on a restricted basis.

2.4 It is recommended that the Valuer should report his own valuation with such qualifications as may be appropriate. There should be no reference to any valuation prepared by another party as otherwise there may be implied criticism which would be unfair and possibly damaging to the other Valuer's reputation if he is afforded no right of reply.

2.5 Where a Valuer is instructed to carry out a valuation jointly with another Valuer, this See GN 3 would not be considered to be a review within the ambit of this Guidance Note, even though one of the Valuers may be an internal valuer.

•

EXHIBIT 9

FIRST ASSET REALTY ADVISORS APPRAISAL ENGAGEMENT LETTER



Appraisal Engagement Letter - Preliminary Draft

TO:

Property Identification RE:

Dear :

On behalf of First Asset Realty Advisors (FARA), we would like to engage your services for the appraisal of the above property to determine the fair market value of the legal interests owned by a Commingled Fund as of (date of appraisal). To that end and before accepting the assignment, the appraiser should consider the following requirements as to definition and procedure:

- Fair market value shall be defined as the most probable 1. price at which the property would sell to a knowledgeable buyer on a given date if placed on the market for a reasonable length of time by a well informed seller assuming:
 - Cash to the seller or cash plus debt owed or assumed a. by the buyer, where appropriate.
 - Fee title will be encumbered by leases in place and b. possible other covenants. Appraiser must indicate remaining market value of these other leasehold or non-possessory interests.
 - The appropriate exposure on the market has occurred C. prior to the date of sale.
 - Buyer motivation is profiled as an assumption by the d. appraiser.
- Fee title may be encumbered by leases, mortgages as well 2. as possible conditional use permits and private covenants. FARA is obligated to provide access to all of the appropriate documents at the office of

____ located at during normal business hours. The appraiser is expected to read the leases, mortgage instruments and other encumbrances and relate to them appropriately. If existing debt is assumable by another buyer, then the appraiser can value the sale as cash to the seller with the buyer accepting the mortgage(s) already in place if that would be consistent with the most probable buyers self interest. Otherwise the trustees of the Commingled Fund management (FARA) are interested in a value which is the most probable cash price to the seller and with the buyer accepting the existing encumbrances in terms of leases and covenants, etc.

States of the Bank March april

- 3. When using the market comparison approach the appraiser must document each comparable sale as to grantor, grantee, public record, plot plan and photograph as well as basic details of construction and existing encumbrances, terms of sale, and seller motivation. All calculations necessary to adjust engineered prices to cash equivalencies must be documented and explained as well as any and all adjustments to relate the comparable price to the subject property must be itemized and explained so that the reader can repeat the mathematical adjustments possible.
- 4. The income approach must use discounted cash flow from a ten year forecast (and your own forecast if different) in which all major leases are detailed individually and minor leases classified into groups if appropriate. The rationale for roll-over vacancies, absorptions, and expense projections must be itemized with a series of footnotes in the manner of a fully detailed accounting income and balance sheet statement. Normalized income methods including investment bond, Ellwood, or net income multipliers are not acceptable.
- 5. The appraiser must document his opinion as to the appropriate discount rate applied to each segment of the cash throw-off and after tax cash flow as appropriate, together with financing terms assumed.
- 6. A cost approach by a responsible service or professional should be supplied with the initial appraisal. If it is not used in the final valuation, then a discussion on why it is not used is required. The appraiser is expected to carefully inspect the property and report his own independent views on the quality of maintenance, deferred maintenance, and tenant housekeeping.
- 7. The appraiser is regarded as the eyes and property inspector of FARA. To put the property in context the appraiser must supply and evaluate a list of projects which are competitive alternatives in the market areas of the appraiser and indicate rent structures, vacancy rates, turnover rates, and in the case of the new building, coming on stream or about to be built, some indication as to their rentup success and the source of their tenants. Wherever possible the appraiser is to indicate the ownership and character of investment position in these competitive properties and the property management or leasing term involved with each.

Following the initial appraisal at the time of acquisition, the appraiser will be asked to submit a letter of review 180 days after the date of the original appraisal indicating if he would modify any of his critical assumptions at that time, and if so, indicating how this might affect his original value estimate as a specific dollar adjustment, up or down.

At the end of 360 days the appraiser would be expected to perform a thorough review of his original appraisal, specifically focusing on the market approach (Item 3), adjustments indicated for the income approach (Item 4 & 5), and additions and amendments to market data, (Item 7). Aside from the specific instructions provided in paragraphs 1-7 above, it is anticipated that all work will be done according to the standards of the American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers, and it is further understood that the client for whom the appraisal is done for purposes of professional accountability is both First Asset Realty Advisors, Inc. and its operations agent, The Center Companies of Minneapolis, Minnesota. Purpose of the appraisal is to meet the asset valuation requirements of an open-ended, commingled real estate fund suitable for investment by pension fund programs subject to ERISA.

Please return both copies of this letter together with an indication of your fee for the appraisal services above, with a separate quote for the initial appraisal, the 180 day review, and a 360 day reappraisal. If this is your first assignment for FARA, please include a sample of your work, preferrably of a similar property, in which you have provided for the necessary cash flow projections.
NORTHWEST CENTER FOR PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

SEMINAR ATTENDEE LIST FOR 85168NYC

CONTEMPORARY APPRAISING/PENSION FUND ST REGIS SHERATON 09/26/1985 THRU 09/27/1985

ALLAIRE, KEITH D ROBERT A STANGER & COMPANY 1129 BROAD STREET PO BOX 7490 SHREWSBURY NJ 07701 201-389-3600 EDITOR

BARNETT, JAMES ARTHUR ANDERSEN & CO 1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10105 212-708-3930 APPRAISER

BECKMAN, EUGENE ONE SOUTH NEW YORK AVENUE ATLANTIC NJ 08401 609-344-1261 APPRAISER

BOHORFOUSH, WALT PENNSYLVANIA AVE DEVELOPMENT COR 1331 PENNSYLVANIA AVE NW SUITE 1220 NORTH WASHINGTON DC 20004-1703 202-724-9068

BRADY, J REED ALDRICH EASTMAN & WALTCH INC 265 FRANKLIN STREET BOSTON MA 02110 617-439-9000

CLARKE, JAMES J BANKERS TRUST COMPANY 280 PARK AVENUE 21 WEST NEW YORK NY 10015 212-850-3040 APPRAISER ALVEY, DOUG ALVEY & COTE 423 NEW KARNER ROAD ALBANY NY 12205 518-456-4094

BATES, MIKE B F SAUL COMPANY 8401 CONNECTICUT AVENUE CHEVY CHASE MD 20815 301-986-6049 MORTG BANKER

BLAIR, WES UNION NATIONAL BANK 61 MERRIMACK STREET PO BOX 620 LOWELL MA 01854 617-458-3151

BOTT, BILL REALTY APPRAISAL COMPANY, INC 7051 CAMP ROAD PO BOX 577 FT WASHINGTON PA 19034 215-233-5400 APPRAISER

CIRZ, RAY KAUSER, WELSH, SORICH & CIRZ 182 SOUTH STREET MORRISTOWN NJ 07960 201-538-3188 RE APPRAISER

COHEN, ARTHUR C ARTHUR CHARLES COHEN, INC 200 WEST 57 STREET NEW YORK NY 10019 212-757-7860

ATTENDEE LIST, page 2 CONTEMPORARY APPRAISING/PENSION FUND, 85168NYC

COLVARD, BEN H THE BANK OF BALTIMORE 215 NORTH WASHINGTON STREET ROCKVILLE MD 20850 301-424-7144

CROSLAND, SHERYL J P MORGAN INVESTMENT NINE WEST 57 STREET NEW YORK NY 10019 212-826-7114 RE INVESTOR

GRAY, ROBERT D 617-439-9000

CHARLOTTE NC 28204 704-334-4686 APPRAISER

JANSSEN, JERRY JANSSEN & COMPANY PEORIA BOARD OF TRADE BUILDING 330 SW WASHINGTON STREET PEORIA IL 61602 309-676-3518

KEATING, MICKIE 10 SOUTH IRVING STREET RIDGEWOOD NY 07450 201-670-1183 APPRAISER

KITCHEN, MARK ARTHUR ANDERSEN & COMPANY 1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10105 212-708-3930 APPRAISER

COTE, BOB ALVEY & COTE 423 NEW KARNER ROAD Albany ñy 12205 518-456-4094

GOLDEN, ANDREW ARTHUR ANDERSON & COMPANY 1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS NEW YORK NY 10105 212-708-3930 212-708-3930 APPRAISER

GRIFFIN, GLENN A ALDRICH, EASTMAN & WALTCH, INCGRIFFIN, GLENN A265 FRANKLIN STREETMARSHALL S STEVENS INCORPORATEDBOSTON MA 021101801 MARKET STREET; SUITE 900617-439-9000PHILADELPHIA PA 19103 PHILADELPHIA PA 19103 215-561-5600 RE APPRAISER

HARRIS, THOMAS BHLUBB JR, PAUL FHARRIS, STOUT & ASSOCIATESFIRST NATIONAL BANK OF MARYLAND1001 ELIZABETH AVENUE25 SOUTH CHARLES STREETSUITE 2APO BOX 1586 BALTIMORE MD 21203 301-244-3869 APPRAISER

> KANE, JACK VALUATION RESEARCH CORPORATION THREE INDEPENDENCE WAY PRINCETON NJ 08540 609-452-0900 APPRAISER

KIRK, DAVID BOSTON FINANCIAL TECHNOLOGICAL 225 FRANKLIN STREET 29 FLOOR BOSTON MA 02110 617-542-4475

KLEIN, LEE NATIONWIDE APPRAISAL COMPANY 13-51 RIVER ROAD FAIR LAWN NJ 07410 201-794-1776 APPRAISER

 ATTENDEE LIST, page 3 CONTEMPORARY APPRAISING/PENSION FUND, 85168NYC KOUTNIK, BRETT M NATIONAL PENSION PROPERTIES NATIONAL LIFE DRIVE MONTPELIER VT 05604 802-229-3026 KOVACH, GEORGE S ALDRICH EASTMAN & WALTCH INC 265 FRANKLIN STREET BOSTON MA 02110 617-439-9000 1.)Whe

2

MACCRATE, JOHNMCDONOUGH, TOMMACCRATE ASSOCIATES INCORPORATEDEQUITABLE -EREIM212 SEA CLIFF AVENUE1285 AVENUE OF THE AMERICASSEA CLIFF NY 11579NEW YORK NY 10019516-676-1430212-554-1189

MCNULTY, DANMONTALBANO, MICHAELARTHUR ANDERSON & COMPANYCROSSLAND SAVINGS1345 AVENUE OF THE AMERICAS211 MONTAGUE STREETNEW YORK NY 10105BROOKLYN NY 11201212-708-2820710-709-2820 212-708-3930 APPRAISER

MONTGOMERY, J THOMASPARDUE, DONALD BEDWARD HEBERGER & ASSOCIATESPARDUE & COMPANY, INC426 HIGHLAND AVENUE750 HAMMOND DRIVECHESHIRE CT 06410BUILDING 2; SUITE 300203-272-2957ATLANTA GA 30328 RE APPRAISER

PATCELLA, JACK REALTY APPRAISAL COMPANY, INC 7051 CAMP ROAD PO BOX 577 FT WASHINGTON PA 19034 215-233-5400 APPRAISER

FT WASHINGTON PA 19034 215-233-5400 APPRAISER

LONG JR, SAMUEL GMACCRATE, JAMES RLANDAUER ASSOCIATES INCMACCRATE ASSOCIATES INCORPORATED335 MADISON AVENUE212 SEA CLIFF AVENUENEW YORK NY 10017SEA CLIFF NY 11579312-687-2323516-676-1430

718-780-0443 APPRAISER

404-255-1255

PISCIOTTA, TED VALUATION RESEARCH CORPORATION THREE INDEPENDENCE WAY PRINCETON NJ 08540 609-452-0900 APPRAISER

PITTNER, MELANIERYAN, DENNISREALTY APPRAISAL COMPANY, INCVALUATION RESEARCH CORPORATION7051 CAMP ROADTHREE INDEPENDENCE WAYPO BOX 577PRINCETON NJ 08540 609-**45**2-0900 Appraiser

ATTENDEE LIST. page 4 ATTENDEE LIST, page 4 CONTEMPORARY APPRAISING/PENSION FUND, 85168NYC (DER, PETER R DLOMON BROS, INC SCHAFER, SCOTT KORPACZ & ASSOCIATES, INC

4.0

1 ° . 🙀 🖓

RYDER. PETER R SOLOMON BROS, INC ONE NEW YORK PLAZA NEW YORK NY 10004 212-747-3981 BANKER

SCHOTT, RIED 2850 DELK ROAD - 5C MARIETTA GA 30067 404-953-9293 RE APPRAISER

SHOUT, PAUL W REALTY APPRAISAL COMPANY, INC 7051 CAMP ROAD PO BOX 577 FT WASHINGTON PA 19034 215-233-5400 APPRAISER

SORICH, MIKE KAUSER WELSH SORICH & CIRZ 182 SOUTH STREET MORRISTOWN NJ 07960 201-538-3188

SZABO, ANDREW KIDDER PEABODY & COMPANY 10 HANOVER SQUARE 18 FLOOR NEW YORK NY 10005 212-510-4830

WILKINS, JOHN W SHIPLETT-WILKINS & ASSOCIATES 4530 PARK ROAD SUITE 400 CHARLOTTE NC 28209 704-527-9383 APPRAISER

SHIPLETT, ROSCOE W SHIPLETT-WILKINS & ASSOCIATES 4530 PARK ROAD SUITE 400 CHARLOTTE NC 28209 704-527-9383 APPRAISER

SHUMAKER, SALLY CENTRAL MORTGAGE COMPANY 8704 PLYMOUTH ROAD ALEXANDRIA VA 22308 703-780-4270

29 MANOR ROAD, SMITHTOWN NY 11787

Menta condection de al MEDIO Establisticadore

3 516-979-9465

STALEY, BOB STATE OF CONNECTICUT STATE TREASURER'S OFFICE 20 TRINITY STREET HARTFORD CT 06106 203-566-3646

TOWNLEY, CHRISTOPHER CERTIFIED APPRAISAL SERVICES 691 EAST MAIN STREET MIDDLETOWN NY 10940 914-343-7966 APPRAISER

.

Fourth Annual Conference Real Estate Investment Strategies for Pension Funds

Sponsored by the Utah State Retirement Board in conjunction with Northwest Center for Professional Education

November 10-13, 1985

Ramada Renaissance Hotel San Francisco, CA

October 28, 1985

BERT D. HUNSAKER Executive Director Utah State Retirement Board Salt Lake City, UT

PROGRAM ADVISORY BOARD

RICHARD F. ALGUIRE Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement Board Toronto, Ontario DOUGLAS W. BENNETT Florida State Board of Administration Tallahassee, FL LOWELL BLOM N.Y. State Teachers Retirement System Albany, NY WILLIAM CHIPMAN Utah State Retirement Board Salt Lake City, UT ROGER S. MEIER Oregon Investment Council Portland, OR CHARLES B. MILLER Wisconsin Investment Board Madison, WI STEPHEN R. MYERS South Dakota Investment Council Sioux Falls, SD JOE W. PERRONE **Texas Teachers Retirement** System Austin, TX SUSAN S. SHUMAKER State Teachers Retirement of Ohio Columbus, OH W. JAMES SMITH California Public Employees Retirement System Sacramento, CA

CONFERENCE MANAGER CLEMENS J. LAUFENBERG Northwest Center for Professional Education Portland, OR (503) 223-3921 Dr. James Graaskamp Landmark Reserch, Inc. 4610 University Avenue, Suite 105 Madison, Wisconsin 53705

Dear Jim:

The Pension Fund Conference in San Francisco, November 10-13, is now only two weeks away. Registrations are most encouraging -- we have 155 advisors and 121 sponsors registered, the largest response ever!

I am enclosing a Tape Release Form which gives us permission to record the audio segment of your presentation. Please sign and return this release to us at your earliest convenience. If you would like a complimentary tape of your presentation, check the box at the bottom of the form. We will be happy to send you a copy.

We would like to invite you to have lunch with Clem Laufenberg, Conference Manager, and the other Monday afternoon speakers in the Milan Room of the Hotel on Monday, November 11, at 12:30 p.m. We hope you will be able to attend.

Don't forget the tour and champagne party at the Embarcadero Center on Sunday afternoon. We are hoping for a large turnout for what we consider one of the highlights of the conference this year. If you are planning to attend, please call our Bellevue office at 1-800-426-5575 to RSVP. We need to know the number of people attending since we are providing transportation from the Ramada Renaissance to the Center.

We will be in touch with you again shortly before the conference.

Sincerely,

arline Carlson

Darlene Carlson Program Manager

DC:d Enc.

Conference Management by Executive Seminars, Inc. and Northwest Center for Professional Education 13555 Bel-Red Road, C-96870, Bellevue, WA 98009, (206) 746-4173 - 4610 University Avenue, Suite 105, Madison, Wisconsin 53705, 608-233-6400



James A. Graaskamp, Ph.D., S.R.E.A., C.R.E. Jean B. Davis, M.S.

May 13, 1985

Norman P. Swent, Executive Director Northwest Center for Professional Education 13555 Bel-Red Road C-96870 Bellevue, WA 98009

Dear Paul:

Here are the two one-day course outlines | promised. Let me know if there is more detail required.

Please send a note confirming the various dates for the fall-winter road show as I seem to have misplaced your note.



The Emerging Role of Consulting Appraising in a Changing Real Estate Marketplace

The commercial real estate industry is undergoing tremendous change. Tax reform, lower inflation, overbuilding, longer term lease-ups, the securitization of real estate, and the growth in pension fund assets invested in real estate are major forces causing restructuring of commercial property values.

These market and economic factors have dramatic, and often misleading, effects on real property values. This places greater demands on the appraisal community. The role of the appraiser as counselor and advisor has never been so important. This provides appraisers with an opportunity for greater professionalism and profit if they are willing to shift from only traditional approaches and to add innovative thinking and new appraisal practices.

Today's real estate market requires a fresh and broad approach to real property valuation, utilizing contemporary appraisal techniques and emphasizing identification of the issues and problems to be solved. Spend one or two days with Dr. Jim Graaskamp, the nation's foremost authority on appraisal methods, to broaden your perspective and improve your appraising skills.

The first day, **Contemporary Issues and Methods** for **Appraising Commercial Properties** focuses on appraisal methods. The second day, **Real Estate Valuation Issues for Pension Funds**, deals with the practical and ethical approaches to using appraisals in the valuing of pension fund assets.

You can select one or two days! Attend either seminar of your choice, or attend both days for a significant savings in seminar tuition. Seminar tuitions are listed on the back cover of this brochure along with the Registration Form or Call TOLL FREE 1-800-426-5575 to register or for additional information. Registrations are limited so please register today!

Contemporary Issues and Methods for Appraising Commercial Properties Thursday, January 16, 1986

8:30am - 10:00am

- Defining the appraisal problem with the client, his attorney, and the accountant
 - The issues for which the appraisal is required as a benchmark
 - The exact "sticks" in the bundle of rights to be appraised
 - The perspective in time, viewpoint, and going concern assumption controlling the appraisal
 - The definition of value to be applied
 - Responsibility for engineering, marketing or legal/political data and assumptions
 - Special enhancements or encumbrances to be valued as components
 - Specification as to methods, data sources and controls on use through letter of engagement

BREAK

10:15am - 12:00pm

- 2. Decision theory and improved methods for the market comparison approach
 - The three approaches to the contemporary method
 - Market inference by means of proxy patterns

Day One

- · Why regression pricing is discredited
- Developing a pricing algorithm for
- comparable properties • Selecting the proper unit of
- comparison • The price per point per unit of
- comparison
- Developing a weighting system for the attribute scores
- Testing the price weighting system for best estimate of the comparables by hand or by computer
- Variations on the theme by Dilmore

COMPLIMENTARY LUNCHEON

1:00pm - 2:45pm

- 3. Professionalizing the income approach or investment stimulation approach
 - Recognizing the significance for allocating income to real estate, personalty, intangible assets or management, depending upon the issue for which the appraisal is sought as a benchmark
 - Perspective and accounting: cash or accrual, normalized or simulated
 - Revenue classification and projection
 - Operating expense classification and projection

- Income from operations vs. cash for distribution
- Projecting increases, leakages and concessions
- Formatting the pro forma real estate operating statement
- Financial footnotes in lieu of a narrative report

BREAK

3:00pm - 5:00pm

- 4. Case examples of defining the issue, the method, and the accounting relevant to litigation
 - Real estate tax appeal for subsidized houses
 - Credit enhanced elderly housing with HODAG and income from providing support services
 - Right-of-way for a power transmission line
 - Partnership values in dissolution

5:00pm - 5:30pm

5. Professional status for the appraisers in litigation matters

- The vested interest of the attorney
- Counseling vs. advocacy
- Compensation relative to value of service

Seminar Instructor

James A. Graaskamp, Ph.D., SREA, CRE, CPCU, is one of the most popular and dynamic real estate instructors in the U.S. today. His presentations reflect the rare combination of real world experience and academic achievement that has characterized him as one of the industry's "original thinkers."

He has served as Chairman of the Department of Real Estate and Urban Land Economics at the University of Wisconsin for over ten years. He is currently teaching advanced appraising techniques and advanced feasibility studies.

In addition to his academic work, Dr. Graaskamp is President and founder of Landmark Research, Inc. He is also co-founder of a general contracting firm, a land development company

Dr. James Graaskamp

and a real estate investment corporation. He serves on the Board and Executive Committee of First Asset Realty Advisors, a subsidiary of First Bank Minneapolis, and is a member of the American Real Estate and Urban Economics Association.

Dr. Graaskamp is the co-designer and instructor of the EDUCARE teaching program for computer applications in the real estate industry. His work also includes substantial and varied consulting and valuation assignments such as investment counseling to insurance companies, banks and other lenders and feasibility and financial analysis of nationally known real estate development projects for a wide variety of clients.

Pension Fund Real Estate Valuation Issues Friday, January 17, 1986

8:30am - 12:00noon

- 1. The case for greater standardization of appraisal and accounting reporting for asset valuation and performance measurement
 - Appraisal process must respond to issues for which appraisal is required as a benchmark
 - Adequacy of pension funding
 Entry/exit unit values of co-mingled
 - shares in real estate pools
 - Performance of asset managers
 Traditional presumptions of appraisal standardization
 - Appraisal format imposed by U.S. professional societies
 - Appraisal format used in the Common Market
 - Appraisal format under development for imposition by American intermediary banking institutions, i.e. FHLB, FDIC, and FNMA
 - Guidelines for pension managers by NCREIF
 - Current research progress of actual appraisal practices of pension real estate managers and their methodology
 - Formal pension policy, regarding appraisals
 - Selection criteria for appraisers
 - Control of appraisals for asset measurement
 - Pattern of practice revealed in actual paired appraisals from 1983 and 1984
 - Procedures and controls on internal appraisal values by asset managers between anniversary appraisals

BREAK

2. Suggested requirements for developing consistent appraisal quality and consistent performance by appraisers

- Basic components of standardization
 process
 - Standards promulgated by industry association
 - Written policy statement by pension fund sponsor
 - Written appraisal method statement to implement policy by asset manager
 - Letter of engagement to the appraiser
 Explicit methodology and
 - terminology from appraisal association

Day Two

- Standards promulgated by industry association
 - FASB and MAIs – Consistency with NCREIF guidelines
 - Objectives of ERISA
 - Total fee income and substantial economic ties constituting conflict of interest
 - A vacuum of appraisal standards or white paper methods
- Valuation controls imposed by pension sponsor
 - Frequency, quality, and independence
 - Parameters for projection and financial simulation
 - Responsibility for structural and mechanical engineering integrity
 - Permissible level of aggregate simulation, e.g. financial details of leases
 - Segregrated accounts vs. co-mingled accounts
 - Accounting issues vs. appraisal issues: How to handle lease concessions
- Issues of ethics and fiduciary responsibility
- Suggested formats to accomplish desired objectives

COMPLIMENTARY LUNCHEON

1:00pm - 5:00pm

3. Pitfalls to look for when reviewing an appraisal using the market approach to value

- Failure to establish the best unit of comparison between properties
- Failure to report terms of sale or quantitative adjustments for cash equivalency
- Failure to establish rules for selection and quantification of accounting patterns
- Failure to explain adjustments for differences
- Failure to report addresses and transaction details of comparables
- Other problems

BREAK

- 4. Need for standardized accounting formats, accounting rules, and assumptions for financial projections
- Inconsistency of discounted cash flow

concepts and appraisal pro forma accounting

- Establishing standardized financial models to handle amortizable assets and expenses such as tenant improvements, lease renewal commissions and financing charges
- Providing the appraiser with receipt and expenditure models pre-built by asset manager for market review by appraiser. Is this an ethical issue?
- How to integrate accounting/ budgeting and appraisal forecasting while maintaining the independence of the appraiser
- Reconciliation of appraisal and accounting issues
- How pension fund and asset managers exercise control over appraisal valuations: Actual case examples from national study

5. Philosophies and practices of asset managers relative to internal appraisal procedures

- Alternative internal procedures and controls
- Justification of quarterly adjustments to independent appraisals
- Integration of capital expenditures during interim period with independent appraisers
- Reallocation of values relative to leasehold value and investment value due to passage of time and perceived changes in discount rates
- Should quarterly sequence of appraised value changes and source of change be indicated for each property for fund investors?

6. Suggested new ways for the pension fund industry to operate

- Establish valuation reserves reflecting potential appraisal bias to high side
- Dollar-cost-average commitments to invest or disinvest over six quarters so that two independent appraisals of total portfolio could have occurred
- Prohibit quarterly internal adjustments to value except for adjustments due to capital expenditures